
 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Meeting 
Wed, Jun 10, 2020 4:00 PM - 5:00 PM (PDT) 

 
Please join the meeting from your computer, tablet or smartphone. 

 
https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/173653645 

 
 

You can also dial in using your phone. 
(For supported devices, tap a one-touch number below to join instantly.) 

 
United States: +1 (646) 749-3122 

- One-touch: tel:+16467493122,,173653645# 
 

Access Code: 173-653-645 
 
 

New to GoToMeeting? Get the app now and be ready when your first meeting starts: 
https://global.gotomeeting.com/install/173653645 

 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 1 of 810

https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/173653645
tel:+16467493122,,173653645
https://global.gotomeeting.com/install/173653645


Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 2 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 3 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 4 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 5 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 6 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 7 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 8 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 9 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 10 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 11 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 12 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 13 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 14 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 15 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 16 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 17 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 18 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 19 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 20 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 21 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 22 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 23 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 24 of 810



(Updated 5-18-2020)

County Jurisdiction
2019 Population 

Estimate
PerCap Amount in 

Dollars
Adams Adams County 20,150 $1,108,250

Adams Hatton 115 $25,000

Adams Lind 550 $25,000

Adams Othello 8,345 $250,350

Adams Ritzville 1,660 $49,800

Adams Washtucna 210 $25,000

Asotin Asotin County 22,520 $1,238,600

Asotin Asotin 1,280 $38,400

Asotin Clarkston 7,205 $216,150

Benton Benton County 201,800 $11,099,000

Benton Benton City 3,520 $105,600

Benton Kennewick 83,670 $2,510,100

Benton Prosser 6,145 $184,350

Benton Richland 56,850 $1,705,500

Benton West Richland 15,340 $460,200

Chelan Chelan County 78,420 $4,313,100

Chelan Cashmere 3,100 $93,000

Chelan Chelan 4,265 $127,950

Chelan Entiat 1,255 $37,650

Chelan Leavenworth 2,040 $61,200

Chelan Wenatchee 34,650 $1,039,500

Clallam Clallam County 76,010 $4,180,550

Clallam Forks 3,635 $109,050

Clallam Port Angeles 19,620 $588,600

Clallam Sequim 7,695 $230,850

Clark Clark County 488,500 $26,867,500

Clark Battle Ground 21,520 $645,600

Clark Camas 24,090 $722,700

Clark La Center 3,405 $102,150

Clark Ridgefield 8,895 $266,850

Clark Vancouver 185,300 $5,559,000

Clark Washougal 16,500 $495,000

Clark Woodland (part) 95 $2,850

Clark Yacolt 1,805 $54,150

.

Columbia Columbia County 4,160 $250,000

Columbia Dayton 2,560 $76,800

Columbia Starbuck 130 $25,000

. . .

Cowlitz Cowlitz County 108,950 $5,992,250

Cowlitz Castle Rock 2,215 $66,450

Cowlitz Kalama 2,900 $87,000

Cowlitz Kelso 12,220 $366,600

Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) for Local Governments
thru CARES Act

Washington State Funding Distribution

1 (Updated 5-18-2020)Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 25 of 810



(Updated 5-18-2020)

County Jurisdiction
2019 Population 

Estimate
PerCap Amount in 

Dollars

Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) for Local Governments
thru CARES Act

Washington State Funding Distribution

Cowlitz Longview 38,100 $1,143,000

Cowlitz Woodland (part) 6,220 $186,600

Douglas Douglas County 42,820 $2,355,100

Douglas Bridgeport 2,500 $75,000

Douglas Coulee Dam (part) 185 $5,550

Douglas East Wenatchee 13,710 $411,300

Douglas Mansfield 330 $25,000

Douglas Rock Island 1,130 $33,900

Douglas Waterville 1,185 $35,550

Ferry Ferry County 7,830 $430,650

Ferry Republic 1,100 $33,000

Franklin Franklin County 94,680 $5,207,400

Franklin Connell 5,500 $165,000

Franklin Kahlotus 165 $25,000

Franklin Mesa 495 $25,000

Franklin Pasco 75,290 $2,258,700

Garfield Garfield County 2,200 $250,000

Garfield Pomeroy 1,400 $42,000

Grant Grant County 98,740 $5,430,700

Grant Coulee City 570 $25,000

Grant Coulee Dam (part) 0

Grant Electric City 1,030 $30,900

Grant Ephrata 8,180 $245,400

Grant George 725 $25,000

Grant Grand Coulee 1,055 $31,650

Grant Hartline 155 $25,000

Grant Krupp 50 $25,000

Grant Mattawa 4,920 $147,600

Grant Moses Lake 24,220 $726,600

Grant Quincy 7,720 $231,600

Grant Royal City 2,295 $68,850

Grant Soap Lake 1,585 $47,550

Grant Warden 2,765 $82,950

Grant Wilson Creek 215 $25,000

Grays Harbor Grays Harbor County 74,160 $4,078,800

Grays Harbor Aberdeen 16,880 $506,400

Grays Harbor Cosmopolis 1,680 $50,400

Grays Harbor Elma 3,375 $101,250

Grays Harbor Hoquiam 8,540 $256,200

Grays Harbor McCleary 1,790 $53,700

Grays Harbor Montesano 4,175 $125,250

Grays Harbor Oakville 695 $25,000

Grays Harbor Ocean Shores 6,490 $194,700

2 (Updated 5-18-2020)Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 26 of 810



(Updated 5-18-2020)

County Jurisdiction
2019 Population 

Estimate
PerCap Amount in 

Dollars

Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) for Local Governments
thru CARES Act

Washington State Funding Distribution

Grays Harbor Westport 2,125 $63,750

Island Island County 84,820 $4,665,100

Island Coupeville 1,925 $57,750

Island Langley 1,195 $35,850

Island Oak Harbor 22,970 $689,100

Jefferson Jefferson County 31,900 $1,754,500

Jefferson Port Townsend 9,610 $288,300

.

King Algona 3,190 $95,700

King Auburn (part) 71,740 $2,152,200

King Beaux Arts Village 300 $25,000

King Bellevue 145,300 $4,359,000

King Black Diamond 4,525 $135,750

King Bothell (part) 28,570 $857,100

King Burien 52,000 $1,560,000

King Carnation 2,220 $66,600

King Clyde Hill 3,055 $91,650

King Covington 20,280 $608,400

King Des Moines 31,580 $947,400

King Duvall 7,840 $235,200

King Enumclaw (part) 12,200 $366,000

King Federal Way 97,840 $2,935,200

King Hunts Point 420 $25,000

King Issaquah 37,590 $1,127,700

King Kenmore 23,320 $699,600

King Kent 129,800 $3,894,000

King Kirkland 88,940 $2,668,200

King Lake Forest Park 13,250 $397,500

King Maple Valley 26,180 $785,400

King Medina 3,245 $97,350

King Mercer Island 24,470 $734,100

King Milton (part) 1,195 $35,850

King Newcastle 12,450 $373,500

King Normandy Park 6,610 $198,300

King North Bend 6,965 $208,950

King Pacific (part) 6,875 $206,250

King Redmond 65,860 $1,975,800

King Renton 104,700 $3,141,000

King Sammamish 64,410 $1,932,300

King SeaTac 29,180 $875,400

King Shoreline 56,370 $1,691,100

King Skykomish 205 $25,000

King Snoqualmie 13,670 $410,100

King Tukwila 20,930 $627,900

King Woodinville 12,410 $372,300

King Yarrow Point 1,040 $31,200

3 (Updated 5-18-2020)Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 27 of 810



(Updated 5-18-2020)

County Jurisdiction
2019 Population 

Estimate
PerCap Amount in 

Dollars

Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) for Local Governments
thru CARES Act

Washington State Funding Distribution

Kitsap Kitsap County 270,100 $14,855,500

Kitsap Bainbridge Island 24,520 $735,600

Kitsap Bremerton 42,080 $1,262,400

Kitsap Port Orchard 14,390 $431,700

Kitsap Poulsbo 11,180 $335,400

Kittitas Kittitas County 45,470 $2,500,850

Kittitas Cle Elum 1,915 $57,450

Kittitas Ellensburg 19,960 $598,800

Kittitas Kittitas 1,530 $45,900

Kittitas Roslyn 900 $27,000

Kittitas South Cle Elum 535 $25,000

Klickitat Klickitat County 22,430 $1,233,650

Klickitat Bingen 750 $25,000

Klickitat Goldendale 3,545 $106,350

Klickitat White Salmon 2,610 $78,300

Lewis Lewis County 79,480 $4,371,400

Lewis Centralia 17,170 $515,100

Lewis Chehalis 7,535 $226,050

Lewis Morton 1,125 $33,750

Lewis Mossyrock 770 $25,000

Lewis Napavine 1,980 $59,400

Lewis Pe Ell 655 $25,000

Lewis Toledo 720 $25,000

Lewis Vader 625 $25,000

Lewis Winlock 1,340 $40,200

Lincoln Lincoln County 10,960 $602,800

Lincoln Almira 275 $25,000

Lincoln Creston 225 $25,000

Lincoln Davenport 1,730 $51,900

Lincoln Harrington 415 $25,000

Lincoln Odessa 910 $27,300

Lincoln Reardan 580 $25,000

Lincoln Sprague 440 $25,000

Lincoln Wilbur 890 $26,700

Mason Mason County 69,480 $3,821,400

Mason Shelton 10,220 $306,600

Okanogan Okanogan County 42,730 $2,350,150

Okanogan Brewster 2,405 $72,150

Okanogan Conconully 235 $25,000

Okanogan Coulee Dam (part) 915 $27,450

Okanogan Elmer City 290 $25,000

Okanogan Nespelem 245 $25,000

Okanogan Okanogan 2,640 $79,200

4 (Updated 5-18-2020)Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 28 of 810



(Updated 5-18-2020)

County Jurisdiction
2019 Population 

Estimate
PerCap Amount in 

Dollars

Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) for Local Governments
thru CARES Act

Washington State Funding Distribution

Okanogan Omak 4,940 $148,200

Okanogan Oroville 1,700 $51,000

Okanogan Pateros 585 $25,000

Okanogan Riverside 285 $25,000

Okanogan Tonasket 1,110 $33,300

Okanogan Twisp 980 $29,400

Okanogan Winthrop 480 $25,000

Pacific Pacific County 21,640 $1,190,200

Pacific Ilwaco 965 $28,950

Pacific Long Beach 1,455 $43,650

Pacific Raymond 2,885 $86,550

Pacific South Bend 1,625 $48,750

. . .

Pend Oreille Pend Oreille County 13,740 $755,700

Pend Oreille Cusick 205 $25,000

Pend Oreille Ione 450 $25,000

Pend Oreille Metaline 170 $25,000

Pend Oreille Metaline Falls 240 $25,000

Pend Oreille Newport 2,190 $65,700

. . .

Pierce Auburn (part) 9,980 $299,400

Pierce Bonney Lake 21,060 $631,800

Pierce Buckley 4,885 $146,550

Pierce Carbonado 665 $25,000

Pierce DuPont 9,425 $282,750

Pierce Eatonville 2,970 $89,100

Pierce Edgewood 11,390 $341,700

Pierce Enumclaw (part) 0

Pierce Fife 10,140 $304,200

Pierce Fircrest 6,770 $203,100

Pierce Gig Harbor 10,770 $323,100

Pierce Lakewood 59,670 $1,790,100

Pierce Milton (part) 6,735 $202,050

Pierce Orting 8,380 $251,400

Pierce Pacific (part) 35 $1,050

Pierce Puyallup 41,570 $1,247,100

Pierce Roy 820 $25,000

Pierce Ruston 1,005 $30,150

Pierce South Prairie 480 $25,000

Pierce Steilacoom 6,450 $193,500

Pierce Sumner 10,120 $303,600

Pierce Tacoma 211,400 $6,342,000

Pierce University Place 33,090 $992,700

Pierce Wilkeson 490 $25,000

. .

San Juan San Juan County 17,150 $943,250

San Juan Friday Harbor 2,420 $72,600

. . .

5 (Updated 5-18-2020)Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 29 of 810



(Updated 5-18-2020)

County Jurisdiction
2019 Population 

Estimate
PerCap Amount in 

Dollars

Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) for Local Governments
thru CARES Act

Washington State Funding Distribution

Skagit Skagit County 129,200 $7,106,000

Skagit Anacortes 17,610 $528,300

Skagit Burlington 9,140 $274,200

Skagit Concrete 745 $25,000

Skagit Hamilton 300 $25,000

Skagit La Conner 960 $28,800

Skagit Lyman 450 $25,000

Skagit Mount Vernon 35,740 $1,072,200

Skagit Sedro-Woolley 11,690 $350,700

. . .

Skamania Skamania County 12,060 $663,300

Skamania North Bonneville 1,030 $30,900

Skamania Stevenson 1,620 $48,600

. . .

Snohomish Arlington 19,740 $592,200

Snohomish Bothell (part) 18,180 $545,400

Snohomish Brier 6,665 $199,950

Snohomish Darrington 1,410 $42,300

Snohomish Edmonds 42,170 $1,265,100

Snohomish Everett 111,800 $3,354,000

Snohomish Gold Bar 2,150 $64,500

Snohomish Granite Falls 3,900 $117,000

Snohomish Index 175 $25,000

Snohomish Lake Stevens 33,080 $992,400

Snohomish Lynnwood 39,600 $1,188,000

Snohomish Marysville 67,820 $2,034,600

Snohomish Mill Creek 20,590 $617,700

Snohomish Monroe 19,250 $577,500

Snohomish Mountlake Terrace 21,590 $647,700

Snohomish Mukilteo 21,350 $640,500

Snohomish Snohomish 10,200 $306,000

Snohomish Stanwood 7,020 $210,600

Snohomish Sultan 5,180 $155,400

Snohomish Woodway 1,350 $40,500

. . .

Spokane Airway Heights 9,545 $286,350

Spokane Cheney 12,410 $372,300

Spokane Deer Park 4,390 $131,700

Spokane Fairfield 625 $25,000

Spokane Latah 195 $25,000

Spokane Liberty Lake 11,000 $330,000

Spokane Medical Lake 5,005 $150,150

Spokane Millwood 1,795 $53,850

Spokane Rockford 485 $25,000

Spokane Spangle 280 $25,000

Spokane Spokane 222,000 $6,660,000

Spokane Spokane Valley 96,720 $2,901,600

Spokane Waverly 130 $25,000

. . .

6 (Updated 5-18-2020)Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 30 of 810



(Updated 5-18-2020)

County Jurisdiction
2019 Population 

Estimate
PerCap Amount in 

Dollars

Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) for Local Governments
thru CARES Act

Washington State Funding Distribution

Stevens Stevens County 45,470 $2,500,850

Stevens Chewelah 2,765 $82,950

Stevens Colville 4,760 $142,800

Stevens Kettle Falls 1,650 $49,500

Stevens Marcus 175 $25,000

Stevens Northport 295 $25,000

Stevens Springdale 315 $25,000

. . .

Thurston Thurston County 285,900 $15,724,500

Thurston Bucoda 580 $25,000

Thurston Lacey 51,270 $1,538,100

Thurston Olympia 52,770 $1,583,100

Thurston Rainier 2,110 $63,300

Thurston Tenino 1,840 $55,200

Thurston Tumwater 24,060 $721,800

Thurston Yelm 9,135 $274,050

. . .

Wahkiakum Wahkiakum County 4,190 $250,000

Wahkiakum Cathlamet 520 $25,000

. . .

Walla Walla Walla Walla County 62,200 $3,421,000

Walla Walla College Place 9,665 $289,950

Walla Walla Prescott 330 $25,000

Walla Walla Waitsburg 1,230 $36,900

Walla Walla Walla Walla 34,240 $1,027,200

. . .

Whatcom Whatcom County 225,300 $12,391,500

Whatcom Bellingham 90,110 $2,703,300

Whatcom Blaine 5,425 $162,750

Whatcom Everson 2,800 $84,000

Whatcom Ferndale 14,300 $429,000

Whatcom Lynden 14,470 $434,100

Whatcom Nooksack 1,605 $48,150

Whatcom Sumas 1,604 $48,120

. . .

Whitman Whitman County 50,130 $2,757,150

Whitman Albion 550 $25,000

Whitman Colfax 2,825 $84,750

Whitman Colton 445 $25,000

Whitman Endicott 295 $25,000

Whitman Farmington 155 $25,000

Whitman Garfield 600 $25,000

Whitman LaCrosse 310 $25,000

Whitman Lamont 80 $25,000

Whitman Malden 200 $25,000

Whitman Oakesdale 425 $25,000

Whitman Palouse 1,080 $32,400

Whitman Pullman 34,560 $1,036,800

Whitman Rosalia 560 $25,000

7 (Updated 5-18-2020)Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 31 of 810



(Updated 5-18-2020)

County Jurisdiction
2019 Population 

Estimate
PerCap Amount in 

Dollars

Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) for Local Governments
thru CARES Act

Washington State Funding Distribution

Whitman St. John 505 $25,000

Whitman Tekoa 770 $25,000

Whitman Uniontown 355 $25,000

. . .

Yakima Yakima County 255,950 $14,077,250

Yakima Grandview 11,200 $336,000

Yakima Granger 4,075 $122,250

Yakima Harrah 675 $25,000

Yakima Mabton 2,320 $69,600

Yakima Moxee 4,135 $124,050

Yakima Naches 990 $29,700

Yakima Selah 7,965 $238,950

Yakima Sunnyside 17,070 $512,100

Yakima Tieton 1,305 $39,150

Yakima Toppenish 9,105 $273,150

Yakima Union Gap 6,275 $188,250

Yakima Wapato 5,055 $151,650

Yakima Yakima 94,440 $2,833,200

Yakima Zillah 3,185 $95,550

. . .

State State Total 7,546,410 $296,541,670
State Unincorporated Population State Total 2,635,501

State Incorporated Population State Total 4,910,909

8 (Updated 5-18-2020)Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 32 of 810



  

 
 
Interagency Agreement with 
 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
 

 
through 
 

the Coronavirus Relief Fund for Local Governments 
 
 
 
For 

Costs incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to 
the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) during the period of 
March 1, 2020 thru October 31, 2020. 

 
 
 
Start date:  March 1, 2020 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 33 of 810



 

 ii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 

1. Authority…………………………………………………………………………………..1 
2. Acknowledgement of Federal Funding………………………………………………..1 
3. Contract Management ........................................................................................... 1 
4. Compensation ........................................................................................................ 1 
5. Expenses…………………………………………………………………………………1 
6. Indirect Costs…………………………………………………………………………….1 
7. Billing Procedures and Payment ............................................................................ 1 
8. Audit……………………………………………………………………………………….2 
9. Debarment…………………………….………………………………………………….3 

10. Laws ....................................................................................................................... 3 
11. Order of Precedence .............................................................................................. 4 

 

General Terms and Conditions 

1. Definitions .............................................................................................................. 5 
2. All Writings Contained Herein ................................................................................ 5 
3. Amendments .......................................................................................................... 5 
4. Assignment ............................................................................................................ 5 
5. Confidentiality and Safeguarding of Information.................................................... 5 
6. Copyright................................................................................................................ 6 
7. Disputes ................................................................................................................. 6 
8. Governing Law and Venue .................................................................................... 6 
9. Indemnification ....................................................................................................... 7 

10. Licensing, Accreditation and Registration ............................................................. 7 
11. Recapture .............................................................................................................. 7 
12. Records Maintenance ............................................................................................ 7 
13. Savings .................................................................................................................. 7 
14. Severability ............................................................................................................ 7 
15. Subcontracting ....................................................................................................... 7 
16. Survival .................................................................................................................. 8 
17. Termination for Cause ........................................................................................... 8 
18. Termination for Convenience................................................................................. 8 
19. Termination Procedures ........................................................................................ 8 
20. Treatment of Assets ............................................................................................... 9 
21. Waiver .................................................................................................................. 10 

 

Attachment A, Scope of Work  ................................................................................................... 11 
Attachment B, Budget & Invoicing ............................................................................................. 13 
Attachment C, A-19 Certification ................................................................................................ 14 
Attachment D, A-19 Activity Report ........................................................................................... 16 
 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 34 of 810



FACE SHEET 

 iii 

Contract Number: «Contract_Number»  

Washington State Department of Commerce 

Local Government Division 

Community Capital Facilities Unit 

Coronavirus Relief Fund for Local Governments 

 

1. Contractor 2. Contractor Doing Business As (optional) 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

325 Metcalf St 

Sedro-Woolley, WA  98284 

 

3. Contractor Representative 4. COMMERCE Representative 

Doug Merriman 

City Supervisor 

(360) 855-9921 

dmerriman@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us 

«Full_Name» 

Project Manager 

«LU_Project_ManagerPhone_Number» 

Fax 360-586-5880 

«Mgr_EMail»  

P.O. Box 42525 

1011 Plum Street SE 

Olympia, WA 98504-

2525 

5. Contract Amount 6. Funding Source 7. Start Date 8. End Date 

$350,700 Federal:   State:   Other:   N/A:  March 1, 2020 October 31, 2020 

9. Federal Funds (as applicable) 

$350,700 

Federal Agency:                       CFDA Number: 

US Dept. of the Treasury                21.999 

      Indirect Rate (if applicable): 

                «Indirect_Rate» 

10. Tax ID # 11. SWV # 12. UBI # 13. DUNS # 

91-6001276 SWV0018462-00 298-001-552 878469774 

14. Contract Purpose 

To provide funds for costs incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) 

during the period of March 1, 2020 thru October 31, 2020. Final invoices must be received by November 15, 2020. 

15. Signing Statement 

COMMERCE, defined as the Department of Commerce, and the Contractor, as defined above, acknowledge and accept the terms of 

this Contract and Attachments and have executed this Contract on the date below and warrant they are authorized to bind their 

respective agencies. The rights and obligations of both parties to this Contract are governed by this Contract and the following 

documents hereby incorporated by reference: Attachment “A” – Scope of Work, Attachment “B” – Budget & Invoicing, Attachment 

“C” – A-19 Certification, Attachment “D” – A-19 Activity Report 

FOR CONTRACTOR FOR COMMERCE 

 

 

  

Douglas A. Merriman, Ph.d, City Supervisor 

 

  

Date 

 

 

 

  

Mark K. Barkley, Assistant Director, Local Government Division 

 

  

Date 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY BY ASSISTANT 

ATTORNEY GENERAL 05-01-2020. 

APPROVAL ON FILE.  

 

 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 35 of 810



SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

FEDERAL FUNDS 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 1 

1. AUTHORITY 
 
COMMERCE and Contractor enter into this Contract pursuant to the authority granted by the Interlocal 
Cooperation Act, Chapter 39.34 RCW. 
 

2. ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF FEDERAL FUNDS  
 
Funds under the Contract are made available and are subject to Section 601(a) of the Social Security 
Act, as amended by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES 
Act), and Title V and VI of the CARES Act. 

The Contractor agrees that any publications (written, visual, or sound) but excluding press releases, 
newsletters, and issue analyses, issued by the Contractor describing programs or projects funded in whole 
or in part with federal funds under this Contract, shall contain the following statements:  

“This project was supported by a grant awarded by US Department of the Treasury.  Points of 
view in this document are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the official position 
or policies of the US Department of the Treasury. Grant funds are administered by the Local 
Government Coronavirus Relief Fund thru the Washington State Department of Commerce.”   

3. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

The Representative for each of the parties shall be responsible for and shall be the contact person for all 
communications and billings regarding the performance of this Contract.  

The Representative for COMMERCE and their contact information are identified on the Face Sheet of 
this Contract. 

The Representative for the Contractor and their contact information are identified on the Face Sheet of 
this Contract. 

4. COMPENSATION 

COMMERCE shall pay an amount not to exceed the contract amount listed on the Face Sheet for the 
performance of all things necessary for or incidental to the performance of work under this Contract as set 
forth in the Scope of Work (Attachment A).  

5. EXPENSES 

Contractor shall receive reimbursement for allowable expenses as identified in the Scope of Work 
(Attachment A) or as authorized in advance by COMMERCE as reimbursable.   

Travel expenses may include airfare (economy or coach class only), other transportation expenses, and 
lodging and subsistence necessary during periods of required travel. Contractor shall receive compensation 
for travel expenses at current state travel reimbursement rates.  

6. INDIRECT COSTS 

Contractor shall provide their indirect cost rate that has been negotiated between their entity and the federal 
government. If no such rate exists a de minimis indirect cost rate of 10% of modified total direct costs 
(MTDC) will be used. 

7. BILLING PROCEDURES AND PAYMENT 

COMMERCE shall reimburse the Contractor for eligible Project expenditures, up to the maximum payable 
under this Contract.  When requesting reimbursement for expenditures made, Contractor shall submit all 
Invoice Vouchers and any required documentation electronically through COMMERCE’s Contracts 
Management System (CMS), which is available through the Secure Access Washington (SAW) portal. If 
the Contractor has constraints preventing access to COMMERCE’s online A-19 portal, a hard copy A-19 
form may be provided by the COMMERCE Project Manager upon request.   
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 36 of 810



SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

FEDERAL FUNDS 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 2 

The voucher must be certified by an official of the Contractor with authority to bind the Contractor.  The final 
voucher shall be submitted to COMMERCE no later than November 15, 2020.   
 
COMMERCE will pay Contractor upon acceptance of services provided and receipt of properly completed 
invoices, which shall be submitted to the Representative for COMMERCE not more often than monthly.  

The invoices shall describe and document, to COMMERCE's satisfaction, reimbursable expenditures as 
set forth under the Scope of Work (Attachment A) and Budget & Invoicing (Attachment B). The invoice shall 
include the Contract Number as stated on the Face Sheet.  

Each voucher must be accompanied by an A-19 Certification (Attachment C) and A-19 Activity Report 
(Attachment D). The A-19 Certification must be certified by an authorized party of the Contractor to certify 
and attest all expenditures submitted on the voucher are in compliance with the United States Treasury 
Coronavirus Relief Fund (“Fund”) Guidance for State, Territorial, Local, and Tribal Governments:  
 
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-
and-Tribal-Governments.pdf  

 
The A-19 Activity Report must be submitted which describes, in Excel spreadsheet and narrative form, a 
detailed breakdown of the expenditures within each applicable budget sub-category identified in the 
voucher, as well as a report of expenditures to date.  COMMERCE will not release payment for any 
reimbursement request received unless and until the A-19 Certification and A-19 Activity Report is received.  
After approving the Invoice Voucher, A-19 Certification and Activity Report, COMMERCE shall promptly 
remit a warrant to the Contractor. 
 
Payment shall be considered timely if made by COMMERCE within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt 
of properly completed invoices. Payment shall be sent to the address designated by the Contractor. 

COMMERCE may, in its sole discretion, terminate the Contract or withhold payments claimed by the 
Contractor for services rendered if the Contractor fails to satisfactorily comply with any term or condition of 
this Contract.   

No payments in advance or in anticipation of services or supplies to be provided under this Agreement shall 
be made by COMMERCE. 

Duplication of Billed Costs 

The Contractor shall not bill COMMERCE for services performed under this Agreement, and COMMERCE 
shall not pay the Contractor, if the Contractor is entitled to payment or has been or will be paid by any other 
source, including grants, for that service. 

Disallowed Costs 

The Contractor is responsible for any audit exceptions or disallowed costs incurred by its own organization 
or that of its subcontractors. 

Should the Contractor be found to spent funds inconsistent with federal laws, rules, guidelines, or otherwise 
inappropriately, it is the responsibility of the Contractor to reimburse Commerce for any amount spent on 
disallowed costs. 

8. AUDIT 

Contractor shall maintain internal controls providing reasonable assurance it is managing federal awards 
in compliance with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements that could have a 
material effect on each of its federal programs; and prepare appropriate financial statements, including a 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 

If the Contractor is a subrecipient and expends $750,000 or more in federal awards from any and/or all 
sources in any fiscal year, the Contractor shall procure and pay for a single audit or a program-specific 
audit for that fiscal year. Upon completion of each audit, the Contractor shall: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 37 of 810

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf


SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

FEDERAL FUNDS 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 3 

A. Submit to COMMERCE the reporting package specified in OMB Super Circular 2 CFR 200.501, 
reports required by the program-specific audit guide (if applicable), and a copy of any management 
letters issued by the auditor. 

B. Submit to COMMERCE follow-up and developed corrective action plans for all audit findings. 

If the Contractor is a subrecipient and expends less than $750,000 in federal awards from any and/or all 
sources in any fiscal year, the Contractor shall notify COMMERCE they did not meet the single audit 
requirement. 

The Contractor shall send all single audit documentation to auditreview@commerce.wa.gov.  

9. DEBARMENT 

A. Contractor, defined as the primary participant and it principals, certifies by signing these General Terms 
and Conditions that to the best of its knowledge and belief that they: 

i. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency. 

ii. Have not within a three-year period preceding this Contract, been convicted of or had a civil 
judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection 
with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public or private agreement or transaction, 
violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, 
bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, tax evasion, receiving 
stolen property, making false claims, or obstruction of justice; 

iii. Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity 
(Federal, State, or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph 
(1)(b) of federal Executive Order 12549; and 

iv. Have not within a three-year period preceding the signing of this Contract had one or more 
public transactions (Federal, State, or local) terminated for cause of default. 

B. Where the Contractor is unable to certify to any of the statements in this Contract, the Contractor shall 
attach an explanation to this Contract. 

C. The Contractor agrees by signing this Contract that it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier 
covered transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily 
excluded from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by COMMERCE. 

D. The Contractor further agrees by signing this Contract that it will include the clause titled “Certification 
Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion-Lower Tier Covered 
Transaction,” as follows, without modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in all 
solicitations for lower tier covered transactions: 

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS 

i. The lower tier Contractor certifies, by signing this Contract that neither it nor its principals is 
presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily 
excluded from participation in this transaction by any Federal department or agency. 

ii. Where the lower tier Contractor is unable to certify to any of the statements in this Contract, 
such contractor shall attach an explanation to this Contract. 

E. The terms covered transaction, debarred, suspended, ineligible, lower tier covered transaction, 
person, primary covered transaction, principal, and voluntarily excluded, as used in this section, 
have the meanings set out in the Definitions and Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive 
Order 12549. You may contact COMMERCE for assistance in obtaining a copy of these regulations.  

10. LAWS 

The Contractor shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, codes, regulations, and policies of local, 
state, and federal governments, as now or hereafter amended, including, but not limited to: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 38 of 810

mailto:auditreview@commerce.wa.gov


SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

FEDERAL FUNDS 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 4 

United States Laws, Regulations and Circulars (Federal) 

Contractor shall comply with Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirement 
for Federal Award, 2 CFR 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements. 

Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of 2 CFR Part 200, including any future 
amendments to 2 CFR Part 200, and any successor or replacement Office of Management and Budget 
(OMB) Circular or regulation. 

Contractor shall comply with Omnibus Crime Control and Safe streets Act of 1968, Title VI of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990, Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, and The 
Department of Justice Non-Discrimination Regulations, 28 C.F.R. Part 42, Subparts C.D.E. and G, and 28 
C.F.R. Part 35 and 39. 

11. ORDER OF PRECEDENCE 

In the event of an inconsistency in this Contract, the inconsistency shall be resolved by giving precedence 
in the following order:  

 Applicable federal and state of Washington statutes and regulations 

 Special Terms and Conditions  

 General Terms and Conditions 

 Attachment A – Scope of Work 

 Attachment B – Budget & Invoicing 

 Attachment C – A-19 Certification 

 Attachment D – A-19 Activity Report 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 39 of 810



GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

FEDERAL FUNDS 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 5 

1. DEFINITIONS 

As used throughout this Contract, the following terms shall have the meaning set forth below: 

A. “Authorized Representative” shall mean the Director and/or the designee authorized in writing to 
act on the Director’s behalf. 

B. “COMMERCE” shall mean the Department of Commerce. 

C. “Contract” or “Agreement” means the entire written agreement between COMMERCE and the 
Contractor, including any attachments, documents, or materials incorporated by reference. E-mail 
or facsimile transmission of a signed copy of this contract shall be the same as delivery of an 
original. 

D. "Contractor" shall mean the entity identified on the face sheet performing service(s) under this 
Contract, and shall include all employees and agents of the Contractor. 

E. “Personal Information” shall mean information identifiable to any person, including, but not limited 
to, information that relates to a person’s name, health, finances, education, business, use or receipt 
of governmental services or other activities, addresses, telephone numbers, social security 
numbers, driver license numbers, other identifying numbers, and any financial identifiers. 

F. ”State” shall mean the state of Washington. 

G. "Subcontractor" shall mean one not in the employment of the Contractor, who is performing all or 
part of those services under this Contract under a separate contract with the Contractor. The terms 
“subcontractor” and “subcontractors” mean subcontractor(s) in any tier. 

2. ALL WRITINGS CONTAINED HEREIN 

This Contract contains all the terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties. No other 
understandings, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject matter of this Contract shall be deemed to 
exist or to bind any of the parties hereto. 

3. AMENDMENTS 

This Contract may be amended by mutual agreement of the parties. Such amendments shall not be 
binding unless they are in writing and signed by personnel authorized to bind each of the parties. 

4. ASSIGNMENT 

Neither this Contract, work thereunder, nor any claim arising under this Contract, shall be transferred 
or assigned by the Contractor without prior written consent of COMMERCE. 

5. CONFIDENTIALITY AND SAFEGUARDING OF INFORMATION 

A.  “Confidential Information” as used in this section includes:  

i. All material provided to the Contractor by COMMERCE that is designated as “confidential” by 
COMMERCE; 

ii. All material produced by the Contractor that is designated as “confidential” by COMMERCE; 
and 

iii. All personal information in the possession of the Contractor that may not be disclosed under 
state or federal law.  

B. The Contractor shall comply with all state and federal laws related to the use, sharing, transfer, 
sale, or disclosure of Confidential Information. The Contractor shall use Confidential Information 
solely for the purposes of this Contract and shall not use, share, transfer, sell or disclose any 
Confidential Information to any third party except with the prior written consent of COMMERCE or 
as may be required by law. The Contractor shall take all necessary steps to assure that Confidential 
Information is safeguarded to prevent unauthorized use, sharing, transfer, sale or disclosure of 
Confidential Information or violation of any state or federal laws related thereto. Upon request, the 
Contractor shall provide COMMERCE with its policies and procedures on confidentiality.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 40 of 810



GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

FEDERAL FUNDS 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 6 

COMMERCE may require changes to such policies and procedures as they apply to this Contract 
whenever COMMERCE reasonably determines that changes are necessary to prevent 
unauthorized disclosures. The Contractor shall make the changes within the time period specified 
by COMMERCE. Upon request, the Contractor shall immediately return to COMMERCE any 
Confidential Information that COMMERCE reasonably determines has not been adequately 
protected by the Contractor against unauthorized disclosure.  

C. Unauthorized Use or Disclosure. The Contractor shall notify COMMERCE within five (5) working 
days of any unauthorized use or disclosure of any confidential information, and shall take necessary 
steps to mitigate the harmful effects of such use or disclosure.   

6. COPYRIGHT 

Unless otherwise provided, all Materials produced under this Contract shall be considered "works for 
hire" as defined by the U.S. Copyright Act and shall be owned by COMMERCE. COMMERCE shall be 
considered the author of such Materials. In the event the Materials are not considered “works for hire” 
under the U.S. Copyright laws, the Contractor hereby irrevocably assigns all right, title, and interest in 
all Materials, including all intellectual property rights, moral rights, and rights of publicity to COMMERCE 
effective from the moment of creation of such Materials. 

“Materials” means all items in any format and includes, but is not limited to, data, reports, documents, 
pamphlets, advertisements, books, magazines, surveys, studies, computer programs, films, tapes, 
and/or sound reproductions. “Ownership” includes the right to copyright, patent, register and the ability 
to transfer these rights. 

For Materials that are delivered under the Contract, but that incorporate pre-existing materials not 
produced under the Contract, the Contractor hereby grants to COMMERCE a nonexclusive, royalty-
free, irrevocable license (with rights to sublicense to others) in such Materials to translate, reproduce, 
distribute, prepare derivative works, publicly perform, and publicly display. The Contractor warrants and 
represents that the Contractor has all rights and permissions, including intellectual property rights, 
moral rights and rights of publicity, necessary to grant such a license to COMMERCE. 

The Contractor shall exert all reasonable effort to advise COMMERCE, at the time of delivery of 
Materials furnished under this Contract, of all known or potential invasions of privacy contained therein 
and of any portion of such document which was not produced in the performance of this Contract. The 
Contractor shall provide COMMERCE with prompt written notice of each notice or claim of infringement 
received by the Contractor with respect to any Materials delivered under this Contract. COMMERCE 
shall have the right to modify or remove any restrictive markings placed upon the Materials by the 
Contractor. 

7. DISPUTES 

In the event that a dispute arises under this Agreement, it shall be determined by a Dispute Board in 
the following manner: Each party to this Agreement shall appoint one member to the Dispute Board. 
The members so appointed shall jointly appoint an additional member to the Dispute Board. The 
Dispute Board shall review the facts, Agreement terms and applicable statutes and rules and make a 
determination of the dispute. The Dispute Board shall thereafter decide the dispute with the majority 
prevailing. The determination of the Dispute Board shall be final and binding on the parties hereto. As 
an alternative to this process, either of the parties may request intervention by the Governor, as 
provided by RCW 43.17.330, in which event the Governor's process will control. 
 

8. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE 

This Contract shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the state of Washington, 
and any applicable federal laws, and the venue of any action brought hereunder shall be in the Superior 
Court for Thurston County. 

 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 41 of 810



GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

FEDERAL FUNDS 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 7 

9. INDEMNIFICATION 

Each party shall be solely responsible for the acts of its employees, officers, and agents. 

10. LICENSING, ACCREDITATION AND REGISTRATION 

The Contractor shall comply with all applicable local, state, and federal licensing, accreditation and 
registration requirements or standards necessary for the performance of this Contract.  

11. RECAPTURE 

In the event that the Contractor fails to perform this Contract in accordance with state laws, federal 
laws, and/or the provisions of this Contract, COMMERCE reserves the right to recapture funds in an 
amount to compensate COMMERCE for the noncompliance in addition to any other remedies available 
at law or in equity.  

Repayment by the Contractor of funds under this recapture provision shall occur within the time period 
specified by COMMERCE. In the alternative, COMMERCE may recapture such funds from payments 
due under this Contract. 

12. RECORDS MAINTENANCE 

The Contractor shall maintain books, records, documents, data and other evidence relating to this 
contract and performance of the services described herein, including but not limited to accounting 
procedures and practices that sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs of any nature 
expended in the performance of this contract.   
 
The Contractor shall maintain records that identify, in its accounts, all federal awards received and 
expended and the federal programs under which they were received, by Catalog of Federal Domestic 
Assistance (CFDA) title and number, award number and year, name of the federal agency, and name 
of the pass-through entity. 
 
The Contractor shall retain such records for a period of six (6) years following the date of final payment. 
At no additional cost, these records, including materials generated under the contract, shall be subject 
at all reasonable times to inspection, review or audit by COMMERCE, personnel duly authorized by 
COMMERCE, the Office of the State Auditor, and federal and state officials so authorized by law, 
regulation or agreement. 

If any litigation, claim or audit is started before the expiration of the six (6) year period, the records shall 
be retained until all litigation, claims, or audit findings involving the records have been resolved. 

13. SAVINGS 

In the event funding from state, federal, or other sources is withdrawn, reduced, or limited in any way 
after the effective date of this Contract and prior to normal completion, COMMERCE may suspend or 
terminate the Contract under the "Termination for Convenience" clause, without the ten calendar day 
notice requirement. In lieu of termination, the Contract may be amended to reflect the new funding 
limitations and conditions.  

14. SEVERABILITY 

The provisions of this contract are intended to be severable. If any term or provision is illegal or invalid 
for any reason whatsoever, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remainder of 
the contract. 

15. SUBCONTRACTING 

The Contractor may only subcontract work contemplated under this Contract if it obtains the prior written 
approval of COMMERCE. 

If COMMERCE approves subcontracting, the Contractor shall maintain written procedures related to 
subcontracting, as well as copies of all subcontracts and records related to subcontracts. For cause, 
COMMERCE in writing may: (a) require the Contractor to amend its subcontracting procedures as they 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 42 of 810



GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

FEDERAL FUNDS 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 8 

relate to this Contract; (b) prohibit the Contractor from subcontracting with a particular person or entity; 
or (c) require the Contractor to rescind or amend a subcontract. 

Every subcontract shall bind the Subcontractor to follow all applicable terms of this Contract. Contractor 
shall incorporate 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F audit requirements into all subcontracts.  The Contractor 
is responsible to COMMERCE if the Subcontractor fails to comply with any applicable term or condition 
of this Contract. The Contractor shall appropriately monitor the activities of the Subcontractor to assure 
fiscal conditions of this Contract. In no event shall the existence of a subcontract operate to release or 
reduce the liability of the Contractor to COMMERCE for any breach in the performance of the 
Contractor’s duties. 

Every subcontract shall include a term that COMMERCE and the State of Washington are not liable for 
claims or damages arising from a Subcontractor’s performance of the subcontract. 

16. SURVIVAL 

The terms, conditions, and warranties contained in this Contract that by their sense and context are 
intended to survive the completion of the performance, cancellation or termination of this Contract shall 
so survive.  

17. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE 

In the event COMMERCE determines the Contractor has failed to comply with the conditions of this 
contract in a timely manner, COMMERCE has the right to suspend or terminate this contract. Before 
suspending or terminating the contract, COMMERCE shall notify the Contractor in writing of the need 
to take corrective action. If corrective action is not taken within 30 calendar days, the contract may be 
terminated or suspended.  

In the event of termination or suspension, the Contractor shall be liable for damages as authorized by 
law including, but not limited to, any cost difference between the original contract and the replacement 
or cover contract and all administrative costs directly related to the replacement contract, e.g., cost of 
the competitive bidding, mailing, advertising and staff time.   

COMMERCE reserves the right to suspend all or part of the contract, withhold further payments, or 
prohibit the Contractor from incurring additional obligations of funds during investigation of the alleged 
compliance breach and pending corrective action by the Contractor or a decision by COMMERCE to 
terminate the contract. A termination shall be deemed a “Termination for Convenience” if it is 
determined that the Contractor: (1) was not in default; or (2) failure to perform was outside of his or her 
control, fault or negligence.   

The rights and remedies of COMMERCE provided in this contract are not exclusive and are in addition 
to any other rights and remedies provided by law.   

18. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 

Except as otherwise provided in this Contract, COMMERCE may, by ten (10) business days written 
notice, beginning on the second day after the mailing, terminate this Contract, in whole or in part. If this 
Contract is so terminated, COMMERCE shall be liable only for payment required under the terms of 
this Contract for services rendered or goods delivered prior to the effective date of termination.  

19. TERMINATION PROCEDURES 

Upon termination of this contract, COMMERCE, in addition to any other rights provided in this contract, 
may require the Contractor to deliver to COMMERCE any property specifically produced or acquired 
for the performance of such part of this contract as has been terminated. The provisions of the 
"Treatment of Assets" clause shall apply in such property transfer. 

COMMERCE shall pay to the Contractor the agreed upon price, if separately stated, for completed 
work and services accepted by COMMERCE, and the amount agreed upon by the Contractor and 
COMMERCE for (i) completed work and services for which no separate price is stated, (ii) partially 
completed work and services, (iii) other property or services that are accepted by COMMERCE, and 
(iv) the protection and preservation of property, unless the termination is for default, in which case the 
Authorized Representative shall determine the extent of the liability of COMMERCE. Failure to agree 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 43 of 810



GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

FEDERAL FUNDS 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 9 

with such determination shall be a dispute within the meaning of the "Disputes" clause of this contract.  
COMMERCE may withhold from any amounts due the Contractor such sum as the Authorized 
Representative determines to be necessary to protect COMMERCE against potential loss or liability. 

The rights and remedies of COMMERCE provided in this section shall not be exclusive and are in 
addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law or under this contract. 

After receipt of a notice of termination, and except as otherwise directed by the Authorized 
Representative, the Contractor shall: 

A. Stop work under the contract on the date, and to the extent specified, in the notice; 

B. Place no further orders or subcontracts for materials, services, or facilities except as may be 
necessary for completion of such portion of the work under the contract that is not terminated; 

C. Assign to COMMERCE, in the manner, at the times, and to the extent directed by the Authorized 
Representative, all of the rights, title, and interest of the Contractor under the orders and 
subcontracts so terminated, in which case COMMERCE has the right, at its discretion, to settle or 
pay any or all claims arising out of the termination of such orders and subcontracts; 

D. Settle all outstanding liabilities and all claims arising out of such termination of orders and 
subcontracts, with the approval or ratification of the Authorized Representative to the extent the 
Authorized Representative may require, which approval or ratification shall be final for all the 
purposes of this clause; 

E. Transfer title to COMMERCE and deliver in the manner, at the times, and to the extent directed by 
the Authorized Representative any property which, if the contract had been completed, would have 
been required to be furnished to COMMERCE; 

F. Complete performance of such part of the work as shall not have been terminated by the Authorized 
Representative; and 

G. Take such action as may be necessary, or as the Authorized Representative may direct, for the 
protection and preservation of the property related to this contract, which is in the possession of 
the Contractor and in which the Authorized Representative has or may acquire an interest. 

20. TREATMENT OF ASSETS 

Title to all property furnished by COMMERCE shall remain in COMMERCE. Title to all property 
furnished by the Contractor, for the cost of which the Contractor is entitled to be reimbursed as a direct 
item of cost under this contract, shall pass to and vest in COMMERCE upon delivery of such property 
by the Contractor. Title to other property, the cost of which is reimbursable to the Contractor under this 
contract, shall pass to and vest in COMMERCE upon (i) issuance for use of such property in the 
performance of this contract, or (ii) commencement of use of such property in the performance of this 
contract, or (iii) reimbursement of the cost thereof by COMMERCE in whole or in part, whichever first 
occurs. 

A. Any property of COMMERCE furnished to the Contractor shall, unless otherwise provided herein 
or approved by COMMERCE, be used only for the performance of this contract. 

B. The Contractor shall be responsible for any loss or damage to property of COMMERCE that results 
from the negligence of the Contractor or which results from the failure on the part of the Contractor 
to maintain and administer that property in accordance with sound management practices. 

C. If any COMMERCE property is lost, destroyed or damaged, the Contractor shall immediately notify 
COMMERCE and shall take all reasonable steps to protect the property from further damage. 

D. The Contractor shall surrender to COMMERCE all property of COMMERCE prior to settlement 
upon completion, termination or cancellation of this contract 

All reference to the Contractor under this clause shall also include Contractor’s employees, agents 
or Subcontractors. 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 44 of 810



GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT 

FEDERAL FUNDS 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 10 

21. WAIVER 

Waiver of any default or breach shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent default or breach. 
Any waiver shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of this Contract unless stated to be 
such in writing and signed by Authorized Representative of COMMERCE. 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 45 of 810



Attachment A 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 11 

 

Scope of Work 

This funding is made available under section 601(a) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 
of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) and Section V and VI of the 
CARES Act, for costs incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to the Coronavirus Disease 
2019 (COVID-19). Under the CARES Act, the Coronavirus Relief Fund may be used to cover costs that: 
 

1. Are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to the 
Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID–19); AND 
 

2. Are not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020 (the date 
of enactment of the CARES Act) for the State or government. 

 
These funds may be used to reimburse for expenditures incurred during the period of March 1, 2020 thru 

Oct. 31, 2020. Please note: In order to ensure all funds have been fully utilized prior to the US 
Treasury’s December 30, 2020 end date, the State of Washington must closeout contracts by October 
31, 2020. All final requests for reimbursement must be received no later than November 15, 2020. 
 
Expenditures must be used for necessary actions taken to respond to the public health emergency. These 
may include expenditures incurred to allow the local government to respond directly to the emergency, such 
as by addressing medical or public health needs, as well as expenditures incurred to respond to second-
order effects of the emergency, such as by providing economic support to those suffering from employment 
or business interruptions due to COVID-19-related business closures. 
 
Funds may not be used to fill shortfalls in government revenue to cover expenditures that would not 
otherwise qualify under the statute. Although a broad range of uses is allowed, revenue replacement is not 
a permissible use of Fund payments.  
 
Payments may be used only to cover costs not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of 
March 27, 2020. A cost meets this requirement if either:  
 

1. The cost cannot lawfully be funded using a line item, allotment, or allocation within that budget; OR 
 

2. The cost is for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in such a line item, 
allotment, or allocation. 

 
The “most recently approved” budget is the enacted budget for the relevant fiscal period for the particular 
government. A cost is not considered to have been accounted for in a budget merely because it could be 
met using a budgetary stabilization fund, rainy day fund, or similar reserve account. 
 
Allowable expenditures include, but are not limited to: 
 

1. Medical expenses such as: 
a. COVID-19-related expenses of public hospitals, clinics, and similar facilities. 
b. Expenses of establishing temporary public medical facilities and other measures to increase 

COVID-19 treatment capacity, including related construction costs. 
c. Costs of providing COVID-19 testing, including serological testing. 
d. Emergency medical response expenses, including emergency medical transportation, related 

to COVID-19. 
e. Expenses for establishing and operating public telemedicine capabilities for COVID-19-related 

treatment. 
 

2. Public health expenses such as: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 46 of 810



Attachment A 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 12 

 

a. Expenses for communication and enforcement by State, territorial, local, and Tribal 
governments of public health orders related to COVID-19. 

b. Expenses for acquisition and distribution of medical and protective supplies, including 
sanitizing products and personal protective equipment, for medical personnel, police officers, 
social workers, child protection services, and child welfare officers, direct service providers for 
older adults and individuals with disabilities in community settings, and other public health or 
safety workers in connection with the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

c. Expenses for disinfection of public areas and other facilities, e.g., nursing homes, in response 
to the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

d. Expenses for technical assistance to local authorities or other entities on mitigation of COVID-
19-related threats to public health and safety. 

e. Expenses for public safety measures undertaken in response to COVID-19. 
f. Expenses for quarantining individuals. 

 
3. Payroll expenses for public safety, public health, health care, human services, and similar 

employees whose services are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-
19 public health emergency.  
 

4. Expenses of actions to facilitate compliance with COVID-19-related public health measures, such 
as: 
a. Expenses for food delivery to residents, including, for example, senior citizens and other 

vulnerable populations, to enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions. 
b. Expenses to facilitate distance learning, including technological improvements, in connection 

with school closings to enable compliance with COVID-19 precautions. 
c. Expenses to improve telework capabilities for public employees to enable compliance with 

COVID-19 public health precautions. 
d. Expenses of providing paid sick and paid family and medical leave to public employees to 

enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions. 
e. COVID-19-related expenses of maintaining state prisons and county jails, including as relates 

to sanitation and improvement of social distancing measures, to enable compliance with 
COVID-19 public health precautions. 

f. Expenses for care for homeless populations provided to mitigate COVID-19 effects and enable 
compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions. 
 

5. Expenses associated with the provision of economic support in connection with the COVID-19 
public health emergency, such as: 
a. Expenditures related to the provision of grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of 

business interruption caused by required closures. 
b. Expenditures related to a State, territorial, local, or Tribal government payroll support program. 
c. Unemployment insurance costs related to the COVID-19 public health emergency if such costs 

will not be reimbursed by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act or otherwise. 
 

6. Any other COVID-19-related expenses reasonably necessary to the function of government that 
satisfy the Fund’s eligibility criteria. 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 47 of 810



Attachment B 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 13 

 

Budget & Invoicing 

The Contractor shall determine the appropriate budget and use of funds within the following 6 budget 
categories and their sub-categories: 
 

1. Medical 
2. Public Health 
3. Payroll 
4. Actions to Comply with Public Health Measures 
5. Economic Support 
6. Other Covid-19 Expenses 

 
The Contractor shall submit invoice reimbursement requests to the Commerce Representative using the 
Commerce Contract Management System’s (CMS) Online A-19 Portal. Each reimbursement request must 
include:  

1. A-19 Certification form – An authorized party of the local government will certify each invoice (A19) 
submitted for reimbursement and attest that all incurred expenditures meet the US Treasury 
Department’s guidance: https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-
Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf  

2. A-19 Activity Report  
3. A detailed breakdown of the expenditures incurred within each applicable budget sub-category on 

the A-19 Activity Report.  
 
The A-19 Certification and Activity Report templates will be provided with the executed contract. The 
documents are included in Attachment C and Attachment D for reference. 
 
Receipts and proof of payment for costs incurred do not need to be submitted with A-19s. All contractors 
are required to maintain accounting records in accordance with state and federal laws. Records must be 
sufficient to demonstrate the funds have been used in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security 
Act. Commerce reserves the right to audit any costs submitted for reimbursement. The Contractor shall 
comply with Commerce A-19 audits and provide the appropriate records upon request.

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 48 of 810

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf


Attachment C 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 14 

 

 

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 49 of 810



Attachment C 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 15 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 50 of 810



Attachment D 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 16 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 51 of 810



Attachment D 

State of Washington Interagency Agreement Version 072019 
Department of Commerce Page 17 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 52 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 53 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 54 of 810



  

 

RESOLUTION NO. _______-20 

 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF THE “PLAT OF 

GARDEN MEADOWS,” A 28-LOT, 31 UNIT SUBDIVISION AND AUTHORIZING THE 

MAYOR AND HER DESIGNEE(S) TO SIGN ALL PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL 

DOCUMENTS 

 

WHEREAS, Morris Nilson, representative for the property owner of 606 F&S Grade Road, has 

applied for preliminary plat approval for the proposed Plat of Garden Meadows, a proposed a 28-

lot, 31-unit subdivision; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Sedro-Woolley Planning and Public Works staff reviewed the 

preliminary plat and determined the proposed preliminary Plat of Garden Meadows has met the 

requirements of Chapters 13, 15, 16 and 17 SWMC; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner held an open record public hearing for the 

preliminary plat application on March 13, 2020 and public testimony was received and 

considered; and 

  

WHEREAS, the Hearing Examiner determined that the application was technically compliant 

with Ch. 16.08 SWMC and recommended to the City Council that the proposed Preliminary Plat 

of Garden Meadows be approved subject to conditions. The Hearing Examiner’s Findings, 

Conclusions and Recommendation (and exhibits) is attached hereto as Attachment A.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley, 

Washington adopts the attached Findings, Conclusions and Recommendation of the Hearing 

Examiner; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council finds that preliminary plat application 

#LP-2019-432, the Preliminary Plat of Garden Meadows, meets the requirements of Ch. 16.08 

SWMC and shall be given preliminary plat approval, subject to conditions stated in the Findings, 

Conclusions and Recommendation of the Hearing Examiner. 

 

PASSED by majority vote of the members of the Sedro-Woolley City Council this ______ day 

of June, 2020, 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      Julia Johnson, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

______________________________ ____________________________________ 

Jill Scott, Finance Director   Nikki Thompson, City Attorney 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 55 of 810



  

Resolution_________-20  

 

Attachment A 
Findings, Conclusions and Recommendation of the Hearing Examiner for the Preliminary 

Plat of Garden Meadows 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 56 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat  

No. LP-2019-432 

 

Page 1 of 11 
 

BEFORE THE HEARING EXAMINER 

FOR THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY 

 

In the Matter of the Application of ) No. LP-2019-432  

 )  

Morris Nilson  ) Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat 

 ) 

 ) FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS, 

For Approval of a Preliminary Plat )  AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

The Hearing Examiner recommends that the request for a preliminary plat to subdivide 

approximately 5.9 acres into 25 single-family residential lots and 3 duplex lots, with associated 

improvements, at 606 F & S Grade Road, be APPROVED.  Conditions are necessary to address 

specific impacts of the proposal.  

 

SUMMARY OF RECORD 
Hearing Date: 

The Hearing Examiner held an open record hearing on the request on March 13, 2020.   

 

Testimony: 

The following individuals provided testimony under oath at the open record hearing:  

 

John Coleman, City Planning Director 

Katherine Weir, City Assistant Planner 

John Ravnik, Applicant Representative  

Dorothy de Fremery 

 

Exhibits: 

The following exhibits were admitted into the record: 

 

A. Transmittal & Report Memorandum (Staff Report) 

B. Preliminary Plat Application, received December 3, 2019 

C. Preliminary Plat of Garden Meadows (3 Sheets), dated November 25, 2019, and 

November 26, 2019 

D. Critical Areas Study, Essency Environmental, LLC, dated November 22, 2019 

E. SEPA Environmental Checklist, dated December 3, 2019 

F. Preliminary Landscape Plan, dated December 2, 2019 

G. Notice of Application and SEPA Comment Period, published December 20, 2019  

H. Reissued Notice of Application and SEPA Comment Period, published January 14, 2020 

I. SEPA Notice of Threshold Determination – Mitigated Determination of Nonsignificance 

(MDNS), issued January 29, 2020 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 57 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat  

No. LP-2019-432 

 

Page 2 of 11 
 

J. Notice of Public Hearing, published February 28, 2020 

K. Comment Letter from Katelynn Piazza, Washington State Department of Ecology, to 

Katherine Weir, dated January 28, 2020. 

L. Written Comment from Judith J. Meadows, received December 20, 2019 

M. Written Comment from Judith J. Meadows, received January 10, 2020 

N. Written Comment from Mary and Teresa Johnson, received January 10, 2020 

O. Written Comment from Dorothey de Fremery, undated  

P. Washington Department of Fish & Wildlife Critical Areas Map, undated 

Q. Transportation Element Study Area Map, Transportation Solutions, Inc., undated 

R. Sewer Availability Certificate, dated October 18, 2019 

S. Skagit PUD Water Availability Letter, dated November 21, 2019 

T. Preliminary Drainage Report, Ravnik & Associates, Inc., dated December 4, 2019 

 

The Hearing Examiner enters the following findings and conclusions based upon the admitted 

testimony and exhibits: 

 

FINDINGS 

Application and Notice 

1. Morris Nilson (Applicant) requests approval of a preliminary plat to subdivide 

approximately 5.9 acres into 25 single-family residential lots and 3 duplex lots, with 

associated improvements.  An existing residence at the southwest corner of the site, on 

proposed lot 11, would be retained and would continue to be accessed from F & S Grade 

Road.  Proposed lot 28 would also be accessed from F & S Grade Road.  The remaining 

26 lots would have shared driveway access from a new public arterial road bisecting the 

site and connecting F & S Grade Road to Jones Road.  The property is located at 606 F & 

S Grade Road.
1
  Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 1, 2, 7, and 8; Exhibit B; Exhibit C. 

 

2. The City of Sedro-Woolley (City) determined that the application was complete on 

December 16, 2019.  On December 20, 2019, the City provided notice of the application 

by mailing notice to property owners and residents within 500 feet of the property, 

posting notice at the project site, and publishing notice in the Skagit Valley Herald, with a 

comment deadline of January 20, 2020.  Due to a procedural error regarding the 

applicable comment period, the City again provided notice of the application on January 

14, 2020, by mailing notice to property owners and residents within 500 feet of the 

property, posting notice at the project site, and publishing notice in the Skagit Valley 

Herald, with a new comment deadline of January 28, 2020.  On February 28, 2020, the 

City provided notice of the open record hearing associated with the application by 

mailing notice to property owners and residents within 500 feet of the property, posting 

notice at the project site, and publishing notice in the Skagit Valley Herald.  Exhibit A, 

                                                             
1 The property is identified by Tax Assessor Parcel No. P37229.  Exhibit B.  A legal description of the 

property is included with the preliminary plat map.  Exhibit C.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 58 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat  

No. LP-2019-432 

 

Page 3 of 11 
 

Staff Report, pages 3 and 4; Exhibit G; Exhibit H; Exhibit J; Testimony of Katherine 

Weir. 

 

3. The City received four written comments from members of the public in response to its 

notice materials:  

 Judith Meadows provided two written comments expressing concerns about the 

project’s potential impacts to wildlife habitat, specifically blue heron habitat.  She 

also expressed concerns about potential diversion of the project site’s historic 

drainage patterns to the nearby Brickyard Creek, which drains into the Skagit 

River.  Additionally, Ms. Meadows expressed concerns over traffic impacts to F 

& S Grade Road.  

 Mary and Teresa Johnson expressed concerns about the project’s potential 

impacts to wetlands and blue heron habitat. 

 Dorothy de Fremery expressed concerns about the project’s potential impacts to 

local schools and their ability to serve additional students.  She also expressed 

concerns about the proposed amount of open space that would be developed on 

the site as part of the project as well as the project’s traffic impacts. 

Exhibits L through O.  

 

4. The City also received a comment letter from the Washington State Department of 

Ecology (DOE), which noted that 16 contaminated sites are within a one-mile radius of 

the project location and that it is unlikely that any of the contaminated sites are 

hydrogeologically upgradient of the project location.  The DOE also noted that the 

project might require Construction Stormwater General Permit coverage if the earth 

disturbance would be greater than one acre and there would be stormwater associated 

with construction activity that would discharge to surface waters.  Exhibit K.    

 

5. In response to public comments concerning impacts to wildlife habitat, the City contacted 

the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW), and WDFW confirmed 

that that there are no know great blue heron rookeries or wetlands on or near the site.  

Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 4.  

 

State Environmental Policy Act 

6. The City acted as lead agency and analyzed the environmental impacts of the proposal 

under the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), Chapter 43.21C Revised Code of 

Washington RCW (RCW).  The City reviewed the Applicant’s environmental checklist 

and other information on file and determined that, with eight mitigation measures, the 

proposal would not have a probable significant adverse impact on the environment.  

Accordingly, the City issued a Mitigated Determination of Nonsignificance (MDNS) 

with an appeal deadline of February 12, 2020.  The required mitigation measures include 

limitations on hours of construction; compliance with Northwest Clean Air Agency 

regulations; Public Works Department approval of any water discharged to the 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 59 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat  

No. LP-2019-432 

 

Page 4 of 11 
 

stormwater system; compliance with all local, state, and federal regulations for 

construction activities; receipt of and compliance with a NPDES permit; Public Works 

Department approval of temporary construction traffic access; contribution of police 

impact fees; and restrictions on lighting emanating from the site. The MDNS was not 

appealed.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 4 and 5; Exhibit I.     

 

Comprehensive Plan, Zoning, and Surrounding Property 

7. The property is designated Residential 7 (R-7) under the City Comprehensive Plan.  The 

purpose of the designation is to allow “single lot developments to a maximum density of 

seven units per acre, with a minimum lot size of six thousand (6,000) square feet” and to 

allow “duplexes on appropriately sized lots (minimum duplex lot size of nine thousand 

(9,000) square feet.”  City Comprehensive Plan, pages 31 and 32.  City staff identified 

the following comprehensive plan goals and policies as relevant to the proposal: 

 Policy LU5.7: Recognize the rights of property owners to freely use and develop 

private property consistent with City regulations. 

 Policy LU5.8: Encourage high standards of appearance in all residential areas and 

in other high visibility areas. 

 Policy T6.2: Ensure that growth mitigates its impacts through transportation 

impact fees, SEPA mitigation, concurrency, and development regulations. 

 Goal T7: To provide an adequate transportation system current with the traffic-

related impacts of new development. 

 Policy T7.1: Maintain the adopted Level of Service (LOS) standard for all 

roadways classified as arterials or state highways. 

 Policy H3.1: Require usable outdoor recreation space as part of all residential 

developments. 

City staff determined that, with conditions, the proposed subdivision would be consistent 

with the City Comprehensive Plan.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 5 and 6.  

 

8. The property is located in the Residential 7 (R-7) zoning district.  The R-7 zone “includes 

the portion of Sedro-Woolley platted over a hundred years ago” and is “characterized by 

a grid street system and small lots.”  Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code (SWMC) 17.12.005.  

The intent of the R-7 zone is to “encourage the continuation of this traditional pattern.”  

SWMC 17.12.005.  Single-family residences are permitted outright in the R-7 zoning 

district.  SWMC 17.12.010.A.1.  Duplex residences on lots measuring no less than 9,000 

square feet are also permitted outright in the R-7 zoning district, subject to the following 

requirements:  duplex lots must be have a minimum width of 80 feet at the building line, 

a minimum depth of 100 feet, and a minimum lot frontage on a public street of 20 feet; 

duplex lots must provide off-street parking for four vehicles; duplexes must be designed 

to resemble a single-family residence to blend in with the design and appearance of 

surrounding residences in the neighborhood; and no more than one duplex shall be 

allowed per any three successive lots adjoined by side property lines.  SWMC 

17.12.010.A.4.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 5.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 60 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat  

No. LP-2019-432 

 

Page 5 of 11 
 

 

9. Chapter 17.12 SWMC provides specific requirements related to bulk restrictions, 

minimum lot size, and maximum density in the R-7 zone.  City staff reviewed the 

Applicant’s proposal and determined that it would meet the dimensional standards 

required under Chapter 17.12 SWMC.  In addition, SWMC 17.12.050 provides a 

maximum lot coverage of 50 percent for all structures within a lot in the R-7 zone.  This 

requirement would be reviewed at the building permitting stage.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, 

pages 6 and 7; Exhibit C. 

 

10. The subject property is bounded on the south by F & S Grade Road.  Property to the 

south, east, and west of the site is zoned R-7 and generally consists of single-family 

residential development.  Property to the north of the site is zoned R-5 and generally 

consists of single-family residential development.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 2; 

Exhibit B; Exhibit C.     

 

Critical Areas 

11. Essency Environmental, LLC, prepared a “Critical Areas Study” (CAS) for the 

Applicant, dated November 22, 2019.  The CAS determined that the project site is not 

within shoreline jurisdiction and does not contain any streams, stream buffers, wetlands, 

wetland buffers, riparian corridors, fish and wildlife conservation areas, frequently 

flooded areas, or geologically hazardous areas.  The CAS also determined that there are 

no aquifer recharge areas on or within 200 feet of the site.  Exhibit D. 

 

Landscaping and Open Spaces 

12. SWMC 17.38.010 requires new developments consisting of over seven dwelling units to 

provide a minimum of 8,000 square feet of unpaved, usable recreational open space plus 

an additional 100 square feet of such open space for each unit beyond 25 units.  The 

Applicant’s proposed 31-unit subdivision would require 8,600 square feet of recreational 

open space.  The Applicant proposes to develop an 8,612 square foot shared open space 

tract that would meet this requirement.  City staff reviewed the Applicant’s landscape 

plan, which details the proposed open space tract, for compliance with Sedro-Woolley 

Design Standards and Guidelines as required under SWMC 17.38.020 and determined 

that the plan would comply with these design standards.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 8; 

Exhibit F. 

 

Stormwater 

13. Ravnik & Associates, Inc., prepared a “Preliminary Drainage Report” for the Applicant, 

dated December 4, 2019.  The report notes the 5.92-acre property is generally elevated at 

the center of the site and slopes gently downhill to the north and south.  Stormwater 

runoff from a proposed public right-of-way would be collected within two sub-basins and 

routed to a pretreatment vault before being routed to underground infiltration areas below 

portions of the proposed sidewalk.  The infiltration systems would detain and infiltrate a 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 61 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat  

No. LP-2019-432 

 

Page 6 of 11 
 

majority of the runoff flows and would release a small amount of runoff via a control 

structure at the north end of the site.  The release control structure would be designed to 

release runoff from the new development at a rate conforming to DOE and municipal 

code requirements.  Stormwater runoff from individual lots would be routed to sections 

of permeable pavement on shared private driveways with underlying reservoir rock, 

which would provide for sufficient detention of stormwater runoff before infiltrating into 

underlying soils.  The report determined that the proposed stormwater system would meet 

the requirements of the municipal code and the 2014 DOE Stormwater Manual.  Exhibit 

T. 

 

Utilities 

14. The City would provide sewer, garbage, stormwater, police, and fire services to the 

property.  The City provided the Applicant with a “Certificate of Sewer Availability” for 

the proposed development, which specified that the Applicant would be required to 

extend sanitary sewer services to the site in a manner adequate to serve the proposed new 

lots and to conform with City standards.  The existing residence on the site, which is not 

currently connected to City sewer services, would be connected upon installation of a 

new sewer main.  Skagit County PUD would provide water service.  Skagit PUD issued 

the Applicant a letter of water availability, which specified that the Applicant would be 

required to install a waterline extension suitable to serve the proposed lots and to provide 

a utility easement.  Puget Sound Energy would provide electricity service.  Cascade 

Natural Gas would provide natural gas service.  Verizon would provide telephone 

services.  Comcast would provide telecommunication service.  The property would be 

served by the Sedro-Woolley School District and Peace Health United Hospital.  Exhibit 

A, Staff Report, pages 3, 8, and 9; Exhibit R; Exhibit S. 

 

Access, Parking, and Traffic 

15. As noted above, access to the existing residence on the site and to proposed lot 28 would 

be provided directly from F & S Grade Road.  The remaining lots would be accessed via 

a new public road that would bisect the site and connect F & S Grade Road, located at the 

south of the property, with Jones Road, located at the north of the property.  The new 

road would include construction of curb, gutter, sidewalks, a planter strip with street 

trees, and any required pavement overlay and stripping.  The proposed new arterial road 

would be designed as an Urban Major Collector Arterial as part of the City’s documented 

long-term transportation plans and would be dedicated to the City upon final plat 

approval.  City Planning Director John Coleman testified that the proposed arterial road is 

part of the City’s Transportation Concurrency Plan, which would account for the 

proposal’s traffic impacts.  Because the road would be designed as a required Urban 

Major Collector Arterial, it would not provide for any on-street parking.  Mr. Coleman 

testified that the project’s compliance with minimum off-street parking requirements 

would be reviewed at the building permitting stage.  The 26 lots proposed to have access 

from the new arterial road would have shared driveway access, with no lots fronting the 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 62 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat  

No. LP-2019-432 

 

Page 7 of 11 
 

new arterial having direct ingress/egress to the road.  Shared driveway access would be 

designed to limit access points to the new arterial and to prevent vehicles from backing 

out onto the road.  Chapter 15.40 SWMC provides requirements for street and sidewalk 

designs in new subdivisions, including the requirement that construction or 

improvements to streets and sidewalks meet City Public Works Department Standards.  

City staff reviewed the Applicant’s proposal and determined that it would meet the street 

and sidewalk standards of Chapter 15.40 SWMC and the current City Public Works 

Department Standards Manual.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 7 and 8; Exhibit C; Exhibit 

Q; Testimony of Mr. Coleman.  

 

Schools 

16. The proposed development would be located within two miles of Evergreen Elementary, 

Cascade Middle School, and Sedro-Woolley High School.  City Planning Director John 

Coleman testified that residents of the proposed development would have safe walking 

routes to these schools.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 6; Testimony of Mr. Coleman.     

 

Testimony  

17. City Planning Director John Coleman testified generally about the proposal and how City 

staff reviewed it for compliance with the City Comprehensive Plan, zoning ordinances, 

and critical areas ordinances, as discussed above.  He noted that the proposed arterial 

road through the subdivision is part of the City’s Transportation Concurrency Plan, which 

would account for the proposal’s traffic impacts.  Mr. Coleman explained that the 

proposed arterial would be designed to minimize the number of access points to the new 

residences.  He also noted that the proposal would need to meet minimum off-street 

parking requirements and that compliance with this requirement would be reviewed at the 

building permit stage.  Mr. Coleman stated that the proposed development would be 

required to make sidewalk improvements along the new arterial road, which would 

provide for safe walking routes to schools serving the development.  He further stated 

that the Applicant would be required to pay school impact fees at the time of building 

permit issuance, as well as park impact fees, transportation impact fees, and sewer 

connection fees.  Mr. Coleman also explained how the proposal would meet the 

requirements for recreational areas, including requirements associated with children’s 

play areas within the proposed recreational tract.  He noted that the recreational tract 

would be owned and maintained by a homeowners’ association.  Testimony of Mr. 

Coleman.    

 

18. City Assistant Planner Katherine Weir testified about the proposed new arterial through 

the subdivision.  She also explained that the City had issued a second notice of 

application due to a procedural error in the first notice’s statement of the applicable 

comment period.  Testimony of Ms. Weir. 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 63 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat  

No. LP-2019-432 

 

Page 8 of 11 
 

19. Applicant Representative John Ravnik, who also is serving as the Principal Engineer for 

the proposal, testified generally about the proposal and how it would comply with the 

City Comprehensive Plan and zoning ordinances.  He noted that all utilities that would 

serve the development readily exist.  Mr. Ravnik addressed public concerns about the 

project’s potential impacts to wetlands and to blue heron habitat, stating that the project 

site is located outside of any wetlands or wetland buffers and that the WDFW confirmed 

that impacts to blue heron habitat are not an issue.  Mr. Ravnik detailed the proposed 

stormwater system, noting that the site had good infiltration capacity and that the small 

amount of overflow would be drained to existing stormwater facilities.  Regarding 

stormwater runoff from individual lots, Mr. Ravnik stated that the Applicant was 

considering bio-infiltration along with permeable driveways.  He noted that the proposed 

stormwater system would meet the requirements of the 2014 Department of Ecology 

Stormwater Manual.  Mr. Ravnik explained how the proposal would not create adverse 

traffic impacts to the area based on the current trip levels on F & S Grade Road.  He also 

explained how the proposed recreational tract would meet municipal code requirements.  

Testimony of Mr. Ravnik. 

 

20. Area resident Dorothy de Fremery testified that her property adjoins the project site.  She 

noted her concerns with the project’s potential impact on the school district, stating that 

local schools are currently overcrowded and underfunded and that several new residential 

developments in the area are contributing to this problem.  Ms. de Fremery requested that 

the proposed play areas be designed for use by children of a variety of ages.  She also 

expressed concerns about potential fencing that would be used as part of the project and 

about potential impacts to heron habitat.  Testimony of Ms. de Fremery.   

 

21. In response to Ms. De Fremery’s testimony, Mr. Coleman noted that municipal 

requirements related to open space/recreational areas have recently changed.  

Developments, like the one proposed, must now provide more open space/recreational 

space than previously and, in addition, such space must be designed to serve those of all 

ages.  Mr. Coleman also explained that there are no known critical areas in the vicinity of 

the project site but there has been confusion about blue herons because the City uses the 

image of a blue heron on its critical area signage (whether blue herons are present in a 

critical area or not).  Finally, he stressed that the Applicant would be required to pay 

school impact fees and that such fees are applied toward capital facilities improvements, 

such as schools.  Mr. Ravnik concurred with Mr. Coleman’s response.  Testimony of Mr. 

Coleman; Testimony of Mr. Ravnik.  

       

    Staff Recommendation 

22. City staff reviewed the proposal and determined that, with conditions, it would be 

consistent with the City Comprehensive Plan and would comply with applicable City 

code requirements.  City staff also determined that the proposal, with conditions, would 

serve the public interest and meet the preliminary subdivision criteria of SWMC 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 64 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat  

No. LP-2019-432 

 

Page 9 of 11 
 

16.08.028 and RCW 58.17.110.  Mr. Coleman testified that City staff recommends 

approval of the project with conditions.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 3 through 9; 

Testimony of Mr. Coleman. 

 

CONCLUSIONS 

Jurisdiction 

The Hearing Examiner is granted jurisdiction to hear and recommend applications for 

preliminary plats pursuant to SWMC 16.08.024.  This review entails the Hearing Examiner 

ensuring that the proposed plat, or revisions to it, would satisfy the criteria of Chapter 58.17 

RCW.  SWMC 16.08.024.  See also SWMC 2.34.080.C; SWMC 2.90.060.F.2.d. 

Criteria for Review 

Under SWMC 16.08.028, the effect of preliminary plat approval is as follows: 

A. Approval of the preliminary plat shall constitute authorization for the 

subdivider to develop the subdivision facilities and improvements as 

required in the approved preliminary plat upon issuance of the final plat.  

Development shall be in strict accordance with the plans and 

specifications as prepared or approved by the city engineer and subject to 

any conditions imposed by the hearing body. 

B. No subdivision requirements which become effective after the approval of 

a preliminary plat for a subdivision shall apply to such subdivision unless 

the hearing body determines that a change in conditions created a serious 

threat to the public health or safety. 

C. Preliminary plat approval is valid for five years unless extended pursuant 

to SWMC 16.08.064.  

 

The state subdivision criteria are as follows:   

A proposed subdivision and dedication shall not be approved unless the city, 

town, or county legislature body makes written findings that: (a) appropriate 

provisions are made for the public health, safety, and general welfare and for such 

open spaces, drainage ways, streets or roads, alleys, other public ways, transit 

stops, potable water supplies, sanitary wastes, parks and recreation, playgrounds, 

schools and schoolgrounds and all other relevant facts, including sidewalks and 

other planning features that [ensure] safe walking conditions for students who 

only walk to and from school; and (b) the public use and interest will be served by 

the platting of such subdivision and dedication.  

RCW 58.17.110(2). 

 

The criteria for review adopted by the City Council are designed to implement the requirement 

of Chapter 36.70B RCW to enact the Growth Management Act.  In particular, RCW 36.70B.040 

mandates that local jurisdictions review proposed development to ensure consistency with City 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 65 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat  

No. LP-2019-432 

 

Page 10 of 11 
 

development regulations, considering the type of land use, the level of development, 

infrastructure, and the characteristics of development.  RCW 36.70B.040. 

 

Conclusions Based on Findings 

1. With conditions, the preliminary plat would comply with RCW 58.17.110(2).  The 

Applicant submitted plans that ensure that, as proposed, the subdivision would meet all 

requirements for plat approval under the municipal code.  City staff analyzed the proposal 

and determined that appropriate provisions would be made for: the public health, safety, 

and general welfare; and for such open spaces, drainage ways, streets or roads, alleys, 

other public ways; transit stops; potable water supplies; sanitary wastes; parks and 

recreation; and playgrounds, schools, and schoolgrounds, including sidewalks and other 

planning features that ensure safe walking conditions for students who walk to and from 

school.  Staff also determined that the public use and interest would be served by the 

platting of such subdivision and dedication.  The Hearing Examiner concurs with staff’s 

assessment. 

 

Conditions, as detailed below, are necessary to ensure that the Applicant adheres to all 

requirements of the MDNS; constructs all improvements consistent with the preliminary 

plat map and landscape plan, including improvements related to lot access from the 

proposed arterial road; constructs all required infrastructure improvements prior to final 

plat application; provides access to City sanitary sewer services; and creates a 

homeowners’ association to maintain common facilities on-site, including the stormwater 

system.  Findings 1, 3 – 22.  

 

2. With conditions, the proposed subdivision would be consistent with City 

development regulations, considering land use type, development level, 

infrastructure, and development characteristics, such as development standards, as 

required by RCW 36.70B.040.  The City provided adequate notice and opportunity to 

comment on the proposed preliminary plat.  The City acted as lead agency and analyzed 

the environmental impacts of the proposed plat, as required by SEPA, and issued a 

Mitigated Determination of Nonsignificance (MDNS).  The MDNS was not appealed, 

and the relevant mitigation measures are incorporated in the conditions, as detailed 

below.  The preliminary plat would provide single-family residential development 

consistent with City development regulations, including the R-7 zoning district.  The 

proposed use would be compatible with surrounding properties.  As noted above in 

Conclusion 1, conditions are necessary to ensure the proposal meets all requirements for 

preliminary plat approval under municipal and state requirements.  Findings 1 – 22. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the preceding findings and conclusions, the Hearing Examiner recommends that the 

request for a preliminary plat to subdivide approximately 5.9 acres into 25 single-family 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 66 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Garden Meadows Preliminary Plat  

No. LP-2019-432 

 

Page 11 of 11 
 

residential lots and 3 duplex lots, with associated improvements, at 606 F & S Grade Road, be 

APPROVED, with the following conditions:
2
 

 

1. All development shall generally conform to the plat map as shown in Exhibit C and the 

landscape plan as shown in Exhibit F. 

 

2. The Applicant shall comply with the mitigation measures included in the SEPA MDNS 

issued January 29, 2020. 

 

3. Construction of all required infrastructure improvements, including, but not limited to, 

streets, curbs, sidewalks, sewer, landscaping, and street lighting shall be completed prior 

to final plat application or bonding in an amount approved by the City Engineer shall be 

filed with the City. 

 

4. All 28 lots shall have access to City sanitary sewer, and the residences on those lots 

(including the existing residence) shall be connected to the City sanitary sewer.  

 

5. A homeowners association shall be created to own and maintain the stormwater system 

infrastructure, recreation area tract and shared driveways; the homeowner’s association 

documents shall be approved by the Planning Department prior to recording. 

 

6. The ingress/egress for the lots fronting directly on the new arterial road shall be through 

the adjacent shared ingress/egress easement for the adjoining flag-lots.   

 

 

RECOMMENDED this 26
th
 day of March 2020.       

 

 
       ANDREW M. REEVES 

       Hearing Examiner  

       Sound Law Center 

 

 

   

                                                             
2 Conditions include legal requirements applicable to all developments, as well as those designed to 

mitigate the specific impacts of this development. 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 67 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 68 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Ato Hearing Examiner Findings



 

LP-2019-432 – Plat of Garden Meadows – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 2  

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL: 

 

A proposed preliminary long plat application for a 28 lot, 31 unit development at 606 F&S 

Grade Road. The parcel has one existing home that will be preserved and 3 of the 28 lots are 

proposed to be duplex lots. The approximately 5.9 acre property is zoned Residential 7 (R-7) 

which allows for duplexes subject to Chapter 17.12 of the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code 

(SWMC). The project includes construction of a new public arterial road with sidewalks that 

will connect F&S Grade Road through to Jones Road, a shared recreation area tract, and 

stormwater infrastructure.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN LAND USE DESIGNATIONS, ZONING DESIGNATIONS AND EXISTING 

LAND USES OF THE SITE AND SURROUNDING AREAS: 

 

Area Land Use Designation Zoning Existing Use 

Project Site Medium Density Residential Residential 7 One SFR on 5.9 acre site 

North Low Density Residential Residential 5  Single-Family Residential  

South  Medium Density Residential Residential 7 Single-Family Residential  

East  Medium Density Residential Residential 7 Single-Family Residential 

West Medium Density Residential Residential 7 Single-Family Residential 

 

Project Site 

R-5 

R-7 

Project Site 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 69 of 810



 

LP-2019-432 – Plat of Garden Meadows – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 3  

 

 

PUBLIC UTILITIES AND SERVICES PROVIDED BY: 

 

Water: Skagit County PUD #1 Cable TV: Comcast 

Sewer: City of Sedro-Woolley Police: City of Sedro-Woolley 

Garbage: City of Sedro-Woolley Fire: City of Sedro-Woolley 

Storm Water: City of Sedro-Woolley School: Sedro-Woolley School District 

Telephone: Verizon Hospital: Peace Health United 

Electricity: Puget Sound Energy Gas: Cascade Natural Gas 

 

 

ANALYSIS 
 

1. Application Process and Public Notice: 

 

a. On October 2, 2019 city staff met with the project proponent, Morris Nilson, for a 

Pre-Application meeting for a 28 lot, 30 unit subdivision on a largely vacant lot at 

606 F&S Grade Road. 

 

b. On December 5, 2019 the City received the preliminary long plat application 

materials including the long plat application (Exhibit B), a preliminary plat map 

(Exhibit C), a critical areas assessment report (Exhibit D), a SEPA Checklist 

(Exhibit E) and a landscape plan (Exhibit F) for a 28 lot, 31 unit subdivision. The 

application was determined to be complete on December 16, 2019.  

 

c. On December 20, 2019 the City issued its first Notice of Application and SEPA 

Comment Period (Exhibit G). The notice was mailed to all property owners and 

residents within 500 feet of the property, posted on site, and published in the Skagit 

Valley Herald legal notices on December 20, 2019.  

 

d. On January 14, 2020 The City reissued the Notice of Application and SEPA 

Comment Period (Exhibit H). Nothing was changed from the first NOA and SEPA 

Comment Period except the comment period had been extended. The re-issued notice 

with the extension was published in the Legal Notices section of the January 14 

Skagit Valley Herald.  

 

Residential 7 (R-7) Zoning Regulations: 

Minimum lot size: 6,000 square feet Lot width at building line: 40 feet 

Front Setback: 20 feet  Lot width at road frontage: 20 feet 

Rear Setback: 10 feet  Maximum building height: 35 feet 

Side Setback: 

5 feet for 1-story 

buildings, 8 feet for 2-

story 

Maximum building coverage: 50% 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 70 of 810



 

LP-2019-432 – Plat of Garden Meadows – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 4  

e. The extended SEPA comment period ended on January 28, 2020. Four comment 

letters from the public were received and one letter from the Department of Ecology.  

 

f. On January 29, 2020 the City issued a SEPA Mitigated Determination of Non-

Significance (MDNS) (Exhibit I). The SEPA MDNS was sent to all property owners 

and residents within 500 feet of the property, posted on site and published in the 

January 29, 2020 Skagit Valley Herald in the legal notices. 

 

g. The appeal period for the MDNS ended on February 12, 2020. The City received no 

appeals.  

 

h. A Public Hearing was scheduled for March 13, 2020. A Notice of Public Hearing 

(Exhibit J) was sent to all property owners and residents within 500 feet of the 

property, all parties of record, posted on the subject site and published in the legal 

notices section of the February 28, 2020 Skagit Valley Herald. 

 

CONCLUSION:  The application meets the procedural and public notice requirements 

in Chapter 58.7 RCW and for a Type IV application established in Chapter 2.90 

SWMC.  
 

2. Public Comment: 

 

a. During the comment period, the City received 5 comment letters.  

 

b. One comment letter was from the department of Ecology (Exhibit K) regarding 

nearby contaminated sites and their water quality program. 

 

c. The City also received 4 comment letters (Exhibits L, M, N and O) from nearby 

residents expressing concerns about a wetland and great blue heron rookery on the 

proposed site. 

 

3. Environmental and Critical Areas Review: 

 

a. The applicant submitted a SEPA Checklist (Exhibit E) and a Critical Areas 

Assessment Report (Exhibit D) for the City to review. The Critical Areas 

Assessment Report indicates that there are no wetlands, wetland buffers or riparian 

corridors on the site. SWMC Chapter 17.65 states that no further report is required if 

no critical areas determined to exist on site.  

 

b. Prior to issuing an MDNS, the City took the neighbor comments (discussed in 2.c 

above) into consideration and contacted the Washington Department of Fish and 

Wildlife (WDFW) in regard to the locations of known great blue heron rookeries. 

The WDFW confirmed that there are no known great blue heron rookeries or 

wetlands on (or near) the site and directed City staff to a map (Exhibit P) that shows 

known critical areas and significant habitat locations in Washington.  

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 71 of 810



 

LP-2019-432 – Plat of Garden Meadows – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 5  

c. On January 29, 2020 the City issued a SEPA Mitigated Determination of Non-

significance for the proposal (Exhibit I). The appeal period for the MDNS ended on 

February 12, 2020 and the city did not receive any appeals.  

 

CONCLUSION:  The application as conditioned meets State Environmental Policy Act 

(SEPA) requirements, the city’s environmental policy requirements in Chapter 2.88 

SWMC and the city’s critical areas requirements in Chapter 17.65 SWMC.  
 

4. Comprehensive Plan, Zoning and Permissible Uses: 

 

a. The City of Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan identifies this area as medium 

density residential. Specifically, this area is zoned Residential 7 (R-7).  

 

b. Chapter 17.12 SWMC contains the zoning and permitted uses for areas in the R-7 

zone. The proposal is for single family lots and duplex lots, which are allowed per 

SWMC 17.12.010(A). 

 

c. Specific goals and policies from the Land Use Element of the Sedro-Woolley 

Comprehensive Plan that are relevant and applicable to this proposal include the 

following:   

 

i. Policy LU5.7: Recognize the rights of property owners to freely use and develop 

private property consistent with city regulations. 

 

ii. Policy LU5.8: Encourage high standards of appearance in all residential areas and 

in other high visibility areas. 

 

d. Specific goals and policies from the Transportation Element of the Sedro-Woolley 

Comprehensive Plan that are relevant and applicable to this proposal include the 

following:  

 

i. The proposed street is included as a planned Urban Major Collector Arterial as 

identified in the Figure 1 - Study Area (Exhibit Q) of the Transportation Element. 

The construction of this arterial is part of the city’s documented long-term 

transportation plans. The lots are designed with shared driveways to limit the 

number of access points onto the new arterial. The lots and driveways are also 

designed to prevent cars from having to back out onto the arterial.    

 

ii. Policy T6.2: Ensure that growth mitigates its impacts through transportation impact 

fees, SEPA mitigation, concurrency, and development regulations. 

 

iii. Goal T7: To provide an adequate transportation system current with the traffic-

related impacts of new development. 

 

iv. Policy T7.1: Maintain the adopted Level of Service (LOS) standard for all 

roadways classified as arterials or state highways. 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 72 of 810



 

LP-2019-432 – Plat of Garden Meadows – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 6  

e. Specific goals and policies from the Housing Element of the Sedro-Woolley 

Comprehensive Plan that are relevant and applicable to this proposal include the 

following: 

 

i. Policy H3.1: Require usable outdoor recreation space as part of all residential 

developments. 

 

CONCLUSION: The application as conditioned is consistent with the Sedro-Woolley 

Comprehensive Plan and permitted uses identified in Chapter 17.12 SWMC.  

 

5. Application Type and Specific Criteria: Chapters 16.04 and 16.08 SWMC establish the 

requirements and criteria for approving a preliminary subdivision. A preliminary plat 

shall be approved if it meets the approval criteria in Chapter 58.17 RCW and the 

requirements of Chapter 16.04 and 16.12 SWMC.  

 

a. Preliminary subdivisions are approved subject to the criteria of Chapter 58.17 of the 

Revised Code of Washington (RCW), which requires provisions for public health, 

safety, and general welfare; open spaces; drainage; streets; transit stops; potable 

water supplies; sanitary wastes; parks and recreation and playgrounds; schools, 

sidewalks, and whether the public interest will be served by the subdivision and 

dedication. An analysis of each additional criterion will follow in subsequent 

sections.   

 

The proposal includes plans for an 8,612 square foot shared recreation area and a 

new through road that would connect F&S Grade Road to Jones Road. The proposed 

road matches the Sedro-Woolley Traffic Improvement Plan and includes street trees, 

sidewalks and planter strips. The plans also provide provisions for drainage, water 

supplies, and sewage. The proposed development is within close proximity to local 

schools; Cascade Middle School, Evergreen Elementary School and Sedro-Woolley 

High School are all located within 2 miles of the subject site.  

 

b. Per Ch. 16.08 SWMC, a preliminary plat shall follow the procedures for a Type IV 

permit review set forth in Chapter 2.90 SWMC.  

 

As concluded in Section 1 of this report, the application has followed the procedures 

for a Type IV permit review.   

 

CONCLUSION: The proposed subdivision as conditioned is consistent with the criteria 

described in Chapters 16.04 and 16.08 SWMC as well as RCW 58.17.110 for 

preliminary subdivision approval.  

 

6. Dimensional Standards: 

 

a. The dimensional standards of Chapter 17.12 SWMC apply to this proposed 

subdivision. The proposal is not using the optional subdivision process in Chapter 

17.43 SWMC – Planned Residential Developments. Therefore only the standard lot 

dimensions in Chapter 17.12 SWMC apply. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 73 of 810



 

LP-2019-432 – Plat of Garden Meadows – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 7  

 

b. Single-family residential (SFR) lots in the R-7 are required to be no less than 6,000 

square feet. The proposal is for 25 SFR lots that are each at least 6,000 square feet in 

size.  

  

c. SFR lots in the R-7 are required to be no less than 40 feet at the building line. The 

proposed plat layout includes SFR lots that are no less than 70 feet at the building 

line.  

 

d. The required minimum lot frontage on a public street, approved private street, or 

approved easement for standard lots in the R-7 zone is twenty feet. The proposed plat 

layout includes SFR lots with at least twenty feet of frontage on a public street or 

approved an easement. 

 

e. The standard minimum lot size for duplex lots in the R-7 is 9,000 square feet. Duplex 

lots are also required to be at least 80 feet at the building line and 100 feet deep. The 

proponent is proposing three duplex lots. Each of these lots are at least 9,000 square 

feet in size, are at least 80 feet wide at the building line and are 100 feet deep. 

 

f. The required minimum lot frontage on a public street, approved private street, or 

approved easement for standard duplex lots in the R-7 zone is twenty feet. The 

proposed plat layout includes duplex lots with at least twenty feet of frontage on a 

public street or approved an easement.  

 

g. The maximum coverage in the R-7 zone is 50% of the lot, including all structures, 

main and accessory. This standard is enforced at the time of building permit 

application.  

 

CONCLUSION: The proposal meets the dimensional standards identified in Chapter 

17.12 SWMC.  

 

7. Streets, Sidewalks and Driveways: 

 

a. Streets and sidewalks in new subdivisions are required to meet the public works 

constructions standards described in 15.40 SWMC.  

 

b. The subdivision proposal plans a new public road that includes construction of curb, 

gutter, sidewalks and a planter strip with street trees along with any required 

pavement overlay and striping. The road will be dedicated to the City upon final plat 

approval.   

 

c. There will be no on-street parking along the new road since it is designed as a 

required Urban Major Collector Arterial.  

 

d. SWMC 17.36.040(A) requires that ingress and egress be designed with respect to 

intersections, crosswalks and traffic in general so as not to create safety hazards or 

impedances. Only proposed lots 28 and 11 have access on F&S Grade Road. The 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 74 of 810



 

LP-2019-432 – Plat of Garden Meadows – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 8  

remaining 26 lots have access to the new arterial road. Of those 26 lots, all have 

shared driveway access. Proposed lots that front directly on the new road (non-flag 

lots) shall not have their own direct ingress / egress to the new road. The ingress / 

egress for the lots fronting directly on the new road shall be through the adjacent 

shared easement for the flag-lots. For example, lots 12 and 14 shall not have direct 

access to the new arterial road, their access shall be from the shared easement across 

lots 13 and 15.  

 

CONCLUSION: The application as conditioned meets the streets and sidewalk 

standards identified in Chapter 15.40 SWMC and in the current Sedro-Woolley Public 

Works Department Standards Manual.  

 

8. Landscaping and Residential Recreation Area: 

 

a. Per SWMC 17.38.010, all new developments of more than seven dwelling units shall 

be required as a condition of approval, to provide a minimum of 8,000 square feet of 

unpaved, usable open space with lawn or other soft surface for an outdoor recreation 

area, plus an additional 100 square feet of usable open space for each additional unit 

beyond the initial 25 units. A 31 unit subdivision is required to provide 8,600 square 

feet of recreation area per Ch.17.38 SWMC. The applicant has proposed an 8,612 

square foot shared open space tract.  

 

b. The applicant was required to submit a landscape plan (Exhibit F) in accordance 

with Ch. 17.50 SWMC with the application materials. The applicant included in their 

landscape plan design details for the 8,612 square foot open space tract, as well as the 

planter strips along the new public road.  

 

c. Residential recreational areas are subject to the design standards outlined in the City 

of Sedro-Woolley Design Standards and Guidelines. The landscape plan 

demonstrates that the open space tract is in compliance with the design standards.  

 

CONCLUSION: The proposal as conditioned meets the requirements for landscaping 

and recreational area as described in Chapters 17.38 and 17.50 SWMC.  

 
9. Design and Construction Standards: 

 

a. The plat map (Exhibit C) demonstrates that the proposed road and lot access meet 

the standards in Chapters 16.08 and 15.40 SWMC. 

 

b. Per Ch. 16.08 SWMC, subdivisions must provide water and sewer from a public 

supply to each lot.  

 

c. The existing house is not currently connected to the Sedro-Woolley sewer because 

the city sewer main is not within 200 feet of the house. The applicant submitted 

evidence of sewer availability from the Sedro-Woolley Public Works and 

Engineering Department (Exhibit R) that specifies the applicant will be required to 

extend the sanitary sewer services, in conformity to the Sedro-Woolley standards, to 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 75 of 810



 

LP-2019-432 – Plat of Garden Meadows – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 9  

the site in a capacity suitable to serve the proposed new lots. The existing house shall 

be connected to sewer once the sewer main is installed in the new road.  

 

d. The applicant is also required, per a letter from Skagit PUD (Exhibit S), to extend 

water services to the site in a capacity suitable for the proposed lots.  

 

CONCLUSION: The proposal as conditioned will meet the standards for design and 

construction in Chapters 16.08 and 15.40 SWMC.  

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Permit No. LP 2019-432 is hereby recommended for APPROVAL subject to the 

following conditions: 

 

1. All development shall generally conform to the plat map as shown in Exhibit C and the 

landscape plan as shown in Exhibit F.  

 

2. Comply with the mitigation measures included in the SEPA MDNS issued January 29, 

2020.  

 

3. Construction of all required infrastructure improvements, including, but not limited to, 

streets, curbs, sidewalks, sewer, landscaping and street lighting shall be completed prior 

to final plat application or bonding in an amount approved by the City Engineer shall be 

filed with the City. 

 

4. All 28 lots shall have access to city sanitary sewer and the residences on those lots 

(including the existing residence) shall be connected to the city sanitary sewer.  

 

5. A homeowners association shall be created to own and maintain the stormwater system 

infrastructure, recreation area tract and shared driveways; the homeowner’s association 

documents shall be approved by the Planning Department prior to recording.  

 

6. The ingress/egress for the lots fronting directly on the new arterial road shall be through 

the adjacent shared ingress/egress easement for the adjoining flag-lots.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 76 of 810



 

LP-2019-432 – Plat of Garden Meadows – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 10  

EXHIBITS 
 

A. Staff Report; 

B. Preliminary Plat Application; 

C. Preliminary Plat map of Garden Meadows  

D. Critical Areas Assessment Report 

E. SEPA checklist 

F. Landscape Plan 

G. NOA and SEPA Comment Period 

H. Re-issued NOA and SEPA Comment Period 

I. SEPA MDNS 

J. Notice of Public Hearing 

K. Comment Letter – Department of Ecology 

L. Comment Letter – Meadows (dated December 20, 2019) 

M. Comment Letter – Meadows (dated January 10, 2020 

N. Comment Letter – Johnsons  

O. Comment Letter – De Fremery   

P. WDFW Map 

Q. Transportation Element Study Area 

R. Evidence of Sewer Availability 

S. Skagit PUD Letter 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 77 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 78 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Bto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 79 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 80 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 81 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 82 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 83 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Cto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 84 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 85 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 86 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Dto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 87 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 88 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 89 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 90 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 91 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 92 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 93 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 94 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 95 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 96 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 97 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 98 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 99 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 100 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 101 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 102 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 103 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 104 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 105 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 106 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 107 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 108 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 109 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 110 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 111 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 112 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 113 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 114 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 115 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 116 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 117 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 118 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 119 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 120 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 121 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 122 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Eto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 123 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 124 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 125 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 126 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 127 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 128 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 129 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 130 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 131 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 132 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 133 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 134 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 135 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 136 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 137 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 138 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 139 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 140 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Fto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 141 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Gto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



NOTICE OF APPLICATION AND SEPA COMMENT PERIOD  

CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY PLANNING DEPARTMENT  
 

Description of proposal/application:  The city has received an application for a proposed 28 lot, 31 unit development on 

F&S Grade Road. The parcel has one existing home that will be preserved and 3 of the 28 lots are proposed to be duplex 

lots. The approximately 5.9 acre property is zoned Residential 7. The project includes construction of a new public road 

with sidewalks that will connect F&S Grade Road through to Jones Road, an open space tract, and stormwater 

infrastructure. File #LP-2019-432.  

 

Proponent:   Gildnes Credit Trust 

ATTN: Morris Nilson 

23145 Gunderson Road 

Mount Vernon, WA 98273  

  

Location of project, including street address if any:  606 F&S Grade Rd, Parcel #37229  

 

Environmental Review:  The optional DNS process in WAC 197-11-355 is being used. Agencies, tribes, and the public are 

encouraged to review and comment on the proposed project and its probable environmental impacts. The City of Sedro-

Woolley has reviewed the proposed project for probable adverse environmental impacts and expects to issue a mitigated 

determination of non-significance (MDNS) for this project. The MDNS will likely include the following conditions and any 

other conditions that may be necessary to address concerns raised during this comment period: 

 

1. Hours of construction shall be limited to 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. weekdays and 8:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. weekends as 

required in SWMC 9.46.020; 

2. Comply with Northwest Clean Air Agency Regulations during construction activities; 

3. All construction traffic shall use temporary construction access as approved by the Public Works Department; 

4. Contribute police mitigation fees of $505.76 per unit as per the residential unit fee calculation in the Capital Facilities 

Element of the City of Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan; and 

5. Lighting from the site shall be directed and/or shielded so as to not shine at the neighboring residential properties. 

 

Documents are available for review at: The City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Department, 325 Metcalf Street, Sedro-

Woolley, WA 98284, Monday through Friday, 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM. Environmental documents available include a SEPA 

checklist, preliminary drainage report, and critical areas assessment report. For more information, contact Katherine Weir at 

the Sedro-Woolley Planning Department at (360) 855-3206 or by email: kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us.  

 

Public Comment Period: The lead agency for this proposal has NOT yet made a threshold determination of whether or not 

the proposed project has a probable significant adverse impact on the environment. Interested persons may comment on the 

application and/or the anticipated SEPA determination, receive notice, participate in any hearings and request a copy of the 

decision. Public comments must be received by 4:30 p.m. January 28, 2020 and should be submitted to the City of 

Sedro-Woolley Planning Department, 325 Metcalf Street, Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284. Comments may be mailed or 

personally delivered and should be as specific as possible. This may be your only opportunity to comment on the 

environmental impacts of the proposed project. 

 

Katherine Weir, Assistant Planner 

City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Department 

 

Published in Skagit Valley Herald on January 14, 2020 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 142 of 810

mailto:kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us
jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Hto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 143 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Ito Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 144 of 810



 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
Friday, March 13, 2020 at 2:30PM 

Sedro-Woolley Municipal Courtroom 

325 Metcalf Street, Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284 

 
Application:  LP-2019-432, Plat of Garden Meadows 

 

Applicant Contact: Morris Nilson, 23145 Gunderson Road, Mount Vernon, WA 98273 

 

Project Address: 606 F&S Grade Road, Sedro-Woolley 

 

Project:  Proposed subdivision (long plat) of a 5.9 acre property on F&S Grade Road into 

28 residential lots. Three of the 28 lots are proposed to be duplex lots, for a total 

of 31 units. The back of the property is adjacent to East Jones Road, and the 

proposal includes a new public road that will connect F&S Grade Road through to 

East Jones Road. The existing home will remain. The project includes 

construction of a new public road, private shared driveways, stormwater 

infrastructure, and a shared open space tract. File #LP-2019-432. 

 

Public Comment: Interested persons may comment on the application, receive notice and 

participate in any hearings and request a copy of the decision. Written testimony 

may be submitted to: City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Department, ATTN: 

Assistant Planner, 325 Metcalf Street, Sedro-Woolley, Washington, 98284, or by 

email to kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us until 1:00 PM of the date of the public 

hearing.  

 

Documents are available for review at:  The City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Department, 

Monday through Friday, 8:00 AM to 4:30 PM. Project documents are available 

for review at no cost; copies will be provided at the requestor’s cost. For more 

information, contact the Planning Department at (360) 855-0771. A staff report 

will be available seven days prior to the hearing.  

 

Hearing Examiner:  The Hearing Examiner will hold an open record public hearing on the 

proposed Preliminary Plat of Garden Meadows at 2:30PM, Friday, March 13, 

2020 at the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Courtroom, 325 Metcalf Street. Based on 

the information presented to the Hearing Examiner and testimony at that hearing, 

the Hearing Examiner will make a recommendation to the City Council whether 

to approve, approve with conditions or deny preliminary approval of the proposed 

Preliminary Plat proposal. 

 

Notice Published:  Friday, February 28, 2020 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 145 of 810

mailto:kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us
jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Jto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



 

 

 

 

 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY 
Northwest Regional Office  3190 160th Avenue SE  Bellevue, Washington  98008-5452  (425) 649-7000 

711 for Washington Relay Service  Persons with a speech disability can call (877) 833-6341 

 

January 28, 2020 

 

 

Katherine Weir 

Planning Department 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

325 Metcalf Street 

Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284 

 

Re: Garden Meadows  

File# LP-2019-432, Ecology SEPA# 202000186 

 

Dear Katherine Weir: 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide comments on the Garden Meadows 28-Lot 

Residential Long Plat project.  Based on review of the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) 

checklist associated with this Project, we offer the following comments:  

 

TOXICS CLEANUP PROGARM 

Heather Vick, (425) 649-7064, heather.vick@ecy.wa.gov  

 

There are 16 contaminated sites on Ecology's database within a one-mile radius of this location.  

All of the sites are more than 0.5 mile southwest, south or southeast of this location and it is 

likely that none of the sites are hydrogeologically upgradient of this location.  Five of the sites 

have received No Further Action determinations. 

 

For a list and map of the sites, go to https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/neighborhood/ and type in the 

address of this location. 

 

WATER QUALITY PROGRAM 

Stephanie Barney, (360) 255-4390, stephanie.barney@ecy.wa.gov 

 

This project may require coverage under the Construction Stormwater General Permit if the earth 

disturbance is greater than one acre and there are stormwater discharges associated with the 

construction activity to surface waters of the state.  If you have questions about determining the 

need for CSGP coverage or you need information regarding applying for and implementing the 

CSGP, Stephanie Barney is the Permit Manager for Skagit County.  

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 146 of 810

mailto:heather.vick@ecy.wa.gov
https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/neighborhood/
mailto:stephanie.barney@ecy.wa.gov
jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Kto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Katherine Weir 

January 28, 2020 

Page 2 

 

Thank you for considering these comments from the Department of Ecology.  If you have 

questions or would like to respond to these comments, please contact one of the commenters 

listed above.  

 

Sincerely, 
 

 
 

Katelynn Piazza 

SEPA Coordinator 

 

Sent by email:  Katherine Weir, kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us  

 

ecc: Heike Nelson, Ravnik & Associates 

 Stephanie Barney, Ecology 

 Heather Vick, Ecology 

 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 147 of 810

mailto:kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us


Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 148 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Lto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 149 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Mto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 150 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 151 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 152 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 153 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Nto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Garden Meadows Development: 
 
Primary Concerns: 
1)  
This new development would add 31 new families and their children to our Sedro-Woolley 
School District, which has just had a severe cutback on Timber dollars (approximately $620,000 
dollars according to the recent article in the Skagit Valley Herald). Our existing families and 
students will already be severely impacted by this shortage without adding additional students. 
School bonds have not passed recently as well. Evergreen Elementary is well over capacity and 
in need of structural improvements. 
 
2) 
I believe there should be a moratorium on developments of this size until these monetary 
issues for our schools have been resolved. Otherwise we are impacting the learning 
environment for our current students, as well as any to come. 
 
3) 
If, in spite of this, Garden Meadows is approved, my property backs on this development, and 
there is currently only a wire fence between the two. There would need to be a 6’ solid wood 
fence, as there is on the north side of my property, that would run along the west side of my 
property (316 Garden of Eden Road), running south-north from F&S to G of E so it is contiguous 
and not a patchwork, ‘mish-mash’ of different styles of fencing. 
 
Secondary Concerns: 
The small, designated ‘open space’ tract is inadequate for the number of families added to the 
area involved, especially in relation to the lot sizes. 
 
One rational for ‘straightening’ Garden of Eden Road has been to reduce traffic on the portion 
between Jones and F & S. I don’t see how this addresses that problem. When people come 
down the hill, they still cannot directly access Cook Road, and will be just as likely to turn onto 
Jones as to go through to F & S and then back to the round-about to get to Cook Road. Possibly 
there are other solutions to this? 
 
Dorothy de Fremery PH: 360-856-1727 
ddefremery@cnw.com 
316 Garden of Eden Road, 
Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 154 of 810

mailto:ddefremery@cnw.com
jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Oto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



 

Subject Site 

Critical Area (Wetland) 

WDFW Critical Areas Map 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 155 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Pto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



 

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 t
h

ro
u

gh
 r

o
ad

 

Fo
r 

G
ar

d
en

 M
ea

d
o

w
s 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 156 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Qto Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 157 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Rto Hearing Examiner Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 158 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Sto Hearing Examiner Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 159 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 160 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Tto Hearing Examiner Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 161 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 162 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 163 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 164 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 165 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 166 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 167 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 168 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 169 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 170 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 171 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 172 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 173 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 174 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 175 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 176 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 177 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 178 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 179 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 180 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 181 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 182 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 183 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 184 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 185 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 186 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 187 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 188 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 189 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 190 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 191 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 192 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 193 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 194 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 195 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 196 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 197 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 198 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 199 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 200 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 201 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 202 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 203 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 204 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 205 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 206 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 207 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 208 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 209 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 210 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 211 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 212 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 213 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 214 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 215 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 216 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 217 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 218 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 219 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 220 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 221 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 222 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 223 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 224 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 225 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 226 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 227 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 228 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 229 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 230 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 231 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 232 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 233 of 810



  

 

RESOLUTION NO. _______-20 

 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF THE “PLAT OF 

BRICKYARD PARK – A PLANNED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT” AN 85-LOT 

SUBDIVISION AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND HER DESIGNEE(S) TO SIGN 

ALL PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL DOCUMENTS 

 

WHEREAS, Brickyard Park, LLC, property owner of the Skagit county Assessor parcel #39374 

– a 12.7 acre parcel located on McGarigle Road – has applied for preliminary plat approval for 

the proposed Plat of Brickyard Park – a Planned residential Development, a proposed age-

restricted, 85-lot subdivision; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Sedro-Woolley Planning and Public Works staff reviewed the proposed 

preliminary plat and determined the preliminary plat has met the requirements of Chapters 13, 

15, 16 and 17 SWMC; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner held an open record public hearing for the 

planned residential development (subdivision) application on March 24, 2020 and public 

testimony was received and considered; and 

  

WHEREAS, the Hearing Examiner determined that the application was technically compliant 

with Ch. 16.08 SWMC and recommended to the City Council that the proposed Preliminary Plat 

of Brickyard Park – a Planned Residential Development be approved subject to conditions. The 

Hearing Examiner’s Findings, Conclusions and Recommendation (and exhibits) is attached 

hereto as Attachment A. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley, 

Washington adopts the attached Findings, Conclusions and Recommendation of the Hearing 

Examiner; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council finds that preliminary plat application 

#LP-2019-389, the Preliminary Plat of Brickyard Park – a Planned Residential Development, 

meets the requirements of Ch. 16.08 SWMC and shall be given preliminary plat approval, 

subject to conditions stated in the attached Findings, Conclusions and Recommendation. 

 

PASSED by majority vote of the members of the Sedro-Woolley City Council this ______ day 

of June, 2020, 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      Julia Johnson, Mayor 

 

ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

______________________________ ____________________________________ 

Jill Scott, Finance Manager     Nikki Thompson, City Attorney 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 234 of 810



  

Resolution_________-20  

 

Attachment A 
Findings, Conclusions and Recommendation of the Hearing Examiner for the Preliminary 

Plat of Brickyard Park – a Planned Residential Development  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 235 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 1 of 18 
 

BEFORE THE HEARING EXAMINER 

FOR THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY 

 

In the Matter of the Application of ) No. LP-2019-389  

 )  

Tim Woodmansee, BYK Construction  ) Brickyard Park PP/PRD 

Inc., on behalf of Brickyard Park, LLC ) 

 ) 

 ) 

For Approval of a Preliminary Plat and ) FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS, 

Planned Residential Development )  AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 

The Hearing Examiner recommends that the request for a preliminary plat to develop a 12.7-acre 

property in two phases as an 85-lot Planned Residential Development for residents 55 years of 

age and older, with 33 townhouse lots, 52 single-family lots, and associated improvements, on 

the south side of McGarigle Road, across from the east entrance of Independence Blvd, be 

APPROVED.  Conditions are necessary to address specific impacts of the proposal. 
1
   

 

SUMMARY OF RECORD 

Hearing Date: 

The Hearing Examiner held an open record hearing on the request on March 24, 2020.  The 

record was left open until March 27, 2020, to allow for the additional submission of comments.   

 

Testimony: 

The following individuals provided testimony under oath at the open record hearing:
2
  

 

John Coleman, City Planning Director 

Mark Freiberger, City Director of Public Works 

Andrew L. Bratlien, Transportation Solutions, Inc. 

Zach Wieben, P.E., Gibson Traffic Consultants 

Tim Woodmansee, Applicant 

Frank Bresnan, Sr. 

Allen Emerson 

                                                             
1 The Hearing Examiner also held an appeal hearing related to the Mitigated Determination of 
Nonsignificance issued for this proposal under the State Environmental Policy Act.  The Hearing 

Examiner’s decision denying the appeal is provided in a separate decision issued concurrently with this 

decision, following a consolidated hearing as required by Washington Administrative Code 197-11-

680(3)(v), as detailed further below.      

 
2 The Hearing Examiner ruled that those providing testimony at the appeal hearing that immediately 

preceded the application hearing need not repeat their remarks.  Accordingly, a summary of such testimony 

has been included in this decision.  Oral Ruling of the Hearing Examiner.   

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 236 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 2 of 18 
 

Larry Stiles 

Marilyn Kenney 

James Johnson 

Linda Emerson 

Bonnie Belles 

Celeste Weaver 

Bob Mataya 

Margaret Miller 

 

Exhibits: 

The following exhibits were admitted into the record: 

 

A. City Staff Report 

B. Preliminary Plat Application, dated November 1, 2019 

C. Planned Residential Development Checklist, dated November 1, 2019 

D. Notice of Application and SEPA Comment Period, published November 18, 2019  

E. SEPA Notice of Threshold Determination Mitigated Determination of Nonsignificance 

(MDNS), dated January 13, 2020 

F. SEPA Notice of Threshold Determination Mitigated Determination of Nonsignificance 

(MDNS), dated January 29, 2020 

G. Notice of Public Hearing, published March 13, 2020  

H. Letter from Katelynn Piazza, SEPA Coordinator, Department of Ecology, to Katherine 

Weir, dated November 27, 2019  

I. Email from Brad Winder, Skagit Transit, to Katherine Weir, dated November 20, 2019  

J. Letter from Allen and Linda Emerson to Planning Department, dated December 2, 2019, 

with attachment; Letter from Allen and Linda Emerson to City Planning Department, 

dated November 26, 2019, with attachments  

K. Comment letters:  

1. Letter from Diane Celeste and Roger Weaver, dated December 2, 2019 

2. Letter from Robert Mataya to Planning Department, received December 2, 2019 

3. Letter from Frank A. Bresnan, Sr., dated December 2, 2019 

4. Letter from Mark and Kathryn Sutton to Planning Department, dated December 2, 

2019 

5. Letter from Marilyn Kenney to Planning Department, dated November 27, 2019 

6. Letter from James L. Johnson to Planning Department, dated November 30, 2019 

7. Letter from Carl Lundstrom to Planning Department, received December 2, 2019 

8. Letter from Margaret Miller and Larry Stiles, received December 2, 2019 

9. Letter from Randie Wright to Planning Department, dated December 2, 2019  

L. SEPA Environmental Checklist, dated November 1, 2019 

M. Critical Areas Assessment Report, Essency Environmental, LLC, dated September 17, 

2019 

N. Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA), Gibson Traffic Consultants, dated September 2019 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 237 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 3 of 18 
 

O. TIA Review Memorandum, Transportation Solutions, Inc., dated October 4, 2019 

P. Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review, dated January 7, 2020 

Q. SEPA Threshold Determination Appeal, dated January 24, 2020  

R. Project Narrative, BYK Construction, undated 

S. Landscape Plan (Sheets L-1 through L-5), dated February 17, 2020 

T. Plat map (Sheets 1 of 7 through 7 of 7), dated February 14, 2020 

U. Street Parking Exhibit (Sheet Attachment 1), dated February 14, 2020 

V. Preliminary Stormwater Site Plan, dated October 18, 2019 

W. Water Availability Letter, dated October 15, 2019 

X. Sewer Department Letter, dated September 3, 2019 

Y. Comments from Frank A. Bresnan, Sr., with email string and attachments, received 

March 24, 2020 

 

The Hearing Examiner enters the following findings and conclusions based upon the admitted 

testimony and exhibits: 

 

FINDINGS 

Application and Notice 

1. Tim Woodmansee, BYK Construction Inc. (Applicant), on behalf of Brickyard Park, 

LLC, requests approval of a preliminary plat to develop 12.7 acres in two phases as an 

85-lot Planned Residential Development (PRD), with associated improvements, for 

residents 55 years of age and older.  The proposal includes 52 single-family lots and 33 

lots that could accommodate one townhome per lot.  Phase one would include 

construction of an open space tract, a partial access road with a temporary turn-around, 

and 42 of the 85 proposed lots.  Phase two would include development of the remaining 

43 lots and completion of the looped access road.  The property is located on the south 

side of McGarigle Road, across the street from the east entrance of Independence Blvd.
3
  

Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 1 and 2; Exhibit B; Exhibit C; Exhibits R through U. 

 

2. The City of Sedro-Woolley (City) determined that the application was complete on 

November 14, 2019.  On November 18, 2019, the City provided notice of the application 

and the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) comment period by mailing notice to all 

property owners within 500 feet of the property, posting notice on site, and publishing 

notice in the Skagit Valley Herald.  On March 13, 2020, the City provided notice of the 

open record hearing associated with the application by mailing notice to all property 

owners within 500 feet of the subject property, posting notice on the subject property, and 

publishing notice in the Skagit Valley Herald.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 1, 3, and 4; 

Exhibit D; Exhibit G.     

 

                                                             
3 The property is identified by Tax Assessor Parcel No. 39374.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 1.  A legal 

description of the property is included with the preliminary plat map.  Exhibit T.   

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 238 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 4 of 18 
 

3. The City received several written comments on the proposal from members of the public 

in response to its notice materials.  The written comments generally expressed concerns 

about the potential traffic and safety impacts of the proposed development, particularly 

along McGarigle Road and Carter Road during peak pick-up and drop-off times for 

students of Evergreen Elementary School and Cascade Middle School.  Several of the 

comments noted that these roads are already congested during these times.  In addition to 

the potential traffic and safety impacts of the proposal, the following specific concerns 

were raised: 

 Allen and Linda Emerson expressed concerns about the combined traffic impacts 

to Highway 20 from the proposed development and other potential development 

in the area.  They also expressed concerns about the project’s proposed density of 

homes and dedicated open space.   

 Diane Celeste and Roger Weaver expressed concerns about the number of 

proposed homes in relation to the project site and with potential flooding of 

Brickyard Creek. 

 Robert Mataya expressed concerns about the proposed development’s impacts to 

the area’s small-town atmosphere. 

 Marilyn Kenney expressed concerns about adequate walkable access for residents 

of the proposed development. 

 James L. Johnson expressed concerns about the proposed development’s lack of 

amenities and lack of dedicated affordable housing.  He also expressed concerns 

about the overall design of the proposed development. 

 Randie Wright expressed concerns about the density of homes in the proposed 

development.
4
 

Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 4; Exhibit J; Exhibit K.     

 

4. The City received two agency comments in response to its notice materials.  The 

Washington State Department of Ecology (DOE) provided a written comment describing 

contaminated sites located within a one-mile radius of the project site.  Skagit Transit 

provided a written comment noting that the proposed development for residents 55 years 

of age and older would increase the use of public transportation in the area.  Skagit 

Transit requested that the project develop improvements to facilitate the placement of a 

bus stop at the entrance to the development.  Specifically, it requested that the developer 

construct a 15-foot concrete pad running from the back of the street curb to the edge of 

the sidewalk, with the eastern edge of the pad to start 25 feet to the west of the proposed 

                                                             
4 As noted above, all the submitted written public comments expressed concerns about the proposed 

development’s potential traffic impacts.  In addition to the members of the public listed above, the 

following people submitted written comments expressing concerns about the traffic impacts of the 

proposed development:  Frank A. Bresnen, Sr., Mark Sutton, Kathryn Sutton, Carl Lundstrom, Margaret 

Miller, and Larry Stiles.  Exhibit K.  

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 239 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 5 of 18 
 

entrance to the development on the south side of McGarigle Road.  Exhibit A, Staff 

Report, page 4; Exhibit H; Exhibit I.  

 

State Environmental Policy Act 

5. The City acted as lead agency and analyzed the environmental impacts of the proposal 

under SEPA, Chapter 43.21C Revised Code of Washington (RCW).  The City reviewed 

the Applicant’s environmental checklist and other information on file and determined 

that, with four conditions to mitigate impacts, the project would not have a probable 

significant adverse impact on the environment.  These mitigation conditions require that 

the project comply with clean air regulations during construction, that all construction 

traffic use temporary access approved by the Public Works Department, that the 

Applicant pay police mitigation fees, and that lighting from the site be directed or 

shielded to prevent light impacts to neighboring residential properties.  The City issued 

the Mitigated Determination of Nonsignificance (MDNS) on January 13, 2020.  The City 

provided notice of the MDNS by sending notice to property owners within 500 feet of the 

property and publishing notice in the Skagit Valley Herald.  Due to a procedural error, the 

City reissued the MDNS on January 29, 2020, with no changes to the mitigation 

conditions and extending the appeal deadline to February 12, 2020.  The City provided 

notice of the reissued MDNS by sending notice to property owners within 500 feet of the 

property and publishing notice in the Skagit Valley Herald.  The MDNS was timely 

appealed on January 27, 2020.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 3 and 4; Exhibit B; Exhibit 

C; Exhibit E; Exhibit F; Exhibits L through P. 

 

6. The MDNS appeal hearing was consolidated with the open record application hearing 

and testimony concerning the appeal was heard prior to the application hearing.  In 

summary: 

 Allen Emerson presented video footage showing the traffic conditions in the area 

during afternoon school pick-up times, showing vehicles backed up from the 

school and spilling out on the street accessing the school while waiting to pick up 

students.  Mr. Emerson noted his safety concerns about vehicles idling while 

waiting to pick up students and his concerns about the adequacy of the 

Applicant’s Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA) that was prepared for the 

project.  Testimony of Mr. Emerson.  

 Larry Stiles testified that he has been an area resident for 30 years and has lived in 

his current location for 22 years.  He noted his concern about pedestrian and 

vehicle safety along the McGarigle Road corridor, stating that a number of 

vehicles ignore the speed limit.  Mr. Stiles stated that a choke point exists on the 

corridor at a crossing spot.  He suggested developing an access point to the 

proposed development in a manner that would separate it from traffic along the 

McGarigle Road corridor.  Testimony of Mr. Stiles.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 240 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 6 of 18 
 

 Marilyn Kenney testified that she has lived in the area since 1999.  She noted her 

safety concerns about parents using the McGarigle Road corridor to pick up 

students, stating that the parents appear distracted and in a hurry.  Ms. Kenney 

also noted that several families with children have moved into the area, which has 

further impacted these traffic and safety issues.  She stated her concerns about 

pedestrian safety for people using sidewalks and about the safety of students using 

bicycles.  Testimony of Ms. Kenney.  

 James Johnson testified that he has lived in his home for 25 years, is a teacher at 

Sedro-Woolley High School, and has previously worked with the Planning 

Commission.  He noted that Carter Road gets a fair amount of traffic and is 

stunned to hear the assessment that the LOS on Carter is adequate.  Mr. Johnson 

stated that Carter Road is a substandard road lacking adequate sidewalk access 

and that it is not designed to handle the amount of traffic using the road.  He noted 

that he has concerns about pedestrian safety and that the TIA did not adequately 

address pedestrian safety.  Mr. Johnson stated that pedestrian safety issues in the 

area around the school continue into the evening in light of afterschool activities.  

He also stated his concerns with the aesthetic and view impacts of the proposed 

development, as well as with traffic impacts on Sundays in light of a nearby 

Mormon church.  On cross-examination, the City asked whether Mr. Johnson had 

raised these issues in the appeal letter, to which Mr. Johnson conceded that he did 

not raise the issue regarding traffic generated by the church.  Testimony of Mr. 

Johnson. 

 Linda Emerson testified that she has lived in her home for approximately 40 years 

and has seen an increase in traffic, particularly with the increase in school 

enrollment.  She noted that area schools are beyond capacity.  Ms. Emerson stated 

her concerns about the dangerous conditions at Carver Road and about the ability 

of residents exiting the proposed development to turn left onto McGarigle Road.  

She detailed the existing traffic conditions along the McGarigle Road corridor 

during school pick-up times, noting that traffic backs up onto the street.  She also 

detailed issues with people being able to leave or return home during peak traffic 

times.  Testimony of Ms. Emerson. 

 Bonnie Belles testified that she lives directly across from the Evergreen 

Elementary School drop-off/pick-up area and that she works at the school.  She 

noted her safety concerns, stating that several vehicles, including Skagit Transit 

busses, speed on the road and that she has almost been hit while crossing the road 

and while working as a crossing guard at the crosswalk.  Ms. Belles also noted 

that people are unable to exit their driveways during school drop-off/pick-up 

times.  She further noted that a left-turn signal on McGarigle Road would improve 

traffic congestion.  Ms. Belles also expressed concerns about overgrown foliage 

creating safety issues by blocking views.  Testimony of Ms. Belles. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 241 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 7 of 18 
 

 Celeste Weaver testified that she has lived in the area for 22 years, teaches at the 

elementary and middle schools, and agrees with all the witnesses who have 

already testified.  She noted that a Mormon church in the area has morning classes 

that generate traffic.  Ms. Weaver stated that she has not been able to turn left 

when coming home due to the line of cars congesting the street.  She also noted 

her concerns with student safety.  Testimony of Ms. Weaver. 

 Margaret Miller submitted written testimony that expressed concerns about 

Gibson Traffic Consultants’ February 14, 2020, memorandum.  She noted that the 

video exhibit admitted at the appeal hearing showed a line of idling vehicles that 

caused backups on McGarigle Road, which she stated impacts public health and 

safety.  Ms. Miller took issue with the memorandum’s conclusion that traffic at 

the intersection of Carter Road and SR-20 was manageable and that congestion 

would occur with or without the proposed development.  She recommended either 

diverting east, onto McGarigle Road, the traffic leaving the proposed 

development or reducing the number of units in the development.  Written 

Testimony of Ms. Miller.  

 Bob Mataya submitted written testimony that expressed his concerns about the 

traffic and safety impacts of the proposed development.  He stated his objections 

to the methodology used by Gibson Traffic Consultants in its February 14, 2020, 

memorandum.  Mr. Mataya also noted that the memorandum showed that vehicles 

traveling southbound at the intersection of Carter Road and SR 20 during the peak 

15 minutes in the AM peak hour could experience LOS D conditions.  He also 

identified other alleged deficiencies in the original TIA and in the February 14, 

2020, memorandum.  Written Testimony of Mr. Mataya. 

 City Public Works Director Mark Freiberger testified that, after the City received 

the Applicant’s TIA, it required the Applicant to pay for a peer review of the TIA 

by Transportation Solutions, Inc. (TSI).  He also noted that TSI conducted a 

Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review later in the process.  Mr. Freiberger 

stated that McGarigle Road was designed/rebuilt in 2008 and 2009 to address 

projected traffic conditions and its use as an arterial.  He noted that a shared-use 

path exists on the north side of McGarigle with improved pedestrian facilities.  

Mr. Freiberger acknowledged that the intersection at SR-9 and McGarigle Road is 

busy but not unsafe, noting that further improvements will occur and were 

considered as part of the intersection’s predicted LOS.  He addressed concerns 

about overgrown foliage blocking views, noting that the City has been working 

with property owners to trim the foliage.  Mr. Freiberger noted that review of a 

proposed development’s traffic impacts is governed by LOS standards, which is 

the reason for requiring applicants to submit traffic studies.  He stated that the 

City has no basis for hindering development if the development does not impact 

LOS.  He also noted that required traffic impact fees contribute to improvements 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 242 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 8 of 18 
 

that are necessary to facilitate growth.  Mr. Freiberger agreed that the increased 

traffic from the proposed development would have an impact but that such impact 

is acceptable under the requirements of the municipal code.  Testimony of Mr. 

Freiberger. 

 TSI Consultant Andrew Bratlien testified that TSI provided a third-party peer 

review of the Applicant’s TIA.  He noted that he had also reviewed GTC’s 

February 14, 2020, memorandum, which addressed concerns raised in the MDNS 

appeal, and that he had no objection to the methodology used or conclusions in it.  

Mr. Bratlien stated that, from a traffic operations perspective, the memorandum 

utilized a correct methodology and analysis.  He further noted that the scope of 

both the TIA and the supplemental study was to identify any significant adverse 

impacts from cumulative development in the area and that no significant adverse 

impact was found to exist when considering such development, including the 

current proposal.  Testimony of Mr. Bratlien. 

 City Planning Director John Coleman testified in response to concerns about 

idling from vehicles waiting to pick up students, noting that this appeal involves 

the proposed development, which would not be the cause of idling vehicles.  Mr. 

Coleman detailed the City’s efforts to review the traffic impacts of the proposed 

development, which included reviewing the Applicant’s TIA, the third-party peer 

review of the TIA, and TSI’s memorandum, Citywide Transportation 

Concurrency Review.  He stated that all of the traffic studies determined that the 

proposed development would not cause LOS standards to drop below acceptable 

levels.  Testimony of Mr. Coleman.  

 Gibson Traffic Consultants Engineer Zach Wieben testified on behalf of the 

Applicant and detailed aspects of the TIA, explaining the PM peak-hour analysis.  

He noted that planned improvements to the intersection of SR-9 and McGarigle 

Road would be required for the intersection to operate at an acceptable LOS in the 

future.  Mr. Wieben stated that the Applicant would be required to pay traffic 

impact fees that would help fund transportation improvements.  He noted that the 

TIA included an analysis of safety issues that included review of five and a half 

years of collision data, which showed that the area did not have high collision 

rates.  Mr. Wieben stressed that the purpose of the TIA is to identify LOS 

deficiencies.  He stated that he drafted the February 14, 2020, memorandum in 

response to the issues raised in the appeal.  Mr. Wieben stated that WSDOT 

would not allow the proposed development to have access from SR-20.  He also 

stated that area schools have the ability to mitigate impacts from the student drop-

off/pick-up times.  Mr. Wieben explained that GTC does not have the expertise to 

address concerns about air pollution generated by idling vehicles.  He asserted 

that the Appellant has not presented any specific data that would change the 

conclusions set forth in the TIA.  Testimony of Mr. Wieben. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 243 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 9 of 18 
 

 Applicant Tim Woodmansee testified that he is the owner of BYK Construction, 

Inc., and Brickyard Park, LLC.  He noted that he shares the Appellant’s concerns 

regarding traffic and safety in regard to area schools’ student drop-off/pick-up 

times, which is why the Applicant paid for an additional study to address the 

concerns.  Mr. Woodmansee stated that the additional study did not provide any 

additional information but, rather, merely confirmed that the TIA was correct.  He 

noted that the all of the traffic studies show that traffic will continue to operate at 

acceptable standards after the proposed development is complete.  Testimony of 

Mr. Woodmansee.  

Hearing Examiner Decision, Emerson MDNS Appeal, issued April 9, 2020.  

 

7. In a decision issued concurrently with this decision, the Hearing Examiner denied the 

appeal of the City’s SEPA determination, concluding that substantial evidence in the 

record supported the City’s decision to issue an MDNS for the proposal.  Hearing 

Examiner Decision, Emerson MDNS Appeal, issued April 9, 2020.  

 

Comprehensive Plan, Zoning, and Surrounding Property 

8. The property is designated Residential 7 (R-7) under the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  

The purpose of the designation is to allow “single lot developments to a maximum 

density of seven units per acre, with a minimum lot size of six thousand (6,000) square 

feet [and] planned residential developments (PRDs) with varying residential densities as 

a conditional use.”  City Comprehensive Plan, pages 31 and 32.  City staff identified the 

following Comprehensive Plan goals and policies as relevant to the proposal: 

 Policy LU5.7: Recognize the rights of property owners to freely use and develop 

private property consistent with city regulations. 

 Policy LU5.8: Encourage high standards of appearance in all residential areas and 

in other high visibility areas. 

 Policy T6.2: Ensure that growth mitigates its impacts through transportation 

impact fees, SEPA mitigation, concurrency, and development regulations. 

 Goal T7: To provide an adequate transportation system current with the traffic-

related impacts of new development. 

 Policy T7.1: Maintain the adopted Level of Service (LOS) standard for all 

roadways classified as arterials or state highways. 

 Policy H2.1: Encourage affordable housing for the elderly.  As an alternative, the 

elderly should be accommodated in safe, well-maintained multiple-unit structures. 

 Policy H3.1: Require usable outdoor recreation space as part of all residential 

developments. 

 Policy H3.7: Allow planned residential developments (PRD’s) within the R7 and 

R5 land use designation as a conditional use.  PRD developments are 

characterized by a variety of housing products and provide indoor and outdoor 

common space for residents. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 244 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 10 of 18 
 

City staff reviewed the Applicant’s proposal and determined that, with conditions, it 

would be consistent with the City Comprehensive Plan.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 6 

and 7. 

 

9. The property is located in the Residential 7 (R-7) zoning district.  The R-7 zone “includes 

the portion of Sedro-Woolley platted over a hundred years ago” and is “characterized by 

a grid street system and small lots.”  Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code (SWMC) 17.12.005.  

The intent of the R-7 zone is to “encourage the continuation of this traditional pattern.”  

SWMC 17.12.005.  Single-family residential development is permitted outright in the R-7 

zoning district, and PRDs are allowed in the R-7 zoning district as a conditional use.  

Detached townhouses on individual lots developed through a PRD are an allowed 

residential use in the R-7 zone.  SWMC 17.12.010.A.1; SWMC 17.12.010.B.1; SWMC 

17.43.030.A.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 1, 2, and 5.  

 

10. Chapter 17.12 SWMC provides requirements related to bulk restrictions, minimum lot 

size, maximum density, and maximum lot coverage generally applicable to development 

in the R-7 zone.  Chapter 17.43 SWMC provides alternative standards applicable to 

development through a PRDs.  The purpose of the PRD development standards is “to 

create open space in residential developments and to encourage imaginative site and 

building design that exceeds the minimum standards found in the subdivision regulations 

. . . by permitting greater flexibility in zoning requirements than is permitted by other 

sections of this title.”  SWMC 17.43.010.  PRDs are permitted on property measuring 

three acres or greater.  SWMC 17.43.060.A.  SWMC 17.43.060.B.2 provides that single-

family lots created through a PRD in the R-7 zoning district may be a variety of sizes, 

provided that no lot is less than 4,800 square feet, except that 50 percent of the single-

family lots may be as small as 4,000 square feet.  The Applicant proposes that the 52 

single-family lots range in size from 4,673 to 14,090 square feet.  SWMC 17.43.060.B.4 

provides a minimum lot size of 2,500 for townhouse units that are on their own platted lot 

and have a unit on either side of the lot, and a minimum lot size of 3,000 square feet for 

lots at the end of a townhouse row.  The Applicant proposes 33 zero lot line townhouse 

lots varying in size from 3,675 to 5,122 square feet.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 7 

through 10; Exhibit R; Exhibit T.  

 

11. SWMC 17.43.060.E provides that setback requirements for lots within a PRD comply 

with the setback requirements for the underlying zone but it permits alternate setbacks if 

specified in the PRD approval.  The Applicant proposes a reduction to the second front 

setback on corner lots, a reduction in the garage setback on certain lots accessing off a 

private shared driveway, and a reduction in the side setbacks for all two-story building 

lots.  City staff reviewed the proposal, recommended approval of the proposed reduced 

setbacks, and determined that, with conditions, the proposal would comply with the PRD 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 245 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 11 of 18 
 

development standards.  Additionally, SWMC 17.43.080.A
5
 requires that the Applicant 

achieve two or more enumerated design criteria for PRD approval.  City staff reviewed 

the Applicant’s plat map and landscape plan and determined that the proposal would 

meet these criteria by orienting the lots around a large open space tract in a manner 

achieving a high quality placement and orientation of structures and by achieving the 

allowable density for the subject property.  Compliance with building design standards 

would be reviewed at the building permit stage.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, pages 7 through 

10; Exhibit R; Exhibit T. 

  

12. The subject property is bound on the north by McGarigle Road.  Property to the north of 

the site is zoned R-5 and is developed with single-family residences.  Property to the east 

and west of the site is zoned R-7 and is developed with single-family residences.  

Property to the south of the site is zoned mixed commercial and is developed with self-

storage lots.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 2. 

 

Critical Areas 

13. Essency Environmental, LLC, prepared a Critical Areas Report (CAR) for the Applicant, 

dated September 17, 2019.  Brickyard Creek, a Type 2 watercourse with a standard 200-

foot buffer, is located north of the project site.  The CAR concluded that the buffer for 

Brickyard Creek does not extend into the project site and that no other streams or stream 

buffers are located on or in the vicinity of the project site.  The CAR also concluded that 

the project site does not contain any wetlands, wetland buffers, riparian corridors, aquifer 

recharge areas, fish and wildlife conservation areas, flood hazard areas, or geological 

hazard areas.  Exhibit M. 

 

Stormwater 

14. Sound Development Group, LLC, prepared a Preliminary Stormwater Site Plan for the 

Applicant, dated October 18, 2019.  The Site Plan noted that stormwater from the site 

currently sheetflows across the site to natural low areas before infiltration, with no 

discharge or flowpath/conveyance discovered during the site inspection.  The proposed 

development would result in 5,000 square feet or more of new hard surface area.  

Stormwater runoff from the proposed looped road and from 72 of the driveways would be 

captured and conveyed to an underground infiltration trench within the center park area, 

which would be designed to infiltrate fully.  Stormwater runoff from three shared access 

roads and 13 associated driveways would be captured through the permeable pavement 

access roads.  Proposed rooftops would discharge to infiltration trenches.  The proposed 

                                                             
5 Specifically, SWMC 17.43.080.A provides that the design of the PRD shall achieve two or more of the 

following results: (1) high quality architectural design, placement, relationship or orientation of the 

structures; (2) achieving the allowable density for the subject property; (3) improving circulation patterns; 

(4) minimizing the use of impervious surfacing materials; (5) increasing open space or recreational 

facilities on site; and/or (6) preserving, enhancing or rehabilitating the natural features of the property such 

as significant woodlands or critical areas. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 246 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 12 of 18 
 

development would not discharge any stormwater runoff off-site.  The Site Plan 

concluded that increased stormwater runoff from hard surfaces would be mitigated by the 

proposed localized infiltration systems, and thus, the resulting stormwater impact of the 

proposed development would be negligible.  Exhibit V.  

 

Trees and Landscaping 

15. SWMC 17.50.110 requires significant existing trees on a site to be incorporated into the 

landscaping design.  The CAR prepared for the Applicant determined that there were no 

existing trees on the project site.  PRDs are required to provide a minimum of 20 percent 

of the gross site area for common open space or, as applicable to this proposed 

development, a minimum of 10 percent of the gross site area if the 100 percent of the 

open space provided would be “usable open space.”  SWMC 17.43.060.H.  The Applicant 

would meet this requirement by providing a 55,532 square foot shared usable open space 

tract for the 553,212 square foot site.  City staff reviewed the Applicant’s landscape plan 

and determined that, with conditions, it would comply with City code requirements and 

requirements under the Sedro-Woolley Design Standards and Guidelines for recreation 

areas.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 9; Exhibit S. 

 

Utilities 

16. The City would provide sewer, garbage, stormwater, police, and fire services to the 

property.  The City Sewer Department provided the Applicant with a letter noting the 

requirements for City sanitary sewer service to the property.  Skagit County PUD would 

provide water service to the property.  Skagit County PUD provided the Applicant with a 

water availability letter detailing the requirements for water service to the property.  

Puget Sound Energy would provide electricity service.  Cascade Natural Gas would 

provide natural gas service.  The property would be served by Peace Health Hospital.  

Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 3; Exhibit W; Exhibit X. 

 

Access, Parking, and Traffic 

17. The Applicant’s site plans show that all the lots in the proposed subdivision would be 

accessed from McGarigle Road via an internal looped road that would be dedicated to the 

City as a public right-of-way at the time of final plat approval.  Access to all of the 

individual lots would be from the internal road.  The Applicant would include frontage 

improvements to the internal road to include curb, gutter sidewalk, planting strips with 

street trees, and any required pavement overlay and striping.  Due to the proposed road’s 

paved width of 38 feet, street parking would be allowed on only one side of the road.  

The proposed internal road would be developed in two phases.  A portion of the road 

would be developed in phase one and would utilize a temporary turn-around prior to the 

loop being completed during phase two.  The temporary turn-around would be required to 

be approved by the City engineer for compliance with City standards.  The Applicant’s 

project narrative noted that construction for phase one of the project would begin when 

phase one is approved and recorded.  The Applicant anticipates that phase two would 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 247 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 13 of 18 
 

begin within 1 to 6 years of phase one, with a goal of beginning phase two within 12 to 

16 months of recording the final plat for phase one.  City Staff reviewed the Applicant’s 

proposal for the internal road and concluded that, with conditions, it would meet the 

street and sidewalk requirements of Chapter 15.40 SWMC, Chapter 17.36 SWMC, and 

the current City Engineering Design & Development Standards.  Any significant changes 

to the project design, including the design of the temporary turnaround or specific details 

regarding phasing, would require further administrative approval by the City.  Exhibit A, 

Staff Report, pages 8 and 9; Exhibit R; Exhibit T; Exhibit U. 

 

18. SWMC 17.36.030 requires that single-family residences provide two off-street parking 

spaces per dwelling unit.  City staff reviewed the Applicant’s site plans and determined 

that the lots are of a sufficient size and layout to meet this requirement.  SWMC 

17.43.060.G requires PRDs to provide one on-street parking space for every four units.  

The Applicant has submitted a parking plan showing that the proposal would meet this 

requirement.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 10; Exhibit S; Exhibit T; Exhibit U. 

 

19. As noted above, Gibson Traffic Consultants prepared a TIA for the Applicant, dated 

September 2019.  The TIA determined that, as an age-restricted development, the 

proposed development would generate approximately 344 average daily trips, with 19 

AM peak-hour trips and 24 PM peak-hour trips.  The TIA also calculated the traffic 

impacts of the proposed development if not age-restricted, determining that it would 

generate approximately 730 average daily trips, with 53 AM peak-hour trips and 70 PM 

peak-hour trips.  The TIA studied the expected traffic impacts of the proposal to the 

intersection at SR-9 and McGarigle Road and the intersection at McGarigle Road and 

Fruitdale Road, as well as the intersection at McGarigle Road and Independence Road, 

which would serve as the access point for the proposed development.  Using the trip 

generation data under the unrestricted development scenario, the TIA concluded that all 

of the studied intersections would continue to operate at acceptable levels of service 

(LOS) with the proposed development when accounting for a planned improvement 

project affecting the intersection at SR-9 and McGarigle Road.
6
  The TIA calculated the 

5-year collision rate at the studied intersections and, based on its calculations, did not 

recommend any further safety measures.  The TIA noted that there were no reported 

collisions along the development site’s frontage.  The Applicant would be required to pay 

traffic impact fees.  Exhibit N; Exhibit O; Exhibit P.    

 

20. Transportation Solutions, Inc. (TSI) provided a peer review of the Applicant’s TIA for 

the City, which agreed with the TIA’s conclusions.  TSI also prepared a memorandum 

describing the methods, assumptions, and findings of the Sedro-Woolley Citywide 

Transportation Concurrency Review, dated January 7, 2020.  The Citywide 

Transportation Concurrency Review provided an analysis of City intersections, predicting 

                                                             
6 The TIA noted that, without the planned improvement project, the intersection at SR-9 and McGarigle 

Road would be projected to operate at LOS F with or without the proposed development.  Exhibit N. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 248 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 14 of 18 
 

LOS conditions from pending developments, including the Applicant’s proposed 

development, and concluding that the intersection at McGarigle Road and Carter Road 

would continue to operate at an acceptable LOS with all pending development.  The 

Concurrency Review also concluded that the McGarigle Road corridor from SR-9 to 

Fruitdale Road would have adequate capacity and would operate at an acceptable LOS 

with all pending developments.  Exhibit N; Exhibit O; Exhibit P.      

 

Testimony  

21. City Planning Director John Coleman testified generally about the proposal and how City 

staff reviewed it for consistency with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and its compliance 

with zoning ordinances, as discussed above.  He discussed the Applicant’s proposed 

stormwater plans, noting that it would comply with the Washington State Department of 

Ecology (DOE) 2012 Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington.  Mr. 

Coleman noted that the Applicant’s proposed plans for a Homeowner’s Association 

(HOA) would require approval by the City Planning Department prior to recording of the 

final plat.  Testimony of Mr. Coleman. 

 

22. Applicant Tim Woodmansee testified that the proposed PRD would include 33 

townhouse lots, 52 single-family lots, a usable open space tract, and a clubhouse.  He 

detailed the proposed plans for comprehensive HOA that would govern several of the 

development’s various improvements.  Mr. Woodmansee also detailed aspects of the 

proposed stormwater plan.  He stated his agreement with the City’s recommended 

conditions of approval.  Testimony of Mr. Woodmansee. 

 

23. Frank Bresnan, Sr. testified about his concerns with the potential traffic impacts of the 

proposed development and submitted additional written comments detailing his concerns 

(Exhibit Y).  Testimony of Mr. Bresnan. 

 

    Staff Recommendation 

24. Mr. Coleman testified that City staff recommends approval of the proposal, with 

conditions.  Exhibit A, Staff Report, page 10; Testimony of Mr. Coleman.    

 

CONCLUSIONS 

Jurisdiction 

The Hearing Examiner is granted jurisdiction to hear and recommend applications for 

preliminary plats pursuant to SWMC 16.08.024.  This review entails the Hearing Examiner 

ensuring that the proposed plat, or revisions to it, would satisfy the criteria of Chapter 58.17 

RCW.  SWMC 16.08.024.  See also SWMC 2.34.080.C; SWMC 2.90.060.F.2.d. 

 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 249 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 15 of 18 
 

Criteria for Review 

Planned Residential Development 

Following a public hearing, the Hearing Examiner shall make a report of findings and 

recommendations with respect to the proposed PRD, and shall forward the report to the city 

council.  Such report shall include, but need not be limited to, the following items: 

1.    Suitability of the site area for the proposed development; 

2.    Requirements of the subdivision code for the proposed development; 

3.    Time limitations for the entire development and specified stages; 

4.    Development in accordance with the Sedro-Woolley comprehensive plan; 

5.    Public purposes have been served by the proposed development; 

6.    Compliance with the design standards and guidelines. 

SWMC 17.43.070.E. 

 

Preliminary Plat 

Under SWMC 16.08.028, the effect of preliminary plat approval is as follows: 

A. Approval of the preliminary plat shall constitute authorization for the 

subdivider to develop the subdivision facilities and improvements as 

required in the approved preliminary plat upon issuance of the final plat.  

Development shall be in strict accordance with the plans and 

specifications as prepared or approved by the city engineer and subject to 

any conditions imposed by the hearing body. 

B. No subdivision requirements which become effective after the approval of 

a preliminary plat for a subdivision shall apply to such subdivision unless 

the hearing body determines that a change in conditions created a serious 

threat to the public health or safety. 

C. Preliminary plat approval is valid for five years unless extended pursuant 

to SWMC 16.08.064.  

 

The state subdivision criteria are as follows:   

A proposed subdivision and dedication shall not be approved unless the city, 

town, or county legislature body makes written findings that: (a) appropriate 

provisions are made for the public health, safety, and general welfare and for such 

open spaces, drainage ways, streets or roads, alleys, other public ways, transit 

stops, potable water supplies, sanitary wastes, parks and recreation, playgrounds, 

schools and schoolgrounds and all other relevant facts, including sidewalks and 

other planning features that [ensure] safe walking conditions for students who 

only walk to and from school; and (b) the public use and interest will be served by 

the platting of such subdivision and dedication.  

RCW 58.17.110(2). 

 

The criteria for review adopted by the City Council are designed to implement the requirement 

of Chapter 36.70B RCW to enact the Growth Management Act.  In particular, RCW 36.70B.040 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 250 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 16 of 18 
 

mandates that local jurisdictions review proposed development to ensure consistency with City 

development regulations, considering the type of land use, the level of development, 

infrastructure, and the characteristics of development.  RCW 36.70B.040. 

 

Conclusions Based on Findings 

Planned Residential Development 

1. With conditions, the proposal would comply with the requirements for a Planned 

Residential Development under SWMC 17.43.070.E.  The approximately 12.7-acre 

property is suitable site area for the proposed PRD because it exceeds the 3-acre 

minimum size required for a PRD.  The Hearing Examiner concurs with City staff’s 

recommendation to approve the Applicant’s request for reduced setbacks to the second 

front setback on corner lots, garage setback on certain lots accessing off a private shared 

driveway, and side setbacks for all two-story building lots.  With approval of the 

Applicant’s requests for reduced setbacks, the proposed development would comply with 

the development standards for PRDs under Chapter 17.43 SWMC.  The Applicant would 

develop the property in two phases.  The Applicant anticipates that construction for phase 

one would begin when it is approved and recorded and that phase two would begin within 

1 to 6 years of phase one, with a goal of beginning phase two within 12 to 16 months of 

recording the final plat for phase one.  With recommended conditions, the proposed 

development would be consistent with the City Comprehensive Plan.  The proposed 

development would ensure that the Applicant would comply City regulations, would 

meet the heightened design standards for PRDs, would be required to pay traffic impact 

fees, would be required to comply with SEPA mitigation measures as set forth in the 

MDNS, would maintain adopted LOS standards, and would develop the required amount 

of usable open space.  Additionally, the proposed development would serve a public 

purpose by providing housing for individuals of the age of 55 and older.  Conditions, as 

detailed below, would be necessary to ensure that the proposed development would meet 

the PRD requirements.  Accordingly, the Hearing Examiner recommends approval of the 

proposed PRD with the conditions detailed below.  Findings 1, 8 – 24.        

 

Preliminary Plat 

2. With conditions, the preliminary plat would comply with RCW 58.17.110(2).  The 

Applicant submitted plans that ensure that, as proposed, the subdivision would meet all 

requirements for plat approval under the municipal code.  City staff analyzed the proposal 

to development the age-restricted PRD and determined that appropriate provisions would 

be made for the public health, safety, and general welfare; and for such open spaces, 

drainage ways, streets or roads, alleys, other public ways; transit stops; potable water 

supplies; sanitary wastes; parks and recreation; and playgrounds, schools, and 

schoolgrounds, including sidewalks and other planning features that ensure safe walking 

conditions for students who walk to and from school.  Staff also determined that the 

public use and interest would be served by the platting of such subdivision and 

dedication.  The Hearing Examiner concurs with staff’s assessment. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 251 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 17 of 18 
 

 

Conditions, as detailed below, are necessary to ensure that the Applicant adheres to all 

requirements of the MDNS; constructs all improvements consistent with the preliminary 

plat map and landscape plan; completes required infrastructure improvements prior to 

final plat application; creates a homeowners’ association to maintain common facilities 

on site, including the stormwater system, recreation area tract, and shared driveways; 

submits a final plat map to the City for review and approval after site improvements are 

completed, approved, and/or financially secured; receives final plat approval for phase 

one and phase two of development; includes in civil plans the temporary turn-around for 

phase one, the demolition plans for the turn-around, the completed road plans for phase 

one, and all other improvements for final plat approval; and dedicates all roads as public 

rights-of-way at the time of final subdivision approval.  Findings 1 – 24.  

 

2. With conditions, the proposed subdivision would be consistent with City 

development regulations, considering land use type, development level, 

infrastructure, and development characteristics, such as development standards, as 

required by RCW 36.70B.040.  The City provided adequate notice and opportunity to 

comment on the proposed preliminary plat.  The City acted as lead agency and analyzed 

the environmental impacts of the proposed plat, as required by SEPA, and issued a 

Mitigated Determination of Nonsignificance (MDNS).  An appeal from the MDNS was 

denied.  The MDNS mitigation measures are incorporated as recommended conditions of 

subdivision approval.  The preliminary plat for a PRD would provide development for 

age-restricted, single-family residences and townhouses consistent with the City 

development regulations, including regulations for development pursuant to a PRD in the 

R-7 zoning district.  The proposed residential use would be compatible with surrounding 

properties.  As noted above in Conclusion 2, conditions are necessary to ensure the 

proposal meets all requirements for preliminary plat approval under municipal and state 

requirements.  Findings 1 – 24.   

 

RECOMMENDATION 
Based on the preceding findings and conclusions, the Hearing Examiner recommends that the 

request for a preliminary plat to develop a 12.7-acre property in two phases as an 85-lot Planned 

Residential Development, with associated improvements, for residents 55 years of age and older, 

on the south side of McGarigle Road, across from the east entrance of Independence Blvd, be 

APPROVED, with the following conditions:
7
 

 

1. All development shall generally conform to the proposed preliminary plat map and the 

landscape plan.  

 

                                                             
7 Conditions include legal requirements applicable to all developments, as well as those designed to 

mitigate the specific impacts of this development. 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 252 of 810



 
Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation 

City of Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 
Brickyard Park Preliminary Plat/PRD  

No. LP-2019-389 (PRD Application) 

 

Page 18 of 18 
 

2. The proponent or successor shall comply with the mitigation measures included in the 

SEPA MDNS issued January 29, 2020.  

 

3. Construction of all required infrastructure improvements, including, but not limited to, 

streets, curbs, sidewalks, sewer, landscaping and street lighting shall be completed prior 

to final plat application or bonding in an amount approved by the City Engineer shall be 

filed with the City. 

 

4. A homeowners association shall be created to own and maintain the stormwater system 

infrastructure, recreation area tract and shared driveways; the homeowner’s association 

documents shall be approved by the Planning Department prior to recording of the final 

plat.  

 

5. The proponent or successor shall submit a final plat map for each phase to the city for 

review and approval after site improvements are completed, approved, and/or financially 

secured. 

 

6. Phases one and two shall be approved as separate final plats and shall include separate 

plat maps and construction as-builds.  The civil plans for the project shall include the 

temporary turn-around for phase one, the demolition plans for the temporary turn-around, 

and the completed road plans for phase two, along with all other required infrastructure 

and improvements for final plat approval.  The City may administratively approve 

alterations to the proposed turn-around, or other aspects of the project that do not have 

significant impacts (such as increasing the number of units), without further approval of 

the Hearing Examiner.    

 

7. The proponent or successor shall dedicate all roads as public right-of-way at the time of 

final subdivision approval.  

 

 

RECOMMENDED this 9
th
 day of April 2020.       

 

 

       ANDREW M. REEVES 

       Hearing Examiner 

  Sound Law Center       

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 253 of 810



 CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

  325 Metcalf Street 
Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284 

Phone (360) 855-0771 
Fax (360) 855-0733 

 

TRANSMITTAL & REPORT MEMORANDUM 
 

HEARING DATE: 

 

March 24, 2020 at 10:00 am 

 

TO: 

 

Sedro-Woolley Hearing Examiner 

RE: 

 

LP-2019-389 – Preliminary Plat Approval for the Proposed Plat of 

Brickyard Park a Planned Residential Development 

 

 

FROM: 

 

____________________________ 

Katherine Weir, Assistant Planner  

 

GENERAL INFORMATION:   

 

APPLICATION DATE:   

 

November 1, 2019 

APPLICATION COMPLETE:   

 

November 14, 2019 

RECOMMENDATION:      

 

Staff Recommends Approval with Conditions 

PROJECT NAME: 

 

Plat of Brickyard Park - a Planned Residential Development 

SITE LOCATION: McGarigle Road, Parcel #39374 

 

PARCEL ID NOS. 

 

P39374 

ZONING DISTRICT: 

 

Residential 7 

SITE AREA: 

 

12.7 

PROPERTY OWNER: Brickyard Park, LLC  

702 Metcalf Street, Suite A  

Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284 

 

PROJECT PROPONENT: BYK Construction Inc.  

ATTN: Tim Woodmansee 

702 Metcalf Street, Suite A 

Sedro-Woolley WA, 98284 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 254 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit ATo Hearing Examiner Findings



 

LP-2019-389 – 85 Lot Planned Residential Development – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 2  

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL: 

 

The City has received a preliminary long plat application for a proposal to develop an 85-lot 

Planned Residential Development (PRD) on a vacant 12.7 acre property on McGarigle Road. 

The proposed PRD will be age-restricted to 55 and older. The property is zoned Residential 

7 and allows for a variety of lot sizes under the PRD regulations in Chapter 17.43 of the 

Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code (SWMC). The proponent is proposing 52 single family lots 

and 33 lots that can accommodate one townhome unit per lot. The project includes 

construction of a new public road accessed off McGarigle Road, a shared (private) open 

space area with a clubhouse and stormwater infrastructure. The project is proposed be in two 

phases; phase one will include the open space tract and 42 of the 85 proposed lots. The new 

road will not be a complete loop in phase one and will instead have a temporary turn-around. 

Phase two will include the remaining 43 lots and completion of the access road. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN LAND USE DESIGNATIONS, ZONING DESIGNATIONS AND EXISTING 

LAND USES OF THE SITE AND SURROUNDING AREAS: 

 

Area Land Use Designation Zoning Existing Use 

Project Site Medium Density Residential Residential 7 Undeveloped 

North Low density Residential Residential 5  Single-Family Residential  

South  Mixed Commercial  Mixed Commercial Self-Storage Lots 

East  Medium Density Residential Residential 7 Single-Family Residential 

West Medium Density Residential Residential 7 Single-Family Residential 

 

 

  

Project Site 

R-5 

MC 

R-7 

Project Site 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 255 of 810



 

LP-2019-389 – 85 Lot Planned Residential Development – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 3  

 

PUBLIC UTILITIES AND SERVICES PROVIDED BY: 

 

Water: Skagit County PUD #1 Cable TV: Comcast 

Sewer: City of Sedro-Woolley Police: City of Sedro-Woolley 

Garbage: City of Sedro-Woolley Fire: City of Sedro-Woolley 

Storm Water: City of Sedro-Woolley School: Sedro-Woolley School District 

Telephone: Verizon Hospital: Peace Health 

Electricity: Puget Sound Energy Gas: Cascade Natural Gas 

 

ANALYSIS 
 

1. Application Process and Public Notice: 

 

a. Per Chapter 2.90 SWMC, both a preliminary long plat and a PRD are Type IV 

permits and shall be reviewed in accordance with the procedure for a Type IV permit 

process. Planned Residential Development applications are run along with a 

subdivision application. 

 

b. Chapter 2.90 SWMC specifies the requirements for notice of application and SEPA 

determinations.  

 

c. On September 3, 2019 city staff met with the project proponent Tim Woodmansee 

for a required Pre-Application meeting for an 85 lot, ages 55 and up Planned 

Residential Development (PRD) on an undeveloped lot off McGarigle Road. 

 

d. On November 1, 2019 the City received the Preliminary Long Plat and PRD 

application materials, including a preliminary long plat application (Exhibit B) and a 

PRD checklist (Exhibit C). The application was determined to be complete on 

November 14, 2019.  

 

e. On November 18, 2019 the City issued a Notice of Application and SEPA Comment 

Period (Exhibit D). The notice was mailed to all property owners within 500 feet of 

the property, posted on site, and published in the Skagit Valley Herald legal notices 

on November 18, 2019.  

 

f. The SEPA Comment Period ended on December 2, 2019. The City received a total of 

13 comments. 

 

Residential 7 (R-7) Zoning Regulations: 

Minimum lot size: 6,000 square feet Lot width at building line: 40 feet 

Front Setback: 20 feet  Lot width at road frontage: 20 feet 

Rear Setback: 10 feet  Maximum building height: 35 feet 

Side Setback: 

5 feet for 1-story 

buildings, 8 feet for 2-

story 

Maximum building coverage: 50% 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 256 of 810



 

LP-2019-389 – 85 Lot Planned Residential Development – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 4  

g. On January 13, 2020 the City Issued a SEPA Mitigated Determination of Non-

Significance (MDNS) (Exhibit E).The Notice of SEPA Determination was sent to all 

property owners and residents within 500 feet of the property and published in the 

January 13 Skagit Valley Herald in the legal notices.   

 

h. On January 29, 2020 the city re-issued the SEPA MDNS (Exhibit F) with no 

changes to the mitigation requirements, only an extension of the appeal period. The 

MDNS was re-issued due to a procedural error. The re-issued MDNS was sent to all 

property owners and residents within 500 feet of the property, all parties of record, 

posted on the subject site and published in the legal notices section of the January 29, 

2020 Skagit Valley Herald. 

 

i. The appeal period for the re-issued MDNS ended on February 12, 2020. On January 

27, 2020, the City received one appeal from a group of neighbors.  

 

j. Applicable law requires the appeal of a threshold determination be consolidated with 

the hearing of the underlying permit. Thus, a hearing with two parts was scheduled 

for March 24, 2020. Notice of the hearing (Exhibit G) was sent to all property 

owners and residents within 500 feet of the property, all parties of record, posted on 

the subject site and published in the legal notices section of the March 13, 2020 

Skagit Valley Herald. 

 

CONCLUSION:  The application meets the procedural and public notice requirements 

for Type IV applications established in Chapter 2.90 SWMC.  
 

2. Public Comment: 

 

a. During the comment period, the city received a comment letter from the department 

of Ecology (Exhibit H) regarding nearby contaminated sites, a letter from Sound 

Transit regarding potential public transportation (Exhibit I), and 11 comment letters 

from the neighbors (Exhibits J and K). 

 

b. The neighbor comments were mostly concerned with the level of traffic during 

school pick up and drop off, with cars idling on the road during this time, and the 

safety of school children who walk or ride their bikes to school. 

 

3. Environmental and Critical Area Review: 

 

a. The applicant submitted a SEPA Checklist (Exhibit L) a Critical Areas Assessment 

Report (Exhibit M) and other documents related to the environment, including a 

Traffic Impact Analysis (Exhibit N). The SEPA checklist identified no significant 

environmental impacts from the proposal, the Critical Areas Assessment indicated 

that there are no wetlands or critical areas on site, and the traffic impact analysis 

indicated that no significant traffic impacts would occur from the proposal.  

 

b. A Notice of Application and SEPA Comment Period was issued by the SEPA lead 

agency (City of Sedro-Woolley) utilizing the optional DNS process in WAC 197-11-

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 257 of 810



 

LP-2019-389 – 85 Lot Planned Residential Development – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 5  

355. The public comments that were received are addressed above in Section 2 – 

Public Comments. 

 

c. Prior to issuing an MDNS, the City carefully reviewed the public comments. The 

major concerns are the potential traffic impacts of the proposed subdivision. The City 

Engineering Department carefully reviewed the Traffic Impact Analysis (Exhibit N) 

submitted with the application. To assure that the information in the Traffic Impact 

Analysis is correct, the City hired a third party (TSI) to review Traffic Impact 

Analysis. TSI performed the review and produced a Technical Memo (Exhibit O) 

dated October 4, 2019 that found no errors in the Traffic Impact Analysis.  

 

To analyze the cumulative impacts of recently completed development, the proposed 

85-lot PRD and four other proposed subdivisions (115 lots, 201 lots, 31 lots and 6 

lots for a total of 353 proposed lots), the City hired TSI to produce a separate 

concurrency study referred to as the Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review 

(Exhibit P). The TSI Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review examined the 

impacts of the identified development on the entire city transportation network and 

also examined the impacts on McGarigle Road and the intersection of McGarigle and 

North Township Street (alternately named State Route 9). The TSI Citywide 

Transportation Concurrency Review concluded that the traffic impacts of the 

addition of the identified five pending applications will increase delay, resulting in 

LOS D at the intersection of McGarigle and North Township Street, but will not 

trigger an LOS deficiency. 

 

d. On January 13, 2020 the city issued a SEPA Mitigated Determination of Non-

significance for the proposal (Exhibit E). The appeal period for that SEPA MDNS 

ended January 27, 2020. 

 

e. On January 27, the City received a timely appeal of the SEPA determination from a 

group of neighbors (Exhibit Q). The appeal generally points out that there is traffic 

on McGarigle Road during school drop-off and pick-up and the appellant does not 

agree with the Traffic Impact Analysis (Exhibit N). The SEPA MDNS appeal 

hearing is consolidated with the public hearing for the PRD application.  

 

f. On January 29, 2020 the City issued a revised SEPA MDNS (Exhibit F) as discussed 

in 1.h (above). The appeal period for the re-issued MDNS ended on February 12, 

2020.  

 

CONCLUSION:  The application as conditioned meets the SEPA standards as 

identified in WAC 197-11 and the critical areas standards identified in Chapter 17.65 

SWMC. 
 

4. Comprehensive Plan, Zoning and Permissible Uses: 

 

a. The City of Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan Identifies this area as medium 

residential. Specifically, this area is zoned Residential 7 (R-7). Planned Residential 

Developments are allowed in the R-7 as a conditional use.   

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 258 of 810



 

LP-2019-389 – 85 Lot Planned Residential Development – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 6  

 

b. Specific goals and policies from the Land Use Element of the Sedro-Woolley 

Comprehensive Plan that are relevant and applicable to this proposal include the 

following: 

 

i. Policy LU5.7: Recognize the rights of property owners to freely use and develop 

private property consistent with city regulations. The proposal is consistent with 

city regulations.  

 

ii. Policy LU5.8: Encourage high standards of appearance in all residential areas and 

in other high visibility areas. The proposal is utilizing the PRD provisions in 

Chapter 17.43 SWMC which require higher standards for appearance.  

 

c. Specific goals and policies from the Transportation Element of the Sedro-Woolley 

Comprehensive Plan that are relevant and applicable to this proposal include the 

following:  

 

i. Policy T6.2: Ensure that growth mitigates its impacts through transportation impact 

fees, SEPA mitigation, concurrency, and development regulations. The proponent 

will be required to pay all impact fees at time of building permit, including traffic 

impact fees. This report describes how the proposals impacts are mitigated through 

SEPA mitigation (Condition 2), concurrency (Conditions 6 and 7) and 

development regulations (Sections 6 through 10).  

 

ii. Goal T7: To provide an adequate transportation system current with the traffic-

related impacts of new development. The proposed loop road is part of an adequate 

transportation system. Traffic impact fees will be required at time of building 

permit.  

 

iii. Policy T7.1: Maintain the adopted Level of Service (LOS) standard for all 

roadways classified as arterials or state highways. The LOS will be maintained as 

supported by multiple levels of analysis (Exhibits N, O and P). 

 

d. Specific goals and policies from the Housing Element of the Sedro-Woolley 

Comprehensive Plan that are relevant and applicable to this proposal include the 

following: 

 

i. Policy H2.1: Encourage affordable housing for the elderly. As an alternative, the 

elderly should be accommodated in safe, well-maintained multiple-unit structures. 

This proposal will be age restricted to individuals of the age of 55 and older.  

 

ii. Policy H3.1: Require usable outdoor recreation space as part of all residential 

developments. The proposal includes plans for an open space tract that meets the 

requirements for recreational open space (Section 8).  

 

iii. Policy H3.7: Allow planned residential developments (PRD’s) within the R7 and 

R5 land use designation as a conditional use. PRD developments are characterized 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 259 of 810



 

LP-2019-389 – 85 Lot Planned Residential Development – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 7  

by a variety of housing products and provide indoor and outdoor common space for 

residents. This proposal is utilizing the PRD standards in Chapter 17.43 SWMC 

and will provide both indoor and outdoor common space for residents by way of a 

shared open space tract and a clubhouse.  

 

CONCLUSION: The application, as conditioned is consistent with the Sedro-Woolley 

Comprehensive Plan and permissible uses identified in Chapter 17.12 SWMC.  

 

5. Application Type and Specific Criteria: Chapter 16.08 SWMC establishes the 

requirements and criteria for approving a preliminary subdivision. Chapter 17.43 SWMC 

establishes the requirements and criteria for Planned Residential Developments (PRDs). 

Specifically, the criteria for preliminary plat and PRD application are listed below as per 

Chapters 16.08 and 17.43 SWMC:  

  

a. A preliminary plat and PRD shall follow the procedures for a type IV permit review 

pursuant to Chapter 2.90 SWMC.  

 

As concluded in Section 1 of this report, the application has followed the procedures 

for a type IV review.   

 

b. A preliminary plat shall be approved if it meets the approval criteria and 

requirements in Chapter 58.17 of the Revised Code of Washington (RCW).  

 

Preliminary subdivisions are approved subject to the criteria of Chapter 58.17 RCW, 

which requires provisions for public health, safety, and general welfare; open spaces; 

drainage; streets; transit stops; potable water supplies; sanitary wastes; parks and 

recreation and playgrounds; schools, sidewalks, and whether the public interest will 

be served by the subdivision and dedication. An analysis of each additional criterion 

will follow in subsequent sections. 

 

The proposal includes plans for a 55,532 Square foot private shared open space, a 

new road with street trees, sidewalks and planter strips, and provisions for drainage, 

water supplies, and sewage. The proposed development is within close proximity to 

local schools, however the age-restricted community that is proposed will likely 

result in very few new student admissions. The private shared open space tract 

includes a clubhouse for the residents to use for recreation and leisure.  

 

CONCLUSION: The proposed subdivision as conditioned is consistent with the criteria 

described in Chapters 16.08 and 17.43 SWMC and RCW 58.17.110 for preliminary 

subdivision approval.  

 

6. Dimensional Standards: 

 

a. The dimensional standards of Chapters 17.12 and 17.43 SWMC apply to this 

subdivision.  

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 260 of 810



 

LP-2019-389 – 85 Lot Planned Residential Development – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 8  

b. Single family residential lots created through the PRD process in the R-7 zone may 

be a variety of sizes provided that no lot shall be less than 4,800 square feet in size – 

except 50 percent of the single family lots may be as small as 4,000 square feet. The 

applicant has proposed 52 single family lots ranging in size from 4,673 square feet to 

14,090 square feet.  

 

c. In the R-5 and R-7 zones, the minimum lot size for townhouse units on their own 

platted lot is 2,500 square feet for center townhouse units and 3,000 square feet for 

corner lots. The applicant has proposed 33 zero lot line townhome lots that vary in 

size from 3,675 to 5,122 square feet.  

 

d. The setbacks in a PRD must comply with the underlying zone, however per Chapter 

17.43 SWMC, alternate setbacks to lots within the PRD can be specified in the PRD 

preliminary subdivision approval. Corner lots have two front setbacks in the 

underlying zone. In the narrative provided with the application (Exhibit R), the 

applicant has proposed a reduction to the second front setback on corner lots, a 

reduction in the garage setback on certain lots accessing off a private shared 

driveway, and a reduction in the side setbacks for all lots for a two story building. 

City Staff has reviewed the application against the criteria for alternate setbacks and 

recommends approval of the proposed reduced setbacks.  

 

CONCLUSION: The proposal as conditioned meets the dimensional standards set 

forth in Chapters 17.12 and 17.43 SWMC.   

 

7. Streets and Sidewalks: 

 

a. Streets and sidewalks in new subdivisions are required to meet the public works 

constructions standards described in Chapter 15.40 SWMC.  

 

b. Parking facilities, including driveways accessing public thoroughfares must meet the 

standards in Chapter 17.36 SWMC.  

 

c. Access to the subdivision will be from one new access point off McGarigle Road. 

The loop road that will serve the new lots is proposed to be dedicated to the city to 

become a public road.  

 

d. The proposed loop road will include frontage improvements within the loop, no 

frontage improvements are required on McGarigle Road. Plans for the proposed loop 

road include curb, gutter sidewalk, and planting strips with street trees along with any 

required pavement overlay and striping.  

 

e. SWMC 17.36.040(A) requires that ingress and egress be designed with respect to 

intersections, crosswalks and traffic in general so as not to create safety hazards or 

impedances. The entry point of the proposal will be off of an arterial road, however 

all of the proposed homes will utilize the proposed loop road for driveways. Street 

parking will only be allowed on one side of the street due to the paved width of 38 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 261 of 810



 

LP-2019-389 – 85 Lot Planned Residential Development – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 9  

feet. The proponent or successor will dedicate all roads as public right-of-way at the 

time of final subdivision approval (Condition 6).  

 

f. The proposed road will be built in two phases. The road in phase one will not be a 

complete loop but will instead utilize a temporary turn around. The road will not be 

completed as a loop until phase two. The temporary turn-around must meet city 

standards and be approved by the city engineer for phase one and the road must be 

completed as a loop for phase two (Condition 6). 

 

CONCLUSION: The application as conditioned meets the streets and sidewalk 

standards identified in Chapters 15.40 and 17.36 SWMC and in the current 

Engineering Design & Development Standards. 

 

8. Landscaping and Open Space: 

 

a. Per Chapter 17.43 SWMC, a PRD is required to provide no less than twenty percent 

of the gross site area of the PRD for common open space, or if one hundred percent 

of the open space provided is “usable open space” as defined in SWMC 17.43.060, 

then no less than ten percent of the gross site area of the PRD shall be provided as 

open space. The applicant is proposing a 55,532 square foot shared open space tract 

with 100 percent of the space qualified as “usable open space” per the definition in 

SWMC 17.43.060(I). The size of the proposed open space accounts for 10 percent of 

the gross site area (553,212 square feet).  

 

b. The applicant was required to submit a landscape plan (Exhibit S) with the 

application materials in accordance with the requirements of Chapters 17.38 and 

17.50 SWMC. Staff has found that the landscape plan for the proposal demonstrates 

compliance with both of the code chapters and the Sedro-Woolley Design Standards 

and Guidelines for recreation areas.   

 

CONCLUSION: The proposal as conditioned meets the requirements for landscaping 

and recreational area as described in Chapters 17.38, 17.43 and 17.50 SWMC.  

 

9. Design Review: 

 

a. PRDs are held to a higher level of design standards than a standard subdivision. Per 

the PRD criteria in SWMC 17.43.080(A), the design of the PRD shall achieve two or 

more of the following results: High quality architectural design, placement, or 

orientation of the structures; achieving the allowable density for the subject property; 

improving circulation patterns; minimizing the use of impervious surfacing materials; 

increasing open space or recreational facilities on site; and preserving, enhancing or 

rehabilitating the natural features of the property such as significant woodlands or 

critical areas.  

 

b. The plat map that was submitted (Exhibit T) and the landscape (Exhibit S) plan 

demonstrate that the proposal meets two or more of the criteria. Namely, staff finds 

that the orientation of the lots around a large open space tract achieves high quality 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 262 of 810



 

LP-2019-389 – 85 Lot Planned Residential Development – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 10  

placement and orientation of structures, and the proposal achieves the allowable 

density for the subject property.  

 

c. Buildings in the PRD will be required to meet the additional design standards for 

PRDs in the Sedro-Woolley Design Standards and Guidelines enabled by Chapter 

15.44 SWMC as well as 25% landscaping per lot, to be reviewed at time of building 

permit.  

 

d. All development must meet the design standards described in SWMC 16.08.100. 

 

e. The road and lot access shown on the plat map (Exhibit T)  meet the standards in 

SWMC 16.08.100.  

 

CONCLUSION: The proposal as conditioned will meet the design standards described 

in Chapters 17.43 and 16.08 SWMC as well as the Sedro-Woolley Design Standards 

and Guidelines.  

 

10. Parking: 

 

a. SWMC 17.36.030 requires that single-family residences provide two off-street 

parking spaces per dwelling unit. The plat map (Exhibit S) shows that the lots have 

sufficient size and layout to meet this requirement.   

 

b. Chapter 17.43 SWMC requires PRDs to provide one on-street parking space per 

every four units. The applicant provided a parking plan (Exhibit U) that 

demonstrates that the proposal meets this requirement.  

 

CONCLUSION: The proposed subdivision as conditioned will meet the parking 

requirements identified in Chapters 17.36 and 17.43 SWMC.  

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Application # LP 2019-389, a proposed preliminary subdivision application for an 85-lot 

Planned Residential Development restricted to residents of 55 years and older is 

recommended for APPROVAL subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. All development shall generally conform to the proposed preliminary plat map as shown 

in Exhibit L and the landscape plan as shown in Exhibit F.  

 

2. Comply with the mitigation measures included in the SEPA MDNS issued January 29, 

2020.  

 

3. Construction of all required infrastructure improvements, including, but not limited to, 

streets, curbs, sidewalks, sewer, landscaping and street lighting shall be completed prior 

to final plat application or bonding in an amount approved by the City Engineer shall be 

filed with the City. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 263 of 810



 

LP-2019-389 – 85 Lot Planned Residential Development – Preliminary Long Plat 

City of Sedro-Woolley 

Page 11  

 

4. A homeowners association shall be created to own and maintain the stormwater system 

infrastructure, recreation area tract and shared driveways; the homeowner’s association 

documents shall be approved by the Planning Department prior to recording.  

 

5. The proponent or successor shall submit a final plat map for each phase to the city for 

review and approval after site improvements are completed, approved, and/or financially 

secured. 

 

6. Phases one and two shall be approved as separate final plats and shall include separate 

plat maps and construction as-builds. The civil plans for the project shall include the 

temporary turn-around for phase one, demolition plans for the temporary turn-around, 

the completed road plans for phase two along with all other required infrastructure and 

improvements for final plat approval.  

 

7. The proponent or successor will dedicate all roads as public right-of-way at the time of 

final subdivision approval.  

 

 

 

EXHIBITS 
 

A. Staff Report 

B. Preliminary Long Plat Application 

C. PRD Checklist 

D. NOA and SEPA Comment Period  

E. SEPA MDNS 

F. Re-issued SEPA MDNS 

G. Notice of Public Hearing  

H. Ecology Letter  

I. Sound Transit Letter  

J. Emerson Letter  

K. Compiled Neighbor Comments 

L. SEPA Checklist 

M. Critical Areas Assessment Report 

N. Traffic Impact Analysis 

O. T.S.I. Technical Memo (October 4, 2019) 

P. City Wide Transportation Concurrency Review 

Q. Letter of MDNS Appeal  

R. Narrative 

S. Landscape Plan 

T. Plat Map 

U. Parking Plan 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 264 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 265 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit BTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 266 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 267 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 268 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 269 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 270 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 271 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit CTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 272 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 273 of 810



NOTICE OF APPLICATION AND SEPA COMMENT PERIOD  

CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY PLANNING DEPARTMENT  
 

Description of proposal/application:  The city has received an application for a proposed 85-unit Planned Residential 

Development (PRD) on a vacant 12.7 acre property on McGarigle Road. The proposed PRD will be age-restricted to 55 

years and older. The property is zoned Residential 7 and allows for a variety of lot sizes under the PRD provisions in the 

Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code (SWMC). The proposed lots range from 3,675 to 14,090 square feet in size. The project 

includes construction of a new public road with sidewalks, a 55,532 square foot community open space, and stormwater 

infrastructure. File #LP-2019-389.  

 

Proponent:   BYK Construction Inc. 

ATTN: Tim Woodmansee 

PO Box 619  

Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284  

  

Location of project, including street address if any:  Skagit County Assessor’s parcel #39374 located on the south side of 

McGarigle Road roughly across from the east end of Independence Boulevard, Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284.  

 

Environmental Review:  The optional DNS process in WAC 197-11-355 is being used. Agencies, tribes, and the public are 

encouraged to review and comment on the proposed project and its probable environmental impacts. The City of Sedro-

Woolley has reviewed the proposed project for probable adverse environmental impacts and expects to issue a mitigated 

determination of non-significance (MDNS) for this project. The MDNS will likely include the following conditions and any 

other conditions that may be necessary to address concerns raised during this comment period: 

 

1. Hours of construction shall be limited to 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. weekdays and 8:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. weekends as 

required in SWMC 9.46.020; 

2. Comply with Northwest Clean Air Agency Regulations during construction activities; 

3. Any water discharged to the City stormwater system as a result of this project must be approved by and comply with 

conditions of the Public Works Department; 

4. Provide a temporary erosion and sedimentation control plan for approval by the city engineer; 

5. Lighting from the site shall be directed and/or shielded so as to not shine at the neighboring residential properties; 

6. All construction traffic shall use temporary construction access as approved by the Public Works Department; 

7. Obtain and comply with conditions of a NPDES stormwater general permit from the Department of Ecology; 

8. Contribute police mitigation fees of $505.76 per unit as per the residential unit fee calculation in the Capital Facilities 

Element of the City of Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan; and 

9. Construction shall comply with all local, state and federal regulations, including Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code Title 

13.36 Stormwater Management Standards; Title 13.40 Stormwater Facilities Maintenance; Title15.40 Public Works 

Construction Standards; Title 17 Zoning; Sedro-Woolley Public Works Design Standards and the Sedro-Woolley 

Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Documents are available for review at: The City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Department, 325 Metcalf Street, Sedro-

Woolley, WA 98284, Monday through Friday, 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM. Environmental documents available include a SEPA 

checklist, stormwater report, stormwater infiltration feasibility assessment, traffic impact analysis and critical areas 

assessment. For more information, contact Katherine Weir at the Sedro-Woolley Planning Department at (360) 855-3206 or 

by email: kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us.  

 

Public Comment Period: The lead agency for this proposal has NOT yet made a threshold determination of whether or not 

the proposed project has a probable significant adverse impact on the environment. Interested persons may comment on the 

application and/or the anticipated SEPA determination, receive notice, participate in any hearings and request a copy of the 

decision. Public comments must be received by 4:30 p.m. December 2, 2019 and should be submitted to the City of 

Sedro-Woolley Planning Department, 325 Metcalf Street, Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284. Comments may be mailed or 

personally delivered and should be as specific as possible. This may be your only opportunity to comment on the 

environmental impacts of the proposed project. 

 

Katherine Weir, Assistant Planner 

City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Department 

 

Published in Skagit Valley Herald on November 18, 2019 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 274 of 810

mailto:kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us
jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit DTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 275 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit ETo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 276 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit FTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
Tuesday, March 24, 2020 at 10:00 AM 

Sedro-Woolley Municipal Courtroom 

325 Metcalf Street, Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284 

 
Application:  Plat of Brickyard Creek, a Planned Residential Development (file#LP-2019-389) 

& Appeal of the SEPA MDNS for the Plat of Brickyard Creek 

 

Applicant Contact: Tim Woodmansee, PO Box 619, Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284 

 

Project Address: 1200 block of McGarigle Rd, Sedro-Woolley, Assessor’s Parcel P39374 

 

Project:  A proposed 85-unit Planned Residential Development (PRD) on a vacant 12.7 

acre property on McGarigle Rd. The proposed PRD will be age-restricted to 55 

years and older. The project includes construction of a new public road with 

sidewalks, a 55,532 square foot community open space, and stormwater 

infrastructure. File #LP-2019-389. The City received an appeal of a Mitigated 

Determination of Nonsignificance (MDNS), issued under the State Environmental 

Policy Act (SEPA). The hearing will take place in two parts. The Hearing 

Examiner (HE) will first hear the Appellant’s MDNS appeal, followed by an open 

record hearing on the PRD application.  

 

Public Comment:   Interested persons may comment on the PRD application, receive notice, 

participate in future hearings and request a copy of the decision. Written 

testimony on the PRD application may be submitted to: Sedro-Woolley Planning 

Department, ATTN: Assistant Planner, 325 Metcalf Street, Sedro-Woolley, 

Washington, 98284, or by email to kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us until 9:00 AM 

of the date of the public hearing.  

 

Documents are available for review at:  The City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Department, 

Monday through Friday, 8:00 AM to 4:30 PM. Project documents are available 

for review at no cost; copies will be provided at the requestor’s cost. For more 

information, contact the Planning Department at (360) 855-0771. A staff report 

will be available seven days prior to the hearing.  

 

Hearing Examiner:  Applicable law requires the appeal of a threshold determination be 

consolidated with the hearing of the underlying permit. Thus, the hearing will take 

place in two parts. The HE will first hear the MDNS appeal, followed by an open 

record hearing on the PRD application. If the MDNS appeal is granted, no 

decision on the PRD application will be made until environmental review is 

completed. If the MDNS appeal is denied, the PRD application will be decided. 

The public is welcome to observe the appeal hearing, but public comment may 

only be given during the PRD application portion of the hearing that follows the 

appeal hearing. The hearing begins at 10:00 AM, March 24, 2020 at the Sedro-

Woolley Municipal Courtroom, 325 Metcalf Street. Based on the information 

presented to the Hearing Examiner and testimony at that hearing, the Hearing 

Examiner will make a recommendation to the City Council whether to approve, 

approve with conditions or deny preliminary approval of the proposed PRD. 

 

Notice Published:  Friday, March 13, 2020 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 277 of 810

mailto:kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us
jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit GTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



 

 

 

 
 

 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY 
Northwest Regional Office  3190 160th Avenue SE  Bellevue, Washington  98008-5452  (425) 649-7000 

711 for Washington Relay Service  Persons with a speech disability can call (877) 833-6341 

 

November 27, 2019 

 

 

 

Katherine Weir 

City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Department 

325 Metcalf Street 

Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284 

 

Re: The Park at Brickyard Creek Planned Residential Development 

File# LP-2019-389, Ecology SEPA# 201906513 

 

Dear Katherine Weir: 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide comments on The Park at Brickyard Creek Planned 

Residential Development project.  Based on review of the State Environmental Policy Act 

(SEPA) checklist associated with this Project, the Department of Ecology (Ecology) has the 

following comments: 

 

There are eight contaminated sites listed on Ecology's database within a one-mile radius of this 

location.  Five of the eight sites have received No Further Action determinations.  The three 

active sites are described below. 

 

Spearing Trucking (Facility Site ID No.: 6948127; Cleanup Site ID No.: 7722) located at 2239 

Hwy 20 in Sedro Wooley, is approximately 0.3 mile southwest of this location.  The status of 

this site is 'Cleanup Started'.  This site has gasoline, diesel at concentrations exceeding cleanup 

levels in soil; benzene and heavy oil are suspected in soil at concentrations exceeding cleanup 

levels. 

 

Harris Property Auto Recycling (Facility Site ID No.: 8017804; Cleanup Site ID No.: 379) 

located at 20571 Minkler Road in Sedro Wooley is approximately 0.75 mile southeast of this 

location.  This site has been ranked a '1' using the Washington Ranking Method in which a '1' 

represents the highest risk and a '5' represents the lowest risk.  The status of this site is 'Awaiting 

Cleanup'.  The site is contaminated with metals, non-halogenated solvents and petroleum 

hydrocarbons at concentrations exceeding cleanup levels confirmed in soil and suspected in 

ground water. 

 

PSE Sedro Wooley located at 284 Minkler Road in Sedro Wooley (Facility Site ID No.: 

32313154; Cleanup Site ID No.: 5871) is approximately 0.75 mile southeast of this location.  

The status of this site is 'Awaiting Cleanup'.  This site has been ranked a '5' using the Washington 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 278 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit HTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Katherine Weir  

November 27, 2019 

Page 2 
 

Ranking Method.  This site is contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons at concentrations 

above cleanup levels that have been remediated in soil and confirmed in ground water. 

 

Thank you for considering these comments from Ecology.  If you have any questions or would 

like to respond to these comments, please contact Heather Vick from the Toxics Cleanup 

Program at (425) 649-7064 or by email at heather.vick@ecy.wa.gov.    

 

Sincerely, 
 

 
Katelynn Piazza 

SEPA Coordinator 

 

Sent by email: Katherine Weir, kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us  

 

ecc: Heather Vick, Ecology  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 279 of 810

mailto:heather.vick@ecy.wa.gov
mailto:kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us


Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 280 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit ITo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 281 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit JTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 282 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 283 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 284 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 285 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 286 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 287 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 288 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 289 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 290 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 291 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 292 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 293 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit KTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report - Compiled Neighbor Comments



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 294 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 295 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 296 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 297 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 298 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 299 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 300 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 301 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 302 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 303 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 304 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 305 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 306 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 307 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 308 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 309 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 310 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 311 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit LTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 312 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 313 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 314 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 315 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 316 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 317 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 318 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 319 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 320 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 321 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 322 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 323 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 324 of 810



CRITICAL AREAS ASSESSMENT REPORT FOR 
PARCEL P39374 – MCGARIGLE RD  
SEDRO-WOOLLEY, WASHINGTON  98284 

PREPARED FOR: 

TIM WOODMANSEE 
BYK CONSTRUCTION, INC. 
P.O. BOX 619 
SEDRO-WOOLLEY, WA 98284 

PREPARED BY: 

ESSENCY ENVIRONMENTAL, LLC 
11104 320TH AVENUE NORTHEAST 
CARNATION, WA 98014 
CONTACT: MARY HARENDA 

(425) 761-5903
MHARENDA@CABLESPEED.COM

September 17, 2019 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 325 of 810

mailto:mharenda@cablespeed.com
jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit MTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



This report should be  cited as: 

Essency Environmental, LLC. 2019. Critical Areas Assessment Report for Parcel P39374 – McGarigle 
Road, Sedro-Woolley, Washington. Prepared for BYK Construction. September 17. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 326 of 810



Critical Areas Assessment Report-P39374 
BYK Construction 

Copyright © 2019  
Essency Environmental, LLC 

i 

Table of Contents 

Page 
Table of Contents ....................................................................................................................................................................... i 

Critical Areas Assessment Report for Parcel P39374 – McGarigle Road, Sedro-Woolley, WA 
Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Background ................................................................................................................................................. 1 
Qualifications .............................................................................................................................................. 1 

Methods ................................................................................................................................................................ ........ 3 
Results  .......................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

General Site Description......................................................................................................................... 4 
Shorelines Jurisdiction ............................................................................................................................ 4 
Streams   ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 
Priority Habitats and Species ............................................................................................................... 4 
Wetlands and Riparian Corridors ...................................................................................................... 5 
Aquifer Recharge Areas .......................................................................................................................... 5 
Fish and Wildlife Conservation Areas .............................................................................................. 5 
Frequently Flooded Areas ..................................................................................................................... 5 
Geologically Hazardous Areas ............................................................................................................. 5 
Other ............................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Citations ........................................................................................................................................................................ 6 

Table 1 Project Contacts. ........................................................................................................................................ 1 

Appendices 

Appendix A. Figures 
Figure 1 – Vicinity Map 
Figure 2 – Aerial Image of Parcel P39374 

Appendix B. Site Photographs 
Appendix C. Wetland Determination Forms 
Appendix D. Soils Report 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 327 of 810



    
 

 
 

Critical Areas Assessment-P39374 
BYK Construction 

Copyright © 2019   
Essency Environmental, LLC 

1 

Introduction 

Background 
BYK Construction retained Essency Environmental, LLC to complete a Critical Areas Assessment 
on Parcel P39374. Parcel P39374 is located in the southwest quarter of Section 18, Township 
35N, Range 5E, adjacent to McGarigle Road in Sedro-Woolley, Washington. The project location 
is shown in Figure 1 (Appendix A).  

Project contacts are shown in Table 1. 

  Table 1. Project Contacts               
Organization Role Representative  Title Email\Phone 
Essency 
Environmental, 
LLC 

Critical Areas 
Assessment 

Mary Harenda Professional 
Wetland Scientist, 
Fisheries Biologist 

mharenda@cablespeed.com   
(425) 761-5903 

BYK 
Construction, 
Inc. 

Client Tim 
Woodmansee 

Vice-president tim@bykconstruction.com 
(360) 421-1221  

 

Qualifications 
This critical areas assessment was completed by Andrew Wones and Mary Harenda of Essency 
Environmental, LLC. Essency Environmental, LLC provides environmental consulting services 
and has conducted many critical areas studies in Washington State.  

Andrew Wones has over 30 years of experience in marine and freshwater ecology research and 
environmental consulting. He has extensive experience with aquatic resources permitting, 
natural resource inventories, impact assessment, endangered species, mitigation planning and 
monitoring, and construction monitoring for environmental compliance. Mr. Wones has 
contributed to numerous environmental impact statements, natural resource studies, provided 
compliance monitoring services, and written biological assessments for several ports, marinas, 
and utility agencies. He has authored natural resources technical reports and chapters for 
NEPA/SEPA documents evaluating a variety of projects including transportation, mining, 
residential, and recreational developments. Andrew is also a Certified Erosion and 
Sedimentation Control Lead (CESCL).  

Mary Harenda is a Professional Wetland Scientist with over 30 years of diverse experience in 
biological sciences, project planning and design. She possesses a thorough working knowledge 
of local, state, and federal permitting and plan requirements, including the Washington SEPA 
and federal NEPA processes (BAs/BEs/EISs). Mary’s extensive technical experience includes 
wetland inventories, delineations and functional assessments, stream assessments and 
evaluations, and assessments for wildlife and threatened and endangered species. Her expertise 
also includes construction oversight on wetland and stream mitigation projects and follow-up 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 328 of 810

mailto:mharenda@cablespeed.com
mailto:tim@bykconstruction.com


    
 

 
 

Critical Areas Assessment-P39374 
BYK Construction 

Copyright © 2019   
Essency Environmental, LLC 

2 

monitoring to meet permit requirements. She has completed long-term, multiparameter 
monitoring on numerous mitigation banks in Washington State. She has worked in both the 
public and private sectors and has experience across a broad client base including small and 
large development firms, private home and property owners, small and large businesses, local, 
state and federal governments and agencies, and public and private utilities. 

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 329 of 810



    
 

 
 

Critical Areas Assessment-P39374 
BYK Construction 

Copyright © 2019   
Essency Environmental, LLC 

3 

  

Methods 

This critical areas assessment was completed following guidelines in Sedro-Woolley Municipal 
Code (SWMC 17.65 Regulations for Critical Areas). Background research included review of the 
following sources: 
 

• Federal Emergency Management Agency National Flood Hazard Maps (FEMA 1989) 

• Skagit County iMap (Skagit County 2019) 

• City of Sedro-Woolley online documents and maps (available at: https://www.ci.sedro-
woolley.wa.us/) 

• Washington State Department of Ecology 303d list, interactive map (Ecology 2019) 

• Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) Priority Habitats and 
Species database (WDFW 2019a) 

• Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife Salmonscape (WDFW 2019b) 

• USFWS National Wetlands Inventory Mapper (USFWS 2019).  

• USDA NRCS Web Soil Survey (NRCS 2019). 

• Aerial photography of the site from Google Earth and Skagit County iMap. 

• City of Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code 

Essency Environmental staff completed a site visit and field work on Parcel P39374 on 
September 11th, 2019. We walked the parcel to assess the presence of any streams or wetlands 
and sampled locations that appeared most likely to support wetland conditions. Sample plots 
were flagged, and plot locations were mapped using a mapping grade Juniper Systems Geode 
GPS and Effigis data collection and post-processing software. In addition, we evaluated areas 
within 200 feet of the parcel boundaries for the potential presence of critical areas using 
published information sources including maps and aerial images, and from what could be seen 
from the project parcel,  public roads and other publicly accessible areas. Wetland 
determinations followed US Army Corps of Engineers wetland delineation guidelines (USACE 
2010).  

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 330 of 810

https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/
https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/


    
 

 
 

Critical Areas Assessment-P39374 
BYK Construction 

Copyright © 2019   
Essency Environmental, LLC 

4 

 

Results 

Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code 17.65.020 states the following shall constitute critical areas 
regulated by code: Wetland and Riparian Corridors, Areas with a Critical Recharging Effect on 
Aquifers Used for Potable Water, Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas, Frequently 
Flooded Areas, and Geologically Hazardous Areas. Critical area buffers are also regulated as 
described in SWMC 17.65. This section describes whether any critical areas or buffers regulated 
by the SWMC are present on or near the subject property. Other regulatory and resource 
categories of interest are also discussed.  
  

General Site Description 
Parcel P39374 is 12.7 acres in size and is currently vacant. The property abuts McGarigle Road 
to the north. The parcel is zoned Mixed Commercial (City of Sedro-Woolley Zoning Map 
(available at: https://www.ci.sedro-
woolley.wa.us/Departments/Planning/Comprehensive%20Plan/Comp_Plan_Land_Use_Map.pd
f).  Existing residences are present to the east and west and north of McGarigle Road. An 
existing vacant parcel is present to the south which is also zoned Mixed Commercial. 

The parcel was in agricultural use for many years. Vegetation is dominated grasses and weedy 
forbs typical of agricultural fields. Plants species observed on the parcel include: creeping 
bentgrass (Agrostis stolonifera), English plantain (Plantago lanceolata), red sorrel, (Rumex 
acetosella), orchardgrass (Dactylis glomerata), Canada thistle (Cirsium arvense), reed 
canarygrass (Phalaris arundinacea), cat’s ear (Hypochaeris radicata), tall buttercup (Ranunculus 
acris), field horsetail (Equisetum arvense), sweet vernal grass (Anthoxanthum odoratum), 
snowberry (Symphoricarpos albus) and blackberry (Rubus armeniacus) along fence lines. 
 

Shoreline Jurisdiction 
Parcel P39374 is not within Shoreline jurisdiction (City of Sedro-Woolley 2016). 

Streams 
There are no streams or stream buffers on the project parcel and no streams or buffers are 
shown on any map resources (WDFW 2019a, WDFW 2019b, WDNR 2019, USGS 2019). 
Brickyard Creek (Type 2 water with 200-foot standard buffer per Sedro-Woolley Municipal 
Code section 17.65.530)  is present on the north side of McGarigle Road. The standard buffer for 
Brickyard Creek does not extend onto Parcel 39374 and the effective buffer stops at the 
McGarigle Road. 

 

 Priority Habitats and Species (PHS) 
PHS resources identify the presence of coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch) and resident 
coastal cutthroat (Oncorhynchus clarki) in Brickyard Creek and the presence of three bat 
species, Myotis yumanensis and lucifugus, and Corynorhinus townsendii in the parcel township  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 331 of 810

https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/Departments/Planning/Comprehensive%20Plan/Comp_Plan_Land_Use_Map.pdf
https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/Departments/Planning/Comprehensive%20Plan/Comp_Plan_Land_Use_Map.pdf
https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/Departments/Planning/Comprehensive%20Plan/Comp_Plan_Land_Use_Map.pdf


    
 

 
 

Critical Areas Assessment-P39374 
BYK Construction 

Copyright © 2019   
Essency Environmental, LLC 

5 

(WDFW 2019a). 
   

Wetlands and Riparian Corridors 
The National Wetland Inventory (NWI) does not show any wetlands on or within 200 feet of the 
project parcel (USFWS 2019).  The Natural Resource Conservation Service (2019) maps the 
parcel soil as Nargar loam, which is not classified as a hydric soil (Figure 2 and Appendix D). 

We sampled locations on the parcel that appeared most likely to support wetland conditions 
(Figure 2 and Appendix C). There were no indicators of either hydric soils or wetland hydrology 
in the five plots we sampled. No Wetlands or Riparian Corridors are present on the project 
parcel. In addition, we evaluated adjacent areas up to roads or other development that would 
mark the end of any effective buffer within 200 feet of the project parcel boundaries and 
determined that no wetland buffers are present on the project parcel.  

 
Areas with a Critical Recharging Effect on Aquifers Used for 
Potable Water 

The Skagit County Aquifer Recharge Area Category 1 Areas Map (Skagit County 2010) does not 
show any aquifer recharge areas on or within 200 feet of the project parcel.  

  

Fish and Wildlife Conservation Areas 
There are no known Fish and Wildlife Conservation Areas or habitats for species of local 
significance as defined in SWMC 17.65.500 on the project parcel. Brickyard Creek, a Type 2 
water, is located over 200 feet from the parcel boundaries on the north side of McGarigle Road 
(Figure 2). 

Frequently Flooded Areas 
The project is mapped as outside the 500-year floodplain (Zone X) by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (Skagit County 2019b).  Zone X is not regulated. 

Geologically Hazardous Areas 
There are no potential landslide or erosion hazard areas or steep slopes mapped by Skagit 
County (2016).  A geotechnical study may be required to assess the presence of Geologically 
Hazardous Areas (SWMC 17.54.420) as part of the development review process.   

Other 
 Section 17.65.070[A][4] of the SWMC states that a survey showing locations, descriptions, and 
species of all trees over 6 inches in diameter, as measured five feet above the base of the trunk, 
and shrubs over eight feet tall or six feet wide, may be required to be submitted with any 
development application. There are no trees located on the parcel.  

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 332 of 810



    
 

 
 

Critical Areas Assessment-P39374 
BYK Construction 

Copyright © 2019   
Essency Environmental, LLC 

6 

Citations 

City of Sedro-Wooley. 2016. City of Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Management Program Update. . 
Effective June 14, 2016.  

Skagit County. 2010. Aquifer Recharge Area Map. Category 1 Areas. (Skagit County Code 
14.24.310). Available at: 
https://www.skagitcounty.net/GIS/Documents/Critical_Areas/Category%201%20Areas%
20Aquifer%20Recharge%20Map.pdf . Accessed: May 1, 2019. 

 Skagit County. 2016. Potential Landslide and Erosion Hazard Areas. Available at: 
https://www.skagitcounty.net/GIS/Documents/GeoHazard/cw103-53.pdf . Accessed: May 
1, 2019 

Skagit County. 2019a. iMap. Skagit County interactive maps. Available at: 
https://www.skagitcounty.net/Maps/iMap/ . Accessed: May 1, 2019. 

Skagit County 2019b. FEMA Q3 100 Year Floodplain. Map. Available at: 
https://www.skagitcounty.net/GIS/Documents/Flood/FEMA%20Q3%20100%20Year%20
Floodplain%20Map.pdf . Accessed: May 1, 2019.  

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. May 2010. Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers 
Wetland Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region, Version 2.0. 

U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA). Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS). 2019. 
Custom Soil Report for Snohomish County Area, WA. Parcel P107812. Downloaded from 
websoilsurvel.sc.egov.usda.gov. May 1, 2019. 

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. National Wetlands Inventory Mapper. 2019. Available at: 
http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/data/mapper.HTML . Accessed: May 1, 2019. 

U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). 2019. The National Map. National Hydrography Layer. Available 
at:   viewer.nationalmap.gov/viewer/. Accessed: May 1, 2019. 

Washington State Department of Ecology. 2019. Water Quality Assessment for Washington. On-
line interactive map. Available at: https://fortress.wa.gov/ecy/wqamapviewer/map.aspx. 
Accessed: May 1, 2019. 

Washington Department of Natural Resources (WDNR). 2019. Forest Practices Application 
Mapping Tool. Available at: https://fortress.wa.gov/dnr/protectiongis/fpamt/default.aspx . 
Accessed: May 1, 2019. 

Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2019a. PHS on the Web. Priority 
Habitats and Species database. Available at: http://apps.wdfw.wa.gov/phsontheweb/. 
Accessed: May 1, 2019. 

WDFW. 2019b. Salmonscape online fish distribution maps. Available at:  
http://apps.wdfw.wa.gov/salmonscape/map.html . Accessed: May 1, 2019. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 333 of 810

https://www.skagitcounty.net/GIS/Documents/Critical_Areas/Category%201%20Areas%20Aquifer%20Recharge%20Map.pdf
https://www.skagitcounty.net/GIS/Documents/Critical_Areas/Category%201%20Areas%20Aquifer%20Recharge%20Map.pdf
https://www.skagitcounty.net/GIS/Documents/GeoHazard/cw103-53.pdf
https://www.skagitcounty.net/Maps/iMap/
https://www.skagitcounty.net/GIS/Documents/Flood/FEMA%20Q3%20100%20Year%20Floodplain%20Map.pdf
https://www.skagitcounty.net/GIS/Documents/Flood/FEMA%20Q3%20100%20Year%20Floodplain%20Map.pdf
http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/data/mapper.HTML
https://fortress.wa.gov/dnr/protectiongis/fpamt/default.aspx
http://apps.wdfw.wa.gov/phsontheweb/
http://apps.wdfw.wa.gov/salmonscape/map.html


Appendix A: Figures 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 334 of 810



 

Project Site 

Image Source: WDNR 2019. https://geologyportal.dnr.wa.gov/  

Figure 1. Vicinity Map.  Essency Environmental LLC 

11104 320th Ave NE 

Carnation, WA 98014 

425 269-3119 

425 761-5903 

 

www.essencyenvironmental.com 

 

Critical Areas Assessment Report for Parcel P39374 in Sedro-Woolley, 

WA 

Client: BYK Construction, Inc. 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 335 of 810



P
ar

ce
l P

3
9

3
7

4
 

Fi
gu

re
 2

. A
er

ia
l I

m
ag

e 
 o

f 
P

ar
ce

l  
P

3
9

37
4

 
 

Es
se

n
cy

 E
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

ta
l L

LC
 

1
11

04
 3

20
th

 A
ve

 N
E 

C
ar

n
ati

o
n

, W
A

 9
80

14
 

 4
25

 2
6

9
-3

1
19

 

4
25

 7
6

1
-5

9
03

 

w
w

w
.e

ss
en

cy
en

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

ta
l.c

o
m

 

D
at

e
: 

9
/1

8
/2

0
1

9
 

C
ri

ti
ca

l A
re

as
 R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

P
ar

ce
l P

3
9

37
4

– 
M

cG
ar

ig
le

 R
o

ad
, S

ed
ro

-W
o

o
lle

y,
 W

A
. 

C
lie

n
t:

 B
Y

K
 C

o
n

st
ru

cti
o

n
, I

n
c.

 

     LEGEND 

      Parcel Boundary (from Skagit County GIS) 

      Brickyard Creek (Type 2 with 200’ buffer) 

Image Source: Google Earth Pro dated 

7/15/2018.  

     Soil Series (100=Nargar Loam; 34=Cokedale Silt Loam; 

92=Minkler Silt Loam) 

 Wetland Determination Sample Plot Soil series  obtained from Google Earth Soil Web interface to USDA-NCSS SSURGO and STATSGO soil survey products. 

3
4

 

1
0

0
 

34 100 

9
2

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 336 of 810



Appendix B: Site Photographs 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 337 of 810



Parcel P39374-McGarigle Road Copyright © 2019 
BYK-Critical Areas Assessment  B-1   Essency Environmental, LLC         

Photo 1. Panorama from northwest corner of Parcel P39374, facing southeast. 9/11/19. 

Photo 3. Panorama from northeast corner of Parcel P39374, facing southwest. 9/11/19. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 338 of 810



Parcel P39374-McGarigle Road                                 Copyright © 2019 
BYK-Critical Areas Assessment              B-2         Essency Environmental, LLC                                  

 

Photo 4. Panorama from southwest corner of Parcel P39374, facing northeast. 9/11/19. 

 

Photo 9. Panorama from southwest corner of Parcel P39374, facing northwest. 9/11/19. 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 339 of 810



Appendix C: Wetland Determination Data Forms 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 340 of 810



US Army Corps of Engineers                      Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast – Version 2.0 

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 
 

Project/Site: Parcel P39374  City/County: Sedro-Woolley/Skagit Sampling Date: 9/11/2019 
Applicant/Owner: BYK Construction State:   WA Sampling Point: P1 
Investigator(s): M. Harenda/A. Wones Section, Township, Range: S18, T35N, R5E 
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.): Historic floodplain Local relief (concave, convex, none): none Slope (%): 1% 
Subregion (LRR): MLRA2 Lat: 48.515572° Long: -122.217526° Datum: WGS 84 
Soil Map Unit Name: Nargar loam, 0-8 percent slopes NWI classification: NA 
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes X No  (If no, explain in Remarks.) 
Are Vegetation X , Soil X , or Hydrology X significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present?   Yes X No  
Are Vegetation  , Soil  , or Hydrology  naturally problematic?  (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.) 
 
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc. 
Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes  No X    
Hydric Soil Present? Yes  No X  Is the Sampled Area within a Wetland?                    Yes  No X  
Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes  No X    
        
Remarks: 

 
VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants. 

 

Tree Stratum (Plot size: 20 ft dm )  
Absolute 
% Cover 

Dominant 
Species? 

Indicator 
Status 

1.      
2.      
3.      
4.      
      
   = Total Cover 
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size: 10 ft dm )     
1.      
2.      
3.      
4.      
5.      
    = Total Cover 
Herb 
St t     

(Plot size: 6 ft dm )     
1. Agrostis stolonifera  65 yes FAC 
2. Dactylis glomerata  25 yes FACU 
3. Plantago lanceolata  10 no FACU 
4.      
5.      
6.      
7.      
8.      
9.      
10.      
11.      
   100 = Total Cover 
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:  )     
1.      
2.      
    = Total Cover 
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum    
    

 

Dominance Test worksheet:   
Number of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 1 (A) 
Total Number of Dominant 
Species Across All Strata: 2 (B) 
Percent of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 (A/B) 

 

Prevalence Index worksheet: 
Total % Cover of: Multiply by:  
OBL species  x 1 =   
FACW species  x 2 =   
FAC species  x 3 =   
FACU species  x 4 =   
UPL species  x 5 =   
Column Totals:  (A)    (B) 

Prevalence Index  = B/A =  

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 
 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation 
 2 - Dominance Test is >50% 
 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01 

 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting 
data in Remarks or on a separate sheet) 

 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1 
 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain) 
1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 
be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

 

 
 
 
 

Hydrophytic  
Vegetation 
Present? Yes  No X 

Remarks: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 341 of 810



US Army Corps of Engineers                      Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast – Version 2.0 

 
SOIL                                                                                                                                      Sampling Point:   P1                                        
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)  
 Depth 

(inches) 
 Matrix  Redox Features      

  Color (moist)  %  Color (moist)  %  Type1  Loc2  Texture  Remarks  
 

  0-6  10YR 4/3  100          
fine sandy 
loam   

 

 
  6-14  10YR 4/3  100          

loamy fine 
sand   

 

                   

                   

                   

                   

                   

                   

 1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.  

Hydric Soil Indicators:  (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3: 
 Histosol (A1)  Sandy Redox (S5)  2 cm Muck (A10) 
 Histic Epipedon (A2)  Stripped Matrix (S6)  Red Parent Material (TF2) 
 Black Histic (A3)  Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)  Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) 
 Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 
 Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)  Depleted Matrix (F3)   
 Thick Dark Surface (A12)  Redox Dark Surface (F6)  3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

wetland hydrology must be present, 
unless disturbed or problematic 

 Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)  Depleted Dark Surface (F7)  
 Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)  

 

Restrictive Layer (if present):      
 Type:   Hydric Soil Present?      Yes  No X 
 Depth (inches):        
         

 

Remarks: 

 
HYDROLOGY 

Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 
Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)  Secondary Indicators (2 or more required) 

 Surface Water (A1)  
Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except 
MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)   

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2, 
4A, and 4B) 

 High Water Table (A2)  Salt Crust (B11)   Drainage Patterns (B10) 
 Saturation (A3)  Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)   Dry-Season Water Table (C2) 
 Water Marks (B1)  Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)   Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) 

 Sediment Deposits (B2)  
Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living 
Roots (C3)   Geomorphic Position (D2) 

 Drift Deposits (B3)  Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)   Shallow Aquitard (D3) 

 Algal Mat or Crust (B4)  
Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled 
Soils (C6)   FAC-Neutral Test (D5) 

 Iron Deposits (B5)  
Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) 
(LRR A)   Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) 

 Surface Soil Cracks (B6)  Other (Explain in Remarks)   Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7) 
 Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)      
 Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)      
       

 

Field Observations:             
Surface Water Present? Yes  No  Depth (inches):        
Water Table Present? Yes  No  Depth (inches):   Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes  No X 
Saturation Present? 
(includes capillary fringe) Yes  No  Depth (inches):        
             

 

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available: 

Remarks: 

 Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 342 of 810



US Army Corps of Engineers                      Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast – Version 2.0 

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 
 

Project/Site: Parcel P39374  City/County: Sedro-Woolley/Skagit Sampling Date: 9/11/2019 
Applicant/Owner: BYK Construction State:   WA Sampling Point: P2 
Investigator(s): M. Harenda/A. Wones Section, Township, Range: S18, T35N, R5E 
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.): Historic floodplain Local relief (concave, convex, none): none Slope (%): 1% 
Subregion (LRR): MLRA2 Lat: 48.515572° Long: -122.217526° Datum: WGS 84 
Soil Map Unit Name: Nargar loam, 0-8 percent slopes NWI classification: NA 
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes X No  (If no, explain in Remarks.) 
Are Vegetation X , Soil X , or Hydrology X significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present?   Yes X No  
Are Vegetation  , Soil  , or Hydrology  naturally problematic?  (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.) 
 
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc. 
Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No     
Hydric Soil Present? Yes  No X  Is the Sampled Area within a Wetland?                    Yes  No X  
Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes  No X    
        
Remarks: 

 
VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants. 

 

Tree Stratum (Plot size: 20 ft dm )  
Absolute 
% Cover 

Dominant 
Species? 

Indicator 
Status 

1.      
2.      
3.      
4.      
      
   = Total Cover 
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size: 10 ft dm )     
1.      
2.      
3.      
4.      
5.      
    = Total Cover 
Herb 
St t     

(Plot size: 6 ft dm )     
1. Agrostis stolonifera  70 yes FAC 
2. Dactylis glomerata  15 no FACU 
3. Plantago lanceolata  10 no FACU 
4. Ranunculus acris  5 no FAC 
5.      
6.      
7.      
8.      
9.      
10.      
11.      
   100 = Total Cover 
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:  )     
1.      
2.      
    = Total Cover 
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum    
    

 

Dominance Test worksheet:   
Number of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 1 (A) 
Total Number of Dominant 
Species Across All Strata: 1 (B) 
Percent of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 100 (A/B) 

 

Prevalence Index worksheet: 
Total % Cover of: Multiply by:  
OBL species  x 1 =   
FACW species  x 2 =   
FAC species  x 3 =   
FACU species  x 4 =   
UPL species  x 5 =   
Column Totals:  (A)    (B) 

Prevalence Index  = B/A =  

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 
 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation 
X 2 - Dominance Test is >50% 
 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01 

 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting 
data in Remarks or on a separate sheet) 

 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1 
 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain) 
1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 
be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

 

 
 
 
 

Hydrophytic  
Vegetation 
Present? Yes X No  

Remarks: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 343 of 810



US Army Corps of Engineers                      Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast – Version 2.0 

 
SOIL                                                                                                                                      Sampling Point:   P2                                        
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)  
 Depth 

(inches) 
 Matrix  Redox Features      

  Color (moist)  %  Color (moist)  %  Type1  Loc2  Texture  Remarks  
 

  0-6  10YR 4/3  100          
fine sandy 
loam   

 

 
  6-14  10YR 5/3  100          

loamy fine 
sand   

 

                   

                   

                   

                   

                   

                   

 1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.  

Hydric Soil Indicators:  (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3: 
 Histosol (A1)  Sandy Redox (S5)  2 cm Muck (A10) 
 Histic Epipedon (A2)  Stripped Matrix (S6)  Red Parent Material (TF2) 
 Black Histic (A3)  Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)  Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) 
 Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 
 Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)  Depleted Matrix (F3)   
 Thick Dark Surface (A12)  Redox Dark Surface (F6)  3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

wetland hydrology must be present, 
unless disturbed or problematic 

 Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)  Depleted Dark Surface (F7)  
 Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)  

 

Restrictive Layer (if present):      
 Type:   Hydric Soil Present?      Yes  No X 
 Depth (inches):        
         

 

Remarks: 

 
HYDROLOGY 

Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 
Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)  Secondary Indicators (2 or more required) 

 Surface Water (A1)  
Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except 
MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)   

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2, 
4A, and 4B) 

 High Water Table (A2)  Salt Crust (B11)   Drainage Patterns (B10) 
 Saturation (A3)  Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)   Dry-Season Water Table (C2) 
 Water Marks (B1)  Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)   Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) 

 Sediment Deposits (B2)  
Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living 
Roots (C3)   Geomorphic Position (D2) 

 Drift Deposits (B3)  Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)   Shallow Aquitard (D3) 

 Algal Mat or Crust (B4)  
Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled 
Soils (C6)   FAC-Neutral Test (D5) 

 Iron Deposits (B5)  
Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) 
(LRR A)   Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) 

 Surface Soil Cracks (B6)  Other (Explain in Remarks)   Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7) 
 Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)      
 Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)      
       

 

Field Observations:             
Surface Water Present? Yes  No  Depth (inches):        
Water Table Present? Yes  No  Depth (inches):   Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes  No X 
Saturation Present? 
(includes capillary fringe) Yes  No  Depth (inches):        
             

 

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available: 

Remarks: 

 Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 344 of 810



US Army Corps of Engineers                      Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast – Version 2.0 

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 
 

Project/Site: Parcel P39374  City/County: Sedro-Woolley/Skagit Sampling Date: 9/11/2019 
Applicant/Owner: BYK Construction State:   WA Sampling Point: P3 
Investigator(s): M. Harenda/A. Wones Section, Township, Range: S18, T35N, R5E 
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.): Historic floodplain Local relief (concave, convex, none): none Slope (%): 1% 
Subregion (LRR): MLRA2 Lat: 48.515572° Long: -122.217526° Datum: WGS 84 
Soil Map Unit Name: Nargar loam, 0-8 percent slopes NWI classification: NA 
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes X No  (If no, explain in Remarks.) 
Are Vegetation X , Soil X , or Hydrology X significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present?   Yes X No  
Are Vegetation  , Soil  , or Hydrology  naturally problematic?  (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.) 
 
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc. 
Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No     
Hydric Soil Present? Yes  No X  Is the Sampled Area within a Wetland?                    Yes  No X  
Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes  No X    
        
Remarks: 

 
VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants. 

 

Tree Stratum (Plot size: 20 ft dm )  
Absolute 
% Cover 

Dominant 
Species? 

Indicator 
Status 

1.      
2.      
3.      
4.      
      
   = Total Cover 
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size: 10 ft dm )     
1.      
2.      
3.      
4.      
5.      
    = Total Cover 
Herb 
St t     

(Plot size: 6 ft dm )     
1. Agrostis stolonifera  60 yes FAC 
2. Dactylis glomerata  5 no FACU 
3. Plantago lanceolata  15 no FACU 
4. Ranunculus acris  15 no FAC 
5. Anthoxanthum odoratum  2 no FACU 
6. Equisetum arvense  3 no FAC 
7.      
8.      
9.      
10.      
11.      
   100 = Total Cover 
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:  )     
1.      
2.      
    = Total Cover 
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum    
    

 

Dominance Test worksheet:   
Number of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 1 (A) 
Total Number of Dominant 
Species Across All Strata: 1 (B) 
Percent of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 100 (A/B) 

 

Prevalence Index worksheet: 
Total % Cover of: Multiply by:  
OBL species  x 1 =   
FACW species  x 2 =   
FAC species  x 3 =   
FACU species  x 4 =   
UPL species  x 5 =   
Column Totals:  (A)    (B) 

Prevalence Index  = B/A =  

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 
 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation 
X 2 - Dominance Test is >50% 
 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01 

 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting 
data in Remarks or on a separate sheet) 

 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1 
 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain) 
1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 
be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

 

 
 
 
 

Hydrophytic  
Vegetation 
Present? Yes X No  

Remarks: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 345 of 810



US Army Corps of Engineers                      Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast – Version 2.0 

 
SOIL                                                                                                                                      Sampling Point:   P3                                        
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)  
 Depth 

(inches) 
 Matrix  Redox Features      

  Color (moist)  %  Color (moist)  %  Type1  Loc2  Texture  Remarks  
 

  0-8  10YR 4/3  100          
loamy fine 
sand   

 

 
  8-14  10YR 4/4  100          

loamy fine 
sand   

 

                   

                   

                   

                   

                   

                   

 1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.  

Hydric Soil Indicators:  (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3: 
 Histosol (A1)  Sandy Redox (S5)  2 cm Muck (A10) 
 Histic Epipedon (A2)  Stripped Matrix (S6)  Red Parent Material (TF2) 
 Black Histic (A3)  Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)  Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) 
 Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 
 Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)  Depleted Matrix (F3)   
 Thick Dark Surface (A12)  Redox Dark Surface (F6)  3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

wetland hydrology must be present, 
unless disturbed or problematic 

 Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)  Depleted Dark Surface (F7)  
 Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)  

 

Restrictive Layer (if present):      
 Type:   Hydric Soil Present?      Yes  No X 
 Depth (inches):        
         

 

Remarks: 

 
HYDROLOGY 

Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 
Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)  Secondary Indicators (2 or more required) 

 Surface Water (A1)  
Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except 
MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)   

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2, 
4A, and 4B) 

 High Water Table (A2)  Salt Crust (B11)   Drainage Patterns (B10) 
 Saturation (A3)  Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)   Dry-Season Water Table (C2) 
 Water Marks (B1)  Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)   Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) 

 Sediment Deposits (B2)  
Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living 
Roots (C3)   Geomorphic Position (D2) 

 Drift Deposits (B3)  Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)   Shallow Aquitard (D3) 

 Algal Mat or Crust (B4)  
Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled 
Soils (C6)   FAC-Neutral Test (D5) 

 Iron Deposits (B5)  
Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) 
(LRR A)   Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) 

 Surface Soil Cracks (B6)  Other (Explain in Remarks)   Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7) 
 Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)      
 Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)      
       

 

Field Observations:             
Surface Water Present? Yes  No  Depth (inches):        
Water Table Present? Yes  No  Depth (inches):   Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes  No X 
Saturation Present? 
(includes capillary fringe) Yes  No  Depth (inches):        
             

 

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available: 

Remarks: 

 Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 346 of 810



US Army Corps of Engineers                      Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast – Version 2.0 

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 
 

Project/Site: Parcel P39374  City/County: Sedro-Woolley/Skagit Sampling Date: 9/11/2019 
Applicant/Owner: BYK Construction State:   WA Sampling Point: P4 
Investigator(s): M. Harenda/A. Wones Section, Township, Range: S18, T35N, R5E 
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.): Historic floodplain Local relief (concave, convex, none): none Slope (%): 1% 
Subregion (LRR): MLRA2 Lat: 48.515572° Long: -122.217526° Datum: WGS 84 
Soil Map Unit Name: Nargar loam, 0-8 percent slopes NWI classification: NA 
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes X No  (If no, explain in Remarks.) 
Are Vegetation X , Soil X , or Hydrology X significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present?   Yes X No  
Are Vegetation  , Soil  , or Hydrology  naturally problematic?  (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.) 
 
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc. 
Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No     
Hydric Soil Present? Yes  No X  Is the Sampled Area within a Wetland?                    Yes  No X  
Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes  No X    
        
Remarks: 

 
VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants. 

 

Tree Stratum (Plot size: 20 ft dm )  
Absolute 
% Cover 

Dominant 
Species? 

Indicator 
Status 

1.      
2.      
3.      
4.      
      
   = Total Cover 
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size: 10 ft dm )     
1.      
2.      
3.      
4.      
5.      
    = Total Cover 
Herb 
St t     

(Plot size: 6 ft dm )     
1. Agrostis stolonifera  70 yes FAC 
2. Dactylis glomerata  10 no FACU 
3. Plantago lanceolata  10 no FACU 
4. Ranunculus acris  10 no FAC 
5.      
6.      
7.      
8.      
9.      
10.      
11.      
   100 = Total Cover 
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:  )     
1.      
2.      
    = Total Cover 
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum    
    

 

Dominance Test worksheet:   
Number of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 1 (A) 
Total Number of Dominant 
Species Across All Strata: 1 (B) 
Percent of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 100 (A/B) 

 

Prevalence Index worksheet: 
Total % Cover of: Multiply by:  
OBL species  x 1 =   
FACW species  x 2 =   
FAC species  x 3 =   
FACU species  x 4 =   
UPL species  x 5 =   
Column Totals:  (A)    (B) 

Prevalence Index  = B/A =  

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 
 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation 
X 2 - Dominance Test is >50% 
 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01 

 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting 
data in Remarks or on a separate sheet) 

 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1 
 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain) 
1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 
be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

 

 
 
 
 

Hydrophytic  
Vegetation 
Present? Yes X No  

Remarks: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 347 of 810



US Army Corps of Engineers                      Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast – Version 2.0 

 
SOIL                                                                                                                                      Sampling Point:   P4                                        
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)  
 Depth 

(inches) 
 Matrix  Redox Features      

  Color (moist)  %  Color (moist)  %  Type1  Loc2  Texture  Remarks  
 

  0-6  10YR 4/3  100          
fine sandy 
loam   

 

 
  6-14  10YR 4/4  100          

loamy fine 
sand   

 

                   

                   

                   

                   

                   

                   

 1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.  

Hydric Soil Indicators:  (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3: 
 Histosol (A1)  Sandy Redox (S5)  2 cm Muck (A10) 
 Histic Epipedon (A2)  Stripped Matrix (S6)  Red Parent Material (TF2) 
 Black Histic (A3)  Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)  Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) 
 Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 
 Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)  Depleted Matrix (F3)   
 Thick Dark Surface (A12)  Redox Dark Surface (F6)  3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

wetland hydrology must be present, 
unless disturbed or problematic 

 Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)  Depleted Dark Surface (F7)  
 Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)  

 

Restrictive Layer (if present):      
 Type:   Hydric Soil Present?      Yes  No X 
 Depth (inches):        
         

 

Remarks: 

 
HYDROLOGY 

Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 
Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)  Secondary Indicators (2 or more required) 

 Surface Water (A1)  
Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except 
MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)   

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2, 
4A, and 4B) 

 High Water Table (A2)  Salt Crust (B11)   Drainage Patterns (B10) 
 Saturation (A3)  Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)   Dry-Season Water Table (C2) 
 Water Marks (B1)  Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)   Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) 

 Sediment Deposits (B2)  
Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living 
Roots (C3)   Geomorphic Position (D2) 

 Drift Deposits (B3)  Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)   Shallow Aquitard (D3) 

 Algal Mat or Crust (B4)  
Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled 
Soils (C6)   FAC-Neutral Test (D5) 

 Iron Deposits (B5)  
Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) 
(LRR A)   Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) 

 Surface Soil Cracks (B6)  Other (Explain in Remarks)   Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7) 
 Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)      
 Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)      
       

 

Field Observations:             
Surface Water Present? Yes  No  Depth (inches):        
Water Table Present? Yes  No  Depth (inches):   Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes  No X 
Saturation Present? 
(includes capillary fringe) Yes  No  Depth (inches):        
             

 

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available: 

Remarks: 

 Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 348 of 810



US Army Corps of Engineers                      Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast – Version 2.0 

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region 
 

Project/Site: Parcel P39374  City/County: Sedro-Woolley/Skagit Sampling Date: 9/11/2019 
Applicant/Owner: BYK Construction State:   WA Sampling Point: P5 
Investigator(s): M. Harenda/A. Wones Section, Township, Range: S18, T35N, R5E 
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.): Historic floodplain Local relief (concave, convex, none): none Slope (%): 1% 
Subregion (LRR): MLRA2 Lat: 48.515572° Long: -122.217526° Datum: WGS 84 
Soil Map Unit Name: Nargar loam, 0-8 percent slopes NWI classification: NA 
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes X No  (If no, explain in Remarks.) 
Are Vegetation X , Soil X , or Hydrology X significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present?   Yes X No  
Are Vegetation  , Soil  , or Hydrology  naturally problematic?  (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.) 
 
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS – Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc. 
Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No     
Hydric Soil Present? Yes  No X  Is the Sampled Area within a Wetland?                    Yes  No X  
Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes  No X    
        
Remarks: 

 
VEGETATION – Use scientific names of plants. 

 

Tree Stratum (Plot size: 20 ft dm )  
Absolute 
% Cover 

Dominant 
Species? 

Indicator 
Status 

1.      
2.      
3.      
4.      
      
   = Total Cover 
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size: 10 ft dm )     
1.      
2.      
3.      
4.      
5.      
    = Total Cover 
Herb 
St t     

(Plot size: 6 ft dm )     
1. Agrostis stolonifera  100 yes FAC 
2.      
3.      
4.      
5.      
6.      
7.      
8.      
9.      
10.      
11.      
   100 = Total Cover 
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:  )     
1.      
2.      
    = Total Cover 
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum    
    

 

Dominance Test worksheet:   
Number of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 1 (A) 
Total Number of Dominant 
Species Across All Strata: 1 (B) 
Percent of Dominant Species 
That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 100 (A/B) 

 

Prevalence Index worksheet: 
Total % Cover of: Multiply by:  
OBL species  x 1 =   
FACW species  x 2 =   
FAC species  x 3 =   
FACU species  x 4 =   
UPL species  x 5 =   
Column Totals:  (A)    (B) 

Prevalence Index  = B/A =  

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 
 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation 
X 2 - Dominance Test is >50% 
 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01 

 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting 
data in Remarks or on a separate sheet) 

 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1 
 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain) 
1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must 
be present, unless disturbed or problematic. 

 

 
 
 
 

Hydrophytic  
Vegetation 
Present? Yes X No  

Remarks: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 349 of 810



US Army Corps of Engineers                      Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast – Version 2.0 

 
SOIL                                                                                                                                      Sampling Point:   P5                                        
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)  
 Depth 

(inches) 
 Matrix  Redox Features      

  Color (moist)  %  Color (moist)  %  Type1  Loc2  Texture  Remarks  
 

  0-12  10YR 4/3  100          
fine sandy 
loam   

 

   12-14  10YR 5/6  100          fine sand    

                   

                   

                   

                   

                   

                   

 1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix, CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.  

Hydric Soil Indicators:  (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3: 
 Histosol (A1)  Sandy Redox (S5)  2 cm Muck (A10) 
 Histic Epipedon (A2)  Stripped Matrix (S6)  Red Parent Material (TF2) 
 Black Histic (A3)  Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1)  Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) 
 Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)  Other (Explain in Remarks) 
 Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)  Depleted Matrix (F3)   
 Thick Dark Surface (A12)  Redox Dark Surface (F6)  3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

wetland hydrology must be present, 
unless disturbed or problematic 

 Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)  Depleted Dark Surface (F7)  
 Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)  

 

Restrictive Layer (if present):      
 Type:   Hydric Soil Present?      Yes  No X 
 Depth (inches):        
         

 

Remarks: 

 
HYDROLOGY 

Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 
Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)  Secondary Indicators (2 or more required) 

 Surface Water (A1)  
Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except 
MLRA 1, 2, 4A, and 4B)   

Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2, 
4A, and 4B) 

 High Water Table (A2)  Salt Crust (B11)   Drainage Patterns (B10) 
 Saturation (A3)  Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)   Dry-Season Water Table (C2) 
 Water Marks (B1)  Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)   Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) 

 Sediment Deposits (B2)  
Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living 
Roots (C3)   Geomorphic Position (D2) 

 Drift Deposits (B3)  Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)   Shallow Aquitard (D3) 

 Algal Mat or Crust (B4)  
Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled 
Soils (C6)   FAC-Neutral Test (D5) 

 Iron Deposits (B5)  
Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) 
(LRR A)   Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) 

 Surface Soil Cracks (B6)  Other (Explain in Remarks)   Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7) 
 Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)      
 Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)      
       

 

Field Observations:             
Surface Water Present? Yes  No  Depth (inches):        
Water Table Present? Yes  No  Depth (inches):   Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes  No X 
Saturation Present? 
(includes capillary fringe) Yes  No  Depth (inches):        
             

 

Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available: 

Remarks: 

 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 350 of 810



Appendix D: Soils Report 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 351 of 810



United States
Department of
Agriculture

A product of the National
Cooperative Soil Survey,
a joint effort of the United
States Department of
Agriculture and other
Federal agencies, State
agencies including the
Agricultural Experiment
Stations, and local
participants

Custom Soil Resource 
Report for
Skagit County 
Area, Washington
Parcel P39374, Sedro-Woolley 
WA

Natural
Resources
Conservation
Service

September 18, 2019Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 352 of 810

mhare
Polygonal Line

mhare
Text Box
P39374



Preface
Soil surveys contain information that affects land use planning in survey areas. 
They highlight soil limitations that affect various land uses and provide information 
about the properties of the soils in the survey areas. Soil surveys are designed for 
many different users, including farmers, ranchers, foresters, agronomists, urban 
planners, community officials, engineers, developers, builders, and home buyers. 
Also, conservationists, teachers, students, and specialists in recreation, waste 
disposal, and pollution control can use the surveys to help them understand, 
protect, or enhance the environment.

Various land use regulations of Federal, State, and local governments may impose 
special restrictions on land use or land treatment. Soil surveys identify soil 
properties that are used in making various land use or land treatment decisions. 
The information is intended to help the land users identify and reduce the effects of 
soil limitations on various land uses. The landowner or user is responsible for 
identifying and complying with existing laws and regulations.

Although soil survey information can be used for general farm, local, and wider area 
planning, onsite investigation is needed to supplement this information in some 
cases. Examples include soil quality assessments (http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/
portal/nrcs/main/soils/health/) and certain conservation and engineering 
applications. For more detailed information, contact your local USDA Service Center 
(https://offices.sc.egov.usda.gov/locator/app?agency=nrcs) or your NRCS State Soil 
Scientist (http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/contactus/?
cid=nrcs142p2_053951).

Great differences in soil properties can occur within short distances. Some soils are 
seasonally wet or subject to flooding. Some are too unstable to be used as a 
foundation for buildings or roads. Clayey or wet soils are poorly suited to use as 
septic tank absorption fields. A high water table makes a soil poorly suited to 
basements or underground installations.

The National Cooperative Soil Survey is a joint effort of the United States 
Department of Agriculture and other Federal agencies, State agencies including the 
Agricultural Experiment Stations, and local agencies. The Natural Resources 
Conservation Service (NRCS) has leadership for the Federal part of the National 
Cooperative Soil Survey.

Information about soils is updated periodically. Updated information is available 
through the NRCS Web Soil Survey, the site for official soil survey information.

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) prohibits discrimination in all its 
programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, disability, 
and where applicable, sex, marital status, familial status, parental status, religion, 
sexual orientation, genetic information, political beliefs, reprisal, or because all or a 
part of an individual's income is derived from any public assistance program. (Not 
all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require 

2
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 353 of 810



alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, 
audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA's TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice 
and TDD). To file a complaint of discrimination, write to USDA, Director, Office of 
Civil Rights, 1400 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20250-9410 or 
call (800) 795-3272 (voice) or (202) 720-6382 (TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity 
provider and employer.

3
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 354 of 810



Contents
Preface.................................................................................................................... 2
How Soil Surveys Are Made..................................................................................5
Soil Map.................................................................................................................. 8

Soil Map................................................................................................................9
Legend................................................................................................................10
Map Unit Legend................................................................................................ 11
Map Unit Descriptions.........................................................................................11

Skagit County Area, Washington.................................................................... 13
34—Cokedale silt loam............................................................................... 13
92—Minkler silt loam................................................................................... 14
100—Nargar loam, 0 to 8 percent slopes....................................................15
152—Urban land-Mt. Vernon-Field complex............................................... 16

References............................................................................................................18

4
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 355 of 810



How Soil Surveys Are Made
Soil surveys are made to provide information about the soils and miscellaneous 
areas in a specific area. They include a description of the soils and miscellaneous 
areas and their location on the landscape and tables that show soil properties and 
limitations affecting various uses. Soil scientists observed the steepness, length, 
and shape of the slopes; the general pattern of drainage; the kinds of crops and 
native plants; and the kinds of bedrock. They observed and described many soil 
profiles. A soil profile is the sequence of natural layers, or horizons, in a soil. The 
profile extends from the surface down into the unconsolidated material in which the 
soil formed or from the surface down to bedrock. The unconsolidated material is 
devoid of roots and other living organisms and has not been changed by other 
biological activity.

Currently, soils are mapped according to the boundaries of major land resource 
areas (MLRAs). MLRAs are geographically associated land resource units that 
share common characteristics related to physiography, geology, climate, water 
resources, soils, biological resources, and land uses (USDA, 2006). Soil survey 
areas typically consist of parts of one or more MLRA.

The soils and miscellaneous areas in a survey area occur in an orderly pattern that 
is related to the geology, landforms, relief, climate, and natural vegetation of the 
area. Each kind of soil and miscellaneous area is associated with a particular kind 
of landform or with a segment of the landform. By observing the soils and 
miscellaneous areas in the survey area and relating their position to specific 
segments of the landform, a soil scientist develops a concept, or model, of how they 
were formed. Thus, during mapping, this model enables the soil scientist to predict 
with a considerable degree of accuracy the kind of soil or miscellaneous area at a 
specific location on the landscape.

Commonly, individual soils on the landscape merge into one another as their 
characteristics gradually change. To construct an accurate soil map, however, soil 
scientists must determine the boundaries between the soils. They can observe only 
a limited number of soil profiles. Nevertheless, these observations, supplemented 
by an understanding of the soil-vegetation-landscape relationship, are sufficient to 
verify predictions of the kinds of soil in an area and to determine the boundaries.

Soil scientists recorded the characteristics of the soil profiles that they studied. They 
noted soil color, texture, size and shape of soil aggregates, kind and amount of rock 
fragments, distribution of plant roots, reaction, and other features that enable them 
to identify soils. After describing the soils in the survey area and determining their 
properties, the soil scientists assigned the soils to taxonomic classes (units). 
Taxonomic classes are concepts. Each taxonomic class has a set of soil 
characteristics with precisely defined limits. The classes are used as a basis for 
comparison to classify soils systematically. Soil taxonomy, the system of taxonomic 
classification used in the United States, is based mainly on the kind and character 
of soil properties and the arrangement of horizons within the profile. After the soil 

5
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 356 of 810



scientists classified and named the soils in the survey area, they compared the 
individual soils with similar soils in the same taxonomic class in other areas so that 
they could confirm data and assemble additional data based on experience and 
research.

The objective of soil mapping is not to delineate pure map unit components; the 
objective is to separate the landscape into landforms or landform segments that 
have similar use and management requirements. Each map unit is defined by a 
unique combination of soil components and/or miscellaneous areas in predictable 
proportions. Some components may be highly contrasting to the other components 
of the map unit. The presence of minor components in a map unit in no way 
diminishes the usefulness or accuracy of the data. The delineation of such 
landforms and landform segments on the map provides sufficient information for the 
development of resource plans. If intensive use of small areas is planned, onsite 
investigation is needed to define and locate the soils and miscellaneous areas.

Soil scientists make many field observations in the process of producing a soil map. 
The frequency of observation is dependent upon several factors, including scale of 
mapping, intensity of mapping, design of map units, complexity of the landscape, 
and experience of the soil scientist. Observations are made to test and refine the 
soil-landscape model and predictions and to verify the classification of the soils at 
specific locations. Once the soil-landscape model is refined, a significantly smaller 
number of measurements of individual soil properties are made and recorded. 
These measurements may include field measurements, such as those for color, 
depth to bedrock, and texture, and laboratory measurements, such as those for 
content of sand, silt, clay, salt, and other components. Properties of each soil 
typically vary from one point to another across the landscape.

Observations for map unit components are aggregated to develop ranges of 
characteristics for the components. The aggregated values are presented. Direct 
measurements do not exist for every property presented for every map unit 
component. Values for some properties are estimated from combinations of other 
properties.

While a soil survey is in progress, samples of some of the soils in the area generally 
are collected for laboratory analyses and for engineering tests. Soil scientists 
interpret the data from these analyses and tests as well as the field-observed 
characteristics and the soil properties to determine the expected behavior of the 
soils under different uses. Interpretations for all of the soils are field tested through 
observation of the soils in different uses and under different levels of management. 
Some interpretations are modified to fit local conditions, and some new 
interpretations are developed to meet local needs. Data are assembled from other 
sources, such as research information, production records, and field experience of 
specialists. For example, data on crop yields under defined levels of management 
are assembled from farm records and from field or plot experiments on the same 
kinds of soil.

Predictions about soil behavior are based not only on soil properties but also on 
such variables as climate and biological activity. Soil conditions are predictable over 
long periods of time, but they are not predictable from year to year. For example, 
soil scientists can predict with a fairly high degree of accuracy that a given soil will 
have a high water table within certain depths in most years, but they cannot predict 
that a high water table will always be at a specific level in the soil on a specific date.

After soil scientists located and identified the significant natural bodies of soil in the 
survey area, they drew the boundaries of these bodies on aerial photographs and 

Custom Soil Resource Report

6
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 357 of 810



identified each as a specific map unit. Aerial photographs show trees, buildings, 
fields, roads, and rivers, all of which help in locating boundaries accurately.

Custom Soil Resource Report

7
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 358 of 810



Soil Map
The soil map section includes the soil map for the defined area of interest, a list of 
soil map units on the map and extent of each map unit, and cartographic symbols 
displayed on the map. Also presented are various metadata about data used to 
produce the map, and a description of each soil map unit.

8
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 359 of 810



9

Custom Soil Resource Report
Soil Map

53
73

40
0

53
73

50
0

53
73

60
0

53
73

70
0

53
73

80
0

53
73

90
0

53
74

00
0

53
74

10
0

53
74

20
0

53
74

30
0

53
73

40
0

53
73

50
0

53
73

60
0

53
73

70
0

53
73

80
0

53
73

90
0

53
74

00
0

53
74

10
0

53
74

20
0

53
74

30
0

53
74

40
0

557500 557600 557700 557800 557900 558000 558100 558200

557500 557600 557700 557800 557900 558000 558100 558200

48°  31' 12'' N

12
2°

  1
3'
 1

9'
' W

48°  31' 12'' N

12
2°

  1
2'
 4

1'
' W

48°  30' 38'' N

12
2°

  1
3'
 1

9'
' W

48°  30' 38'' N

12
2°

  1
2'
 4

1'
' W

N

Map projection: Web Mercator   Corner coordinates: WGS84   Edge tics: UTM Zone 10N WGS84
0 200 400 800 1200

Feet
0 50 100 200 300

Meters
Map Scale: 1:5,060 if printed on A portrait (8.5" x 11") sheet.

Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 360 of 810



MAP LEGEND MAP INFORMATION

Area of Interest (AOI)
Area of Interest (AOI)

Soils
Soil Map Unit Polygons

Soil Map Unit Lines

Soil Map Unit Points

Special Point Features
Blowout

Borrow Pit

Clay Spot

Closed Depression

Gravel Pit

Gravelly Spot

Landfill

Lava Flow

Marsh or swamp

Mine or Quarry

Miscellaneous Water

Perennial Water

Rock Outcrop

Saline Spot

Sandy Spot

Severely Eroded Spot

Sinkhole

Slide or Slip

Sodic Spot

Spoil Area

Stony Spot

Very Stony Spot

Wet Spot

Other

Special Line Features

Water Features
Streams and Canals

Transportation
Rails

Interstate Highways

US Routes

Major Roads

Local Roads

Background
Aerial Photography

The soil surveys that comprise your AOI were mapped at 
1:24,000.

Warning: Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.

Enlargement of maps beyond the scale of mapping can cause 
misunderstanding of the detail of mapping and accuracy of soil 
line placement. The maps do not show the small areas of 
contrasting soils that could have been shown at a more detailed 
scale.

Please rely on the bar scale on each map sheet for map 
measurements.

Source of Map: Natural Resources Conservation Service
Web Soil Survey URL: 
Coordinate System: Web Mercator (EPSG:3857)

Maps from the Web Soil Survey are based on the Web Mercator 
projection, which preserves direction and shape but distorts 
distance and area. A projection that preserves area, such as the 
Albers equal-area conic projection, should be used if more 
accurate calculations of distance or area are required.

This product is generated from the USDA-NRCS certified data as 
of the version date(s) listed below.

Soil Survey Area: Skagit County Area, Washington
Survey Area Data: Version 18, Sep 10, 2018

Soil map units are labeled (as space allows) for map scales 
1:50,000 or larger.

Date(s) aerial images were photographed: Jul 9, 2010—Aug 28, 
2011

The orthophoto or other base map on which the soil lines were 
compiled and digitized probably differs from the background 
imagery displayed on these maps. As a result, some minor 
shifting of map unit boundaries may be evident.

Custom Soil Resource Report

10
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 361 of 810



Map Unit Legend

Map Unit Symbol Map Unit Name Acres in AOI Percent of AOI

34 Cokedale silt loam 4.3 3.7%

92 Minkler silt loam 5.3 4.5%

100 Nargar loam, 0 to 8 percent 
slopes

101.1 86.6%

152 Urban land-Mt. Vernon-Field 
complex

6.1 5.2%

Totals for Area of Interest 116.8 100.0%

Map Unit Descriptions
The map units delineated on the detailed soil maps in a soil survey represent the 
soils or miscellaneous areas in the survey area. The map unit descriptions, along 
with the maps, can be used to determine the composition and properties of a unit.

A map unit delineation on a soil map represents an area dominated by one or more 
major kinds of soil or miscellaneous areas. A map unit is identified and named 
according to the taxonomic classification of the dominant soils. Within a taxonomic 
class there are precisely defined limits for the properties of the soils. On the 
landscape, however, the soils are natural phenomena, and they have the 
characteristic variability of all natural phenomena. Thus, the range of some 
observed properties may extend beyond the limits defined for a taxonomic class. 
Areas of soils of a single taxonomic class rarely, if ever, can be mapped without 
including areas of other taxonomic classes. Consequently, every map unit is made 
up of the soils or miscellaneous areas for which it is named and some minor 
components that belong to taxonomic classes other than those of the major soils.

Most minor soils have properties similar to those of the dominant soil or soils in the 
map unit, and thus they do not affect use and management. These are called 
noncontrasting, or similar, components. They may or may not be mentioned in a 
particular map unit description. Other minor components, however, have properties 
and behavioral characteristics divergent enough to affect use or to require different 
management. These are called contrasting, or dissimilar, components. They 
generally are in small areas and could not be mapped separately because of the 
scale used. Some small areas of strongly contrasting soils or miscellaneous areas 
are identified by a special symbol on the maps. If included in the database for a 
given area, the contrasting minor components are identified in the map unit 
descriptions along with some characteristics of each. A few areas of minor 
components may not have been observed, and consequently they are not 
mentioned in the descriptions, especially where the pattern was so complex that it 
was impractical to make enough observations to identify all the soils and 
miscellaneous areas on the landscape.

The presence of minor components in a map unit in no way diminishes the 
usefulness or accuracy of the data. The objective of mapping is not to delineate 
pure taxonomic classes but rather to separate the landscape into landforms or 

Custom Soil Resource Report

11
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 362 of 810



landform segments that have similar use and management requirements. The 
delineation of such segments on the map provides sufficient information for the 
development of resource plans. If intensive use of small areas is planned, however, 
onsite investigation is needed to define and locate the soils and miscellaneous 
areas.

An identifying symbol precedes the map unit name in the map unit descriptions. 
Each description includes general facts about the unit and gives important soil 
properties and qualities.

Soils that have profiles that are almost alike make up a soil series. Except for 
differences in texture of the surface layer, all the soils of a series have major 
horizons that are similar in composition, thickness, and arrangement.

Soils of one series can differ in texture of the surface layer, slope, stoniness, 
salinity, degree of erosion, and other characteristics that affect their use. On the 
basis of such differences, a soil series is divided into soil phases. Most of the areas 
shown on the detailed soil maps are phases of soil series. The name of a soil phase 
commonly indicates a feature that affects use or management. For example, Alpha 
silt loam, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is a phase of the Alpha series.

Some map units are made up of two or more major soils or miscellaneous areas. 
These map units are complexes, associations, or undifferentiated groups.

A complex consists of two or more soils or miscellaneous areas in such an intricate 
pattern or in such small areas that they cannot be shown separately on the maps. 
The pattern and proportion of the soils or miscellaneous areas are somewhat similar 
in all areas. Alpha-Beta complex, 0 to 6 percent slopes, is an example.

An association is made up of two or more geographically associated soils or 
miscellaneous areas that are shown as one unit on the maps. Because of present 
or anticipated uses of the map units in the survey area, it was not considered 
practical or necessary to map the soils or miscellaneous areas separately. The 
pattern and relative proportion of the soils or miscellaneous areas are somewhat 
similar. Alpha-Beta association, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is an example.

An undifferentiated group is made up of two or more soils or miscellaneous areas 
that could be mapped individually but are mapped as one unit because similar 
interpretations can be made for use and management. The pattern and proportion 
of the soils or miscellaneous areas in a mapped area are not uniform. An area can 
be made up of only one of the major soils or miscellaneous areas, or it can be made 
up of all of them. Alpha and Beta soils, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is an example.

Some surveys include miscellaneous areas. Such areas have little or no soil 
material and support little or no vegetation. Rock outcrop is an example.

Custom Soil Resource Report

12
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 363 of 810



Skagit County Area, Washington

34—Cokedale silt loam

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 2hvj
Elevation: 120 to 1,200 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 45 to 80 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 48 to 52 degrees F
Frost-free period: 160 to 220 days
Farmland classification: Prime farmland if drained

Map Unit Composition
Cokedale and similar soils: 95 percent
Minor components: 5 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Cokedale

Setting
Landform: Flood plains
Parent material: Alluvium derived from phyllite

Typical profile
H1 - 0 to 4 inches: silt loam
H2 - 4 to 27 inches: silt loam
H3 - 27 to 45 inches: sand
H4 - 45 to 60 inches: stratified loamy sand to very channery loamy sand

Properties and qualities
Slope: 0 to 3 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: 20 to 40 inches to strongly contrasting textural 

stratification
Natural drainage class: Somewhat poorly drained
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately high to 

high (0.57 to 1.98 in/hr)
Depth to water table: About 6 to 24 inches
Frequency of flooding: Occasional
Frequency of ponding: None
Available water storage in profile: Low (about 5.1 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 4w
Hydrologic Soil Group: B/D
Forage suitability group: Seasonally Wet Soils (G002XN202WA)
Hydric soil rating: No

Minor Components

Sumas, undrained
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Landform: Tidal flats
Hydric soil rating: Yes

Custom Soil Resource Report

13
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 364 of 810



92—Minkler silt loam

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 2hxl
Elevation: 50 to 80 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 50 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 50 degrees F
Frost-free period: 190 days
Farmland classification: Prime farmland if drained

Map Unit Composition
Minkler and similar soils: 100 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Minkler

Setting
Landform: Terraces
Parent material: Alluvium andglaciolacustrine deposits

Typical profile
H1 - 0 to 12 inches: medial silt loam
H2 - 12 to 15 inches: medial silt loam
H3 - 15 to 60 inches: stratified fine sand to very fine sandy loam

Properties and qualities
Slope: 0 to 3 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Natural drainage class: Moderately well drained
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately high to 

high (0.57 to 1.98 in/hr)
Depth to water table: About 6 to 30 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Available water storage in profile: High (about 10.6 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 5w
Hydrologic Soil Group: B/D
Forage suitability group: Wet Soils (G002XN102WA)
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

14
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 365 of 810



100—Nargar loam, 0 to 8 percent slopes

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 2hrl
Elevation: 400 to 1,100 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 50 to 75 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 46 to 50 degrees F
Frost-free period: 120 to 200 days
Farmland classification: All areas are prime farmland

Map Unit Composition
Nargar and similar soils: 100 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Nargar

Setting
Landform: Terraces
Parent material: Alluvium, loess, volcanic ash

Typical profile
H1 - 0 to 3 inches: loam
H2 - 3 to 33 inches: loam
H3 - 33 to 60 inches: sand

Properties and qualities
Slope: 0 to 8 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: 20 to 40 inches to strongly contrasting textural 

stratification
Natural drainage class: Well drained
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately high to 

high (0.57 to 1.98 in/hr)
Depth to water table: More than 80 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Available water storage in profile: Moderate (about 6.9 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 2e
Hydrologic Soil Group: B
Forage suitability group: Soils with Few Limitations (G002XN502WA)
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

15
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 366 of 810



152—Urban land-Mt. Vernon-Field complex

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 2htf
Elevation: 10 to 50 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 32 to 40 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 50 degrees F
Frost-free period: 160 to 210 days
Farmland classification: Not prime farmland

Map Unit Composition
Urban land: 40 percent
Mt. vernon and similar soils: 30 percent
Field and similar soils: 20 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Urban Land

Typical profile
H1 - 0 to 6 inches: variable

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 8s
Hydric soil rating: No

Description of Mt. Vernon

Setting
Landform: Natural levees, flood plains
Parent material: Alluvium and volcanic ash

Typical profile
H1 - 0 to 10 inches: ashy very fine sandy loam
H2 - 10 to 29 inches: stratified ashy sand to very fine sandy loam
H3 - 29 to 60 inches: stratified fine sand to silt loam

Properties and qualities
Slope: 0 to 3 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Natural drainage class: Moderately well drained
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately high to 

high (0.57 to 1.98 in/hr)
Depth to water table: About 24 to 48 inches
Frequency of flooding: Occasional
Frequency of ponding: None
Available water storage in profile: High (about 10.2 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): 3w
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 3w
Hydrologic Soil Group: C

Custom Soil Resource Report

16
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 367 of 810



Forage suitability group: Soils with Few Limitations (G002XN502WA)
Hydric soil rating: No

Description of Field

Setting
Landform: Flood plains, natural levees
Parent material: Alluvium and volcanic ash

Typical profile
H1 - 0 to 13 inches: silt loam
H2 - 13 to 21 inches: silt loam
H3 - 21 to 40 inches: stratified sand to loamy fine sand
H4 - 40 to 60 inches: stratified sand to very fine sandy loam

Properties and qualities
Slope: 0 to 3 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Natural drainage class: Moderately well drained
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately high to 

high (0.57 to 1.98 in/hr)
Depth to water table: About 24 to 60 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Available water storage in profile: High (about 10.2 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 3w
Hydrologic Soil Group: B
Forage suitability group: Seasonally Wet Soils (G002XN202WA)
Hydric soil rating: No

Minor Components

Mt. vernon
Percent of map unit: 
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

17
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 368 of 810



References
American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). 
2004. Standard specifications for transportation materials and methods of sampling 
and testing. 24th edition.

American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM). 2005. Standard classification of 
soils for engineering purposes. ASTM Standard D2487-00.

Cowardin, L.M., V. Carter, F.C. Golet, and E.T. LaRoe. 1979. Classification of 
wetlands and deep-water habitats of the United States. U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service FWS/OBS-79/31.

Federal Register. July 13, 1994. Changes in hydric soils of the United States.

Federal Register. September 18, 2002. Hydric soils of the United States.

Hurt, G.W., and L.M. Vasilas, editors. Version 6.0, 2006. Field indicators of hydric 
soils in the United States.

National Research Council. 1995. Wetlands: Characteristics and boundaries.

Soil Survey Division Staff. 1993. Soil survey manual. Soil Conservation Service. 
U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 18. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/
nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_054262 

Soil Survey Staff. 1999. Soil taxonomy: A basic system of soil classification for 
making and interpreting soil surveys. 2nd edition. Natural Resources Conservation 
Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 436. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053577 

Soil Survey Staff. 2010. Keys to soil taxonomy. 11th edition. U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053580 

Tiner, R.W., Jr. 1985. Wetlands of Delaware. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and 
Delaware Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control, Wetlands 
Section.

United States Army Corps of Engineers, Environmental Laboratory. 1987. Corps of 
Engineers wetlands delineation manual. Waterways Experiment Station Technical 
Report Y-87-1.

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National forestry manual. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/
home/?cid=nrcs142p2_053374 

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National range and pasture handbook. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/
detail/national/landuse/rangepasture/?cid=stelprdb1043084 

18
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 369 of 810



United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National soil survey handbook, title 430-VI. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/
nrcs/detail/soils/scientists/?cid=nrcs142p2_054242 

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
2006. Land resource regions and major land resource areas of the United States, 
the Caribbean, and the Pacific Basin. U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 
296. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?
cid=nrcs142p2_053624 

United States Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service. 1961. Land 
capability classification. U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 210. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_052290.pdf 

Custom Soil Resource Report

19
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 370 of 810



  GTC #19-229 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Gibson Traffic Consultants 
2813 Rockefeller Avenue 
Suite B 
Everett, WA 98201 
425.339.8266 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

McGarigle Development 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 
 Jurisdiction: City of Sedro Woolley 

 
September 2019 

 
 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 371 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit NTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com i GTC #19-229 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
1. INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................... 1 
2. METHODOLOGY .................................................................................................................. 1 
3. TRIP GENERATION AND DISTRIBUTION ....................................................................... 4 

3.1 Trip Generation Calculations ........................................................................................... 4 
3.2 Trip Distribution ............................................................................................................... 5 

4. WEEKDAY PM PEAK-HOUR ANALYSIS ......................................................................... 8 
4.1 Turning Movement Calculations ...................................................................................... 8 
4.2 LOS Analysis ................................................................................................................. 13 

5. COLLISION DATA .............................................................................................................. 13 
6. ACCESS ANALYSIS ........................................................................................................... 14 
7. TRAFFIC MITIGATION FEES ........................................................................................... 14 
8. CONCLUSIONS ................................................................................................................... 15 
 

LIST OF FIGURES 
 

Figure 1:  Site Vicinity Map ........................................................................................................... 2 
Figure 2: Age-Restricted PM Peak-Hour Trip Distribution ........................................................... 6 
Figure 3: Unrestricted PM Peak-Hour Trip Distribution ................................................................ 7 
Figure 4: 2019 Existing Turning Movement Volumes ................................................................. 10 
Figure 5: 2025 Baseline Turning Movement Volumes................................................................. 11 
Figure 6: 2025 Future with Development Turning Movement Volumes ..................................... 12 

  
LIST OF TABLES 

 
Table 1: Level of Service Criteria for Intersections ........................................................................ 3 
Table 2: ITE Land Use Codes ......................................................................................................... 4 
Table 3: Trip Generation Summary – Age-Restricted Scenario ..................................................... 4 
Table 4: Trip Generation Summary – Unrestricted Scenario ......................................................... 4 
Table 5: Intersection LOS Summary – PM Peak-Hour ................................................................ 13 
Table 6: 5-Year Collision Rate Calculation .................................................................................. 14 

 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 372 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com ii GTC #19-229 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
Trip Generation Calculations ......................................................................................................... A 
Turning Movement Counts ............................................................................................................. B 
2025 Turning Movement Calculations ........................................................................................... C 
Level of Service Calculations ........................................................................................................ D 
Collision Data ................................................................................................................................. E 
Pipeline Projects .............................................................................................................................. F 
Channelization Warrants ................................................................................................................ G 
Sedro Woolley Six-Year TIP ......................................................................................................... H 
Sedro Woolley Traffic Impact Fee Documents ............................................................................... I 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 373 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 1 GTC #19-229 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. (GTC) has been retained to provide an analysis of the impacts of 
the McGarigle development in the City of Sedro Woolley. The development is proposed to consist 
of 85 residential units. The McGarigle development is located on the south side of McGarigle 
Road, east of Carter Street. The development is proposed to have one access to McGarigle Road 
opposite of the existing Independence Boulevard/McGarigle Road intersection. A site vicinity map 
is included in Figure 1. 
 
Zach Wieben, responsible for this report, is a licensed professional engineer (Civil) in the State of 
Washington and member of the Washington State section of the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE). 
 

2. METHODOLOGY 
 
Scoping discussions with the City of Sedro Woolley staff identified two off-site intersections to 
be analyzed. The proposed site access to McGarigle Road was also analyzed for level of service 
and channelization warrants under the future with development conditions. The three intersections 
analyzed during the PM peak-hour in this report are listed below.  
 

1. SR-9 at John Liner Road/McGarigle Road  
2. McGarigle Road at Independence Boulevard/Site Access 
3. McGarigle Road at Fruitdale Road 

 
The 85 residential units within the McGarigle Development may be age-restricted units for seniors 
55 years and older; however, that determination has yet to be made. Intersection analysis for the 
off-site intersections and the site access were analyzed with no age restrictions for the development 
(i.e. a higher vehicle trip generation) to perform a conservative level of service analysis. Trip 
generation and traffic mitigation fee calculations for both the age-restricted and unrestricted 
development scenarios are included in the report.    
 
Intersections were analyzed during the 4-6 PM typical afternoon commuter peak period. The 
existing count data at the study intersections is based on data collected by the independent count 
firm Traffic Data Gathering (TDG), collected in 2019. The trip generation calculations were 
performed using data from the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation 
Manual, 10th Edition (2017). The intersection analysis has been performed using existing 
channelization, phasing, intersection peak-hour factors, and intersection heavy vehicle factors 
from the existing turning movement counts. The intersection level of service has been reported for 
each study intersection. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 374 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

SI
TE

 V
IC

IN
IT

Y
MA

P

FI
GU

RE
 1

LE
GE

ND

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

SI
TE

ST
UD

Y 
IN

TE
RS

EC
TI

ON

#1

#3

#X

#2

FU
TU

RE
 R

OA
D

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 375 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 3 GTC #19-229 

The peak-hour level of service (LOS) analysis calculations were completed using the Synchro 
10.2, Build 0 software for signalized and unsignalized intersections. This software applies the 
operational analysis methodology of the Highway Capacity Manual 6th Edition (HCM). Traffic 
congestion is generally measured in terms of level of service. In accordance with the HCM 6th 
Edition, road facilities and intersections are rated between LOS A and LOS F, with LOS A being 
free flow and LOS F being forced flow or over-capacity conditions. Analysis of the roundabouts 
was performed using Sidra Intersection 8.0 software. It is important to note that the volumes 
included in the Sidra results printouts account for the peak-hour factor, the volumes in the printouts 
are not the input volumes. The results for the roundabout analysis have been evaluated based on 
volume-to-capacity (v/c) ratio and the level of service. WSDOT evaluates roundabouts on a 
pass/fail basis, with a v/c ratio of 0.92 on any approach being the threshold. The level of service 
criteria is summarized in Table 1. The level of service at two-way stop-controlled intersections is 
based on the average delay of the worst approach.  The level of service at signalized and all-way 
stop-controlled intersections is based on the average delay for all approaches. Geometric 
characteristics and conflicting traffic movements are taken into consideration when determining 
level of service values.  
 

Table 1: Level of Service Criteria for Intersections 
 

Level of 1 
Service 

Expected 
Delay 

Intersection Control Delay 
(Seconds per Vehicle) 

Unsignalized 
Intersections 

Signalized 
Intersections 

A Little/No Delay <10 <10 
B Short Delays >10 and <15 >10 and <20 
C Average Delays >15 and <25 >20 and <35 
D Long Delays >25 and <35 >35 and <55 
E Very Long Delays >35 and <50 >55 and <80 
F Extreme Delays2 >50 >80 

 
The City of Sedro Woolley’s level of service standard for SR-20, SR-9, and principal arterials is 
LOS D. The City of Sedro Woolley’s level of service standard for minor arterials and major 
collectors is LOS C. 

 
1 Source:  Highway Capacity Manual 6th Edition. 
 LOS A: Free-flow traffic conditions, with minimal delay to stopped vehicles (no vehicle is delayed longer 

than one cycle at signalized intersection). 
 LOS B: Generally stable traffic flow conditions. 

LOS C: Occasional back-ups may develop, but delay to vehicles is short term and still tolerable. 
LOS D: During short periods of the peak hour, delays to approaching vehicles may be substantial but are 

tolerable during times of less demand (i.e. vehicles delayed one cycle or less at signal). 
LOS E: Intersections operate at or near capacity, with long queues developing on all approaches and long 

delays. 
LOS F: Jammed conditions on all approaches with excessively long delays and vehicles unable to move at 

times. 
2 When demand volume exceeds the capacity of the lane, extreme delays will be encountered with queuing which may 

cause severe congestion affecting other traffic movements in the intersection. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 376 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 4 GTC #19-229 

3. TRIP GENERATION AND DISTRIBUTION 
3.1 Trip Generation Calculations 

 

The McGarigle development is proposed to consist of 85 residential units. The development is 
proposed to consist of 51 detached units and 34 attached townhome units. The development could 
be age-restricted for seniors 55 years and older or it could have no age restrictions. The ITE Land 
Use Codes (LUC) for the attached and detached units for both the age-restricted and unrestricted 
scenarios are shown in Table 2. 
 

Table 2: ITE Land Use Codes 
 

Unit Type Number of Units ITE Land Use Code 
Age-Restricted (55+ Years) Unrestricted 

Detached 51 ITE LUC 251 
Senior Housing Detached 

ITE LUC 210 
Single-Family Detached 

Attached 34 ITE LUC 252 
Senior Housing Attached 

ITE LUC 220 
Multifamily Low-Rise 

 
Trip generation calculations for the age-restricted scenario are summarized in Table 3. 
 

Table 3: Trip Generation Summary – Age-Restricted Scenario 
 

Land Use # Units ADT AM Peak-Hour PM Peak-Hour 
In Out Total In Out Total 

LUC 251, 
Senior Housing, Detached 51 218 4 8 12 9 6 15 

LUC 252, 
Senior Housing, Attached 34 126 2 5 7 5 4 9 

TOTAL 344 6 13 19 14 10 24 

 
Trip generation calculations for the unrestricted scenario are summarized in Table 4. 
 

Table 4: Trip Generation Summary – Unrestricted Scenario 
 

Land Use # Units ADT AM Peak-Hour PM Peak-Hour 
In Out Total In Out Total 

LUC 210, 
Single-Family, Detached 51 481 9 28 37 32 19 51 

LUC 220, 
Multifamily (Low-Rise) 34 249 4 12 16 12 7 19 

TOTAL 730 13 40 53 44 26 70 

 
As an age-restricted development, the McGarigle development would generate approximately 344 
average daily trips, 19 AM peak-hour trips, and 24 PM peak-hour trips. As an unrestricted 
development, the McGarigle development would generate approximately 730 average daily trips, 
53 AM peak-hour trips, and 70 PM peak-hour trips. Detailed trip generation calculations for each 
of the development scenarios are included in the attachments. 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 377 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 5 GTC #19-229 

3.2 Trip Distribution 
 
It is estimated that 72% of the development’s trips will travel along SR-20, sixty percent to and 
from the west and twelve percent to and from the east. Approximately 12% of the development’s 
trips are expected to travel along Township Street, five percent to and from the south and seven 
percent to and from the north. An additional 11% of the trips from the development are expected 
to travel to local destinations along Township Street between John Liner Road/McGarigle Road 
and Wicker Road. The remaining 5% of the trips from the development are anticipated to travel 
along John Liner Road. Detailed trip distributions for the age-restricted and unrestricted PM peak-
hour are included in Figure 2 and Figure 3, respectively. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 378 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

LE
GE

ND

XX

PE
AK

PM
NE

W
 S

IT
E 

TR
AF

FI
C

(D
AI

LY
/P

EA
K 

HO
UR

)

TR
IP

 D
IS

TR
IB

UT
IO

N 
%

FI
GU

RE
 2

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

TR
IP

DI
ST

RI
BU

TI
ON

PM
 P

EA
K-

HO
UR

AG
E-

RE
ST

RI
CT

ED
 U

NI
TS

AW
DT

1

24

7
1

12
42

2

1

6

21 1

1

5

17 0

1

5
17

1

0

5

171

0
LO

CA
L

LO
CA

L

LO
CA

L

10 34
1

1

2

52

15
2

1

17

5
0

35
12
0

3

5

60 20
6

6
8

2

42

12
1

10

34

1 1

5 17
1

0

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 379 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

LE
GE

ND

XX

PE
AK

PM
NE

W
 S

IT
E 

TR
AF

FI
C

(D
AI

LY
/P

EA
K 

HO
UR

)

TR
IP

 D
IS

TR
IB

UT
IO

N 
%

FI
GU

RE
 3

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

TR
IP

DI
ST

RI
BU

TI
ON

PM
 P

EA
K-

HO
UR

UN
RE

ST
RI

CT
ED

 U
NI

TS

AW
DT

2

51

7
3

12
88

7

4

6

44 1

2

5

36 1

2

5
36

1

2

5

362

1
LO

CA
L

LO
CA

L

LO
CA

L

10 73
3

4

7

110

15
4

2

36

5
1

35
25
6

9

15

60 43
9

16
26

7

88

12
4

10

73

4 3

5 36
1

2

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 380 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 8 GTC #19-229 

4. WEEKDAY PM PEAK-HOUR ANALYSIS 
 
The scope of the level of service analysis performed as part of this report is based on scoping 
discussions between GTC staff and City of Sedro Woolley staff. Level of service at the following 
intersections has been analyzed for the weekday PM peak-hour: 
 

1. SR-9 at John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd  
2. McGarigle Road at Independence Blvd/Site Access 
3. McGarigle Road at Fruitdale Road 

 
Level of Service for each of the study intersections was performed for the following scenarios: 
 

 2019 Existing Conditions 
 2025 Baseline Conditions 
 2025 Future Conditions with Development 

 
The level of service analysis was performed using development trips from the unrestricted scenario 
which has the higher expected trip generation of the two scenarios (age restricted vs. unrestricted). 
Using the higher of the two trip generation scenarios results in a conservative (higher average 
vehicle delay) level of service analysis for potential mitigation.  
 

4.1 Turning Movement Calculations 
 
The 2019 existing turning movements at the study intersections are based on data collected by the 
independent traffic count firm Traffic Data Gathering. The 2019 existing volumes at the study 
intersections are shown in Figure 4.  
 
The 2025 baseline volumes were calculated by applying a 2% annually compounding growth rate 
to the existing volumes as well as pipeline trips from the Northern State Campus Planned Action 
and diverting trips from the John Liner Road Corridor Project. Traffic volumes at the study 
intersections for the “High Intensity Site Development” were added from a draft version of the 
Northern State Campus Planned Action EIS completed in 2015 by TSI, Inc. City of Sedro Woolley 
staff were not able to provide a final analysis and therefore inclusion of trips from the Northern 
State Campus Planned Action should be considered conservative and preliminary.  
 
Improvement projects identified in the City of Sedro Woolley’s 2019-2024 TIP will construct 
roadway improvements creating a continuous arterial on John Liner Road/Jones Road from 
Township Street/SR-9 to F&S Grade Road. This new arterial will provide an alternative parallel 
route to SR-20 to help reduce congestion. Construction of intersection improvements at Township 
Street/SR-9 and John Liner Rd/McGarigle Road by WSDOT and the City of Sedro Woolley are 
expected to be complete in 2025 based on the City’s 2019 TIP. A report completed by TSI, Inc. 
for the City of Sedro Woolley in January 2019 identified the preferred intersection improvement 
to be a single-lane roundabout at this location. The TSI report identified approximately 255 
additional eastbound trips in the forecast year 2036 on John Liner Road west of Township 
Street/SR-9 as a result of the arterial and intersection improvements. These additional trips were 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 381 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 9 GTC #19-229 

added to the 2025 background growth forecast for the McGarigle development analysis based on 
the 2036 eastbound turning movement splits in the TSI analysis. By including the additional 
growth expected on John Liner Road by the year 2036 in the 2025 forecast, the intersection 
volumes for the SR-9 and John Liner Road/McGarigle Road intersection should be considered 
conservatively high. The background improvement projects included in the 2025 future baseline 
analysis are either funded or included in the City of Sedro Woolley’s Traffic Impact Fee (TIF) cost 
basis. The 2025 future baseline volumes are shown in Figure 5.  
 
The 2025 future with development turning movement volumes were calculated by adding the 
unrestricted development trips to the 2025 baseline volumes. The 2025 future with development 
volumes are shown in Figure 6. 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 382 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

#1
SR

-9
/T

OW
NS

HI
P 

ST
@

 M
cG

AR
IG

LE
 R

D
#2

Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
RD

@
 IN

DE
PE

N.
 B

LV
D

#3
Mc

GA
RI

GL
E 

RD
@

 F
RU

IT
DA

LE
 R

D

#3

#2

#1

LE
GE

ND

PE
AK

 H
OU

R
TU

RN
IN

G 
MO

VE
ME

NT
 V

OL
UM

ES
XX

EX
IS

TI
NG

TU
RN

IN
G 

MO
VE

ME
NT

S
PM

 P
EA

K-
HO

UR

FI
GU

RE
 4

16
239
6

20 8 64

66
329
8

6 12 10

0
42

0

0
0
0

0
213

0
0
1

10
115

16
98

22 16

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 383 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

#1
SR

-9
/T

OW
NS

HI
P 

ST
@

 M
cG

AR
IG

LE
 R

D
#2

Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
RD

@
 IN

DE
PE

N.
 B

LV
D

#3
Mc

GA
RI

GL
E 

RD
@

 F
RU

IT
DA

LE
 R

D

#3

#2

#1

LE
GE

ND

PE
AK

 H
OU

R
TU

RN
IN

G 
MO

VE
ME

NT
 V

OL
UM

ES
XX

20
25

 B
AS

EL
IN

E
TU

RN
IN

G 
MO

VE
ME

NT
S

PM
 P

EA
K-

HO
UR

FI
GU

RE
 5

18
269
7

23 19 95

74
371
9

15
2 45 97

30
366

18
213

36 18

0
62

2

0
0
0

0
333

1
0
1

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 384 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

#1
SR

-9
/T

OW
NS

HI
P 

ST
@

 M
cG

AR
IG

LE
 R

D
#2

Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
RD

@
 IN

DE
PE

N.
 B

LV
D

#3
Mc

GA
RI

GL
E 

RD
@

 F
RU

IT
DA

LE
 R

D

#3

#2

#1

LE
GE

ND

PE
AK

 H
OU

R
TU

RN
IN

G 
MO

VE
ME

NT
 V

OL
UM

ES
XX

20
25

 F
UT

UR
E 

W
/ D

EV
.

TU
RN

IN
G 

MO
VE

ME
NT

S
PM

 P
EA

K-
HO

UR

FI
GU

RE
 6

7
62

2

4
0
22

37
333

1
0
1

21
269
7

25 20 11
0

100
371
9

15
2 47 97

30
366

25
213

36 22

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 385 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 13 GTC #19-229 

4.2 LOS Analysis 
 
The McGarigle development is anticipated to be constructed and occupied by the year 2025. The 
level of service (LOS) analysis was conducted assuming the development would not have age 
restricted residential units (unrestricted), which represents the higher of the development’s two trip 
generation scenarios. The 2019 existing, 2025 baseline and 2025 future with development level of 
service as well as the critical approaches are shown in Table 5. 
 

Table 5: Intersection LOS Summary – PM Peak-Hour 
 

Intersection 

2019 Existing 
Conditions 

2025 Baseline 
Conditions 

2025 Future 
with Development 

Conditions 

LOS Delay Critical 
Approach LOS Delay Critical 

Approach LOS Delay Critical 
Approach 

1. SR-9/Township St @ 
John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd C 20.5 sec Westbound F 65.5 sec Eastbound3 F 78.0 sec Eastbound 

Single-Lane Roundabout - - - A 6.9 sec Northbound 
(0.42 v/c) A 7.0 sec Northbound 

(0.45 v/c) 
2. McGarigle Rd @ 

Independence Blvd/Access A 8.6 sec Eastbound A 9.1 sec Eastbound A 9.8 sec Westbound 

3. McGarigle Rd @ 
Fruitdale Road B 10 sec Eastbound B 14.3 sec Eastbound B 14.4 sec Eastbound 

 
All study intersections are expected to operate at acceptable levels of service in the 2025 forecast 
year with planned improvement projects and with the higher trip generation scenario assumed for 
development trips. Additionally, the single-lane roundabout improvement is expected to operate 
acceptably at a volume-to-capacity (v/c) ratio below WSDOT’s 0.92 threshold. No additional 
mitigation should therefore be required. 
 

5. COLLISION DATA 
 
WSDOT collision data from the five most recent years of collision data (2014-2018) was reviewed 
at the study intersections. The collision data is summarized in Table 6. 
 
  

 
3 Includes additional eastbound volume from arterial improvements but no intersection improvements 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 386 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 14 GTC #19-229 

Table 6: 5-Year Collision Rate Calculation 
 

Intersection 
PM Peak-Hour 

Intersection 
Vol. 

K-Factor Total 
Collisions 

Collision 
Rate4 

Collision 
Frequency5 

SR-9/Township St @ 
John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd 804 10 4 0.27 0.80 

McGarigle Rd @ 
Independence Blvd/Access 67 10 0 0.00 0.00 

McGarigle Rd @ 
Fruitdale Road 277 10 0 0.00 0.00 

 
Reported collisions only occurred at the intersection of SR-9/Township Street and John Liner 
Rd/McGarigle Rd. A total of four reported collisions occurred at the intersection over the five-year 
timeline which results in a collision frequency of 0.8 collisions per year. The existing PM peak-
hour total intersection volume corresponds to a 5-year collision rate of 0.27 collisions per million 
entering vehicles. Both the collision frequency and collision rate are below the usual thresholds (5 
collisions per year, 1.0 collisions per MEV) for unsignalized intersections where additional safety 
analysis may be advisable. As a result, there are no further safety recommendations at this time. 
 

6. ACCESS ANALYSIS 
 
The development’s access to McGarigle Road will be located directly across from Independence 
Boulevard. McGarigle Road is a two-lane road with a 25-mph posted speed limit. There were no 
reported collisions along the development site’s frontage.  
 
Channelization warrants for left and right-turn channelization were performed based on warrants 
in WSDOT’s 2018 Design Manual. No additional channelization is warranted for the McGarigle 
development access while assuming the higher unrestricted trip generation volumes. 
Channelization warrants are included in the attachments. 
 

7. TRAFFIC MITIGATION FEES 
 
The City of Sedro Woolley assesses traffic impact fees per PM peak-hour trip. The City’s current 
fee per PM peak-hour trip for development’s outside the CBD area is $2,407. The McGarigle 
development could have an age-restriction on its units for seniors 55 years and older, or the units 
could be unrestricted. These two scenarios result in a different trip generation calculation for the 
development and therefore would have different corresponding traffic impact fees. The age-
restricted scenario is expected to generate 24 PM peak-hour trips and would have a corresponding 
traffic impact fee of $57,768, equivalent to $679.62 per unit. The unrestricted scenario is expected 
to generate 70 PM peak-hour trips and would have a corresponding traffic impact fee of $168,490, 
equivalent to $1,982.24 per unit. The development would pay its proportional share of 

 
4 The collision rate is based on Million Entering Vehicles. 
5 Collisions per year 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 387 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 15 GTC #19-229 

improvement projects identified in the level of service analysis by paying the City’s standard 
traffic impact fees because the projects are included in the fee’s cost basis. 
 

8. CONCLUSIONS 
 
The McGarigle development is an 85-unit residential development that could either be age-
restricted for seniors 55 years and older or could have no age restrictions. As an age-restricted 
development, the McGarigle development would generate approximately 344 average daily trips, 
19 AM peak-hour trips, and 24 PM peak-hour trips. As an unrestricted development, the 
McGarigle development would generate approximately 730 average daily trips, 53 AM peak-hour 
trips, and 70 PM peak-hour trips. All the intersections analyzed would operate within acceptable 
level of service standards and the approaches would operate with acceptable delays in 2025 with 
planned roadway improvements by the City of Sedro Woolley. The development’s access would 
not warrant any additional left or right-turn channelization. 
 
City of Sedro Woolley traffic impact fees would differ depending on whether or not an age 
restriction was put in place for the units. An age-restricted community would have a proportional 
traffic impact fee of $57,768, equivalent to $679.62 per unit for the 85 total units. An unrestricted 
community would have a proportional traffic impact fee of $168,490, equivalent to $1,982.24 per 
unit for the 85 total units. Payment of the City’s traffic impact fee should be considered the 
development’s proportionate share contribution towards the cost of planned improvement projects 
because the projects are included in the City’s fee cost basis. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 388 of 810



 

  A 

 

Trip Generation Calculations  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 389 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

(a
.k

.a
.):

  
Av

er
ag

e 
W

ee
kd

ay
 D

ai
ly

 T
rip

s 
(A

W
D

T)

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Se
ni

or
 H

ou
si

ng
 D

et
ac

he
d

51
 u

ni
ts

25
1

4.
27

50
%

50
%

21
7.

77
0%

0.
00

21
7.

77
0%

0.
00

21
7.

77
0.

00
0.

00
10

8.
89

10
8.

88
Se

ni
or

 H
ou

si
ng

 A
tta

ch
ed

34
 u

ni
ts

25
2

3.
70

50
%

50
%

12
5.

80
0%

0.
00

12
5.

80
0%

0.
00

12
5.

80
0.

00
0.

00
62

.9
0

62
.9

0
34

3.
57

0.
00

34
3.

57
0.

00
34

3.
57

0.
00

0.
00

17
1.

79
17

1.
78

To
ta

l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 390 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

, P
ea

k 
H

ou
r o

f A
dj

ac
en

t S
tr

ee
t T

ra
ffi

c,
 O

ne
 H

ou
r b

et
w

ee
n 

7 
an

d 
9 

AM
(a

.k
.a

.):
  

W
ee

kd
ay

 A
M

 P
ea

k 
H

ou
r

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Se
ni

or
 H

ou
si

ng
 D

et
ac

he
d

51
 u

ni
ts

25
1

0.
24

33
%

67
%

12
.2

4
0%

0.
00

12
.2

4
0%

0.
00

12
.2

4
0.

00
0.

00
4.

04
8.

20
Se

ni
or

 H
ou

si
ng

 A
tta

ch
ed

34
 u

ni
ts

25
2

0.
20

35
%

65
%

6.
80

0%
0.

00
6.

80
0%

0.
00

6.
80

0.
00

0.
00

2.
38

4.
42

19
.0

4
0.

00
19

.0
4

0.
00

19
.0

4
0.

00
0.

00
6.

42
12

.6
2

To
ta

l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 391 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

, P
ea

k 
H

ou
r o

f A
dj

ac
en

t S
tr

ee
t T

ra
ffi

c,
 O

ne
 H

ou
r b

et
w

ee
n 

4 
an

d 
6 

PM
(a

.k
.a

.):
  

W
ee

kd
ay

 P
M

 P
ea

k 
H

ou
r

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Se
ni

or
 H

ou
si

ng
 D

et
ac

he
d

51
 u

ni
ts

25
1

0.
30

61
%

39
%

15
.3

0
0%

0.
00

15
.3

0
0%

0.
00

15
.3

0
0.

00
0.

00
9.

33
5.

97
Se

ni
or

 H
ou

si
ng

 A
tta

ch
ed

34
 u

ni
ts

25
2

0.
26

55
%

45
%

8.
84

0%
0.

00
8.

84
0%

0.
00

8.
84

0.
00

0.
00

4.
86

3.
98

24
.1

4
0.

00
24

.1
4

0.
00

24
.1

4
0.

00
0.

00
14

.1
9

9.
95

To
ta

l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 392 of 810



McGarigle Development
GTC #19-229

New New AM Peak Hour Trips New New AM Peak Hour Trips
ADT In Out Total ADT In Out Total

100% 344 6 13 19 100% 344 6 13 19
1% 3.44 0.06 0.13 0.19 51% 175.22 3.27 6.44 9.71
2% 6.87 0.13 0.25 0.38 52% 178.66 3.34 6.56 9.90
3% 10.31 0.19 0.38 0.57 53% 182.09 3.40 6.69 10.09
4% 13.74 0.26 0.50 0.76 54% 185.53 3.47 6.81 10.28
5% 17.18 0.32 0.63 0.95 55% 188.96 3.53 6.94 10.47
6% 20.61 0.39 0.76 1.14 56% 192.40 3.60 7.07 10.66
7% 24.05 0.45 0.88 1.33 57% 195.83 3.66 7.19 10.85
8% 27.49 0.51 1.01 1.52 58% 199.27 3.72 7.32 11.04
9% 30.92 0.58 1.14 1.71 59% 202.71 3.79 7.45 11.23

10% 34.36 0.64 1.26 1.90 60% 206.14 3.85 7.57 11.42
11% 37.79 0.71 1.39 2.09 61% 209.58 3.92 7.70 11.61
12% 41.23 0.77 1.51 2.28 62% 213.01 3.98 7.82 11.80
13% 44.66 0.83 1.64 2.48 63% 216.45 4.04 7.95 12.00
14% 48.10 0.90 1.77 2.67 64% 219.88 4.11 8.08 12.19
15% 51.54 0.96 1.89 2.86 65% 223.32 4.17 8.20 12.38
16% 54.97 1.03 2.02 3.05 66% 226.76 4.24 8.33 12.57
17% 58.41 1.09 2.15 3.24 67% 230.19 4.30 8.46 12.76
18% 61.84 1.16 2.27 3.43 68% 233.63 4.37 8.58 12.95
19% 65.28 1.22 2.40 3.62 69% 237.06 4.43 8.71 13.14
20% 68.71 1.28 2.52 3.81 70% 240.50 4.49 8.83 13.33
21% 72.15 1.35 2.65 4.00 71% 243.93 4.56 8.96 13.52
22% 75.59 1.41 2.78 4.19 72% 247.37 4.62 9.09 13.71
23% 79.02 1.48 2.90 4.38 73% 250.81 4.69 9.21 13.90
24% 82.46 1.54 3.03 4.57 74% 254.24 4.75 9.34 14.09
25% 85.89 1.61 3.16 4.76 75% 257.68 4.82 9.47 14.28
26% 89.33 1.67 3.28 4.95 76% 261.11 4.88 9.59 14.47
27% 92.76 1.73 3.41 5.14 77% 264.55 4.94 9.72 14.66
28% 96.20 1.80 3.53 5.33 78% 267.98 5.01 9.84 14.85
29% 99.64 1.86 3.66 5.52 79% 271.42 5.07 9.97 15.04
30% 103.07 1.93 3.79 5.71 80% 274.86 5.14 10.10 15.23
31% 106.51 1.99 3.91 5.90 81% 278.29 5.20 10.22 15.42
32% 109.94 2.05 4.04 6.09 82% 281.73 5.26 10.35 15.61
33% 113.38 2.12 4.16 6.28 83% 285.16 5.33 10.47 15.80
34% 116.81 2.18 4.29 6.47 84% 288.60 5.39 10.60 15.99
35% 120.25 2.25 4.42 6.66 85% 292.03 5.46 10.73 16.18
36% 123.69 2.31 4.54 6.85 86% 295.47 5.52 10.85 16.37
37% 127.12 2.38 4.67 7.04 87% 298.91 5.59 10.98 16.56
38% 130.56 2.44 4.80 7.24 88% 302.34 5.65 11.11 16.76
39% 133.99 2.50 4.92 7.43 89% 305.78 5.71 11.23 16.95
40% 137.43 2.57 5.05 7.62 90% 309.21 5.78 11.36 17.14
41% 140.86 2.63 5.17 7.81 91% 312.65 5.84 11.48 17.33
42% 144.30 2.70 5.30 8.00 92% 316.08 5.91 11.61 17.52
43% 147.74 2.76 5.43 8.19 93% 319.52 5.97 11.74 17.71
44% 151.17 2.82 5.55 8.38 94% 322.96 6.03 11.86 17.90
45% 154.61 2.89 5.68 8.57 95% 326.39 6.10 11.99 18.09
46% 158.04 2.95 5.81 8.76 96% 329.83 6.16 12.12 18.28
47% 161.48 3.02 5.93 8.95 97% 333.26 6.23 12.24 18.47
48% 164.91 3.08 6.06 9.14 98% 336.70 6.29 12.37 18.66
49% 168.35 3.15 6.18 9.33 99% 340.13 6.36 12.49 18.85
50% 171.79 3.21 6.31 9.52 100% 343.57 6.42 12.62 19.04

AM Peak-Hour

% %

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 393 of 810



McGarigle Development
GTC #19-229

New New PM Peak Hour Trips New New PM Peak Hour Trips
ADT In Out Total ADT In Out Total

100% 344 14 10 24 100% 344 14 10 24
1% 3.44 0.14 0.10 0.24 51% 175.22 7.24 5.07 12.31
2% 6.87 0.28 0.20 0.48 52% 178.66 7.38 5.17 12.55
3% 10.31 0.43 0.30 0.72 53% 182.09 7.52 5.27 12.79
4% 13.74 0.57 0.40 0.97 54% 185.53 7.66 5.37 13.04
5% 17.18 0.71 0.50 1.21 55% 188.96 7.80 5.47 13.28
6% 20.61 0.85 0.60 1.45 56% 192.40 7.95 5.57 13.52
7% 24.05 0.99 0.70 1.69 57% 195.83 8.09 5.67 13.76
8% 27.49 1.14 0.80 1.93 58% 199.27 8.23 5.77 14.00
9% 30.92 1.28 0.90 2.17 59% 202.71 8.37 5.87 14.24

10% 34.36 1.42 1.00 2.41 60% 206.14 8.51 5.97 14.48
11% 37.79 1.56 1.09 2.66 61% 209.58 8.66 6.07 14.73
12% 41.23 1.70 1.19 2.90 62% 213.01 8.80 6.17 14.97
13% 44.66 1.84 1.29 3.14 63% 216.45 8.94 6.27 15.21
14% 48.10 1.99 1.39 3.38 64% 219.88 9.08 6.37 15.45
15% 51.54 2.13 1.49 3.62 65% 223.32 9.22 6.47 15.69
16% 54.97 2.27 1.59 3.86 66% 226.76 9.37 6.57 15.93
17% 58.41 2.41 1.69 4.10 67% 230.19 9.51 6.67 16.17
18% 61.84 2.55 1.79 4.35 68% 233.63 9.65 6.77 16.42
19% 65.28 2.70 1.89 4.59 69% 237.06 9.79 6.87 16.66
20% 68.71 2.84 1.99 4.83 70% 240.50 9.93 6.97 16.90
21% 72.15 2.98 2.09 5.07 71% 243.93 10.07 7.06 17.14
22% 75.59 3.12 2.19 5.31 72% 247.37 10.22 7.16 17.38
23% 79.02 3.26 2.29 5.55 73% 250.81 10.36 7.26 17.62
24% 82.46 3.41 2.39 5.79 74% 254.24 10.50 7.36 17.86
25% 85.89 3.55 2.49 6.04 75% 257.68 10.64 7.46 18.11
26% 89.33 3.69 2.59 6.28 76% 261.11 10.78 7.56 18.35
27% 92.76 3.83 2.69 6.52 77% 264.55 10.93 7.66 18.59
28% 96.20 3.97 2.79 6.76 78% 267.98 11.07 7.76 18.83
29% 99.64 4.12 2.89 7.00 79% 271.42 11.21 7.86 19.07
30% 103.07 4.26 2.99 7.24 80% 274.86 11.35 7.96 19.31
31% 106.51 4.40 3.08 7.48 81% 278.29 11.49 8.06 19.55
32% 109.94 4.54 3.18 7.72 82% 281.73 11.64 8.16 19.79
33% 113.38 4.68 3.28 7.97 83% 285.16 11.78 8.26 20.04
34% 116.81 4.82 3.38 8.21 84% 288.60 11.92 8.36 20.28
35% 120.25 4.97 3.48 8.45 85% 292.03 12.06 8.46 20.52
36% 123.69 5.11 3.58 8.69 86% 295.47 12.20 8.56 20.76
37% 127.12 5.25 3.68 8.93 87% 298.91 12.35 8.66 21.00
38% 130.56 5.39 3.78 9.17 88% 302.34 12.49 8.76 21.24
39% 133.99 5.53 3.88 9.41 89% 305.78 12.63 8.86 21.48
40% 137.43 5.68 3.98 9.66 90% 309.21 12.77 8.96 21.73
41% 140.86 5.82 4.08 9.90 91% 312.65 12.91 9.05 21.97
42% 144.30 5.96 4.18 10.14 92% 316.08 13.05 9.15 22.21
43% 147.74 6.10 4.28 10.38 93% 319.52 13.20 9.25 22.45
44% 151.17 6.24 4.38 10.62 94% 322.96 13.34 9.35 22.69
45% 154.61 6.39 4.48 10.86 95% 326.39 13.48 9.45 22.93
46% 158.04 6.53 4.58 11.10 96% 329.83 13.62 9.55 23.17
47% 161.48 6.67 4.68 11.35 97% 333.26 13.76 9.65 23.42
48% 164.91 6.81 4.78 11.59 98% 336.70 13.91 9.75 23.66
49% 168.35 6.95 4.88 11.83 99% 340.13 14.05 9.85 23.90
50% 171.79 7.10 4.98 12.07 100% 343.57 14.19 9.95 24.14

PM Peak-Hour

% %

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 394 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

(a
.k

.a
.):

  
Av

er
ag

e 
W

ee
kd

ay
 D

ai
ly

 T
rip

s 
(A

W
D

T)

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Si
ng

le
 F

am
ily

 D
et

ac
he

d
51

 u
ni

ts
21

0
9.

44
50

%
50

%
48

1.
44

0%
0.

00
48

1.
44

0%
0.

00
48

1.
44

0.
00

0.
00

24
0.

72
24

0.
72

M
ul

tif
am

ily
 H

ou
si

ng
 (L

ow
-R

is
e)

34
 u

ni
ts

22
0

7.
32

50
%

50
%

24
8.

88
0%

0.
00

24
8.

88
0%

0.
00

24
8.

88
0.

00
0.

00
12

4.
44

12
4.

44
73

0.
32

0.
00

73
0.

32
0.

00
73

0.
32

0.
00

0.
00

36
5.

16
36

5.
16

To
ta

l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 395 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

, P
ea

k 
H

ou
r o

f A
dj

ac
en

t S
tr

ee
t T

ra
ffi

c,
 O

ne
 H

ou
r b

et
w

ee
n 

7 
an

d 
9 

AM
(a

.k
.a

.):
  

W
ee

kd
ay

 A
M

 P
ea

k 
H

ou
r

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Si
ng

le
 F

am
ily

 D
et

ac
he

d
51

 u
ni

ts
21

0
0.

74
25

%
75

%
37

.7
4

0%
0.

00
37

.7
4

0%
0.

00
37

.7
4

0.
00

0.
00

9.
44

28
.3

0
M

ul
tif

am
ily

 H
ou

si
ng

 (L
ow

-R
is

e)
34

 u
ni

ts
22

0
0.

46
23

%
77

%
15

.6
4

0%
0.

00
15

.6
4

0%
0.

00
15

.6
4

0.
00

0.
00

3.
60

12
.0

4
53

.3
8

0.
00

53
.3

8
0.

00
53

.3
8

0.
00

0.
00

13
.0

4
40

.3
4

To
ta

l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 396 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

, P
ea

k 
H

ou
r o

f A
dj

ac
en

t S
tr

ee
t T

ra
ffi

c,
 O

ne
 H

ou
r b

et
w

ee
n 

4 
an

d 
6 

PM
(a

.k
.a

.):
  

W
ee

kd
ay

 P
M

 P
ea

k 
H

ou
r

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Si
ng

le
 F

am
ily

 D
et

ac
he

d
51

 u
ni

ts
21

0
0.

99
63

%
37

%
50

.4
9

0%
0.

00
50

.4
9

0%
0.

00
50

.4
9

0.
00

0.
00

31
.8

1
18

.6
8

M
ul

tif
am

ily
 H

ou
si

ng
 (L

ow
-R

is
e)

34
 u

ni
ts

22
0

0.
56

63
%

37
%

19
.0

4
0%

0.
00

19
.0

4
0%

0.
00

19
.0

4
0.

00
0.

00
12

.0
0

7.
04

69
.5

3
0.

00
69

.5
3

0.
00

69
.5

3
0.

00
0.

00
43

.8
1

25
.7

2
To

ta
l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 397 of 810



McGarigle Development
GTC #19-229

New New AM Peak Hour Trips New New AM Peak Hour Trips
ADT In Out Total ADT In Out Total

100% 730 13 40 53 100% 730 13 40 53
1% 7.30 0.13 0.40 0.53 51% 372.46 6.65 20.57 27.22
2% 14.61 0.26 0.81 1.07 52% 379.77 6.78 20.98 27.76
3% 21.91 0.39 1.21 1.60 53% 387.07 6.91 21.38 28.29
4% 29.21 0.52 1.61 2.14 54% 394.37 7.04 21.78 28.83
5% 36.52 0.65 2.02 2.67 55% 401.68 7.17 22.19 29.36
6% 43.82 0.78 2.42 3.20 56% 408.98 7.30 22.59 29.89
7% 51.12 0.91 2.82 3.74 57% 416.28 7.43 22.99 30.43
8% 58.43 1.04 3.23 4.27 58% 423.59 7.56 23.40 30.96
9% 65.73 1.17 3.63 4.80 59% 430.89 7.69 23.80 31.49

10% 73.03 1.30 4.03 5.34 60% 438.19 7.82 24.20 32.03
11% 80.34 1.43 4.44 5.87 61% 445.50 7.95 24.61 32.56
12% 87.64 1.56 4.84 6.41 62% 452.80 8.08 25.01 33.10
13% 94.94 1.70 5.24 6.94 63% 460.10 8.22 25.41 33.63
14% 102.24 1.83 5.65 7.47 64% 467.40 8.35 25.82 34.16
15% 109.55 1.96 6.05 8.01 65% 474.71 8.48 26.22 34.70
16% 116.85 2.09 6.45 8.54 66% 482.01 8.61 26.62 35.23
17% 124.15 2.22 6.86 9.07 67% 489.31 8.74 27.03 35.76
18% 131.46 2.35 7.26 9.61 68% 496.62 8.87 27.43 36.30
19% 138.76 2.48 7.66 10.14 69% 503.92 9.00 27.83 36.83
20% 146.06 2.61 8.07 10.68 70% 511.22 9.13 28.24 37.37
21% 153.37 2.74 8.47 11.21 71% 518.53 9.26 28.64 37.90
22% 160.67 2.87 8.87 11.74 72% 525.83 9.39 29.04 38.43
23% 167.97 3.00 9.28 12.28 73% 533.13 9.52 29.45 38.97
24% 175.28 3.13 9.68 12.81 74% 540.44 9.65 29.85 39.50
25% 182.58 3.26 10.09 13.35 75% 547.74 9.78 30.26 40.04
26% 189.88 3.39 10.49 13.88 76% 555.04 9.91 30.66 40.57
27% 197.19 3.52 10.89 14.41 77% 562.35 10.04 31.06 41.10
28% 204.49 3.65 11.30 14.95 78% 569.65 10.17 31.47 41.64
29% 211.79 3.78 11.70 15.48 79% 576.95 10.30 31.87 42.17
30% 219.10 3.91 12.10 16.01 80% 584.26 10.43 32.27 42.70
31% 226.40 4.04 12.51 16.55 81% 591.56 10.56 32.68 43.24
32% 233.70 4.17 12.91 17.08 82% 598.86 10.69 33.08 43.77
33% 241.01 4.30 13.31 17.62 83% 606.17 10.82 33.48 44.31
34% 248.31 4.43 13.72 18.15 84% 613.47 10.95 33.89 44.84
35% 255.61 4.56 14.12 18.68 85% 620.77 11.08 34.29 45.37
36% 262.92 4.69 14.52 19.22 86% 628.08 11.21 34.69 45.91
37% 270.22 4.82 14.93 19.75 87% 635.38 11.34 35.10 46.44
38% 277.52 4.96 15.33 20.28 88% 642.68 11.48 35.50 46.97
39% 284.82 5.09 15.73 20.82 89% 649.98 11.61 35.90 47.51
40% 292.13 5.22 16.14 21.35 90% 657.29 11.74 36.31 48.04
41% 299.43 5.35 16.54 21.89 91% 664.59 11.87 36.71 48.58
42% 306.73 5.48 16.94 22.42 92% 671.89 12.00 37.11 49.11
43% 314.04 5.61 17.35 22.95 93% 679.20 12.13 37.52 49.64
44% 321.34 5.74 17.75 23.49 94% 686.50 12.26 37.92 50.18
45% 328.64 5.87 18.15 24.02 95% 693.80 12.39 38.32 50.71
46% 335.95 6.00 18.56 24.55 96% 701.11 12.52 38.73 51.24
47% 343.25 6.13 18.96 25.09 97% 708.41 12.65 39.13 51.78
48% 350.55 6.26 19.36 25.62 98% 715.71 12.78 39.53 52.31
49% 357.86 6.39 19.77 26.16 99% 723.02 12.91 39.94 52.85
50% 365.16 6.52 20.17 26.69 100% 730.32 13.04 40.34 53.38

AM Peak-Hour

% %

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 398 of 810



McGarigle Development
GTC #19-229

New New PM Peak Hour Trips New New PM Peak Hour Trips
ADT In Out Total ADT In Out Total

100% 730 44 26 70 100% 730 44 26 70
1% 7.30 0.44 0.26 0.70 51% 372.46 22.34 13.12 35.46
2% 14.61 0.88 0.51 1.39 52% 379.77 22.78 13.37 36.16
3% 21.91 1.31 0.77 2.09 53% 387.07 23.22 13.63 36.85
4% 29.21 1.75 1.03 2.78 54% 394.37 23.66 13.89 37.55
5% 36.52 2.19 1.29 3.48 55% 401.68 24.10 14.15 38.24
6% 43.82 2.63 1.54 4.17 56% 408.98 24.53 14.40 38.94
7% 51.12 3.07 1.80 4.87 57% 416.28 24.97 14.66 39.63
8% 58.43 3.50 2.06 5.56 58% 423.59 25.41 14.92 40.33
9% 65.73 3.94 2.31 6.26 59% 430.89 25.85 15.17 41.02

10% 73.03 4.38 2.57 6.95 60% 438.19 26.29 15.43 41.72
11% 80.34 4.82 2.83 7.65 61% 445.50 26.72 15.69 42.41
12% 87.64 5.26 3.09 8.34 62% 452.80 27.16 15.95 43.11
13% 94.94 5.70 3.34 9.04 63% 460.10 27.60 16.20 43.80
14% 102.24 6.13 3.60 9.73 64% 467.40 28.04 16.46 44.50
15% 109.55 6.57 3.86 10.43 65% 474.71 28.48 16.72 45.19
16% 116.85 7.01 4.12 11.12 66% 482.01 28.91 16.98 45.89
17% 124.15 7.45 4.37 11.82 67% 489.31 29.35 17.23 46.59
18% 131.46 7.89 4.63 12.52 68% 496.62 29.79 17.49 47.28
19% 138.76 8.32 4.89 13.21 69% 503.92 30.23 17.75 47.98
20% 146.06 8.76 5.14 13.91 70% 511.22 30.67 18.00 48.67
21% 153.37 9.20 5.40 14.60 71% 518.53 31.11 18.26 49.37
22% 160.67 9.64 5.66 15.30 72% 525.83 31.54 18.52 50.06
23% 167.97 10.08 5.92 15.99 73% 533.13 31.98 18.78 50.76
24% 175.28 10.51 6.17 16.69 74% 540.44 32.42 19.03 51.45
25% 182.58 10.95 6.43 17.38 75% 547.74 32.86 19.29 52.15
26% 189.88 11.39 6.69 18.08 76% 555.04 33.30 19.55 52.84
27% 197.19 11.83 6.94 18.77 77% 562.35 33.73 19.80 53.54
28% 204.49 12.27 7.20 19.47 78% 569.65 34.17 20.06 54.23
29% 211.79 12.70 7.46 20.16 79% 576.95 34.61 20.32 54.93
30% 219.10 13.14 7.72 20.86 80% 584.26 35.05 20.58 55.62
31% 226.40 13.58 7.97 21.55 81% 591.56 35.49 20.83 56.32
32% 233.70 14.02 8.23 22.25 82% 598.86 35.92 21.09 57.01
33% 241.01 14.46 8.49 22.94 83% 606.17 36.36 21.35 57.71
34% 248.31 14.90 8.74 23.64 84% 613.47 36.80 21.60 58.41
35% 255.61 15.33 9.00 24.34 85% 620.77 37.24 21.86 59.10
36% 262.92 15.77 9.26 25.03 86% 628.08 37.68 22.12 59.80
37% 270.22 16.21 9.52 25.73 87% 635.38 38.11 22.38 60.49
38% 277.52 16.65 9.77 26.42 88% 642.68 38.55 22.63 61.19
39% 284.82 17.09 10.03 27.12 89% 649.98 38.99 22.89 61.88
40% 292.13 17.52 10.29 27.81 90% 657.29 39.43 23.15 62.58
41% 299.43 17.96 10.55 28.51 91% 664.59 39.87 23.41 63.27
42% 306.73 18.40 10.80 29.20 92% 671.89 40.31 23.66 63.97
43% 314.04 18.84 11.06 29.90 93% 679.20 40.74 23.92 64.66
44% 321.34 19.28 11.32 30.59 94% 686.50 41.18 24.18 65.36
45% 328.64 19.71 11.57 31.29 95% 693.80 41.62 24.43 66.05
46% 335.95 20.15 11.83 31.98 96% 701.11 42.06 24.69 66.75
47% 343.25 20.59 12.09 32.68 97% 708.41 42.50 24.95 67.44
48% 350.55 21.03 12.35 33.37 98% 715.71 42.93 25.21 68.14
49% 357.86 21.47 12.60 34.07 99% 723.02 43.37 25.46 68.83
50% 365.16 21.91 12.86 34.77 100% 730.32 43.81 25.72 69.53

PM Peak-Hour

% %

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 399 of 810



 

  B 

Turning Movement Counts 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 400 of 810



HV

NB 3.2%

804 WB 5.4%

804 EB 0.0%

INTRS. 4.9%

PHF = Peak Hour Factor

HV = Heavy Vehicle

COUNTED BY: DATE OF COUNT:

REDUCTION DATE: TIME OF COUNT:

7.7%

0

0

0

0

TURNING MOVEMENTS DIAGRAM

John Liner Road

22

INTERSECTION SB

S
R

-9

10

8

261

McGarigle Road

P
e

d
s
 =

 3

16

84

8

0

S
R

-9

Sedro Woolley, WA

John Liner Road/McGarigle Road @ SR-9

0.58OUT

0.93Peds = 2

Thu. 4/25/19

TDG

4:00 PM - 6:00 PM

5:00 PM

Wed. 4/24/19

Peds = 1

PHF

0.75

0.76

0

0

TO

94

112

20

0.92403

355

329

4:00 PM - 6:00 PM PEAK HOUR: 4:00 PM

IN

PEAK HOUR  VOLUME

66

333

0

6 239

P
e

d
s
 =

 0

28

6

12

B
ic
yc
le
s

B
ic

yc
le

s

Bicycles
U

-T
u
rn

U-Turn

Bicycles

U
-T

u
rn

U-Turn

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 401 of 810



TO

HV PHF

SB 2.4% 0.75

NB 8.8% 0.65

EB 0.0% 0.25

INTRS. 5.2% 0.71

HV    = Heavy Vehicles

PHF = Peak Hour Factor

COUNTED BY: DATE OF COUNT:

REDUCTION DATE: TIME OF COUNT: 4:00 PM - 6:00 PMSun. 9/22/19

0

0

OUT 77 Peds = 0

McGarigle Road @ Independence Boulevard (North Leg)

Sedro Woolley, WA

TDG Wed. 9/18/19

M
c
G

a
ri
g

le
 R

o
a

d 3 31

INTERSECTION

43 34

PEAK HOUR  VOLUME

IN 77

3

P
e

d
s
 =

 3

0

1

1

0

0

2

TURNING MOVEMENTS DIAGRAM

4:00 PM - 6:00 PM PEAK HOUR: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM

M
c
G

a
ri
g

le
 R

o
a

d

Peds = 0

42 31

Independence Boulevard (North 

Leg)

0 42

0

U-Turn

U-Turn

U-Turn

Bicycles

Bicycles

Bicycles

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 402 of 810



TO

HV PHF

SB 4.8% 0.84

NB 3.5% 0.75

EB 5.3% 0.63

INTRS. 4.3% 0.91

HV    = Heavy Vehicles

PHF = Peak Hour Factor

COUNTED BY: DATE OF COUNT:

REDUCTION DATE: TIME OF COUNT: 4:00 PM - 6:00 PM

TURNING MOVEMENTS DIAGRAM

4:00 PM - 6:00 PM PEAK HOUR: 4:45 PM 5:45 PM

F
ru

it
d

a
le

 R
o

a
d

Peds = 2

125 120

McGarigle Road

10 115

1

114

PEAK HOUR  VOLUME

IN 277

26

P
e

d
s
 =

 2

22

38

16

0

0

0

Thu. 4/25/19

0

0

OUT 277 Peds = 0

McGarigle Road @ Fruitdale Road

Sedro Woolley, WA

TDG Wed. 4/24/19

F
ru

it
d

a
le

 R
o

a
d 16 98

INTERSECTION

131

U-Turn

U-Turn

U-Turn

Bicycles

Bicycles

Bicycles

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 403 of 810



 

  C 

2025 Turning Movement Calculations 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 404 of 810



PM Peak-Hour 1 SR-9 @ McGarigle Rd

Synchro ID: 1
Existing 261 616 355

Average Weekday 6 239 16 6 329 20
PM Peak-Hour   

6 SR-9  20
Year:  4/24/2019 22 8  8 112

8  84 
Data Source: TDG 50 John Liner Road 804 McGarigle Road 206 North

6  16 
28 12  12 94

10  SR-9 66
  

10 239 84 8 329 66
333 736 403

Future without Project 294 840 546
Average Weekday 7 269 18 152 371 23

PM Peak-Hour   

7 SR-9  23
Future Year 2025 35 19  19 137

% Growth 2.0% 9  95 
# of Years 6 329 John Liner Road 1,179 McGarigle Road 274 North

Growth Rate 1.1262 152  18 
294 45  45 137

97  SR-9 74
  

97 269 95 9 371 74
461 915 454

Total Project Trips 3 5 2
Average Weekday 0 0 3 0 0 2

PM Peak-Hour   

0 SR-9  2
1 1  1 18

0  15 
3 John Liner Road 49 McGarigle Road 49 North

0  3 
2 2  2 31

0  SR-9 26
  

0 0 15 0 0 26
15 41 26

Future with Project 297 845 548
Average Weekday 7 269 21 152 371 25

PM Peak-Hour   

7 SR-9  25
36 20  20 155

9  110 
332 John Liner Road 1,228 McGarigle Road 323 North

152  21 
296 47  47 168

97  SR-9 100
  

97 269 110 9 371 100
476 956 480

0 0 0
Average Weekday 0 0 0 0 0 0

PM Peak-Hour   

0 SR-9  0
10 10  10 10

0  0 
17 John Liner Road 17 McGarigle Road 17 North

0  0 
7 7  7 7

0  SR-9 0
  

0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0

0 145 145
Average Weekday 0 0 0 145 0 0

PM Peak-Hour   

0 SR-9  0
0 0  0 0

0  0 
255 John Liner Road 255 McGarigle Road 24 North

145  0 
255 24  24 24

86  SR-9 0
  

86 0 0 0 0 0
86 86 0

Northern State Campus Pipeline 
Trips

John Liner Corridor Diversion

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 405 of 810



PM Peak-Hour 2 McGarigle Rd @ Site Access

Synchro ID: 2
Existing 42 63 21

Average Weekday 0 42 0 0 21 0
PM Peak-Hour   

0 McGarigle Road  0
Year:  9/18/2019 3 0  0 0

3  0 
Data Source: TDG 4 Independence Blvd 67 Site Access 0 North

0  0 
1 0  0 0

1  McGarigle Road 0
  

1 42 0 3 21 0
43 67 24

Future without Project 64 98 34
Average Weekday 2 62 0 1 33 0

PM Peak-Hour   

2 McGarigle Road  0
Future Year 2025 5 0  0 0

% Growth 2.0% 3  0 
# of Years 6 7 Independence Blvd 102 Site Access 0 North

Growth Rate 1.1262 1  0 
2 0  0 0

1  McGarigle Road 0
  

1 62 0 3 33 0
63 99 36

Total Project Trips 7 11 4
Average Weekday 0 0 7 0 0 4

PM Peak-Hour   

0 McGarigle Road  4
0 0  0 26

0  22 
0 Independence Blvd 70 Site Access 70 North

0  7 
0 0  0 44

0  McGarigle Road 37
  

0 0 22 0 0 37
22 59 37

Future with Project 71 109 38
Average Weekday 2 62 7 1 33 4

PM Peak-Hour   

2 McGarigle Road  4
5 0  0 26

3  22 
7 Independence Blvd 172 Site Access 70 North

1  7 
2 0  0 44

1  McGarigle Road 37
  

1 62 22 3 33 37
85 158 73

17 27 10
Average Weekday 2 15 0 1 9 0

PM Peak-Hour   

2 McGarigle Road  0
2 0  0 0

0  0 
3 Independence Blvd 27 Site Access 0 North

1  0 
1 0  0 0

0  McGarigle Road 0
  

0 15 0 0 9 0
15 24 9

0 0 0
Average Weekday 0 0 0 0 0 0

PM Peak-Hour   

0 McGarigle Road  0
0 0  0 0

0  0 
0 Independence Blvd 0 Site Access 0 North

0  0 
0 0  0 0

0  McGarigle Road 0
  

0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0

Northern State Campus Pipeline 
Trips

John Liner Corridor Diversion

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 406 of 810



PM Peak-Hour 3 Fruitdale Rd @ McGarigle Rd

Synchro ID: 3
Existing 125 245 120

Average Weekday 10 115 0 22 98 0
PM Peak-Hour   

10 Fruitdale Road  0
Year:  4/24/2019 26 0  0 0

16  0 
Data Source: TDG 64 McGarigle Road 277 - 0 North

22  0 
38 0  0 0

16  Fruitdale Road 0
  

16 115 0 16 98 0
131 245 114

Future without Project 396 645 249
Average Weekday 30 366 0 36 213 0

PM Peak-Hour   

30 Fruitdale Road  0
Future Year 2025 48 0  0 0

% Growth 2.0% 18  0 
# of Years 6 102 McGarigle Road 681 - 0 North

Growth Rate 1.1262 36  0 
54 0  0 0

18  Fruitdale Road 0
  

18 366 0 18 213 0
384 615 231

Total Project Trips 0 0 0
Average Weekday 0 0 0 0 0 0

PM Peak-Hour   

0 Fruitdale Road  0
7 0  0 0

7  0 
11 McGarigle Road 11 - 0 North

0  0 
4 0  0 0

4  Fruitdale Road 0
  

4 0 0 7 0 0
4 11 7

Future with Project 396 645 249
Average Weekday 30 366 0 36 213 0

PM Peak-Hour   

30 Fruitdale Road  0
55 0  0 0

25  0 
113 McGarigle Road 692 - 0 North

36  0 
58 0  0 0

22  Fruitdale Road 0
  

22 366 0 25 213 0
388 626 238

255 369 114
Average Weekday 19 236 0 11 103 0

PM Peak-Hour   

19 Fruitdale Road  0
19 0  0 0

0  0 
30 McGarigle Road 369 - 0 North

11  0 
11 0  0 0

0  Fruitdale Road 0
  

0 236 0 0 103 0
236 339 103

0 0 0
Average Weekday 0 0 0 0 0 0

PM Peak-Hour   

0 Fruitdale Road  0
0 0  0 0

0  0 
0 McGarigle Road 0 - 0 North

0  0 
0 0  0 0

0  Fruitdale Road 0
  

0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0

Northern State Campus Pipeline 
Trips

John Liner Corridor Diversion

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 407 of 810



 

  D 

Level of Service Calculations 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 408 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
1: SR 9 & John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2019 Existing Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2019 Existing - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 12 10 84 8 20 8 329 66 16 239 6
Future Vol, veh/h 6 12 10 84 8 20 8 329 66 16 239 6
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 2 2 0 1 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 5 5 5 3 3 3 8 8 8
Mvmt Flow 6 13 11 90 9 22 9 354 71 17 257 6
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 718 740 262 719 708 394 263 0 0 428 0 0
          Stage 1 294 294 - 411 411 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 424 446 - 308 297 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.15 6.55 6.25 4.13 - - 4.18 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.545 4.045 3.345 2.227 - - 2.272 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 347 347 782 340 356 649 1295 - - 1100 - -
          Stage 1 719 673 - 612 590 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 612 577 - 696 662 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 322 337 781 317 345 647 1295 - - 1097 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 322 337 - 317 345 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 713 661 - 605 583 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 577 570 - 660 650 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.3 20.5 0.2 0.5
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1295 - - 418 351 1097 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.007 - - 0.072 0.343 0.016 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.8 0 - 14.3 20.5 8.3 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - B C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.2 1.5 0 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 409 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
2: McGarigle Rd & Independence Blvd/Site Access McGarigle Development

2019 Existing Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2019 Existing - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 0 0 0 3 21 0 0 42 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 0 0 0 3 21 0 0 42 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 3
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 2 2 2 9 9 9 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 1 0 0 0 4 30 0 0 59 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 100 100 62 98 100 30 62 0 0 30 0 0
          Stage 1 62 62 - 38 38 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 38 38 - 60 62 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.19 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.281 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 886 794 1009 884 790 1044 1497 - - 1583 - -
          Stage 1 954 847 - 977 863 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 982 867 - 951 843 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 882 789 1006 880 785 1044 1493 - - 1583 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 882 789 - 880 785 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 948 844 - 974 860 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 979 864 - 950 840 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.6 0 0.9 0
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1493 - - 1006 - 1583 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.003 - - 0.001 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 - 8.6 0 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 - 0 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 410 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Fruitdale Rd & McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2019 Existing Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2019 Existing - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.8

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 22 16 16 98 115 10
Future Vol, veh/h 22 16 16 98 115 10
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 2 0 2 0 0 2
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 5 5 4 4 5 5
Mvmt Flow 24 18 18 108 126 11
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 280 134 139 0 - 0
          Stage 1 134 - - - - -
          Stage 2 146 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.45 6.25 4.14 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.45 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.45 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.545 3.345 2.236 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 704 907 1432 - - -
          Stage 1 885 - - - - -
          Stage 2 874 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 692 905 1429 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 692 - - - - -
          Stage 1 872 - - - - -
          Stage 2 872 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10 1.1 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1429 - 768 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.012 - 0.054 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.6 0 10 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 411 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
1: SR 9 & John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2025 Baseline Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Baseline - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 21.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 152 45 97 95 19 23 9 371 74 18 269 7
Future Vol, veh/h 152 45 97 95 19 23 9 371 74 18 269 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 2 2 0 1 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 5 5 5 3 3 3 8 8 8
Mvmt Flow 163 48 104 102 20 25 10 399 80 19 289 8
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 814 833 295 871 797 443 297 0 0 482 0 0
          Stage 1 331 331 - 462 462 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 483 502 - 409 335 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.15 6.55 6.25 4.13 - - 4.18 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.545 4.045 3.345 2.227 - - 2.272 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 299 307 749 268 316 608 1259 - - 1050 - -
          Stage 1 687 649 - 574 560 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 569 545 - 613 637 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 265 296 748 196 305 606 1259 - - 1047 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 265 296 - 196 305 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 679 635 - 566 552 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 519 537 - 476 623 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 65.5 43.4 0.2 0.5
HCM LOS F E
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1259 - - 344 234 1047 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.008 - - 0.919 0.63 0.018 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 0 - 65.5 43.4 8.5 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - F E A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 9.3 3.8 0.1 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 412 of 810



MOVEMENT SUMMARY
Site: 1 [SR-9 at John Liner Rd 2025 Baseline]

2025 Baseline
PM Peak-Hour
Site Category: (None)
Roundabout

Movement Performance - Vehicles
Demand Flows 95% Back of QueueMov

ID 
Turn Deg.

Satn
Average

Delay  
Level of
Service

Prop.  
Queued

Effective 
Stop Rate

Aver. No.
Cycles

Average
Speed  Total HV Vehicles Distance

veh/h % v/c sec veh ft mph
South: SR-9 (NB)
3 L2 10 3.0 0.424 11.0 LOS B 2.8 72.5 0.52 0.55 0.52 36.0
8 T1 399 3.0 0.424 5.3 LOS A 2.8 72.5 0.52 0.55 0.52 36.0
18 R2 80 3.0 0.424 5.4 LOS A 2.8 72.5 0.52 0.55 0.52 35.0
Approach 488 3.0 0.424 5.4 LOS A 2.8 72.5 0.52 0.55 0.52 35.9

East: John Liner Rd (WB)
1 L2 102 5.0 0.167 12.5 LOS B 0.9 24.2 0.62 0.75 0.62 33.9
6 T1 20 5.0 0.167 6.9 LOS A 0.9 24.2 0.62 0.75 0.62 34.0
16 R2 25 5.0 0.167 6.9 LOS A 0.9 24.2 0.62 0.75 0.62 33.1
Approach 147 5.0 0.167 10.8 LOS B 0.9 24.2 0.62 0.75 0.62 33.8

North: SR-9 (SB)
7 L2 19 8.0 0.268 10.4 LOS B 1.6 41.4 0.35 0.47 0.35 36.2
4 T1 289 8.0 0.268 4.7 LOS A 1.6 41.4 0.35 0.47 0.35 36.3
14 R2 8 8.0 0.268 4.8 LOS A 1.6 41.4 0.35 0.47 0.35 35.2
Approach 316 8.0 0.268 5.0 LOS A 1.6 41.4 0.35 0.47 0.35 36.3

West: John Liner Rd (EB)
5 L2 163 5.0 0.316 11.9 LOS B 1.8 47.2 0.58 0.72 0.58 34.7
2 T1 48 5.0 0.316 6.3 LOS A 1.8 47.2 0.58 0.72 0.58 34.7
12 R2 104 5.0 0.316 6.3 LOS A 1.8 47.2 0.58 0.72 0.58 33.7
Approach 316 5.0 0.316 9.2 LOS A 1.8 47.2 0.58 0.72 0.58 34.4

All Vehicles 1268 5.0 0.424 6.9 LOS A 2.8 72.5 0.50 0.60 0.50 35.3

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay & Degree of Saturation (SIDRA). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings 
dialog (Site tab).
Roundabout LOS Method: Same as Signalised Intersections.
Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay and v/c ratio (degree of saturation) per movement.
Intersection and Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all movements (v/c not used).
Roundabout Capacity Model: SIDRA Standard.
SIDRA Standard Delay Model is used. Control Delay includes Geometric Delay.
Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D).
HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

SIDRA INTERSECTION 8.0 | Copyright © 2000-2019 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com
Organisation: GIBSON TRAFFIC CONSULTANTS | Processed: Tuesday, September 24, 2019 8:20:32 AM
Project: H:\2019\19-229\Sidra\PM Peak-hour.sip8

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 413 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
2: McGarigle Rd & Independence Blvd/Site Access McGarigle Development

2025 Baseline Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Baseline - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 0 1 0 0 0 3 33 0 0 62 2
Future Vol, veh/h 1 0 1 0 0 0 3 33 0 0 62 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 3
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 2 2 2 9 9 9 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 1 0 1 0 0 0 4 46 0 0 87 3
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 146 146 92 143 147 46 93 0 0 46 0 0
          Stage 1 92 92 - 54 54 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 54 54 - 89 93 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.19 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.281 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 827 749 971 826 744 1023 1458 - - 1562 - -
          Stage 1 920 823 - 958 850 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 963 854 - 918 818 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 823 745 968 823 740 1023 1454 - - 1562 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 823 745 - 823 740 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 914 821 - 955 847 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 960 851 - 917 816 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.1 0 0.6 0
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1454 - - 890 - 1562 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.003 - - 0.003 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.5 0 - 9.1 0 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 - 0 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 414 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Fruitdale Rd & McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2025 Baseline Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Baseline - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.3

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 36 18 18 213 366 30
Future Vol, veh/h 36 18 18 213 366 30
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 2 0 2 0 0 2
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 5 5 4 4 5 5
Mvmt Flow 40 20 20 234 402 33
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 697 421 437 0 - 0
          Stage 1 421 - - - - -
          Stage 2 276 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.45 6.25 4.14 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.45 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.45 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.545 3.345 2.236 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 403 626 1112 - - -
          Stage 1 656 - - - - -
          Stage 2 764 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 393 625 1110 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 393 - - - - -
          Stage 1 641 - - - - -
          Stage 2 762 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.3 0.6 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1110 - 448 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.018 - 0.132 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 0 14.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - 0.5 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 415 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
1: SR 9 & John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2025 Future with Development Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Future with Development - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 26.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 152 47 97 110 20 25 9 371 100 21 269 7
Future Vol, veh/h 152 47 97 110 20 25 9 371 100 21 269 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 2 2 0 1 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 5 5 5 3 3 3 8 8 8
Mvmt Flow 163 51 104 118 22 27 10 399 108 23 289 8
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 838 869 295 895 819 457 297 0 0 510 0 0
          Stage 1 339 339 - 476 476 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 499 530 - 419 343 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.15 6.55 6.25 4.13 - - 4.18 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.545 4.045 3.345 2.227 - - 2.272 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 288 292 749 258 307 597 1259 - - 1025 - -
          Stage 1 680 643 - 564 552 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 557 530 - 606 632 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 252 280 748 185 294 595 1259 - - 1022 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 252 280 - 185 294 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 673 626 - 556 544 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 505 523 - 466 615 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 78 59.3 0.1 0.6
HCM LOS F F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1259 - - 329 220 1022 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.008 - - 0.967 0.758 0.022 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 0 - 78 59.3 8.6 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - F F A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 10.3 5.2 0.1 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 416 of 810



MOVEMENT SUMMARY
Site: 1 [SR-9 at John Liner Rd 2025 Future With]

2025 Future With
PM Peak-Hour
Site Category: (None)
Roundabout

Movement Performance - Vehicles
Demand Flows 95% Back of QueueMov

ID 
Turn Deg.

Satn
Average

Delay  
Level of
Service

Prop.  
Queued

Effective 
Stop Rate

Aver. No.
Cycles

Average
Speed  Total HV Vehicles Distance

veh/h % v/c sec veh ft mph
South: SR-9 (NB)
3 L2 10 3.0 0.450 11.0 LOS B 3.1 79.2 0.54 0.56 0.54 36.0
8 T1 399 3.0 0.450 5.4 LOS A 3.1 79.2 0.54 0.56 0.54 36.0
18 R2 108 3.0 0.450 5.4 LOS A 3.1 79.2 0.54 0.56 0.54 35.0
Approach 516 3.0 0.450 5.5 LOS A 3.1 79.2 0.54 0.56 0.54 35.8

East: John Liner Rd (WB)
1 L2 118 5.0 0.189 12.6 LOS B 1.1 27.9 0.63 0.76 0.63 33.9
6 T1 22 5.0 0.189 6.9 LOS A 1.1 27.9 0.63 0.76 0.63 33.9
16 R2 27 5.0 0.189 7.0 LOS A 1.1 27.9 0.63 0.76 0.63 33.0
Approach 167 5.0 0.189 10.9 LOS B 1.1 27.9 0.63 0.76 0.63 33.7

North: SR-9 (SB)
7 L2 23 8.0 0.275 10.5 LOS B 1.6 42.7 0.38 0.49 0.38 36.1
4 T1 289 8.0 0.275 4.8 LOS A 1.6 42.7 0.38 0.49 0.38 36.2
14 R2 8 8.0 0.275 4.8 LOS A 1.6 42.7 0.38 0.49 0.38 35.1
Approach 319 8.0 0.275 5.2 LOS A 1.6 42.7 0.38 0.49 0.38 36.2

West: John Liner Rd (EB)
5 L2 163 5.0 0.323 12.1 LOS B 1.9 48.8 0.59 0.73 0.59 34.6
2 T1 51 5.0 0.323 6.4 LOS A 1.9 48.8 0.59 0.73 0.59 34.7
12 R2 104 5.0 0.323 6.5 LOS A 1.9 48.8 0.59 0.73 0.59 33.7
Approach 318 5.0 0.323 9.3 LOS A 1.9 48.8 0.59 0.73 0.59 34.3

All Vehicles 1320 4.9 0.450 7.0 LOS A 3.1 79.2 0.52 0.61 0.52 35.2

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay & Degree of Saturation (SIDRA). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings 
dialog (Site tab).
Roundabout LOS Method: Same as Signalised Intersections.
Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay and v/c ratio (degree of saturation) per movement.
Intersection and Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all movements (v/c not used).
Roundabout Capacity Model: SIDRA Standard.
SIDRA Standard Delay Model is used. Control Delay includes Geometric Delay.
Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D).
HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

SIDRA INTERSECTION 8.0 | Copyright © 2000-2019 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com
Organisation: GIBSON TRAFFIC CONSULTANTS | Processed: Tuesday, September 24, 2019 8:20:33 AM
Project: H:\2019\19-229\Sidra\PM Peak-hour.sip8

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 417 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
2: McGarigle Rd & Independence Blvd/Site Access McGarigle Development

2025 Future with Development Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Future with Development - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 0 1 22 0 4 3 33 37 7 62 2
Future Vol, veh/h 1 0 1 22 0 4 3 33 37 7 62 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 3
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 2 2 2 9 9 9 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 1 0 1 31 0 6 4 46 52 10 87 3
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 195 218 92 189 193 72 93 0 0 98 0 0
          Stage 1 112 112 - 80 80 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 83 106 - 109 113 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.19 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.281 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 769 684 971 771 702 990 1458 - - 1495 - -
          Stage 1 898 807 - 929 828 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 930 811 - 896 802 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 757 675 968 764 693 990 1454 - - 1495 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 757 675 - 764 693 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 893 799 - 926 826 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 922 809 - 888 794 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.2 9.8 0.3 0.7
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1454 - - 850 792 1495 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.003 - - 0.003 0.046 0.007 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.5 0 - 9.2 9.8 7.4 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A A A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 0.1 0 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 418 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Fruitdale Rd & McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2025 Future with Development Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Future with Development - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.5

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 36 22 25 213 366 30
Future Vol, veh/h 36 22 25 213 366 30
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 2 0 2 0 0 2
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 5 5 4 4 5 5
Mvmt Flow 40 24 27 234 402 33
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 711 421 437 0 - 0
          Stage 1 421 - - - - -
          Stage 2 290 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.45 6.25 4.14 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.45 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.45 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.545 3.345 2.236 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 395 626 1112 - - -
          Stage 1 656 - - - - -
          Stage 2 753 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 382 625 1110 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 382 - - - - -
          Stage 1 636 - - - - -
          Stage 2 751 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.4 0.9 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1110 - 448 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.025 - 0.142 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 0 14.4 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - 0.5 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 419 of 810



 

  E 

Collision Data 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 420 of 810



PR
IM

AR
Y 

TR
AF

FI
CW

AY
M

IL
EP

OS
T

RE
PO

RT
 

NU
M

BE
R

DA
TE

TI
M

E
M

OS
T 

SE
VE

RE
 IN

JU
RY

 T
YP

E

# I N J

# F A T

# V E H

# P E D S

# BI K E S
FI

RS
T 

CO
LL

IS
IO

N 
TY

PE
 / 

OB
JE

CT
 S

TR
UC

K
M

V 
DR

IV
ER

 C
ON

TR
IB

UT
IN

G 
CI

RC
UM

ST
AN

CE
 1

 (U
NI

T 
1)

00
9

57
.4

3
E4

06
21

2
20

15
-0

3-
04

08
:3

1
N

o 
Ap

pa
re

nt
 In

ju
ry

0
0

2
0

0
Fr

om
 o

pp
os

ite
 d

ire
ct

io
n 

- o
ne

 le
ft 

tu
rn

 - 
on

e 
st

ra
ig

ht
D

id
 N

ot
 G

ra
nt

 R
W

 to
 V

eh
ic

le
00

9
57

.4
3

E5
84

58
0

20
16

-0
9-

13
19

:2
1

N
o 

Ap
pa

re
nt

 In
ju

ry
0

0
2

0
0

En
te

rin
g 

at
 a

ng
le

In
at

te
nt

io
n

00
9

57
.4

3
36

40
55

0
20

17
-0

9-
11

17
:4

0
Su

sp
ec

te
d 

M
in

or
 In

ju
ry

5
0

2
0

0
En

te
rin

g 
at

 a
ng

le
D

id
 N

ot
 G

ra
nt

 R
W

 to
 V

eh
ic

le
9

57
.4

3
E7

73
55

4
20

18
-0

2-
13

14
:2

3
Su

sp
ec

te
d 

M
in

or
 In

ju
ry

1
0

2
0

0
Fr

om
 s

am
e 

di
re

ct
io

n 
- b

ot
h 

go
in

g 
st

ra
ig

ht
 - 

on
e 

st
op

pe
d 

- r
ea

r-e
nd

D
riv

er
 D

is
tra

ct
io

ns
 O

ut
si

de
 V

eh
ic

le

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 421 of 810



Co
lli

sio
n 

Da
ta

 D
at

e 
Ra

ng
e

St
ar

t
1/

1/
20

14
En

d
12

/3
1/

20
18

To
ta

l Y
ea

rs
5.

00

In
te

rs
ec

tio
n

No
. C

ol
lis

io
ns

No
. I

nj
ur

y 
Co

lli
sio

ns
Es

tim
at

ed
 A

DT
Co

lli
sio

ns
 p

er
 

Ye
ar

Co
lli

sio
ns

 p
er

 
M

EV
#1

: S
R-

9 
@

 Jo
hn

 Li
ne

r R
d/

M
cG

ar
ig

le
 R

d
4

2
8,

04
0

0.
8

0.
27

#2
: M

cG
ar

ig
le

 R
d 

@
 In

de
pe

nd
en

ce
 B

lv
d/

Ac
ce

ss
0

0
67

0
0

0.
00

#3
: M

cG
ar

ig
le

 R
d 

@
 F

ru
itd

al
e 

Rd
0

0
2,

77
0

0
0.

00

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 422 of 810



 

  F 

Pipeline Projects 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 423 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 424 of 810



©
 O

pe
nS

tr
ee

tM
ap

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
or

s
©

 O
pe

nS
tr

ee
tM

ap
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

or
s

©
 O

pe
nS

tr
ee

tM
ap

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
or

s

26
5

36
0

46
0

30
5

-3
0

-3
0

-220

-100

-4
0

-6
0

-75

-90

190

390

-3
0

-3
0

-2
5

-3
0

10-1
0

170

120

155

105

-6
0

45

26
5

22
0

-2
0-2

5

-70

-4
5

-1
5

-9
0

-2
0

-4
5

15 -9
5

-1
5

-2
5

-3
0

-9
0

-2
0

-1
5 -9
5

-1
0

-15

-1
5

70

65

-3
0

-3
5

70
15

35
10

175

105

-7
5 10 -3
0

-2
5

10
-35

-20
10
-55

-3
0

-3
0

-2
5

-1
5

-1
65

-1
20

85

-65

-185

25
5

22
0

-2
0

-2075

-2
0

10

15
-4

0

-7
0

-30
-10

-85
-10

-3
0

-2
5

-25-7
5

-1
25

15
10

-1
30 - 7
5

-55

-40

29
0

14
0

225

455

-7525
5

21
5

-55

-65

10

-1
5

- 1
5

-1
5

-2
0

-7
0

-4
0

26
5

14
5

1055

30
5

46
0

50

-1
585

-2
5

-1
5

-1
00- 4
0

15

-20 -3
0

-2
5

-25
-35-30

-25

-1
45-5
5

10
15

-2
0-2

5
-90

-175

5

10
65

-40
-100

15

185

-1
10

-1
60

470

230

-3
0

-3
0

-35
-25

-3
0

-3
5

-3
0

-3
0

25
30

-1
5

- 2
5

- 1
0

-35
-30 -25

-30

-1
0

-2
5

-2
5

-1
0

-2
5

-3
5

25
30

75
-5

0

100

10

25
80

-1
5

-60

-50

-2
5

-3
0

- 5
5

-2
5

-2
5

-5
0

-1
4 5-6
0

-135

-100

70
65

-8
5

30

-5
5 25

-30

13
5

2 0
-1

0
-2

5

-230

-100

-1
0

-15

-8
0

-2
5

-2
5

-70

-55

10
-55

-2
5

-7
5

-80

-8
5

-1
25

-55

-70

-8
5

-12
0

-40

45

-60
30

-195

-80

15
-1

0

-11
0-2

05

-20
-3570

15
1035

21
5

25
5

15
10

20
36

 P
M

 P
ea

k 
H

r V
ol

um
e 

D
iff

er
en

ce
 P

lo
t:

[A
fte

r P
ro

je
ct

] -
 [B

ef
or

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t]
Lin

k b
ars

[2
03

6 
w 

Pr
oj

ec
t] 

- [
20

36
 w

/o
 P

ro
jec

t]

Vo
lu

m
e 

de
cr

ea
se

Vo
lu

m
e 

in
cr

ea
se

W
at

so
n

C
om

m
er

ci
al

D
ev

el
op

m
en

tT
rip

D
is

tri
bu

tio
n

Vo
lu

m
e 

D
iff

er
en

ce
 - 

20
36

 B
ef

or
e 

an
d 

Af
te

r J
on

es
-J

oh
n 

Li
ne

r R
d 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

1:
13

32
4

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
So

lu
tio

ns
, I

nc
.

03
.0

1.
20

19
/1

0:
47

:2
1

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 425 of 810



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary
208: N Township St. (SR 9) & John Liner Rd./McGarigle Rd. 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 185 30 110 65 70 35 80 350 50 15 240 150
Future Volume (veh/h) 185 30 110 65 70 35 80 350 50 15 240 150
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 0.98 0.96 0.97 0.98 1.00 0.98 0.99 0.99
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1743 1743 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 208 34 124 73 79 39 90 393 56 17 270 169
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 9 9 9
Cap, veh/h 499 108 395 454 371 183 454 781 111 451 495 310
Arrive On Green 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50
Sat Flow, veh/h 1236 338 1234 1181 1158 572 933 1574 224 870 998 625
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 208 0 158 73 0 118 90 0 449 17 0 439
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1236 0 1573 1181 0 1730 933 0 1799 870 0 1623
Q Serve(g_s), s 6.4 0.0 3.3 2.2 0.0 2.2 3.2 0.0 7.3 0.6 0.0 8.1
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.6 0.0 3.3 5.5 0.0 2.2 11.3 0.0 7.3 7.9 0.0 8.1
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.78 1.00 0.33 1.00 0.12 1.00 0.38
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 499 0 503 454 0 554 454 0 893 451 0 806
V/C Ratio(X) 0.42 0.00 0.31 0.16 0.00 0.21 0.20 0.00 0.50 0.04 0.00 0.54
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 1040 0 1191 970 0 1310 1040 0 2023 998 0 1825
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 13.9 0.0 11.2 13.3 0.0 10.8 11.5 0.0 7.4 10.0 0.0 7.6
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.6 0.0 0.4 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln 4.1 0.0 2.6 1.3 0.0 1.9 1.5 0.0 6.5 0.3 0.0 6.6
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 14.5 0.0 11.5 13.4 0.0 11.0 11.7 0.0 7.8 10.0 0.0 8.2
LnGrp LOS B B B B B A B A
Approach Vol, veh/h 366 191 539 456
Approach Delay, s/veh 13.2 11.9 8.5 8.2
Approach LOS B B A A

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 25.6 17.9 25.6 17.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 49.0 33.0 49.0 33.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 13.3 10.6 10.1 7.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 8.3 2.9 8.4 2.9

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 9.9
HCM 2010 LOS A

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 426 of 810



Mark A. Freiberger, PE 
Jones / John Liner / Trail Road Corridor Traffic Analysis 

January 3, 2019 
Page 7 of 7 

Table 7. Left-Turn Lane Analysis 

Intersection Approach 
Leg Total DHV1 % Total DHV 

Turning Left 

2036 PM LOS (Delay)2 

Left-Turn Lane 
Warranted Without 

LT Lane 
With 

LT Lane 

Trail Road & 
F&S Grade 

Road 

West (EB) 50 10.0% B (13.3) B (14.7) No 
East (WB) 125 24.0% C (15.8) B (14.5) No 
South (NB) 665 0.8% A (0.1) A (0.1) No 
North (SB) 645 3.1% A (0.8) A (0.8) No 

Trail Road & 
Jones Road 

West (EB) 185 8.1% A (1.1) A (1.1) No 
East (WB) 660 22.0% A (4.5) A (4.5) Yes 
South (NB) 660 0.8% D (27.1) D (25.4) No 
North (SB) 315 11.1% D (32.7) C (24.2) No 

Jones Road & 
Patrick Street 

East (WB) 840 10.1% A (2.1) A (2.1) Yes 
South (NB) 290 12.1% B (16.1) B (12.8) No 

1Design hourly volume (both directions) 
2Average LOS and delay by approach 

 

Left-turn lanes are warranted on the east (Jones Rd) approach of the Trail Road and Jones Road 
intersection, and the east (Jones Rd) approach of the Jones Road and Patrick Street intersection. 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Findings and recommendations are summarized below. 

 Single-lane roundabouts are the preferred intersection control alternative at the intersections of: 
o Cook Road and Trail Road 
o N Township Road (SR 9) and John Liner Road/McGarigle Road. 

 A left-turn lane is warranted at the following two locations: 
o East (Jones Rd) approach of Trail Road and Jones Road intersection. 
o East (Jones Rd) approach of Jones Road and Patrick Street intersection.  

 

 

Attachment 1. 2036 PM Peak Hour Volume With Jones/John Liner Road Corridor 

Attachment 2. 2036 PM Peak Hour Volume Difference, Before and After Jones/John Liner Road Corridor 

Attachment 3. Conceptual Roundabout Layouts 

Attachment 4. Signal Warrant Reports 

Attachment 5: Intersection LOS Reports 

Attachment 6: Left-Turn Storage Guidelines 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 427 of 810



 

  G 

Channelization Warrants 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 428 of 810



Total DHV: 144 Posted Speed: 25 mph
Left Turns: 7

% Left: 4.9%

GIBSON TRAFFIC CONSULTANTS

McGarigle Road @ Site Access

Based on WSDOT July 2018 Design Manual: Exhibit 1310-7a, Page 1310-13.

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

1100

1200

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25%

To
ta

l D
HV

*

% Total DHV Turning Left (single turning movement)

Left-Turn Storage Guidelines

Below Curve, storage not needed for capacity.
Above curve, further analysis recommended.
*DHV is total volume from both directions
**Speeds are posted speeds

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 429 of 810



GIBSON TRAFFIC CONSULTANTS

Right Turn Volume: 37 [DDHV] Posted Speed: 25 mph
Adjusted Right Turn Volume: 37 [DDHV]
Pk Hr Curb Ln Approach Vol: 73 [DDHV]

McGarigle Road @ Site Access

Based on WSDOT July 2018 Design Manual: Exhibit 1310-11, Page 1310-27.

0

20

40

60

80

100

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700

Pe
ak

 H
ou

r R
ig

ht
-T

ur
n 

[2
]

Peak Hour Approach Volume (DDVH) [1]

Right-Turn Lane Guidelines

Consider right-turn lane [5]
Consider right-turn
pocket or taper [4]

Radius only [3]

[1] For two-lane highways, use the peak hour DDHV (through + right turn).
For multilane, high speed highways (posted speed 45 mph or above), use the right-lane peak 
hour approach volume (through + right turn).

[2] When all three of the following conditions are met, reduce the right-turn DDHV by 20:
- The posted speed is 45 mph or less
- The right-turn volume is greater than 40 VPH
- The peak hour approach volume (DDHV) is less than 300 VPH.

[3] For right-turn corner design, see Exhibit 1310-6.
[4] For right-turn pocket or taper design, see Exhibit 1310-12.
[5] For right-turn lane design, see Exhibit 1310-13.

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 430 of 810



 

  H 

Sedro Woolley Six-Year TIP 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 431 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 432 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 433 of 810

mfreiberger
Text Box
C38

mfreiberger
Line

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Text Box
- 2017 Update

mfreiberger
PolyLine

mfreiberger
Text Box
Metcalf



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 434 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 435 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 436 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 437 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 438 of 810



 

  I 

Sedro Woolley Traffic Impact Fee Documents 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 439 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 440 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 441 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 442 of 810



Technical Memorandum 

 

 

 

 

October 4, 2019 

 

TO:  David Lee, PE 
City Engineer, City of Sedro-Woolley 

 
FROM:  Andrew L. Bratlien, PE 
 

SUBJECT:  McGarigle Development TIA Review 
   

This memorandum summarizes the findings of Transportation Solutions’ peer review of the McGarigle 
Development Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) dated September 2019. The TIA is provided as Attachment 1. 

Transportation Solutions reviewed the TIA methods and assumptions, with specific consideration for PM 
peak hour traffic volume forecasts. As a reference check, the 2025 traffic forecasts in the TIA were 
compared to the 2036 traffic forecasts identified in the Jones/John Liner/Trail Rd Corridor Traffic Analysis, 
provided as Attachment 2. The Jones/John Liner/Trail Rd forecasts were developed using the Sedro-
Woolley citywide travel demand model, which includes anticipated 2036 land use growth consistent with 
the Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan.   

This review indicated that the findings and recommendations of the TIA are generally consistent with the 
conclusions of the Jones/John Liner/Trail Rd corridor study.  

 The intersection of John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd and Township St (SR 9) will operate at LOS F 
without improvement in both without- and with-development scenarios.  

 The planned single-lane roundabout at the intersection will allow the intersection to operate well 
at LOS A through the 2036 PM peak hour.  

 The residential development does not exceed the total long-range growth forecasts identified in 
the Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan. 

Please contact me with any questions regarding this peer review.  

 

 

Attachment 1. McGarigle Development Traffic Impact Analysis 

Attachment 2. Jones/John Liner/Trail Rd Corridor Projects Traffic Analysis; Updated 1/3/2019 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 443 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit OTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



  GTC #19-229 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Gibson Traffic Consultants 
2813 Rockefeller Avenue 
Suite B 
Everett, WA 98201 
425.339.8266 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

McGarigle Development 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 
 Jurisdiction: City of Sedro Woolley 

 
September 2019 

 
 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 444 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com i GTC #19-229 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
1. INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................... 1 
2. METHODOLOGY .................................................................................................................. 1 
3. TRIP GENERATION AND DISTRIBUTION ....................................................................... 4 

3.1 Trip Generation Calculations ........................................................................................... 4 
3.2 Trip Distribution ............................................................................................................... 5 

4. WEEKDAY PM PEAK-HOUR ANALYSIS ......................................................................... 8 
4.1 Turning Movement Calculations ...................................................................................... 8 
4.2 LOS Analysis ................................................................................................................. 13 

5. COLLISION DATA .............................................................................................................. 13 
6. ACCESS ANALYSIS ........................................................................................................... 14 
7. TRAFFIC MITIGATION FEES ........................................................................................... 14 
8. CONCLUSIONS ................................................................................................................... 15 
 

LIST OF FIGURES 
 

Figure 1:  Site Vicinity Map ........................................................................................................... 2 
Figure 2: Age-Restricted PM Peak-Hour Trip Distribution ........................................................... 6 
Figure 3: Unrestricted PM Peak-Hour Trip Distribution ................................................................ 7 
Figure 4: 2019 Existing Turning Movement Volumes ................................................................. 10 
Figure 5: 2025 Baseline Turning Movement Volumes................................................................. 11 
Figure 6: 2025 Future with Development Turning Movement Volumes ..................................... 12 

  
LIST OF TABLES 

 
Table 1: Level of Service Criteria for Intersections ........................................................................ 3 
Table 2: ITE Land Use Codes ......................................................................................................... 4 
Table 3: Trip Generation Summary – Age-Restricted Scenario ..................................................... 4 
Table 4: Trip Generation Summary – Unrestricted Scenario ......................................................... 4 
Table 5: Intersection LOS Summary – PM Peak-Hour ................................................................ 13 
Table 6: 5-Year Collision Rate Calculation .................................................................................. 14 

 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 445 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com ii GTC #19-229 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
Trip Generation Calculations ......................................................................................................... A 
Turning Movement Counts ............................................................................................................. B 
2025 Turning Movement Calculations ........................................................................................... C 
Level of Service Calculations ........................................................................................................ D 
Collision Data ................................................................................................................................. E 
Pipeline Projects .............................................................................................................................. F 
Channelization Warrants ................................................................................................................ G 
Sedro Woolley Six-Year TIP ......................................................................................................... H 
Sedro Woolley Traffic Impact Fee Documents ............................................................................... I 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 446 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 1 GTC #19-229 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. (GTC) has been retained to provide an analysis of the impacts of 
the McGarigle development in the City of Sedro Woolley. The development is proposed to consist 
of 85 residential units. The McGarigle development is located on the south side of McGarigle 
Road, east of Carter Street. The development is proposed to have one access to McGarigle Road 
opposite of the existing Independence Boulevard/McGarigle Road intersection. A site vicinity map 
is included in Figure 1. 
 
Zach Wieben, responsible for this report, is a licensed professional engineer (Civil) in the State of 
Washington and member of the Washington State section of the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE). 
 

2. METHODOLOGY 
 
Scoping discussions with the City of Sedro Woolley staff identified two off-site intersections to 
be analyzed. The proposed site access to McGarigle Road was also analyzed for level of service 
and channelization warrants under the future with development conditions. The three intersections 
analyzed during the PM peak-hour in this report are listed below.  
 

1. SR-9 at John Liner Road/McGarigle Road  
2. McGarigle Road at Independence Boulevard/Site Access 
3. McGarigle Road at Fruitdale Road 

 
The 85 residential units within the McGarigle Development may be age-restricted units for seniors 
55 years and older; however, that determination has yet to be made. Intersection analysis for the 
off-site intersections and the site access were analyzed with no age restrictions for the development 
(i.e. a higher vehicle trip generation) to perform a conservative level of service analysis. Trip 
generation and traffic mitigation fee calculations for both the age-restricted and unrestricted 
development scenarios are included in the report.    
 
Intersections were analyzed during the 4-6 PM typical afternoon commuter peak period. The 
existing count data at the study intersections is based on data collected by the independent count 
firm Traffic Data Gathering (TDG), collected in 2019. The trip generation calculations were 
performed using data from the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation 
Manual, 10th Edition (2017). The intersection analysis has been performed using existing 
channelization, phasing, intersection peak-hour factors, and intersection heavy vehicle factors 
from the existing turning movement counts. The intersection level of service has been reported for 
each study intersection. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 447 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

SI
TE

 V
IC

IN
IT

Y
MA

P

FI
GU

RE
 1

LE
GE

ND

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

SI
TE

ST
UD

Y 
IN

TE
RS

EC
TI

ON

#1

#3

#X

#2

FU
TU

RE
 R

OA
D

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 448 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 3 GTC #19-229 

The peak-hour level of service (LOS) analysis calculations were completed using the Synchro 
10.2, Build 0 software for signalized and unsignalized intersections. This software applies the 
operational analysis methodology of the Highway Capacity Manual 6th Edition (HCM). Traffic 
congestion is generally measured in terms of level of service. In accordance with the HCM 6th 
Edition, road facilities and intersections are rated between LOS A and LOS F, with LOS A being 
free flow and LOS F being forced flow or over-capacity conditions. Analysis of the roundabouts 
was performed using Sidra Intersection 8.0 software. It is important to note that the volumes 
included in the Sidra results printouts account for the peak-hour factor, the volumes in the printouts 
are not the input volumes. The results for the roundabout analysis have been evaluated based on 
volume-to-capacity (v/c) ratio and the level of service. WSDOT evaluates roundabouts on a 
pass/fail basis, with a v/c ratio of 0.92 on any approach being the threshold. The level of service 
criteria is summarized in Table 1. The level of service at two-way stop-controlled intersections is 
based on the average delay of the worst approach.  The level of service at signalized and all-way 
stop-controlled intersections is based on the average delay for all approaches. Geometric 
characteristics and conflicting traffic movements are taken into consideration when determining 
level of service values.  
 

Table 1: Level of Service Criteria for Intersections 
 

Level of 1 
Service 

Expected 
Delay 

Intersection Control Delay 
(Seconds per Vehicle) 

Unsignalized 
Intersections 

Signalized 
Intersections 

A Little/No Delay <10 <10 
B Short Delays >10 and <15 >10 and <20 
C Average Delays >15 and <25 >20 and <35 
D Long Delays >25 and <35 >35 and <55 
E Very Long Delays >35 and <50 >55 and <80 
F Extreme Delays2 >50 >80 

 
The City of Sedro Woolley’s level of service standard for SR-20, SR-9, and principal arterials is 
LOS D. The City of Sedro Woolley’s level of service standard for minor arterials and major 
collectors is LOS C. 

 
1 Source:  Highway Capacity Manual 6th Edition. 
 LOS A: Free-flow traffic conditions, with minimal delay to stopped vehicles (no vehicle is delayed longer 

than one cycle at signalized intersection). 
 LOS B: Generally stable traffic flow conditions. 

LOS C: Occasional back-ups may develop, but delay to vehicles is short term and still tolerable. 
LOS D: During short periods of the peak hour, delays to approaching vehicles may be substantial but are 

tolerable during times of less demand (i.e. vehicles delayed one cycle or less at signal). 
LOS E: Intersections operate at or near capacity, with long queues developing on all approaches and long 

delays. 
LOS F: Jammed conditions on all approaches with excessively long delays and vehicles unable to move at 

times. 
2 When demand volume exceeds the capacity of the lane, extreme delays will be encountered with queuing which may 

cause severe congestion affecting other traffic movements in the intersection. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 449 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 4 GTC #19-229 

3. TRIP GENERATION AND DISTRIBUTION 
3.1 Trip Generation Calculations 

 

The McGarigle development is proposed to consist of 85 residential units. The development is 
proposed to consist of 51 detached units and 34 attached townhome units. The development could 
be age-restricted for seniors 55 years and older or it could have no age restrictions. The ITE Land 
Use Codes (LUC) for the attached and detached units for both the age-restricted and unrestricted 
scenarios are shown in Table 2. 
 

Table 2: ITE Land Use Codes 
 

Unit Type Number of Units ITE Land Use Code 
Age-Restricted (55+ Years) Unrestricted 

Detached 51 ITE LUC 251 
Senior Housing Detached 

ITE LUC 210 
Single-Family Detached 

Attached 34 ITE LUC 252 
Senior Housing Attached 

ITE LUC 220 
Multifamily Low-Rise 

 
Trip generation calculations for the age-restricted scenario are summarized in Table 3. 
 

Table 3: Trip Generation Summary – Age-Restricted Scenario 
 

Land Use # Units ADT AM Peak-Hour PM Peak-Hour 
In Out Total In Out Total 

LUC 251, 
Senior Housing, Detached 51 218 4 8 12 9 6 15 

LUC 252, 
Senior Housing, Attached 34 126 2 5 7 5 4 9 

TOTAL 344 6 13 19 14 10 24 

 
Trip generation calculations for the unrestricted scenario are summarized in Table 4. 
 

Table 4: Trip Generation Summary – Unrestricted Scenario 
 

Land Use # Units ADT AM Peak-Hour PM Peak-Hour 
In Out Total In Out Total 

LUC 210, 
Single-Family, Detached 51 481 9 28 37 32 19 51 

LUC 220, 
Multifamily (Low-Rise) 34 249 4 12 16 12 7 19 

TOTAL 730 13 40 53 44 26 70 

 
As an age-restricted development, the McGarigle development would generate approximately 344 
average daily trips, 19 AM peak-hour trips, and 24 PM peak-hour trips. As an unrestricted 
development, the McGarigle development would generate approximately 730 average daily trips, 
53 AM peak-hour trips, and 70 PM peak-hour trips. Detailed trip generation calculations for each 
of the development scenarios are included in the attachments. 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 450 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 5 GTC #19-229 

3.2 Trip Distribution 
 
It is estimated that 72% of the development’s trips will travel along SR-20, sixty percent to and 
from the west and twelve percent to and from the east. Approximately 12% of the development’s 
trips are expected to travel along Township Street, five percent to and from the south and seven 
percent to and from the north. An additional 11% of the trips from the development are expected 
to travel to local destinations along Township Street between John Liner Road/McGarigle Road 
and Wicker Road. The remaining 5% of the trips from the development are anticipated to travel 
along John Liner Road. Detailed trip distributions for the age-restricted and unrestricted PM peak-
hour are included in Figure 2 and Figure 3, respectively. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 451 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

LE
GE

ND

XX

PE
AK

PM
NE

W
 S

IT
E 

TR
AF

FI
C

(D
AI

LY
/P

EA
K 

HO
UR

)

TR
IP

 D
IS

TR
IB

UT
IO

N 
%

FI
GU

RE
 2

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

TR
IP

DI
ST

RI
BU

TI
ON

PM
 P

EA
K-

HO
UR

AG
E-

RE
ST

RI
CT

ED
 U

NI
TS

AW
DT

1

24

7
1

12
42

2

1

6

21 1

1

5

17 0

1

5
17

1

0

5

171

0
LO

CA
L

LO
CA

L

LO
CA

L

10 34
1

1

2

52

15
2

1

17

5
0

35
12
0

3

5

60 20
6

6
8

2

42

12
1

10

34

1 1

5 17
1

0

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 452 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

LE
GE

ND

XX

PE
AK

PM
NE

W
 S

IT
E 

TR
AF

FI
C

(D
AI

LY
/P

EA
K 

HO
UR

)

TR
IP

 D
IS

TR
IB

UT
IO

N 
%

FI
GU

RE
 3

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

TR
IP

DI
ST

RI
BU

TI
ON

PM
 P

EA
K-

HO
UR

UN
RE

ST
RI

CT
ED

 U
NI

TS

AW
DT

2

51

7
3

12
88

7

4

6

44 1

2

5

36 1

2

5
36

1

2

5

362

1
LO

CA
L

LO
CA

L

LO
CA

L

10 73
3

4

7

110

15
4

2

36

5
1

35
25
6

9

15

60 43
9

16
26

7

88

12
4

10

73

4 3

5 36
1

2

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 453 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 8 GTC #19-229 

4. WEEKDAY PM PEAK-HOUR ANALYSIS 
 
The scope of the level of service analysis performed as part of this report is based on scoping 
discussions between GTC staff and City of Sedro Woolley staff. Level of service at the following 
intersections has been analyzed for the weekday PM peak-hour: 
 

1. SR-9 at John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd  
2. McGarigle Road at Independence Blvd/Site Access 
3. McGarigle Road at Fruitdale Road 

 
Level of Service for each of the study intersections was performed for the following scenarios: 
 

 2019 Existing Conditions 
 2025 Baseline Conditions 
 2025 Future Conditions with Development 

 
The level of service analysis was performed using development trips from the unrestricted scenario 
which has the higher expected trip generation of the two scenarios (age restricted vs. unrestricted). 
Using the higher of the two trip generation scenarios results in a conservative (higher average 
vehicle delay) level of service analysis for potential mitigation.  
 

4.1 Turning Movement Calculations 
 
The 2019 existing turning movements at the study intersections are based on data collected by the 
independent traffic count firm Traffic Data Gathering. The 2019 existing volumes at the study 
intersections are shown in Figure 4.  
 
The 2025 baseline volumes were calculated by applying a 2% annually compounding growth rate 
to the existing volumes as well as pipeline trips from the Northern State Campus Planned Action 
and diverting trips from the John Liner Road Corridor Project. Traffic volumes at the study 
intersections for the “High Intensity Site Development” were added from a draft version of the 
Northern State Campus Planned Action EIS completed in 2015 by TSI, Inc. City of Sedro Woolley 
staff were not able to provide a final analysis and therefore inclusion of trips from the Northern 
State Campus Planned Action should be considered conservative and preliminary.  
 
Improvement projects identified in the City of Sedro Woolley’s 2019-2024 TIP will construct 
roadway improvements creating a continuous arterial on John Liner Road/Jones Road from 
Township Street/SR-9 to F&S Grade Road. This new arterial will provide an alternative parallel 
route to SR-20 to help reduce congestion. Construction of intersection improvements at Township 
Street/SR-9 and John Liner Rd/McGarigle Road by WSDOT and the City of Sedro Woolley are 
expected to be complete in 2025 based on the City’s 2019 TIP. A report completed by TSI, Inc. 
for the City of Sedro Woolley in January 2019 identified the preferred intersection improvement 
to be a single-lane roundabout at this location. The TSI report identified approximately 255 
additional eastbound trips in the forecast year 2036 on John Liner Road west of Township 
Street/SR-9 as a result of the arterial and intersection improvements. These additional trips were 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 454 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 9 GTC #19-229 

added to the 2025 background growth forecast for the McGarigle development analysis based on 
the 2036 eastbound turning movement splits in the TSI analysis. By including the additional 
growth expected on John Liner Road by the year 2036 in the 2025 forecast, the intersection 
volumes for the SR-9 and John Liner Road/McGarigle Road intersection should be considered 
conservatively high. The background improvement projects included in the 2025 future baseline 
analysis are either funded or included in the City of Sedro Woolley’s Traffic Impact Fee (TIF) cost 
basis. The 2025 future baseline volumes are shown in Figure 5.  
 
The 2025 future with development turning movement volumes were calculated by adding the 
unrestricted development trips to the 2025 baseline volumes. The 2025 future with development 
volumes are shown in Figure 6. 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 455 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

#1
SR

-9
/T

OW
NS

HI
P 

ST
@

 M
cG

AR
IG

LE
 R

D
#2

Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
RD

@
 IN

DE
PE

N.
 B

LV
D

#3
Mc

GA
RI

GL
E 

RD
@

 F
RU

IT
DA

LE
 R

D

#3

#2

#1

LE
GE

ND

PE
AK

 H
OU

R
TU

RN
IN

G 
MO

VE
ME

NT
 V

OL
UM

ES
XX

EX
IS

TI
NG

TU
RN

IN
G 

MO
VE

ME
NT

S
PM

 P
EA

K-
HO

UR

FI
GU

RE
 4

16
239
6

20 8 64

66
329
8

6 12 10

0
42

0

0
0
0

0
213

0
0
1

10
115

16
98

22 16

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 456 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

#1
SR

-9
/T

OW
NS

HI
P 

ST
@

 M
cG

AR
IG

LE
 R

D
#2

Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
RD

@
 IN

DE
PE

N.
 B

LV
D

#3
Mc

GA
RI

GL
E 

RD
@

 F
RU

IT
DA

LE
 R

D

#3

#2

#1

LE
GE

ND

PE
AK

 H
OU

R
TU

RN
IN

G 
MO

VE
ME

NT
 V

OL
UM

ES
XX

20
25

 B
AS

EL
IN

E
TU

RN
IN

G 
MO

VE
ME

NT
S

PM
 P

EA
K-

HO
UR

FI
GU

RE
 5

18
269
7

23 19 95

74
371
9

15
2 45 97

30
366

18
213

36 18

0
62

2

0
0
0

0
333

1
0
1

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 457 of 810



Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T
51

 N
EW

 D
ET

AC
HE

D 
UN

IT
S

34
 N

EW
 T

OW
NH

OM
ES

CI
TY

 O
F 

SE
DR

O 
W

OO
LL

EY

TR
AF

FI
C 

IM
PA

CT
 S

TU
DY

IB
SO

N
TR

AF
FI

C
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

S
G

TOWNSHIP ST

GT
C 

#1
9-

22
9

09
/23

/20
19

N

16
8T

H 
ST

 N
E

SI
TE

MINK
LE

R R
D

JA
ME

SO
N 

ST

ST
AT

E 
ST

W
IC

KE
R 

RD

SA
PP

 R
D

JO
HN

 L
IN

ER
 R

D

McG
ARIGLE RD

PO
RT

O 
BE

LL
O

AV
E

F&
S G

RAD
E R

D

BA
SS

ET
T R

D

CO
OK

 R
D

FRUITDALE RD

REED ST

RHODES RD

CARTER ST

IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
CE

BL
VD

.

#1
SR

-9
/T

OW
NS

HI
P 

ST
@

 M
cG

AR
IG

LE
 R

D
#2

Mc
GA

RI
GL

E 
RD

@
 IN

DE
PE

N.
 B

LV
D

#3
Mc

GA
RI

GL
E 

RD
@

 F
RU

IT
DA

LE
 R

D

#3

#2

#1

LE
GE

ND

PE
AK

 H
OU

R
TU

RN
IN

G 
MO

VE
ME

NT
 V

OL
UM

ES
XX

20
25

 F
UT

UR
E 

W
/ D

EV
.

TU
RN

IN
G 

MO
VE

ME
NT

S
PM

 P
EA

K-
HO

UR

FI
GU

RE
 6

7
62

2

4
0
22

37
333

1
0
1

21
269
7

25 20 11
0

100
371
9

15
2 47 97

30
366

25
213

36 22

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 458 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 13 GTC #19-229 

4.2 LOS Analysis 
 
The McGarigle development is anticipated to be constructed and occupied by the year 2025. The 
level of service (LOS) analysis was conducted assuming the development would not have age 
restricted residential units (unrestricted), which represents the higher of the development’s two trip 
generation scenarios. The 2019 existing, 2025 baseline and 2025 future with development level of 
service as well as the critical approaches are shown in Table 5. 
 

Table 5: Intersection LOS Summary – PM Peak-Hour 
 

Intersection 

2019 Existing 
Conditions 

2025 Baseline 
Conditions 

2025 Future 
with Development 

Conditions 

LOS Delay Critical 
Approach LOS Delay Critical 

Approach LOS Delay Critical 
Approach 

1. SR-9/Township St @ 
John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd C 20.5 sec Westbound F 65.5 sec Eastbound3 F 78.0 sec Eastbound 

Single-Lane Roundabout - - - A 6.9 sec Northbound 
(0.42 v/c) A 7.0 sec Northbound 

(0.45 v/c) 
2. McGarigle Rd @ 

Independence Blvd/Access A 8.6 sec Eastbound A 9.1 sec Eastbound A 9.8 sec Westbound 

3. McGarigle Rd @ 
Fruitdale Road B 10 sec Eastbound B 14.3 sec Eastbound B 14.4 sec Eastbound 

 
All study intersections are expected to operate at acceptable levels of service in the 2025 forecast 
year with planned improvement projects and with the higher trip generation scenario assumed for 
development trips. Additionally, the single-lane roundabout improvement is expected to operate 
acceptably at a volume-to-capacity (v/c) ratio below WSDOT’s 0.92 threshold. No additional 
mitigation should therefore be required. 
 

5. COLLISION DATA 
 
WSDOT collision data from the five most recent years of collision data (2014-2018) was reviewed 
at the study intersections. The collision data is summarized in Table 6. 
 
  

 
3 Includes additional eastbound volume from arterial improvements but no intersection improvements 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 459 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 14 GTC #19-229 

Table 6: 5-Year Collision Rate Calculation 
 

Intersection 
PM Peak-Hour 

Intersection 
Vol. 

K-Factor Total 
Collisions 

Collision 
Rate4 

Collision 
Frequency5 

SR-9/Township St @ 
John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd 804 10 4 0.27 0.80 

McGarigle Rd @ 
Independence Blvd/Access 67 10 0 0.00 0.00 

McGarigle Rd @ 
Fruitdale Road 277 10 0 0.00 0.00 

 
Reported collisions only occurred at the intersection of SR-9/Township Street and John Liner 
Rd/McGarigle Rd. A total of four reported collisions occurred at the intersection over the five-year 
timeline which results in a collision frequency of 0.8 collisions per year. The existing PM peak-
hour total intersection volume corresponds to a 5-year collision rate of 0.27 collisions per million 
entering vehicles. Both the collision frequency and collision rate are below the usual thresholds (5 
collisions per year, 1.0 collisions per MEV) for unsignalized intersections where additional safety 
analysis may be advisable. As a result, there are no further safety recommendations at this time. 
 

6. ACCESS ANALYSIS 
 
The development’s access to McGarigle Road will be located directly across from Independence 
Boulevard. McGarigle Road is a two-lane road with a 25-mph posted speed limit. There were no 
reported collisions along the development site’s frontage.  
 
Channelization warrants for left and right-turn channelization were performed based on warrants 
in WSDOT’s 2018 Design Manual. No additional channelization is warranted for the McGarigle 
development access while assuming the higher unrestricted trip generation volumes. 
Channelization warrants are included in the attachments. 
 

7. TRAFFIC MITIGATION FEES 
 
The City of Sedro Woolley assesses traffic impact fees per PM peak-hour trip. The City’s current 
fee per PM peak-hour trip for development’s outside the CBD area is $2,407. The McGarigle 
development could have an age-restriction on its units for seniors 55 years and older, or the units 
could be unrestricted. These two scenarios result in a different trip generation calculation for the 
development and therefore would have different corresponding traffic impact fees. The age-
restricted scenario is expected to generate 24 PM peak-hour trips and would have a corresponding 
traffic impact fee of $57,768, equivalent to $679.62 per unit. The unrestricted scenario is expected 
to generate 70 PM peak-hour trips and would have a corresponding traffic impact fee of $168,490, 
equivalent to $1,982.24 per unit. The development would pay its proportional share of 

 
4 The collision rate is based on Million Entering Vehicles. 
5 Collisions per year 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 460 of 810



McGarigle Development  Traffic Impact Analysis 

Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc.  September 2019 
info@gibsontraffic.com 15 GTC #19-229 

improvement projects identified in the level of service analysis by paying the City’s standard 
traffic impact fees because the projects are included in the fee’s cost basis. 
 

8. CONCLUSIONS 
 
The McGarigle development is an 85-unit residential development that could either be age-
restricted for seniors 55 years and older or could have no age restrictions. As an age-restricted 
development, the McGarigle development would generate approximately 344 average daily trips, 
19 AM peak-hour trips, and 24 PM peak-hour trips. As an unrestricted development, the 
McGarigle development would generate approximately 730 average daily trips, 53 AM peak-hour 
trips, and 70 PM peak-hour trips. All the intersections analyzed would operate within acceptable 
level of service standards and the approaches would operate with acceptable delays in 2025 with 
planned roadway improvements by the City of Sedro Woolley. The development’s access would 
not warrant any additional left or right-turn channelization. 
 
City of Sedro Woolley traffic impact fees would differ depending on whether or not an age 
restriction was put in place for the units. An age-restricted community would have a proportional 
traffic impact fee of $57,768, equivalent to $679.62 per unit for the 85 total units. An unrestricted 
community would have a proportional traffic impact fee of $168,490, equivalent to $1,982.24 per 
unit for the 85 total units. Payment of the City’s traffic impact fee should be considered the 
development’s proportionate share contribution towards the cost of planned improvement projects 
because the projects are included in the City’s fee cost basis. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 461 of 810



 

  A 

 

Trip Generation Calculations  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 462 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

(a
.k

.a
.):

  
Av

er
ag

e 
W

ee
kd

ay
 D

ai
ly

 T
rip

s 
(A

W
D

T)

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Se
ni

or
 H

ou
si

ng
 D

et
ac

he
d

51
 u

ni
ts

25
1

4.
27

50
%

50
%

21
7.

77
0%

0.
00

21
7.

77
0%

0.
00

21
7.

77
0.

00
0.

00
10

8.
89

10
8.

88
Se

ni
or

 H
ou

si
ng

 A
tta

ch
ed

34
 u

ni
ts

25
2

3.
70

50
%

50
%

12
5.

80
0%

0.
00

12
5.

80
0%

0.
00

12
5.

80
0.

00
0.

00
62

.9
0

62
.9

0
34

3.
57

0.
00

34
3.

57
0.

00
34

3.
57

0.
00

0.
00

17
1.

79
17

1.
78

To
ta

l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 463 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

, P
ea

k 
H

ou
r o

f A
dj

ac
en

t S
tr

ee
t T

ra
ffi

c,
 O

ne
 H

ou
r b

et
w

ee
n 

7 
an

d 
9 

AM
(a

.k
.a

.):
  

W
ee

kd
ay

 A
M

 P
ea

k 
H

ou
r

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Se
ni

or
 H

ou
si

ng
 D

et
ac

he
d

51
 u

ni
ts

25
1

0.
24

33
%

67
%

12
.2

4
0%

0.
00

12
.2

4
0%

0.
00

12
.2

4
0.

00
0.

00
4.

04
8.

20
Se

ni
or

 H
ou

si
ng

 A
tta

ch
ed

34
 u

ni
ts

25
2

0.
20

35
%

65
%

6.
80

0%
0.

00
6.

80
0%

0.
00

6.
80

0.
00

0.
00

2.
38

4.
42

19
.0

4
0.

00
19

.0
4

0.
00

19
.0

4
0.

00
0.

00
6.

42
12

.6
2

To
ta

l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 464 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

, P
ea

k 
H

ou
r o

f A
dj

ac
en

t S
tr

ee
t T

ra
ffi

c,
 O

ne
 H

ou
r b

et
w

ee
n 

4 
an

d 
6 

PM
(a

.k
.a

.):
  

W
ee

kd
ay

 P
M

 P
ea

k 
H

ou
r

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Se
ni

or
 H

ou
si

ng
 D

et
ac

he
d

51
 u

ni
ts

25
1

0.
30

61
%

39
%

15
.3

0
0%

0.
00

15
.3

0
0%

0.
00

15
.3

0
0.

00
0.

00
9.

33
5.

97
Se

ni
or

 H
ou

si
ng

 A
tta

ch
ed

34
 u

ni
ts

25
2

0.
26

55
%

45
%

8.
84

0%
0.

00
8.

84
0%

0.
00

8.
84

0.
00

0.
00

4.
86

3.
98

24
.1

4
0.

00
24

.1
4

0.
00

24
.1

4
0.

00
0.

00
14

.1
9

9.
95

To
ta

l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 465 of 810



McGarigle Development
GTC #19-229

New New AM Peak Hour Trips New New AM Peak Hour Trips
ADT In Out Total ADT In Out Total

100% 344 6 13 19 100% 344 6 13 19
1% 3.44 0.06 0.13 0.19 51% 175.22 3.27 6.44 9.71
2% 6.87 0.13 0.25 0.38 52% 178.66 3.34 6.56 9.90
3% 10.31 0.19 0.38 0.57 53% 182.09 3.40 6.69 10.09
4% 13.74 0.26 0.50 0.76 54% 185.53 3.47 6.81 10.28
5% 17.18 0.32 0.63 0.95 55% 188.96 3.53 6.94 10.47
6% 20.61 0.39 0.76 1.14 56% 192.40 3.60 7.07 10.66
7% 24.05 0.45 0.88 1.33 57% 195.83 3.66 7.19 10.85
8% 27.49 0.51 1.01 1.52 58% 199.27 3.72 7.32 11.04
9% 30.92 0.58 1.14 1.71 59% 202.71 3.79 7.45 11.23

10% 34.36 0.64 1.26 1.90 60% 206.14 3.85 7.57 11.42
11% 37.79 0.71 1.39 2.09 61% 209.58 3.92 7.70 11.61
12% 41.23 0.77 1.51 2.28 62% 213.01 3.98 7.82 11.80
13% 44.66 0.83 1.64 2.48 63% 216.45 4.04 7.95 12.00
14% 48.10 0.90 1.77 2.67 64% 219.88 4.11 8.08 12.19
15% 51.54 0.96 1.89 2.86 65% 223.32 4.17 8.20 12.38
16% 54.97 1.03 2.02 3.05 66% 226.76 4.24 8.33 12.57
17% 58.41 1.09 2.15 3.24 67% 230.19 4.30 8.46 12.76
18% 61.84 1.16 2.27 3.43 68% 233.63 4.37 8.58 12.95
19% 65.28 1.22 2.40 3.62 69% 237.06 4.43 8.71 13.14
20% 68.71 1.28 2.52 3.81 70% 240.50 4.49 8.83 13.33
21% 72.15 1.35 2.65 4.00 71% 243.93 4.56 8.96 13.52
22% 75.59 1.41 2.78 4.19 72% 247.37 4.62 9.09 13.71
23% 79.02 1.48 2.90 4.38 73% 250.81 4.69 9.21 13.90
24% 82.46 1.54 3.03 4.57 74% 254.24 4.75 9.34 14.09
25% 85.89 1.61 3.16 4.76 75% 257.68 4.82 9.47 14.28
26% 89.33 1.67 3.28 4.95 76% 261.11 4.88 9.59 14.47
27% 92.76 1.73 3.41 5.14 77% 264.55 4.94 9.72 14.66
28% 96.20 1.80 3.53 5.33 78% 267.98 5.01 9.84 14.85
29% 99.64 1.86 3.66 5.52 79% 271.42 5.07 9.97 15.04
30% 103.07 1.93 3.79 5.71 80% 274.86 5.14 10.10 15.23
31% 106.51 1.99 3.91 5.90 81% 278.29 5.20 10.22 15.42
32% 109.94 2.05 4.04 6.09 82% 281.73 5.26 10.35 15.61
33% 113.38 2.12 4.16 6.28 83% 285.16 5.33 10.47 15.80
34% 116.81 2.18 4.29 6.47 84% 288.60 5.39 10.60 15.99
35% 120.25 2.25 4.42 6.66 85% 292.03 5.46 10.73 16.18
36% 123.69 2.31 4.54 6.85 86% 295.47 5.52 10.85 16.37
37% 127.12 2.38 4.67 7.04 87% 298.91 5.59 10.98 16.56
38% 130.56 2.44 4.80 7.24 88% 302.34 5.65 11.11 16.76
39% 133.99 2.50 4.92 7.43 89% 305.78 5.71 11.23 16.95
40% 137.43 2.57 5.05 7.62 90% 309.21 5.78 11.36 17.14
41% 140.86 2.63 5.17 7.81 91% 312.65 5.84 11.48 17.33
42% 144.30 2.70 5.30 8.00 92% 316.08 5.91 11.61 17.52
43% 147.74 2.76 5.43 8.19 93% 319.52 5.97 11.74 17.71
44% 151.17 2.82 5.55 8.38 94% 322.96 6.03 11.86 17.90
45% 154.61 2.89 5.68 8.57 95% 326.39 6.10 11.99 18.09
46% 158.04 2.95 5.81 8.76 96% 329.83 6.16 12.12 18.28
47% 161.48 3.02 5.93 8.95 97% 333.26 6.23 12.24 18.47
48% 164.91 3.08 6.06 9.14 98% 336.70 6.29 12.37 18.66
49% 168.35 3.15 6.18 9.33 99% 340.13 6.36 12.49 18.85
50% 171.79 3.21 6.31 9.52 100% 343.57 6.42 12.62 19.04

AM Peak-Hour

% %

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 466 of 810



McGarigle Development
GTC #19-229

New New PM Peak Hour Trips New New PM Peak Hour Trips
ADT In Out Total ADT In Out Total

100% 344 14 10 24 100% 344 14 10 24
1% 3.44 0.14 0.10 0.24 51% 175.22 7.24 5.07 12.31
2% 6.87 0.28 0.20 0.48 52% 178.66 7.38 5.17 12.55
3% 10.31 0.43 0.30 0.72 53% 182.09 7.52 5.27 12.79
4% 13.74 0.57 0.40 0.97 54% 185.53 7.66 5.37 13.04
5% 17.18 0.71 0.50 1.21 55% 188.96 7.80 5.47 13.28
6% 20.61 0.85 0.60 1.45 56% 192.40 7.95 5.57 13.52
7% 24.05 0.99 0.70 1.69 57% 195.83 8.09 5.67 13.76
8% 27.49 1.14 0.80 1.93 58% 199.27 8.23 5.77 14.00
9% 30.92 1.28 0.90 2.17 59% 202.71 8.37 5.87 14.24

10% 34.36 1.42 1.00 2.41 60% 206.14 8.51 5.97 14.48
11% 37.79 1.56 1.09 2.66 61% 209.58 8.66 6.07 14.73
12% 41.23 1.70 1.19 2.90 62% 213.01 8.80 6.17 14.97
13% 44.66 1.84 1.29 3.14 63% 216.45 8.94 6.27 15.21
14% 48.10 1.99 1.39 3.38 64% 219.88 9.08 6.37 15.45
15% 51.54 2.13 1.49 3.62 65% 223.32 9.22 6.47 15.69
16% 54.97 2.27 1.59 3.86 66% 226.76 9.37 6.57 15.93
17% 58.41 2.41 1.69 4.10 67% 230.19 9.51 6.67 16.17
18% 61.84 2.55 1.79 4.35 68% 233.63 9.65 6.77 16.42
19% 65.28 2.70 1.89 4.59 69% 237.06 9.79 6.87 16.66
20% 68.71 2.84 1.99 4.83 70% 240.50 9.93 6.97 16.90
21% 72.15 2.98 2.09 5.07 71% 243.93 10.07 7.06 17.14
22% 75.59 3.12 2.19 5.31 72% 247.37 10.22 7.16 17.38
23% 79.02 3.26 2.29 5.55 73% 250.81 10.36 7.26 17.62
24% 82.46 3.41 2.39 5.79 74% 254.24 10.50 7.36 17.86
25% 85.89 3.55 2.49 6.04 75% 257.68 10.64 7.46 18.11
26% 89.33 3.69 2.59 6.28 76% 261.11 10.78 7.56 18.35
27% 92.76 3.83 2.69 6.52 77% 264.55 10.93 7.66 18.59
28% 96.20 3.97 2.79 6.76 78% 267.98 11.07 7.76 18.83
29% 99.64 4.12 2.89 7.00 79% 271.42 11.21 7.86 19.07
30% 103.07 4.26 2.99 7.24 80% 274.86 11.35 7.96 19.31
31% 106.51 4.40 3.08 7.48 81% 278.29 11.49 8.06 19.55
32% 109.94 4.54 3.18 7.72 82% 281.73 11.64 8.16 19.79
33% 113.38 4.68 3.28 7.97 83% 285.16 11.78 8.26 20.04
34% 116.81 4.82 3.38 8.21 84% 288.60 11.92 8.36 20.28
35% 120.25 4.97 3.48 8.45 85% 292.03 12.06 8.46 20.52
36% 123.69 5.11 3.58 8.69 86% 295.47 12.20 8.56 20.76
37% 127.12 5.25 3.68 8.93 87% 298.91 12.35 8.66 21.00
38% 130.56 5.39 3.78 9.17 88% 302.34 12.49 8.76 21.24
39% 133.99 5.53 3.88 9.41 89% 305.78 12.63 8.86 21.48
40% 137.43 5.68 3.98 9.66 90% 309.21 12.77 8.96 21.73
41% 140.86 5.82 4.08 9.90 91% 312.65 12.91 9.05 21.97
42% 144.30 5.96 4.18 10.14 92% 316.08 13.05 9.15 22.21
43% 147.74 6.10 4.28 10.38 93% 319.52 13.20 9.25 22.45
44% 151.17 6.24 4.38 10.62 94% 322.96 13.34 9.35 22.69
45% 154.61 6.39 4.48 10.86 95% 326.39 13.48 9.45 22.93
46% 158.04 6.53 4.58 11.10 96% 329.83 13.62 9.55 23.17
47% 161.48 6.67 4.68 11.35 97% 333.26 13.76 9.65 23.42
48% 164.91 6.81 4.78 11.59 98% 336.70 13.91 9.75 23.66
49% 168.35 6.95 4.88 11.83 99% 340.13 14.05 9.85 23.90
50% 171.79 7.10 4.98 12.07 100% 343.57 14.19 9.95 24.14

PM Peak-Hour

% %

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 467 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

(a
.k

.a
.):

  
Av

er
ag

e 
W

ee
kd

ay
 D

ai
ly

 T
rip

s 
(A

W
D

T)

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Si
ng

le
 F

am
ily

 D
et

ac
he

d
51

 u
ni

ts
21

0
9.

44
50

%
50

%
48

1.
44

0%
0.

00
48

1.
44

0%
0.

00
48

1.
44

0.
00

0.
00

24
0.

72
24

0.
72

M
ul

tif
am

ily
 H

ou
si

ng
 (L

ow
-R

is
e)

34
 u

ni
ts

22
0

7.
32

50
%

50
%

24
8.

88
0%

0.
00

24
8.

88
0%

0.
00

24
8.

88
0.

00
0.

00
12

4.
44

12
4.

44
73

0.
32

0.
00

73
0.

32
0.

00
73

0.
32

0.
00

0.
00

36
5.

16
36

5.
16

To
ta

l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 468 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

, P
ea

k 
H

ou
r o

f A
dj

ac
en

t S
tr

ee
t T

ra
ffi

c,
 O

ne
 H

ou
r b

et
w

ee
n 

7 
an

d 
9 

AM
(a

.k
.a

.):
  

W
ee

kd
ay

 A
M

 P
ea

k 
H

ou
r

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Si
ng

le
 F

am
ily

 D
et

ac
he

d
51

 u
ni

ts
21

0
0.

74
25

%
75

%
37

.7
4

0%
0.

00
37

.7
4

0%
0.

00
37

.7
4

0.
00

0.
00

9.
44

28
.3

0
M

ul
tif

am
ily

 H
ou

si
ng

 (L
ow

-R
is

e)
34

 u
ni

ts
22

0
0.

46
23

%
77

%
15

.6
4

0%
0.

00
15

.6
4

0%
0.

00
15

.6
4

0.
00

0.
00

3.
60

12
.0

4
53

.3
8

0.
00

53
.3

8
0.

00
53

.3
8

0.
00

0.
00

13
.0

4
40

.3
4

To
ta

l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 469 of 810



M
cG

ar
ig

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

G
TC

 #
19

-2
29

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

fo
r:

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t P

ea
k 

W
ee

kd
ay

, P
ea

k 
H

ou
r o

f A
dj

ac
en

t S
tr

ee
t T

ra
ffi

c,
 O

ne
 H

ou
r b

et
w

ee
n 

4 
an

d 
6 

PM
(a

.k
.a

.):
  

W
ee

kd
ay

 P
M

 P
ea

k 
H

ou
r

N
ET

 E
XT

ER
N

AL
 T

R
IP

S 
B

Y 
TY

PE
IN

 B
O

TH
 D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
S

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

AL
 A

SS
IG

N
M

EN
TS

G
ro

ss
 T

rip
s

In
te

rn
al

C
ro

ss
ov

er
TO

TA
L

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

PA
SS

-B
Y

N
EW

LA
N

D
 U

SE
S

VA
R

IA
B

LE
IT

E 
LU

 
co

de

Tr
ip

R
at

e
% IN

% O
U

T
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

%
 o

f
G

ro
ss

Tr
ip

s

Tr
ip

s
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)

%
 o

f
Ex

t.
Tr

ip
s

In
+O

ut
(T

ot
al

)
In

+O
ut

(T
ot

al
)

In
O

ut
In

O
ut

Si
ng

le
 F

am
ily

 D
et

ac
he

d
51

 u
ni

ts
21

0
0.

99
63

%
37

%
50

.4
9

0%
0.

00
50

.4
9

0%
0.

00
50

.4
9

0.
00

0.
00

31
.8

1
18

.6
8

M
ul

tif
am

ily
 H

ou
si

ng
 (L

ow
-R

is
e)

34
 u

ni
ts

22
0

0.
56

63
%

37
%

19
.0

4
0%

0.
00

19
.0

4
0%

0.
00

19
.0

4
0.

00
0.

00
12

.0
0

7.
04

69
.5

3
0.

00
69

.5
3

0.
00

69
.5

3
0.

00
0.

00
43

.8
1

25
.7

2
To

ta
l

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 470 of 810



McGarigle Development
GTC #19-229

New New AM Peak Hour Trips New New AM Peak Hour Trips
ADT In Out Total ADT In Out Total

100% 730 13 40 53 100% 730 13 40 53
1% 7.30 0.13 0.40 0.53 51% 372.46 6.65 20.57 27.22
2% 14.61 0.26 0.81 1.07 52% 379.77 6.78 20.98 27.76
3% 21.91 0.39 1.21 1.60 53% 387.07 6.91 21.38 28.29
4% 29.21 0.52 1.61 2.14 54% 394.37 7.04 21.78 28.83
5% 36.52 0.65 2.02 2.67 55% 401.68 7.17 22.19 29.36
6% 43.82 0.78 2.42 3.20 56% 408.98 7.30 22.59 29.89
7% 51.12 0.91 2.82 3.74 57% 416.28 7.43 22.99 30.43
8% 58.43 1.04 3.23 4.27 58% 423.59 7.56 23.40 30.96
9% 65.73 1.17 3.63 4.80 59% 430.89 7.69 23.80 31.49

10% 73.03 1.30 4.03 5.34 60% 438.19 7.82 24.20 32.03
11% 80.34 1.43 4.44 5.87 61% 445.50 7.95 24.61 32.56
12% 87.64 1.56 4.84 6.41 62% 452.80 8.08 25.01 33.10
13% 94.94 1.70 5.24 6.94 63% 460.10 8.22 25.41 33.63
14% 102.24 1.83 5.65 7.47 64% 467.40 8.35 25.82 34.16
15% 109.55 1.96 6.05 8.01 65% 474.71 8.48 26.22 34.70
16% 116.85 2.09 6.45 8.54 66% 482.01 8.61 26.62 35.23
17% 124.15 2.22 6.86 9.07 67% 489.31 8.74 27.03 35.76
18% 131.46 2.35 7.26 9.61 68% 496.62 8.87 27.43 36.30
19% 138.76 2.48 7.66 10.14 69% 503.92 9.00 27.83 36.83
20% 146.06 2.61 8.07 10.68 70% 511.22 9.13 28.24 37.37
21% 153.37 2.74 8.47 11.21 71% 518.53 9.26 28.64 37.90
22% 160.67 2.87 8.87 11.74 72% 525.83 9.39 29.04 38.43
23% 167.97 3.00 9.28 12.28 73% 533.13 9.52 29.45 38.97
24% 175.28 3.13 9.68 12.81 74% 540.44 9.65 29.85 39.50
25% 182.58 3.26 10.09 13.35 75% 547.74 9.78 30.26 40.04
26% 189.88 3.39 10.49 13.88 76% 555.04 9.91 30.66 40.57
27% 197.19 3.52 10.89 14.41 77% 562.35 10.04 31.06 41.10
28% 204.49 3.65 11.30 14.95 78% 569.65 10.17 31.47 41.64
29% 211.79 3.78 11.70 15.48 79% 576.95 10.30 31.87 42.17
30% 219.10 3.91 12.10 16.01 80% 584.26 10.43 32.27 42.70
31% 226.40 4.04 12.51 16.55 81% 591.56 10.56 32.68 43.24
32% 233.70 4.17 12.91 17.08 82% 598.86 10.69 33.08 43.77
33% 241.01 4.30 13.31 17.62 83% 606.17 10.82 33.48 44.31
34% 248.31 4.43 13.72 18.15 84% 613.47 10.95 33.89 44.84
35% 255.61 4.56 14.12 18.68 85% 620.77 11.08 34.29 45.37
36% 262.92 4.69 14.52 19.22 86% 628.08 11.21 34.69 45.91
37% 270.22 4.82 14.93 19.75 87% 635.38 11.34 35.10 46.44
38% 277.52 4.96 15.33 20.28 88% 642.68 11.48 35.50 46.97
39% 284.82 5.09 15.73 20.82 89% 649.98 11.61 35.90 47.51
40% 292.13 5.22 16.14 21.35 90% 657.29 11.74 36.31 48.04
41% 299.43 5.35 16.54 21.89 91% 664.59 11.87 36.71 48.58
42% 306.73 5.48 16.94 22.42 92% 671.89 12.00 37.11 49.11
43% 314.04 5.61 17.35 22.95 93% 679.20 12.13 37.52 49.64
44% 321.34 5.74 17.75 23.49 94% 686.50 12.26 37.92 50.18
45% 328.64 5.87 18.15 24.02 95% 693.80 12.39 38.32 50.71
46% 335.95 6.00 18.56 24.55 96% 701.11 12.52 38.73 51.24
47% 343.25 6.13 18.96 25.09 97% 708.41 12.65 39.13 51.78
48% 350.55 6.26 19.36 25.62 98% 715.71 12.78 39.53 52.31
49% 357.86 6.39 19.77 26.16 99% 723.02 12.91 39.94 52.85
50% 365.16 6.52 20.17 26.69 100% 730.32 13.04 40.34 53.38

AM Peak-Hour

% %

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 471 of 810



McGarigle Development
GTC #19-229

New New PM Peak Hour Trips New New PM Peak Hour Trips
ADT In Out Total ADT In Out Total

100% 730 44 26 70 100% 730 44 26 70
1% 7.30 0.44 0.26 0.70 51% 372.46 22.34 13.12 35.46
2% 14.61 0.88 0.51 1.39 52% 379.77 22.78 13.37 36.16
3% 21.91 1.31 0.77 2.09 53% 387.07 23.22 13.63 36.85
4% 29.21 1.75 1.03 2.78 54% 394.37 23.66 13.89 37.55
5% 36.52 2.19 1.29 3.48 55% 401.68 24.10 14.15 38.24
6% 43.82 2.63 1.54 4.17 56% 408.98 24.53 14.40 38.94
7% 51.12 3.07 1.80 4.87 57% 416.28 24.97 14.66 39.63
8% 58.43 3.50 2.06 5.56 58% 423.59 25.41 14.92 40.33
9% 65.73 3.94 2.31 6.26 59% 430.89 25.85 15.17 41.02

10% 73.03 4.38 2.57 6.95 60% 438.19 26.29 15.43 41.72
11% 80.34 4.82 2.83 7.65 61% 445.50 26.72 15.69 42.41
12% 87.64 5.26 3.09 8.34 62% 452.80 27.16 15.95 43.11
13% 94.94 5.70 3.34 9.04 63% 460.10 27.60 16.20 43.80
14% 102.24 6.13 3.60 9.73 64% 467.40 28.04 16.46 44.50
15% 109.55 6.57 3.86 10.43 65% 474.71 28.48 16.72 45.19
16% 116.85 7.01 4.12 11.12 66% 482.01 28.91 16.98 45.89
17% 124.15 7.45 4.37 11.82 67% 489.31 29.35 17.23 46.59
18% 131.46 7.89 4.63 12.52 68% 496.62 29.79 17.49 47.28
19% 138.76 8.32 4.89 13.21 69% 503.92 30.23 17.75 47.98
20% 146.06 8.76 5.14 13.91 70% 511.22 30.67 18.00 48.67
21% 153.37 9.20 5.40 14.60 71% 518.53 31.11 18.26 49.37
22% 160.67 9.64 5.66 15.30 72% 525.83 31.54 18.52 50.06
23% 167.97 10.08 5.92 15.99 73% 533.13 31.98 18.78 50.76
24% 175.28 10.51 6.17 16.69 74% 540.44 32.42 19.03 51.45
25% 182.58 10.95 6.43 17.38 75% 547.74 32.86 19.29 52.15
26% 189.88 11.39 6.69 18.08 76% 555.04 33.30 19.55 52.84
27% 197.19 11.83 6.94 18.77 77% 562.35 33.73 19.80 53.54
28% 204.49 12.27 7.20 19.47 78% 569.65 34.17 20.06 54.23
29% 211.79 12.70 7.46 20.16 79% 576.95 34.61 20.32 54.93
30% 219.10 13.14 7.72 20.86 80% 584.26 35.05 20.58 55.62
31% 226.40 13.58 7.97 21.55 81% 591.56 35.49 20.83 56.32
32% 233.70 14.02 8.23 22.25 82% 598.86 35.92 21.09 57.01
33% 241.01 14.46 8.49 22.94 83% 606.17 36.36 21.35 57.71
34% 248.31 14.90 8.74 23.64 84% 613.47 36.80 21.60 58.41
35% 255.61 15.33 9.00 24.34 85% 620.77 37.24 21.86 59.10
36% 262.92 15.77 9.26 25.03 86% 628.08 37.68 22.12 59.80
37% 270.22 16.21 9.52 25.73 87% 635.38 38.11 22.38 60.49
38% 277.52 16.65 9.77 26.42 88% 642.68 38.55 22.63 61.19
39% 284.82 17.09 10.03 27.12 89% 649.98 38.99 22.89 61.88
40% 292.13 17.52 10.29 27.81 90% 657.29 39.43 23.15 62.58
41% 299.43 17.96 10.55 28.51 91% 664.59 39.87 23.41 63.27
42% 306.73 18.40 10.80 29.20 92% 671.89 40.31 23.66 63.97
43% 314.04 18.84 11.06 29.90 93% 679.20 40.74 23.92 64.66
44% 321.34 19.28 11.32 30.59 94% 686.50 41.18 24.18 65.36
45% 328.64 19.71 11.57 31.29 95% 693.80 41.62 24.43 66.05
46% 335.95 20.15 11.83 31.98 96% 701.11 42.06 24.69 66.75
47% 343.25 20.59 12.09 32.68 97% 708.41 42.50 24.95 67.44
48% 350.55 21.03 12.35 33.37 98% 715.71 42.93 25.21 68.14
49% 357.86 21.47 12.60 34.07 99% 723.02 43.37 25.46 68.83
50% 365.16 21.91 12.86 34.77 100% 730.32 43.81 25.72 69.53

PM Peak-Hour

% %

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 472 of 810



 

  B 

Turning Movement Counts 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 473 of 810



HV

NB 3.2%

804 WB 5.4%

804 EB 0.0%

INTRS. 4.9%

PHF = Peak Hour Factor

HV = Heavy Vehicle

COUNTED BY: DATE OF COUNT:

REDUCTION DATE: TIME OF COUNT:

7.7%

0

0

0

0

TURNING MOVEMENTS DIAGRAM

John Liner Road

22

INTERSECTION SB

S
R

-9

10

8

261

McGarigle Road

P
e

d
s
 =

 3

16

84

8

0

S
R

-9

Sedro Woolley, WA

John Liner Road/McGarigle Road @ SR-9

0.58OUT

0.93Peds = 2

Thu. 4/25/19

TDG

4:00 PM - 6:00 PM

5:00 PM

Wed. 4/24/19

Peds = 1

PHF

0.75

0.76

0

0

TO

94

112

20

0.92403

355

329

4:00 PM - 6:00 PM PEAK HOUR: 4:00 PM

IN

PEAK HOUR  VOLUME

66

333

0

6 239

P
e

d
s
 =

 0

28

6

12

B
ic
yc
le
s

B
ic

yc
le

s

Bicycles
U

-T
u
rn

U-Turn

Bicycles

U
-T

u
rn

U-Turn

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 474 of 810



TO

HV PHF

SB 2.4% 0.75

NB 8.8% 0.65

EB 0.0% 0.25

INTRS. 5.2% 0.71

HV    = Heavy Vehicles

PHF = Peak Hour Factor

COUNTED BY: DATE OF COUNT:

REDUCTION DATE: TIME OF COUNT: 4:00 PM - 6:00 PMSun. 9/22/19

0

0

OUT 77 Peds = 0

McGarigle Road @ Independence Boulevard (North Leg)

Sedro Woolley, WA

TDG Wed. 9/18/19

M
c
G

a
ri
g

le
 R

o
a

d 3 31

INTERSECTION

43 34

PEAK HOUR  VOLUME

IN 77

3

P
e

d
s
 =

 3

0

1

1

0

0

2

TURNING MOVEMENTS DIAGRAM

4:00 PM - 6:00 PM PEAK HOUR: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM

M
c
G

a
ri
g

le
 R

o
a

d

Peds = 0

42 31

Independence Boulevard (North 

Leg)

0 42

0

U-Turn

U-Turn

U-Turn

Bicycles

Bicycles

Bicycles

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 475 of 810



TO

HV PHF

SB 4.8% 0.84

NB 3.5% 0.75

EB 5.3% 0.63

INTRS. 4.3% 0.91

HV    = Heavy Vehicles

PHF = Peak Hour Factor

COUNTED BY: DATE OF COUNT:

REDUCTION DATE: TIME OF COUNT: 4:00 PM - 6:00 PM

TURNING MOVEMENTS DIAGRAM

4:00 PM - 6:00 PM PEAK HOUR: 4:45 PM 5:45 PM

F
ru

it
d

a
le

 R
o

a
d

Peds = 2

125 120

McGarigle Road

10 115

1

114

PEAK HOUR  VOLUME

IN 277

26

P
e

d
s
 =

 2

22

38

16

0

0

0

Thu. 4/25/19

0

0

OUT 277 Peds = 0

McGarigle Road @ Fruitdale Road

Sedro Woolley, WA

TDG Wed. 4/24/19

F
ru

it
d

a
le

 R
o

a
d 16 98

INTERSECTION

131

U-Turn

U-Turn

U-Turn

Bicycles

Bicycles

Bicycles

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 476 of 810



 

  C 

2025 Turning Movement Calculations 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 477 of 810



PM Peak-Hour 1 SR-9 @ McGarigle Rd

Synchro ID: 1
Existing 261 616 355

Average Weekday 6 239 16 6 329 20
PM Peak-Hour   

6 SR-9  20
Year:  4/24/2019 22 8  8 112

8  84 
Data Source: TDG 50 John Liner Road 804 McGarigle Road 206 North

6  16 
28 12  12 94

10  SR-9 66
  

10 239 84 8 329 66
333 736 403

Future without Project 294 840 546
Average Weekday 7 269 18 152 371 23

PM Peak-Hour   

7 SR-9  23
Future Year 2025 35 19  19 137

% Growth 2.0% 9  95 
# of Years 6 329 John Liner Road 1,179 McGarigle Road 274 North

Growth Rate 1.1262 152  18 
294 45  45 137

97  SR-9 74
  

97 269 95 9 371 74
461 915 454

Total Project Trips 3 5 2
Average Weekday 0 0 3 0 0 2

PM Peak-Hour   

0 SR-9  2
1 1  1 18

0  15 
3 John Liner Road 49 McGarigle Road 49 North

0  3 
2 2  2 31

0  SR-9 26
  

0 0 15 0 0 26
15 41 26

Future with Project 297 845 548
Average Weekday 7 269 21 152 371 25

PM Peak-Hour   

7 SR-9  25
36 20  20 155

9  110 
332 John Liner Road 1,228 McGarigle Road 323 North

152  21 
296 47  47 168

97  SR-9 100
  

97 269 110 9 371 100
476 956 480

0 0 0
Average Weekday 0 0 0 0 0 0

PM Peak-Hour   

0 SR-9  0
10 10  10 10

0  0 
17 John Liner Road 17 McGarigle Road 17 North

0  0 
7 7  7 7

0  SR-9 0
  

0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0

0 145 145
Average Weekday 0 0 0 145 0 0

PM Peak-Hour   

0 SR-9  0
0 0  0 0

0  0 
255 John Liner Road 255 McGarigle Road 24 North

145  0 
255 24  24 24

86  SR-9 0
  

86 0 0 0 0 0
86 86 0

Northern State Campus Pipeline 
Trips

John Liner Corridor Diversion

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 478 of 810



PM Peak-Hour 2 McGarigle Rd @ Site Access

Synchro ID: 2
Existing 42 63 21

Average Weekday 0 42 0 0 21 0
PM Peak-Hour   

0 McGarigle Road  0
Year:  9/18/2019 3 0  0 0

3  0 
Data Source: TDG 4 Independence Blvd 67 Site Access 0 North

0  0 
1 0  0 0

1  McGarigle Road 0
  

1 42 0 3 21 0
43 67 24

Future without Project 64 98 34
Average Weekday 2 62 0 1 33 0

PM Peak-Hour   

2 McGarigle Road  0
Future Year 2025 5 0  0 0

% Growth 2.0% 3  0 
# of Years 6 7 Independence Blvd 102 Site Access 0 North

Growth Rate 1.1262 1  0 
2 0  0 0

1  McGarigle Road 0
  

1 62 0 3 33 0
63 99 36

Total Project Trips 7 11 4
Average Weekday 0 0 7 0 0 4

PM Peak-Hour   

0 McGarigle Road  4
0 0  0 26

0  22 
0 Independence Blvd 70 Site Access 70 North

0  7 
0 0  0 44

0  McGarigle Road 37
  

0 0 22 0 0 37
22 59 37

Future with Project 71 109 38
Average Weekday 2 62 7 1 33 4

PM Peak-Hour   

2 McGarigle Road  4
5 0  0 26

3  22 
7 Independence Blvd 172 Site Access 70 North

1  7 
2 0  0 44

1  McGarigle Road 37
  

1 62 22 3 33 37
85 158 73

17 27 10
Average Weekday 2 15 0 1 9 0

PM Peak-Hour   

2 McGarigle Road  0
2 0  0 0

0  0 
3 Independence Blvd 27 Site Access 0 North

1  0 
1 0  0 0

0  McGarigle Road 0
  

0 15 0 0 9 0
15 24 9

0 0 0
Average Weekday 0 0 0 0 0 0

PM Peak-Hour   

0 McGarigle Road  0
0 0  0 0

0  0 
0 Independence Blvd 0 Site Access 0 North

0  0 
0 0  0 0

0  McGarigle Road 0
  

0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0

Northern State Campus Pipeline 
Trips

John Liner Corridor Diversion

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 479 of 810



PM Peak-Hour 3 Fruitdale Rd @ McGarigle Rd

Synchro ID: 3
Existing 125 245 120

Average Weekday 10 115 0 22 98 0
PM Peak-Hour   

10 Fruitdale Road  0
Year:  4/24/2019 26 0  0 0

16  0 
Data Source: TDG 64 McGarigle Road 277 - 0 North

22  0 
38 0  0 0

16  Fruitdale Road 0
  

16 115 0 16 98 0
131 245 114

Future without Project 396 645 249
Average Weekday 30 366 0 36 213 0

PM Peak-Hour   

30 Fruitdale Road  0
Future Year 2025 48 0  0 0

% Growth 2.0% 18  0 
# of Years 6 102 McGarigle Road 681 - 0 North

Growth Rate 1.1262 36  0 
54 0  0 0

18  Fruitdale Road 0
  

18 366 0 18 213 0
384 615 231

Total Project Trips 0 0 0
Average Weekday 0 0 0 0 0 0

PM Peak-Hour   

0 Fruitdale Road  0
7 0  0 0

7  0 
11 McGarigle Road 11 - 0 North

0  0 
4 0  0 0

4  Fruitdale Road 0
  

4 0 0 7 0 0
4 11 7

Future with Project 396 645 249
Average Weekday 30 366 0 36 213 0

PM Peak-Hour   

30 Fruitdale Road  0
55 0  0 0

25  0 
113 McGarigle Road 692 - 0 North

36  0 
58 0  0 0

22  Fruitdale Road 0
  

22 366 0 25 213 0
388 626 238

255 369 114
Average Weekday 19 236 0 11 103 0

PM Peak-Hour   

19 Fruitdale Road  0
19 0  0 0

0  0 
30 McGarigle Road 369 - 0 North

11  0 
11 0  0 0

0  Fruitdale Road 0
  

0 236 0 0 103 0
236 339 103

0 0 0
Average Weekday 0 0 0 0 0 0

PM Peak-Hour   

0 Fruitdale Road  0
0 0  0 0

0  0 
0 McGarigle Road 0 - 0 North

0  0 
0 0  0 0

0  Fruitdale Road 0
  

0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0

Northern State Campus Pipeline 
Trips

John Liner Corridor Diversion

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 480 of 810



 

  D 

Level of Service Calculations 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 481 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
1: SR 9 & John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2019 Existing Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2019 Existing - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 12 10 84 8 20 8 329 66 16 239 6
Future Vol, veh/h 6 12 10 84 8 20 8 329 66 16 239 6
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 2 2 0 1 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 5 5 5 3 3 3 8 8 8
Mvmt Flow 6 13 11 90 9 22 9 354 71 17 257 6
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 718 740 262 719 708 394 263 0 0 428 0 0
          Stage 1 294 294 - 411 411 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 424 446 - 308 297 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.15 6.55 6.25 4.13 - - 4.18 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.545 4.045 3.345 2.227 - - 2.272 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 347 347 782 340 356 649 1295 - - 1100 - -
          Stage 1 719 673 - 612 590 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 612 577 - 696 662 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 322 337 781 317 345 647 1295 - - 1097 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 322 337 - 317 345 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 713 661 - 605 583 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 577 570 - 660 650 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.3 20.5 0.2 0.5
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1295 - - 418 351 1097 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.007 - - 0.072 0.343 0.016 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.8 0 - 14.3 20.5 8.3 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - B C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.2 1.5 0 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 482 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
2: McGarigle Rd & Independence Blvd/Site Access McGarigle Development

2019 Existing Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2019 Existing - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 0 0 0 3 21 0 0 42 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 0 0 0 3 21 0 0 42 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 3
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 2 2 2 9 9 9 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 1 0 0 0 4 30 0 0 59 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 100 100 62 98 100 30 62 0 0 30 0 0
          Stage 1 62 62 - 38 38 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 38 38 - 60 62 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.19 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.281 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 886 794 1009 884 790 1044 1497 - - 1583 - -
          Stage 1 954 847 - 977 863 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 982 867 - 951 843 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 882 789 1006 880 785 1044 1493 - - 1583 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 882 789 - 880 785 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 948 844 - 974 860 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 979 864 - 950 840 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.6 0 0.9 0
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1493 - - 1006 - 1583 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.003 - - 0.001 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 - 8.6 0 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 - 0 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 483 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Fruitdale Rd & McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2019 Existing Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2019 Existing - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.8

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 22 16 16 98 115 10
Future Vol, veh/h 22 16 16 98 115 10
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 2 0 2 0 0 2
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 5 5 4 4 5 5
Mvmt Flow 24 18 18 108 126 11
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 280 134 139 0 - 0
          Stage 1 134 - - - - -
          Stage 2 146 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.45 6.25 4.14 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.45 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.45 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.545 3.345 2.236 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 704 907 1432 - - -
          Stage 1 885 - - - - -
          Stage 2 874 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 692 905 1429 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 692 - - - - -
          Stage 1 872 - - - - -
          Stage 2 872 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10 1.1 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1429 - 768 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.012 - 0.054 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.6 0 10 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 484 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
1: SR 9 & John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2025 Baseline Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Baseline - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 21.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 152 45 97 95 19 23 9 371 74 18 269 7
Future Vol, veh/h 152 45 97 95 19 23 9 371 74 18 269 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 2 2 0 1 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 5 5 5 3 3 3 8 8 8
Mvmt Flow 163 48 104 102 20 25 10 399 80 19 289 8
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 814 833 295 871 797 443 297 0 0 482 0 0
          Stage 1 331 331 - 462 462 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 483 502 - 409 335 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.15 6.55 6.25 4.13 - - 4.18 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.545 4.045 3.345 2.227 - - 2.272 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 299 307 749 268 316 608 1259 - - 1050 - -
          Stage 1 687 649 - 574 560 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 569 545 - 613 637 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 265 296 748 196 305 606 1259 - - 1047 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 265 296 - 196 305 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 679 635 - 566 552 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 519 537 - 476 623 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 65.5 43.4 0.2 0.5
HCM LOS F E
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1259 - - 344 234 1047 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.008 - - 0.919 0.63 0.018 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 0 - 65.5 43.4 8.5 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - F E A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 9.3 3.8 0.1 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 485 of 810



MOVEMENT SUMMARY
Site: 1 [SR-9 at John Liner Rd 2025 Baseline]

2025 Baseline
PM Peak-Hour
Site Category: (None)
Roundabout

Movement Performance - Vehicles
Demand Flows 95% Back of QueueMov

ID 
Turn Deg.

Satn
Average

Delay  
Level of
Service

Prop.  
Queued

Effective 
Stop Rate

Aver. No.
Cycles

Average
Speed  Total HV Vehicles Distance

veh/h % v/c sec veh ft mph
South: SR-9 (NB)
3 L2 10 3.0 0.424 11.0 LOS B 2.8 72.5 0.52 0.55 0.52 36.0
8 T1 399 3.0 0.424 5.3 LOS A 2.8 72.5 0.52 0.55 0.52 36.0
18 R2 80 3.0 0.424 5.4 LOS A 2.8 72.5 0.52 0.55 0.52 35.0
Approach 488 3.0 0.424 5.4 LOS A 2.8 72.5 0.52 0.55 0.52 35.9

East: John Liner Rd (WB)
1 L2 102 5.0 0.167 12.5 LOS B 0.9 24.2 0.62 0.75 0.62 33.9
6 T1 20 5.0 0.167 6.9 LOS A 0.9 24.2 0.62 0.75 0.62 34.0
16 R2 25 5.0 0.167 6.9 LOS A 0.9 24.2 0.62 0.75 0.62 33.1
Approach 147 5.0 0.167 10.8 LOS B 0.9 24.2 0.62 0.75 0.62 33.8

North: SR-9 (SB)
7 L2 19 8.0 0.268 10.4 LOS B 1.6 41.4 0.35 0.47 0.35 36.2
4 T1 289 8.0 0.268 4.7 LOS A 1.6 41.4 0.35 0.47 0.35 36.3
14 R2 8 8.0 0.268 4.8 LOS A 1.6 41.4 0.35 0.47 0.35 35.2
Approach 316 8.0 0.268 5.0 LOS A 1.6 41.4 0.35 0.47 0.35 36.3

West: John Liner Rd (EB)
5 L2 163 5.0 0.316 11.9 LOS B 1.8 47.2 0.58 0.72 0.58 34.7
2 T1 48 5.0 0.316 6.3 LOS A 1.8 47.2 0.58 0.72 0.58 34.7
12 R2 104 5.0 0.316 6.3 LOS A 1.8 47.2 0.58 0.72 0.58 33.7
Approach 316 5.0 0.316 9.2 LOS A 1.8 47.2 0.58 0.72 0.58 34.4

All Vehicles 1268 5.0 0.424 6.9 LOS A 2.8 72.5 0.50 0.60 0.50 35.3

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay & Degree of Saturation (SIDRA). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings 
dialog (Site tab).
Roundabout LOS Method: Same as Signalised Intersections.
Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay and v/c ratio (degree of saturation) per movement.
Intersection and Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all movements (v/c not used).
Roundabout Capacity Model: SIDRA Standard.
SIDRA Standard Delay Model is used. Control Delay includes Geometric Delay.
Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D).
HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

SIDRA INTERSECTION 8.0 | Copyright © 2000-2019 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com
Organisation: GIBSON TRAFFIC CONSULTANTS | Processed: Tuesday, September 24, 2019 8:20:32 AM
Project: H:\2019\19-229\Sidra\PM Peak-hour.sip8

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 486 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
2: McGarigle Rd & Independence Blvd/Site Access McGarigle Development

2025 Baseline Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Baseline - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 0 1 0 0 0 3 33 0 0 62 2
Future Vol, veh/h 1 0 1 0 0 0 3 33 0 0 62 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 3
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 2 2 2 9 9 9 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 1 0 1 0 0 0 4 46 0 0 87 3
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 146 146 92 143 147 46 93 0 0 46 0 0
          Stage 1 92 92 - 54 54 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 54 54 - 89 93 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.19 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.281 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 827 749 971 826 744 1023 1458 - - 1562 - -
          Stage 1 920 823 - 958 850 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 963 854 - 918 818 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 823 745 968 823 740 1023 1454 - - 1562 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 823 745 - 823 740 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 914 821 - 955 847 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 960 851 - 917 816 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.1 0 0.6 0
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1454 - - 890 - 1562 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.003 - - 0.003 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.5 0 - 9.1 0 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 - 0 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 487 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Fruitdale Rd & McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2025 Baseline Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Baseline - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.3

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 36 18 18 213 366 30
Future Vol, veh/h 36 18 18 213 366 30
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 2 0 2 0 0 2
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 5 5 4 4 5 5
Mvmt Flow 40 20 20 234 402 33
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 697 421 437 0 - 0
          Stage 1 421 - - - - -
          Stage 2 276 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.45 6.25 4.14 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.45 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.45 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.545 3.345 2.236 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 403 626 1112 - - -
          Stage 1 656 - - - - -
          Stage 2 764 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 393 625 1110 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 393 - - - - -
          Stage 1 641 - - - - -
          Stage 2 762 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.3 0.6 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1110 - 448 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.018 - 0.132 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 0 14.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - 0.5 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 488 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
1: SR 9 & John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2025 Future with Development Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Future with Development - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 26.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 152 47 97 110 20 25 9 371 100 21 269 7
Future Vol, veh/h 152 47 97 110 20 25 9 371 100 21 269 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 2 2 0 1 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 5 5 5 3 3 3 8 8 8
Mvmt Flow 163 51 104 118 22 27 10 399 108 23 289 8
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 838 869 295 895 819 457 297 0 0 510 0 0
          Stage 1 339 339 - 476 476 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 499 530 - 419 343 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.15 6.55 6.25 4.13 - - 4.18 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.15 5.55 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.545 4.045 3.345 2.227 - - 2.272 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 288 292 749 258 307 597 1259 - - 1025 - -
          Stage 1 680 643 - 564 552 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 557 530 - 606 632 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 252 280 748 185 294 595 1259 - - 1022 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 252 280 - 185 294 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 673 626 - 556 544 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 505 523 - 466 615 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 78 59.3 0.1 0.6
HCM LOS F F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1259 - - 329 220 1022 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.008 - - 0.967 0.758 0.022 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 0 - 78 59.3 8.6 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - F F A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 10.3 5.2 0.1 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 489 of 810



MOVEMENT SUMMARY
Site: 1 [SR-9 at John Liner Rd 2025 Future With]

2025 Future With
PM Peak-Hour
Site Category: (None)
Roundabout

Movement Performance - Vehicles
Demand Flows 95% Back of QueueMov

ID 
Turn Deg.

Satn
Average

Delay  
Level of
Service

Prop.  
Queued

Effective 
Stop Rate

Aver. No.
Cycles

Average
Speed  Total HV Vehicles Distance

veh/h % v/c sec veh ft mph
South: SR-9 (NB)
3 L2 10 3.0 0.450 11.0 LOS B 3.1 79.2 0.54 0.56 0.54 36.0
8 T1 399 3.0 0.450 5.4 LOS A 3.1 79.2 0.54 0.56 0.54 36.0
18 R2 108 3.0 0.450 5.4 LOS A 3.1 79.2 0.54 0.56 0.54 35.0
Approach 516 3.0 0.450 5.5 LOS A 3.1 79.2 0.54 0.56 0.54 35.8

East: John Liner Rd (WB)
1 L2 118 5.0 0.189 12.6 LOS B 1.1 27.9 0.63 0.76 0.63 33.9
6 T1 22 5.0 0.189 6.9 LOS A 1.1 27.9 0.63 0.76 0.63 33.9
16 R2 27 5.0 0.189 7.0 LOS A 1.1 27.9 0.63 0.76 0.63 33.0
Approach 167 5.0 0.189 10.9 LOS B 1.1 27.9 0.63 0.76 0.63 33.7

North: SR-9 (SB)
7 L2 23 8.0 0.275 10.5 LOS B 1.6 42.7 0.38 0.49 0.38 36.1
4 T1 289 8.0 0.275 4.8 LOS A 1.6 42.7 0.38 0.49 0.38 36.2
14 R2 8 8.0 0.275 4.8 LOS A 1.6 42.7 0.38 0.49 0.38 35.1
Approach 319 8.0 0.275 5.2 LOS A 1.6 42.7 0.38 0.49 0.38 36.2

West: John Liner Rd (EB)
5 L2 163 5.0 0.323 12.1 LOS B 1.9 48.8 0.59 0.73 0.59 34.6
2 T1 51 5.0 0.323 6.4 LOS A 1.9 48.8 0.59 0.73 0.59 34.7
12 R2 104 5.0 0.323 6.5 LOS A 1.9 48.8 0.59 0.73 0.59 33.7
Approach 318 5.0 0.323 9.3 LOS A 1.9 48.8 0.59 0.73 0.59 34.3

All Vehicles 1320 4.9 0.450 7.0 LOS A 3.1 79.2 0.52 0.61 0.52 35.2

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay & Degree of Saturation (SIDRA). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings 
dialog (Site tab).
Roundabout LOS Method: Same as Signalised Intersections.
Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay and v/c ratio (degree of saturation) per movement.
Intersection and Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all movements (v/c not used).
Roundabout Capacity Model: SIDRA Standard.
SIDRA Standard Delay Model is used. Control Delay includes Geometric Delay.
Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D).
HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

SIDRA INTERSECTION 8.0 | Copyright © 2000-2019 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com
Organisation: GIBSON TRAFFIC CONSULTANTS | Processed: Tuesday, September 24, 2019 8:20:33 AM
Project: H:\2019\19-229\Sidra\PM Peak-hour.sip8

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 490 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
2: McGarigle Rd & Independence Blvd/Site Access McGarigle Development

2025 Future with Development Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Future with Development - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 0 1 22 0 4 3 33 37 7 62 2
Future Vol, veh/h 1 0 1 22 0 4 3 33 37 7 62 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 3
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 2 2 2 9 9 9 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 1 0 1 31 0 6 4 46 52 10 87 3
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 195 218 92 189 193 72 93 0 0 98 0 0
          Stage 1 112 112 - 80 80 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 83 106 - 109 113 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.19 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.281 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 769 684 971 771 702 990 1458 - - 1495 - -
          Stage 1 898 807 - 929 828 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 930 811 - 896 802 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 757 675 968 764 693 990 1454 - - 1495 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 757 675 - 764 693 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 893 799 - 926 826 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 922 809 - 888 794 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.2 9.8 0.3 0.7
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1454 - - 850 792 1495 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.003 - - 0.003 0.046 0.007 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.5 0 - 9.2 9.8 7.4 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A A A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 0.1 0 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 491 of 810



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Fruitdale Rd & McGarigle Rd McGarigle Development

2025 Future with Development Gibson Traffic Consultants, Inc. [#19-229, ZJW]
PM Peak 2025 Future with Development - PM Peak.syn

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.5

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 36 22 25 213 366 30
Future Vol, veh/h 36 22 25 213 366 30
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 2 0 2 0 0 2
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 5 5 4 4 5 5
Mvmt Flow 40 24 27 234 402 33
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 711 421 437 0 - 0
          Stage 1 421 - - - - -
          Stage 2 290 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.45 6.25 4.14 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.45 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.45 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.545 3.345 2.236 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 395 626 1112 - - -
          Stage 1 656 - - - - -
          Stage 2 753 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 382 625 1110 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 382 - - - - -
          Stage 1 636 - - - - -
          Stage 2 751 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.4 0.9 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1110 - 448 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.025 - 0.142 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 0 14.4 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - 0.5 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 492 of 810



 

  E 

Collision Data 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 493 of 810



PR
IM

AR
Y 

TR
AF

FI
CW

AY
M

IL
EP

OS
T

RE
PO

RT
 

NU
M

BE
R

DA
TE

TI
M

E
M

OS
T 

SE
VE

RE
 IN

JU
RY

 T
YP

E

# I N J

# F A T

# V E H

# P E D S

# BI K E S
FI

RS
T 

CO
LL

IS
IO

N 
TY

PE
 / 

OB
JE

CT
 S

TR
UC

K
M

V 
DR

IV
ER

 C
ON

TR
IB

UT
IN

G 
CI

RC
UM

ST
AN

CE
 1

 (U
NI

T 
1)

00
9

57
.4

3
E4

06
21

2
20

15
-0

3-
04

08
:3

1
N

o 
Ap

pa
re

nt
 In

ju
ry

0
0

2
0

0
Fr

om
 o

pp
os

ite
 d

ire
ct

io
n 

- o
ne

 le
ft 

tu
rn

 - 
on

e 
st

ra
ig

ht
D

id
 N

ot
 G

ra
nt

 R
W

 to
 V

eh
ic

le
00

9
57

.4
3

E5
84

58
0

20
16

-0
9-

13
19

:2
1

N
o 

Ap
pa

re
nt

 In
ju

ry
0

0
2

0
0

En
te

rin
g 

at
 a

ng
le

In
at

te
nt

io
n

00
9

57
.4

3
36

40
55

0
20

17
-0

9-
11

17
:4

0
Su

sp
ec

te
d 

M
in

or
 In

ju
ry

5
0

2
0

0
En

te
rin

g 
at

 a
ng

le
D

id
 N

ot
 G

ra
nt

 R
W

 to
 V

eh
ic

le
9

57
.4

3
E7

73
55

4
20

18
-0

2-
13

14
:2

3
Su

sp
ec

te
d 

M
in

or
 In

ju
ry

1
0

2
0

0
Fr

om
 s

am
e 

di
re

ct
io

n 
- b

ot
h 

go
in

g 
st

ra
ig

ht
 - 

on
e 

st
op

pe
d 

- r
ea

r-e
nd

D
riv

er
 D

is
tra

ct
io

ns
 O

ut
si

de
 V

eh
ic

le

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 494 of 810



Co
lli

sio
n 

Da
ta

 D
at

e 
Ra

ng
e

St
ar

t
1/

1/
20

14
En

d
12

/3
1/

20
18

To
ta

l Y
ea

rs
5.

00

In
te

rs
ec

tio
n

No
. C

ol
lis

io
ns

No
. I

nj
ur

y 
Co

lli
sio

ns
Es

tim
at

ed
 A

DT
Co

lli
sio

ns
 p

er
 

Ye
ar

Co
lli

sio
ns

 p
er

 
M

EV
#1

: S
R-

9 
@

 Jo
hn

 Li
ne

r R
d/

M
cG

ar
ig

le
 R

d
4

2
8,

04
0

0.
8

0.
27

#2
: M

cG
ar

ig
le

 R
d 

@
 In

de
pe

nd
en

ce
 B

lv
d/

Ac
ce

ss
0

0
67

0
0

0.
00

#3
: M

cG
ar

ig
le

 R
d 

@
 F

ru
itd

al
e 

Rd
0

0
2,

77
0

0
0.

00

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 495 of 810



 

  F 

Pipeline Projects 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 496 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 497 of 810



©
 O

pe
nS

tr
ee

tM
ap

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
or

s
©

 O
pe

nS
tr

ee
tM

ap
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

or
s

©
 O

pe
nS

tr
ee

tM
ap

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
or

s

26
5

36
0

46
0

30
5

-3
0

-3
0

-220

-100

-4
0

-6
0

-75

-90

190

390

-3
0

-3
0

-2
5

-3
0

10-1
0

170

120

155

105

-6
0

45

26
5

22
0

-2
0-2

5

-70

-4
5

-1
5

-9
0

-2
0

-4
5

15 -9
5

-1
5

-2
5

-3
0

-9
0

-2
0

-1
5 -9
5

-1
0

-15

-1
5

70

65

-3
0

-3
5

70
15

35
10

175

105

-7
5 10 -3
0

-2
5

10
-35

-20
10
-55

-3
0

-3
0

-2
5

-1
5

-1
65

-1
20

85

-65

-185

25
5

22
0

-2
0

-2075

-2
0

10

15
-4

0

-7
0

-30
-10

-85
-10

-3
0

-2
5

-25-7
5

-1
25

15
10

-1
30 - 7
5

-55

-40

29
0

14
0

225

455

-7525
5

21
5

-55

-65

10

-1
5

- 1
5

-1
5

-2
0

-7
0

-4
0

26
5

14
5

1055

30
5

46
0

50

-1
585

-2
5

-1
5

-1
00- 4
0

15

-20 -3
0

-2
5

-25
-35-30

-25

-1
45-5
5

10
15

-2
0-2

5
-90

-175

5

10
65

-40
-100

15

185

-1
10

-1
60

470

230

-3
0

-3
0

-35
-25

-3
0

-3
5

-3
0

-3
0

25
30

-1
5

- 2
5

- 1
0

-35
-30 -25

-30

-1
0

-2
5

-2
5

-1
0

-2
5

-3
5

25
30

75
-5

0

100

10

25
80

-1
5

-60

-50

-2
5

-3
0

- 5
5

-2
5

-2
5

-5
0

-1
4 5-6
0

-135

-100

70
65

-8
5

30

-5
5 25

-30

13
5

2 0
-1

0
-2

5

-230

-100

-1
0

-15

-8
0

-2
5

-2
5

-70

-55

10
-55

-2
5

-7
5

-80

-8
5

-1
25

-55

-70

-8
5

-12
0

-40

45

-60
30

-195

-80

15
-1

0

-11
0-2

05

-20
-3570

15
1035

21
5

25
5

15
10

20
36

 P
M

 P
ea

k 
H

r V
ol

um
e 

D
iff

er
en

ce
 P

lo
t:

[A
fte

r P
ro

je
ct

] -
 [B

ef
or

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t]
Lin

k b
ars

[2
03

6 
w 

Pr
oj

ec
t] 

- [
20

36
 w

/o
 P

ro
jec

t]

Vo
lu

m
e 

de
cr

ea
se

Vo
lu

m
e 

in
cr

ea
se

W
at

so
n

C
om

m
er

ci
al

D
ev

el
op

m
en

tT
rip

D
is

tri
bu

tio
n

Vo
lu

m
e 

D
iff

er
en

ce
 - 

20
36

 B
ef

or
e 

an
d 

Af
te

r J
on

es
-J

oh
n 

Li
ne

r R
d 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

1:
13

32
4

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
So

lu
tio

ns
, I

nc
.

03
.0

1.
20

19
/1

0:
47

:2
1

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 498 of 810



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary
208: N Township St. (SR 9) & John Liner Rd./McGarigle Rd. 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 185 30 110 65 70 35 80 350 50 15 240 150
Future Volume (veh/h) 185 30 110 65 70 35 80 350 50 15 240 150
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 0.98 0.96 0.97 0.98 1.00 0.98 0.99 0.99
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1743 1743 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 208 34 124 73 79 39 90 393 56 17 270 169
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 9 9 9
Cap, veh/h 499 108 395 454 371 183 454 781 111 451 495 310
Arrive On Green 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50
Sat Flow, veh/h 1236 338 1234 1181 1158 572 933 1574 224 870 998 625
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 208 0 158 73 0 118 90 0 449 17 0 439
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1236 0 1573 1181 0 1730 933 0 1799 870 0 1623
Q Serve(g_s), s 6.4 0.0 3.3 2.2 0.0 2.2 3.2 0.0 7.3 0.6 0.0 8.1
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.6 0.0 3.3 5.5 0.0 2.2 11.3 0.0 7.3 7.9 0.0 8.1
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.78 1.00 0.33 1.00 0.12 1.00 0.38
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 499 0 503 454 0 554 454 0 893 451 0 806
V/C Ratio(X) 0.42 0.00 0.31 0.16 0.00 0.21 0.20 0.00 0.50 0.04 0.00 0.54
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 1040 0 1191 970 0 1310 1040 0 2023 998 0 1825
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 13.9 0.0 11.2 13.3 0.0 10.8 11.5 0.0 7.4 10.0 0.0 7.6
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.6 0.0 0.4 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln 4.1 0.0 2.6 1.3 0.0 1.9 1.5 0.0 6.5 0.3 0.0 6.6
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 14.5 0.0 11.5 13.4 0.0 11.0 11.7 0.0 7.8 10.0 0.0 8.2
LnGrp LOS B B B B B A B A
Approach Vol, veh/h 366 191 539 456
Approach Delay, s/veh 13.2 11.9 8.5 8.2
Approach LOS B B A A

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 25.6 17.9 25.6 17.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 49.0 33.0 49.0 33.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 13.3 10.6 10.1 7.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 8.3 2.9 8.4 2.9

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 9.9
HCM 2010 LOS A

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 499 of 810



Mark A. Freiberger, PE 
Jones / John Liner / Trail Road Corridor Traffic Analysis 

January 3, 2019 
Page 7 of 7 

Table 7. Left-Turn Lane Analysis 

Intersection Approach 
Leg Total DHV1 % Total DHV 

Turning Left 

2036 PM LOS (Delay)2 

Left-Turn Lane 
Warranted Without 

LT Lane 
With 

LT Lane 

Trail Road & 
F&S Grade 

Road 

West (EB) 50 10.0% B (13.3) B (14.7) No 
East (WB) 125 24.0% C (15.8) B (14.5) No 
South (NB) 665 0.8% A (0.1) A (0.1) No 
North (SB) 645 3.1% A (0.8) A (0.8) No 

Trail Road & 
Jones Road 

West (EB) 185 8.1% A (1.1) A (1.1) No 
East (WB) 660 22.0% A (4.5) A (4.5) Yes 
South (NB) 660 0.8% D (27.1) D (25.4) No 
North (SB) 315 11.1% D (32.7) C (24.2) No 

Jones Road & 
Patrick Street 

East (WB) 840 10.1% A (2.1) A (2.1) Yes 
South (NB) 290 12.1% B (16.1) B (12.8) No 

1Design hourly volume (both directions) 
2Average LOS and delay by approach 

 

Left-turn lanes are warranted on the east (Jones Rd) approach of the Trail Road and Jones Road 
intersection, and the east (Jones Rd) approach of the Jones Road and Patrick Street intersection. 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Findings and recommendations are summarized below. 

 Single-lane roundabouts are the preferred intersection control alternative at the intersections of: 
o Cook Road and Trail Road 
o N Township Road (SR 9) and John Liner Road/McGarigle Road. 

 A left-turn lane is warranted at the following two locations: 
o East (Jones Rd) approach of Trail Road and Jones Road intersection. 
o East (Jones Rd) approach of Jones Road and Patrick Street intersection.  

 

 

Attachment 1. 2036 PM Peak Hour Volume With Jones/John Liner Road Corridor 

Attachment 2. 2036 PM Peak Hour Volume Difference, Before and After Jones/John Liner Road Corridor 

Attachment 3. Conceptual Roundabout Layouts 

Attachment 4. Signal Warrant Reports 

Attachment 5: Intersection LOS Reports 

Attachment 6: Left-Turn Storage Guidelines 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 500 of 810



 

  G 

Channelization Warrants 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 501 of 810



Total DHV: 144 Posted Speed: 25 mph
Left Turns: 7

% Left: 4.9%

GIBSON TRAFFIC CONSULTANTS

McGarigle Road @ Site Access

Based on WSDOT July 2018 Design Manual: Exhibit 1310-7a, Page 1310-13.

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

1100

1200

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25%

To
ta

l D
HV

*

% Total DHV Turning Left (single turning movement)

Left-Turn Storage Guidelines

Below Curve, storage not needed for capacity.
Above curve, further analysis recommended.
*DHV is total volume from both directions
**Speeds are posted speeds

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 502 of 810



GIBSON TRAFFIC CONSULTANTS

Right Turn Volume: 37 [DDHV] Posted Speed: 25 mph
Adjusted Right Turn Volume: 37 [DDHV]
Pk Hr Curb Ln Approach Vol: 73 [DDHV]

McGarigle Road @ Site Access

Based on WSDOT July 2018 Design Manual: Exhibit 1310-11, Page 1310-27.

0

20

40

60

80

100

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700

Pe
ak

 H
ou

r R
ig

ht
-T

ur
n 

[2
]

Peak Hour Approach Volume (DDVH) [1]

Right-Turn Lane Guidelines

Consider right-turn lane [5]
Consider right-turn
pocket or taper [4]

Radius only [3]

[1] For two-lane highways, use the peak hour DDHV (through + right turn).
For multilane, high speed highways (posted speed 45 mph or above), use the right-lane peak 
hour approach volume (through + right turn).

[2] When all three of the following conditions are met, reduce the right-turn DDHV by 20:
- The posted speed is 45 mph or less
- The right-turn volume is greater than 40 VPH
- The peak hour approach volume (DDHV) is less than 300 VPH.

[3] For right-turn corner design, see Exhibit 1310-6.
[4] For right-turn pocket or taper design, see Exhibit 1310-12.
[5] For right-turn lane design, see Exhibit 1310-13.

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 503 of 810



 

  H 

Sedro Woolley Six-Year TIP 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 504 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 505 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 506 of 810

mfreiberger
Line

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Text Box
- 2017 Update


mfreiberger
Text Box
Metcalf

mfreiberger
Text Box
C38

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
Ellipse

mfreiberger
PolyLine



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 507 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 508 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 509 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 510 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 511 of 810



 

  I 

Sedro Woolley Traffic Impact Fee Documents 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 512 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 513 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 514 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 515 of 810



Technical Memorandum 

 

 

January 3, 2019 

 

TO:  Mark A. Freiberger, PE, City of Sedro-Woolley 
 
FROM:  Andrew L. Bratlien, PE, TSI 
 
COPY:  Nathan Zylstra, PE, Reichhardt & Ebe Engineering, Inc. 

 

SUBJECT:  JONES / JOHN LINER / TRAIL ROAD CORRIDOR PROJECTS 
TRAFFIC ANALYSIS; UPDATED 2019-01-03 

The purpose of this memorandum is to document the traffic analysis for the Jones Road / John Liner Road / 
Trail Road corridor improvement projects in Sedro-Woolley, Washington. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION   

The City of Sedro-Woolley 2018-2023 Six-Year Transportation Improvement Program identifies six projects, 
summarized in Table 1, which will create a new arterial corridor. The new corridor will consist of Trail Road, 
a north-south connection between SR 20 and Jones Road, and Jones Road / John Liner Road, an east-west 
connection from F&S Grade Road to N Township Road (SR 9). The corridor will include a new grade-separated 
railroad crossing east of the existing Jones Road terminus. 

Table 1. Jones / John Liner / Trail Road Corridor Improvement Projects 
TIP 
ID Project Name Project Limits Description 

C1A Jones Rd Improvements 
F&S Grade Rd /  

Sapp Rd 
Reconstruct to arterial section, including 

sidewalk & shared use path 

C1B Jones/John Liner RR Undercrossing Sapp Rd / Reed St New BNSF undercrossing and new arterial 
from E Jones Rd to John Liner Rd 

C1D John Liner Rd Arterial Improvement Reed St / Township St Reconstruct to arterial section 
C9A Trail Rd Arterial Extension Cook Rd / F&S Grade Construct new minor arterial 

C9B 
Trail Rd – Garden of Eden Rd 

Extension 
F&S Grade / Jones Rd Construct new minor arterial 

C19 Patrick St Extension Michael St / E Jones St New major collector w/sidewalks 

This analysis will consider the impacts of intersection control alternatives at the intersections of: 

 Cook Road and Trail Road 

 N Township Street (SR 9) and John Liner Road/McGarigle Road 

This analysis will also evaluate the following three intersections for possible left turn lane improvements: 

 Trail Road / F&S Grade Road 

 Trail Road / Jones Road 

 Jones Road / Patrick Street 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 516 of 810



Mark A. Freiberger, PE 
Jones / John Liner / Trail Road Corridor Traffic Analysis 

January 3, 2019 
Page 2 of 7 

 

ANALYSIS METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

Analysis Software 

Signalized and stop-controlled intersections were evaluated in Synchro 9 software using Highway Capacity 
Manual 2010 (HCM2010) methods. Roundabouts were evaluated in Sidra Intersection 7 software using the 
HCM6 capacity model and HCM2000 LOS thresholds, per Washington State Department of Transportation 
(WSDOT) policy guidance. 

Travel Demand Forecasting 

The travel demand forecasts used in this analysis were generated by the Sedro-Woolley 2036 citywide 
travel demand model, which includes all land use growth and transportation network improvements 
identified in the Sedro-Woolley 2016 Comprehensive Plan. Truck percentages are based on 2015 
intersection turning movement counts. 

The 2036 travel demand model forecasts traffic redistribution resulting from the improvement projects 
identified in Table 1. For the purposes of travel demand forecasting, the completed Jones/John Liner Road 
corridor was modeled as a fully built urban section. 

By 2036, assuming completion of the corridor improvement projects, the Jones/John Liner Road corridor is 
anticipated to serve up to approximately 700 vehicles per hour (vph) during the PM peak hour, or 
approximately 7,000 vehicles per day (vpd) average daily traffic. Average daily traffic volume forecasts at 
each end of the corridor include: 

 7,000 vehicles per day (vpd) on Trail Road north of Cook Rd 
 6,300 vpd on John Liner Rd west of SR 9 

 
By 2036, congestion along SR 20 through Sedro-Woolley will cause travel demand to spill over onto local 
east-west streets Ferry Street, State Street, and Jameson Road. The Jones/John Liner Road corridor will 
relieve congestion along SR 20 and through the local street network, reducing east-west demand by 
approximately 5,200 vpd.  

By providing a continuous east-west connection, the Jones/John Liner Road corridor is also anticipated to 
reduce cross-street traffic along SR 20, improving safety and operations on the state route. 

Attachment 1 shows raw 2036 PM peak hour volume after construction of the Jones/John Liner Road 
corridor improvements. Attachment 2 shows 2036 PM peak hour volume difference before and after 
construction of the corridor improvement projects.  The volumes in Attachments 1 and 2 represent raw 
travel demand model volumes. These volumes were post-processed using observed traffic volumes for the 
purposes of this analysis. 

Analysis Period 

Travel demand forecasts represent the PM peak hour, defined as the highest four consecutive 15-minute 
intervals from 4:00 – 6:00 PM. 

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 517 of 810



Mark A. Freiberger, PE 
Jones / John Liner / Trail Road Corridor Traffic Analysis 

January 3, 2019 
Page 3 of 7 

INTERSECTION CONTROL ANALYSIS 

Existing Conditions 

Cook Road and Trail Road 

Cook Road is an east-west three-lane minor arterial within city limits. It connects I-5 to the west with SR 20 
within city limits. Posted speed limit is 35 mph within city limits. Cook Road currently serves approximately 
13,000 vehicles per day. 

Trail Road is currently a three-lane north-south major collector which connects SR 20 with Cook Road. 
Existing volume is approximately 4,300 vehicles per day. 

The intersection of Cook Road and Trail Road currently includes stop control on the northbound (Trail Road) 
approach and a continuous two-way left-turn lane through the intersection along Cook Road.  

N Township Street (SR 9) and John Liner Road / McGarigle Road 

N Township Street (State Route 9) is a two-lane north-south principal arterial in the vicinity of John Liner 
Road. SR 9 connects Sedro-Woolley with Mount Vernon to the south and with Whatcom County to the 
north. SR 9 is classified a Highway of Statewide Significance (HSS) by WSDOT. The route is also a designated 
school zone in the vicinity of John Liner Road. Posted speed limit is 20 mph during school hours and 35 mph 
during non-school hours. N Township Street serves approximately 8,000 vehicles per day. 

John Liner Road is a two-lane east-west major collector which begins at N Reed Street to the west. The 
street becomes McGarigle Road at the N Township Street intersection. John Liner Road includes a 24-foot 
paved width with unpaved shoulders. No sidewalk or curb & gutter currently exist. John Liner Road serves 
approximately 700 vehicles per day. Posted speed is 25 mph. 

McGarigle Road is an east-west major collector which continues from John Liner Road at N Township Street 
to connect to Fruitdale Road to the east. McGarigle Road consists of two 12-foot paved travel lanes with 
curb and gutter on both sides, a five-foot sidewalk on the south side, and a 11-foot multi-use path on the 
north side. McGarigle Road serves approximately 2,000 vpd. Posted speed is 25 mph. 

The intersection of SR 9 and John Liner Road / McGarigle Road includes stop control on the east and west 
approaches. 

Crash History 

A collision history was compiled from incidents reported between January 1, 2013 and December 31, 2017 
at both intersections. 

Cook Road and Trail Road 

Collision data for the intersection of Cook Road and Trail Road is summarized in Table 2. From 2013 
through 2017, there were 13 collisions reported at the intersection. Two collisions resulted in possible 
injuries. No pedestrian or bicycle injuries and no fatalities were reported. The predominant collision type at 
the intersection is vehicles entering at angle.  

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 518 of 810



Mark A. Freiberger, PE 
Jones / John Liner / Trail Road Corridor Traffic Analysis 

January 3, 2019 
Page 4 of 7 

Table 2. Cook Road & Trail Road Crash History, 2013-2017 

Year Fixed 
Object 

Rear-
End 

Enter 
at 

Angle 

Side-
swipe Backing 

Ped/ 
Bike PDO Injury Fatal Total 

2013 0 1 2 0 1 0 4 0 0 4 
2014 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 0 0 3 
2015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2016 0 0 2 1 0 0 2 1 0 3 
2017 1 2 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 3 

5-yr Total 1 3 6 1 2 0 11 1 0 13 
Avg. 

Annual 0.2 0.6 1.2 0.2 0.4 0 2.2 0.2 0 2.6 

 

N Township Street (SR 9) and John Liner Road / McGarigle Road 

Collision data for the intersection of N Township Street and John Liner Road / McGarigle Road is 
summarized in Table 3. From 2013 through 2017, there were 2 collisions reported at the intersection. Both 
collisions were related to vehicles entering at angle.  

Table 3. N Township St (SR 9) & John Liner Road / McGarigle Road Road Crash History, 2013-2017 

Year Fixed 
Object 

Rear-
End 

Enter 
at 

Angle 

Side-
swipe Backing Ped/ 

Bike PDO Injury Fatal Total 

2013 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2014 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2016 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 
2017 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 

5-yr Total 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 
Avg. 

Annual 0 0 0.4 0 0 0 0.2 0.2 0 0.4 

 

Intersection Control Alternatives 

Three future alternatives were studied at each intersection. All future alternatives assume construction of 
new street connections identified along the Trail Road / Jones Road / John Liner Road corridor, including 
Trail Road (Cook Road to Jones Road) and the Jones Road undercrossing.  

Travel demand was assumed to be consistent across each of the alternatives, with only intersection control 
changing. Alternatives included: 

 No Build (existing minor approach stop control) 
 Roundabout  
 Signal 

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 519 of 810



Mark A. Freiberger, PE 
Jones / John Liner / Trail Road Corridor Traffic Analysis 

January 3, 2019 
Page 5 of 7 

No Build 

The No Build Alternative assumes no change in intersection channelization or control. No Build delay and 
95th percentile queues are summarized in Table 4.  

Table 4. Queuing and LOS, No Build Alternative (2036 PM Peak Hour) 

Intersection 
Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound Overall1 

95th Q 
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay)2 

95th Q 
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay) 2 

95th Q 
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay) 2 

95th Q 
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay) 2 

LOS 
(Delay) 

Cook Rd & 
Trail Rd 

25 
A 

(9.1) 
0 

A 
(8.6) 

1,450 
F* 

(>999) 
800 

F* 
(>999) 

F* 
(>999) 

SR 9 & 
John Liner 

775 
F 

(691) 
250 

F 
(175) 

0 
A 

(8.7) 
0 

A 
(8.5) 

F 
(691) 

1For TWSC intersections, overall LOS and delay represent the worst (highest delay) movement. For all other 
intersection control types, overall LOS and delay represent the intersection average. 
2Control delay in seconds per vehicle 
*Delay exceeds the limits of the HCM2010 methodology 

 
Both intersections will operate with LOS F on the worst movement. Northbound and southbound delay at 
the intersection of Cook Road and Trail Road will exceed the limits of the Highway Capacity Manual delay 
calculation methodology. At SR 9 and John Liner Road, eastbound (John Liner Road) delay will exceed 11 
minutes per entering vehicle. These delays will limit access to and from the new corridor during most of the 
PM peak hour.   

Roundabout 

The Roundabout alternative assumed single-lane roundabouts at both intersections. Roundabout analysis 
assumed a 120-foot inscribed circle diameter with a single 20-foot circulating lane for each roundabout. 
Conceptual roundabout layouts for each intersection are attached. 

Under roundabout control, the intersection of Cook Road and Trail Road will operate at LOS B with 10.1 
seconds of delay per vehicle. The intersection of SR 9 and John Liner Road will operate at LOS A with 7.2 
seconds of delay per vehicle. 95th percentile queues will measure 150 feet (6 vehicles) or less on all 
approaches of both intersections. Roundabout delay and queueing for each intersection are summarized in 
Table 5. 

Table 5. Queuing and LOS, Roundabout Alternative (2036 PM Peak Hour) 

Intersection 
Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound Overall1 

95th Q  
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay) 2 

95th Q 
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay) 2 

95th Q 
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay) 2 

95th Q 
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay) 2 

LOS 
(Delay)  

Cook Rd & 
Trail Rd 

125 
A 

(7.6) 
125 

A 
(11.6) 

150 
B 

(13.9) 
50 

A 
(7.8) 

B 
(10.1) 

SR 9 & 
John Liner 

50 
A 

(9.1) 
50 

A 
(5.6) 

75 
A 

(6.3) 
75 

A 
(9.8) 

A 
(7.2) 

1For TWSC intersections, overall LOS and delay represent the worst (highest delay) movement. For all other 
intersection control types, overall LOS and delay represent the intersection average. 
2Control delay in seconds per vehicle 

 

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 520 of 810



Mark A. Freiberger, PE 
Jones / John Liner / Trail Road Corridor Traffic Analysis 

January 3, 2019 
Page 6 of 7 

Signal 

The intersection of Cook Road and Trail Road will satisfy Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices Signal 
Warrant 1 (Eight Hour Volume), Signal Warrant 2 (Four Hour Volume), and Signal Warrant 3 (Peak Hour). 
The intersection of N Township Road (SR 9) and John Liner Road/McGarigle Road will satisfy MUTCD Signal 
Warrants 2 and 3. Signal warrant reports are attached. 

Intersection capacity analysis for the Signal alternative assumed widening of the SR 9 and John Liner Road 
intersection to provide left-turn lanes on all approaches. At the Cook Road and Trail Road intersection, 
analysis indicated that left-turn lanes on the north and south (Trail Road) approaches are not warranted. 

Delay and queueing for each signalized intersection are summarized in Table 6. The intersection of Cook 
Road and Trail Road operates at LOS B while the intersection of SR 9 and John Liner Road/McGarigle Road 
operates at LOS A.  

Table 6. Queuing and LOS, Signal Alternative (2036 PM Peak Hour) 

Intersection 
Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound Overall1 

95th Q 
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay) 2 

95th Q 
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay) 2 

95th Q 
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay) 2 

95th Q 
(ft) 

LOS 
(Delay) 2 

LOS 
(Delay) 

Cook Rd & 
Trail Rd 

L: 275 
Th: 275 

B 
(18.3) 

L: 75 
Th: 225 

B 
(13.8) 

400 C 
(26.6) 

175 B  
(17.0) 

B 
(19.1) 

SR 9 & 
John Liner 

L: 100 
Th: 75  

B 
(13.2) 

L: 50 
Th: 50 

B 
(11.9) 

L: 50 
Th: 175 

A 
(8.5) 

L: 0 
Th: 175 

A 
(8.2) 

A 
(9.9) 

1For TWSC intersections, overall LOS and delay represent the worst (highest delay) movement. For all other 
intersection control types, overall LOS and delay represent the intersection average. 
2Control delay in seconds per vehicle 

TURN LANE ANALYSIS 

Left-turn lane warrants were analyzed for each of three planned stop-controlled intersections along the 
future Trail Road / Jones Road / John Liner Road corridor: 

 Trail Road and F&S Grade Road (stop control on north and south approaches) 
 Trail Road and Jones Road (stop control on east and west approaches) 
 Jones Road and Patrick Street (stop control on south approach) 

WSDOT Design Manual left-turn lane warrants (attached) were evaluated for each of the three 
intersections identified above. The turn lane analysis is summarized in Table 7. 

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 521 of 810



Mark A. Freiberger, PE 
Jones / John Liner / Trail Road Corridor Traffic Analysis 

January 3, 2019 
Page 7 of 7 

Table 7. Left-Turn Lane Analysis 

Intersection Approach 
Leg Total DHV1 % Total DHV 

Turning Left 

2036 PM LOS (Delay)2 

Left-Turn Lane 
Warranted Without 

LT Lane 
With 

LT Lane 

Trail Road & 
F&S Grade 

Road 

West (EB) 50 10.0% B (13.3) B (14.7) No 
East (WB) 125 24.0% C (15.8) B (14.5) No 
South (NB) 665 0.8% A (0.1) A (0.1) No 
North (SB) 645 3.1% A (0.8) A (0.8) No 

Trail Road & 
Jones Road 

West (EB) 185 8.1% A (1.1) A (1.1) No 
East (WB) 660 22.0% A (4.5) A (4.5) Yes 
South (NB) 660 0.8% D (27.1) D (25.4) No 
North (SB) 315 11.1% D (32.7) C (24.2) No 

Jones Road & 
Patrick Street 

East (WB) 840 10.1% A (2.1) A (2.1) Yes 
South (NB) 290 12.1% B (16.1) B (12.8) No 

1Design hourly volume (both directions) 
2Average LOS and delay by approach 

 

Left-turn lanes are warranted on the east (Jones Rd) approach of the Trail Road and Jones Road 
intersection, and the east (Jones Rd) approach of the Jones Road and Patrick Street intersection. 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Findings and recommendations are summarized below. 

 Single-lane roundabouts are the preferred intersection control alternative at the intersections of: 
o Cook Road and Trail Road 
o N Township Road (SR 9) and John Liner Road/McGarigle Road. 

 A left-turn lane is warranted at the following two locations: 
o East (Jones Rd) approach of Trail Road and Jones Road intersection. 
o East (Jones Rd) approach of Jones Road and Patrick Street intersection.  

 

 

Attachment 1. 2036 PM Peak Hour Volume With Jones/John Liner Road Corridor 

Attachment 2. 2036 PM Peak Hour Volume Difference, Before and After Jones/John Liner Road Corridor 

Attachment 3. Conceptual Roundabout Layouts 

Attachment 4. Signal Warrant Reports 

Attachment 5: Intersection LOS Reports 

Attachment 6: Left-Turn Storage Guidelines 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 522 of 810



© OpenStreetMap contributors© OpenStreetMap contributors© OpenStreetMap contributors

305

460 460

305

5
5

2
5

2
0

1
5

6 0
1

5

20

4
0

20

30

60

207580

135

120

45

105

4520

35

15

95 11
0

10

15

280

280

35

30

23
5

43
0

50

15 10

140

165

80

90

30

15

17
0

1
20

19
5

1
7

0

725

855

25
30

365

260

15

15

5
40

59
0

4
03
0

80
10

75

15

10

85

701
5

0

95

15

85

135

1
5

50
1515

95

1
5

5
0

4
530

25

15

15

1
020

660

845

62
0

4
2 5

145150

170

215

4
8

5

37
0

80
20

1
7

5

1
05

790

705

1
0

295

195

30
5

33
5

2
52
0

2
0

1
0

3
51
5

50 20

45

65

20
15

2
0

4
0

75

50
10

55

65

10

155

130

30

1
0

1
0

1
5

45

40

1
02
0

30

35

395

280

40

50

400

405420

385

25

185

185

135

1
01
5

60

70

10 15

390

230

25

70

2
5

70

415

305

1
9

0

11
5

60
15

1
6

0

65

6 5

95
315

375
1

0
0

15
0

9
5

11
0

16
0

15
5

135

120

1
45

13
0

790

720

10
5

70

640

740

105

185

185

105

2
50

14
5

380

225

22
5

45
5 1

0

2
0 290

245

41
5

42
5

60

205

145

2
9534

0

170

255 160

105265

370
2

5

15

375

315

295

260

1
25 6
0

1
4 5

9
0

305

460

755

1210

845

660

1
601
5

195

310

250

215
65 9
5

1
0

3
51
5

90

15
5

10
0

50

65

12
0

1
95

40

10

15

25

95

65

65
80

15

15
20 4
0

3
5

0

4
45

2
1

0

3
5

5

385

425

47
0

23
0

1
6

0

1 3
0

120

120

1
0

5

1
6

0

75

50

1
0

5

65
1

01
5

175

220 135

120

45

1056
0

42
0

4
1

0

210

155215

295

26
0

2
6

0
1

4
5

12
0360

255

8
5

190

3752
5

4
40

44
5

305

415
680

4602
55

2
40

360

295
725

1025

3
1529

5

75

90130

90

25 10

75

130

1
015

275

265

145

150

620

425

800

590

470

6802
1

0

2
10

715

655640

690

725

670

1
5

710

750 715

67043
5

41
5

50 20 785

720

2510

820

710

10

4
04
5

710

825
75

10

85
572

5
7

0
5

9
0

0

4
52090

55

45

100

3
55

4
20

5
35

3
6 0

35

100245

290

80

65

PM Peak Hour Volume

2036 PM Peak Hr Volume,
With Jones/John Liner Rd Corridor

Li nk bars

[2036 w Project]

Watson Commercial Development Trip Distribution

Total PM Peak Hour Volume with Jones/John Liner Rd Connection 1:13324

Transportation Solutions, Inc. 03.01.2019/10:54:59Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 523 of 810



© OpenStreetMap contributors© OpenStreetMap contributors© OpenStreetMap contributors

265

360 460

305

-30

-30

-220-100

-40

-60

-7
5

-9
0

19
0

39
0

-30

-30

-25

-30

10

-10

1
70

12
0

15
5

1
0

5

-60

45

265

220

-20

-25

-7
0

-45
-15

-90

-20
-45

1
5

-95

-15

-25

-30

-90

-20
-15

-95

-10

-1
5

-15

7
06
5

-30

-35

701
5

35
10

1
7

5

1
05

-75

1
0

-30

-25

10 -3
5

-2
0

10 -5
5

-30

-30

-25

-15

-165

-120

85

-65

-1
85

255

220

-20

-2
0

75

-20

10

1
5

-40

-70
-3

0

-1
0

-8
5

-1
0

-30

-25

-2
5

-75

-125

1
5

10

-130

-75

-5
5

-40

290

140

22
5

45
5 -7

5 255

215

-5
5

-6
5

10

-15 -15
-15

-20 -70

-40

265

145

1
0

5
5

305

460

50

-15

85

-25

-15

-100

-40

1
5

-2
0

-30

-25

-2
5

-3
5

-3
0

-2
5

-145

-55

10
15

-20

-25
-9

0

-1
7

5

-35

10

6
5

-4
0

-1
00

1
5

1
85

-110

-160

4
702
30

-30

-30

-35

-2
5

-30

-35 -30

-30

25

3
0

-15-25

-10

-3
5

-3
0

-2
5

- 3
0-10

-25-25

-10

-25

-35

25 3
0

75-50

1
00

1
0

25
80

-15

-6
0

-5
0

-25

-30-55

-25-25

-50-145

-60

-135

-100

70
65

-85
30

-55

25

-30

135

20-10

-25

-230-100

-10

-1
5

-80

-25

-25-7
0

-5
5

10 -5
5 -25

-75

-8
0

-85

-125

-5
5

- 7
0

-85
-120

-40

45-6
0

3
0

-1 9
5

- 8
0

15
-10

-110

-205

-2
0

-3
5

701
5

10

35
215

255

15

10

2036 PM Peak Hr Volume Difference Plot:
[After Project] - [Before Project]

Li nk bars

[2036 w Project] - [2036 w/o Project]

Volume decrease

Volume increase

Watson Commercial Development Trip Distribution

Volume Difference - 2036 Before and After Jones-John Liner Rd Improvements 1:13324

Transportation Solutions, Inc. 03.01.2019/10:47:21Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 524 of 810



SITE LAYOUT
Site: [208. SR 9 & John Liner Rd]

2036 With Improvement
Roundabout

SIDRA INTERSECTION 7.0 | Copyright © 2000-2017 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com
Organisation: TRANSPORTATION SOLUTIONS INC | Created: Wednesday, May 02, 2018 3:44:56 PM
Project: C:\Users\jakep\Dropbox (TSI)\TSI Projects\2018\218023 Jones-John Liner Trail Road Corridor Scoping Study\analysis\Sidra\2036 Trail-
Jones-John Liner.sip7

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 525 of 810



SITE LAYOUT
Site: [303. Cook Rd & Trail Rd]

2036 With Improvement
Roundabout

SIDRA INTERSECTION 7.0 | Copyright © 2000-2017 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com
Organisation: TRANSPORTATION SOLUTIONS INC | Created: Wednesday, May 02, 2018 3:44:47 PM
Project: C:\Users\jakep\Dropbox (TSI)\TSI Projects\2018\218023 Jones-John Liner Trail Road Corridor Scoping Study\analysis\Sidra\2036 Trail-
Jones-John Liner.sip7

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 526 of 810



Signal Warrants Report For Intersection 1: Cook Rd & Trail Rd

5915924

5915923

714221322

714221321

918301720

2345744319

2550814718

45901488617

7915825915116

8116226615515

8116226615514

8817628916813

9719431818512

10120333319411

10120333319410

1082163552069

1352704442588

1422844662717

1533065032926

1713425623275

1803605923444

2124236964043

2164327104132

2254507404301

NSWE

Minor StreetsMajor StreetsHour

Warrant Analysis Traffic Volumes

100%Warrant Factor

NoPopulation < 10,000

NoSpeed > 40mph

S, NMinor Approaches

E, WMajor Approaches

Intersection Warrants Parameters

YesPeak Hour#3

YesFour Hour Vehicular Volume#2

YesEight Hour Vehicular Volume#1

Met?NameWarrant

Warrants Summary

Vistro File: C:\...\signal warrants_2018-12-21.vistro

Version 7.00-00

Generated with

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 527 of 810



YesWarrant Met for Intersection

YesYesWarrant Met for Approach

YesYesTotal Volume Condition Met

44Number of Approaches on Intersection

18451845Total Entering Volume on All Approaches During Same Hour

YesYesHigh Minor Volume Condition Met

225450Volume on Minor Street Approach During Same Hour

YesYesDelay Condition Met

625:00912:50VehicleHours of Stopped Delay on Minor Approach ([h]h:mm)

11Number of Lanes on Minor Street Approach

100007302.8Total Stopped Delay Per Vehicle on Minor Approach (s)

NSOrientation

Warrant 3 Condition A

58118741615128
Hours
Met

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo14224424

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo14224423

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo21235422

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo21235421

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo27247420

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo682117419

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo752128418

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo1352234417

NoNoNoNoNoNoYesNoNoNo2372410416

NoNoNoNoNoNoYesYesNoNo2432421415

NoNoNoNoNoNoYesYesNoNo2432421414

NoNoNoNoNoNoYesYesNoNo2642457413

NoNoNoNoNoNoYesYesYesNo2912503412

NoNoYesNoNoNoYesYesYesNo3042527411

NoNoYesNoNoNoYesYesYesNo3042527410

NoNoYesNoNoNoYesYesYesNo324256149

NoYesYesYesNoNoYesYesYesYes405270248

NoYesYesYesYesNoYesYesYesYes426273747

NoYesYesYesYesNoYesYesYesYes459279546

YesYesYesYesYesNoYesYesYesYes513288945

YesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYes540293644

YesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYes6352110043

YesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYes6482112342

YesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYesYes6752117041

Condition
B

56%70%80%100%56%70%80%100%VolumeNumberVolumeNumber

Warrant 3Warrant 2Warrant 1 Condition BWarrant 1 Condition AMinor LanesMajor LanesHour

Warrant Analysis by Hour

Vistro File: C:\...\signal warrants_2018-12-21.vistro

Version 7.00-00

Generated with

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 528 of 810



Signal Warrants Report For Intersection 2: SR 9 & John Liner Rd

7381024

7381023

105121422

105121421

137161920

3317414819

3619455318

6534819617

1145914216816

1176114617315

1176114617314

1276615818713

1407317420612

1467718221611

1467718221610

156821942309

1951022432888

2051072553027

2211162753266

2471293083655

2601363243844

3061603814513

3121633894612

3251704054801

WENS

Minor StreetsMajor StreetsHour

Warrant Analysis Traffic Volumes

100%Warrant Factor

NoPopulation < 10,000

NoSpeed > 40mph

E, WMinor Approaches

S, NMajor Approaches

Intersection Warrants Parameters

YesPeak Hour#3

YesFour Hour Vehicular Volume#2

NoEight Hour Vehicular Volume#1

Met?NameWarrant

Warrants Summary

Vistro File: C:\...\signal warrants_2018-12-21.vistro

Version 7.00-00

Generated with

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 529 of 810



YesWarrant Met for Intersection

YesYesWarrant Met for Approach

YesYesTotal Volume Condition Met

44Number of Approaches on Intersection

13801380Total Entering Volume on All Approaches During Same Hour

YesYesHigh Minor Volume Condition Met

325170Volume on Minor Street Approach During Same Hour

YesYesDelay Condition Met

49:476:04VehicleHours of Stopped Delay on Minor Approach ([h]h:mm)

11Number of Lanes on Minor Street Approach

551.6128.8Total Stopped Delay Per Vehicle on Minor Approach (s)

WEOrientation

Warrant 3 Condition A

04853013986
Hours
Met

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo10218224

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo10218223

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo15226222

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo15226221

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo20235220

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo50289219

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo55298218

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo992177217

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo1732310216

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo1782319215

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoNo1782319214

NoNoNoNoNoNoYesNoNoNo1932345213

NoNoNoNoNoNoYesNoNoNo2132380212

NoNoNoNoNoNoYesNoNoNo2232398211

NoNoNoNoNoNoYesNoNoNo2232398210

NoNoNoNoNoNoYesYesNoNo238242429

NoNoYesNoNoNoYesYesYesNo297253128

NoNoYesNoNoNoYesYesYesNo312255727

NoNoYesNoNoNoYesYesYesYes337260126

NoNoYesYesNoNoYesYesYesYes376267325

NoYesYesYesNoNoYesYesYesYes396270824

NoYesYesYesYesNoYesYesYesYes466283223

NoYesYesYesYesNoYesYesYesYes475285022

NoYesYesYesYesNoYesYesYesYes495288521

Condition
B

56%70%80%100%56%70%80%100%VolumeNumberVolumeNumber

Warrant 3Warrant 2Warrant 1 Condition BWarrant 1 Condition AMinor LanesMajor LanesHour

Warrant Analysis by Hour

Vistro File: C:\...\signal warrants_2018-12-21.vistro

Version 7.00-00

Generated with

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 530 of 810



MOVEMENT SUMMARY
Site: [208. SR 9 & John Liner Rd]

2036 With Improvement
Roundabout

Movement Performance - Vehicles
Demand Flows 95% Back of QueueMov

ID 
OD
Mov

Deg.
Satn

Average
Delay  

Level of
Service

Prop.  
Queued

Effective 
Stop Rate

Average
Speed  Total HV Vehicles Distance

veh/h % v/c sec veh ft per veh mph
South: SR 9 (NB)

3 L2 90 3.0 0.464 11.3 LOS B 3.2 82.4 0.55 0.57 35.9

8 T1 393 3.0 0.464 5.3 LOS A 3.2 82.4 0.55 0.57 35.8

18 R2 56 3.0 0.464 5.4 LOS A 3.2 82.4 0.55 0.57 34.7

Approach 539 3.0 0.464 6.3 LOS A 3.2 82.4 0.55 0.57 35.7

East: McGarigle Rd (WB)

1 L2 73 3.0 0.228 13.5 LOS B 1.4 35.7 0.71 0.77 34.6

6 T1 79 3.0 0.228 7.5 LOS A 1.4 35.7 0.71 0.77 34.6

16 R2 39 3.0 0.228 7.6 LOS A 1.4 35.7 0.71 0.77 33.6

Approach 191 3.0 0.228 9.8 LOS A 1.4 35.7 0.71 0.77 34.4

North: SR 9 (SB)

7 L2 17 9.0 0.410 11.3 LOS B 2.6 70.1 0.51 0.56 36.2

4 T1 270 9.0 0.410 5.3 LOS A 2.6 70.1 0.51 0.56 36.2

14 R2 169 9.0 0.410 5.4 LOS A 2.6 70.1 0.51 0.56 35.1

Approach 455 9.0 0.410 5.6 LOS A 2.6 70.1 0.51 0.56 35.8

West: John Liner Rd (EB)

5 L2 208 3.0 0.339 11.7 LOS B 2.0 52.4 0.57 0.70 34.9

2 T1 34 3.0 0.339 5.7 LOS A 2.0 52.4 0.57 0.70 34.9

12 R2 124 3.0 0.339 5.8 LOS A 2.0 52.4 0.57 0.70 33.8

Approach 365 3.0 0.339 9.1 LOS A 2.0 52.4 0.57 0.70 34.5

All Vehicles 1551 4.8 0.464 7.2 LOS A 3.2 82.4 0.56 0.62 35.3

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay & v/c (HCM 6). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings dialog (Site tab).
Roundabout LOS Method: Same as Signalised Intersections.
Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay and v/c ratio (degree of saturation) per movement.
LOS F will result if v/c > 1 irrespective of movement delay value (does not apply for approaches and intersection).
Intersection and Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all movements (v/c not used as specified in HCM 6).
Roundabout Capacity Model: SIDRA Standard.
SIDRA Standard Delay Model is used. Control Delay includes Geometric Delay.
Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D).
HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

SIDRA INTERSECTION 7.0 | Copyright © 2000-2017 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com
Organisation: TRANSPORTATION SOLUTIONS INC | Processed: Friday, December 21, 2018 2:02:41 PM
Project: D:\Dropbox (TSI)\TSI Projects\2018\218023 Jones-John Liner Trail Road Corridor Scoping Study\analysis\Sidra\2036 Trail-Jones-John 
Liner.sip7

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 531 of 810



MOVEMENT SUMMARY
Site: [303. Cook Rd & Trail Rd]

2036 With Improvement
Roundabout

Movement Performance - Vehicles
Demand Flows 95% Back of QueueMov

ID 
OD
Mov

Deg.
Satn

Average
Delay  

Level of
Service

Prop.  
Queued

Effective 
Stop Rate

Average
Speed  Total HV Vehicles Distance

veh/h % v/c sec veh ft per veh mph
South: Trail Rd (NB)

3 L2 214 7.0 0.601 17.1 LOS B 5.7 150.0 0.89 1.01 32.7

8 T1 141 7.0 0.601 11.1 LOS B 5.7 150.0 0.89 1.01 32.7

18 R2 115 7.0 0.601 11.2 LOS B 5.7 150.0 0.89 1.01 31.8

Approach 469 7.0 0.601 13.9 LOS B 5.7 150.0 0.89 1.01 32.5

East: Cook Rd (WB)

1 L2 89 5.0 0.559 16.3 LOS B 5.0 128.8 0.86 0.96 33.8

6 T1 333 5.0 0.559 10.4 LOS B 5.0 128.8 0.86 0.96 33.8

16 R2 26 5.0 0.559 10.4 LOS B 5.0 128.8 0.86 0.96 32.8

Approach 448 5.0 0.559 11.6 LOS B 5.0 128.8 0.86 0.96 33.8

North: Trail Rd (SB)

7 L2 21 2.0 0.278 13.2 LOS B 1.8 45.9 0.74 0.76 35.7

4 T1 57 2.0 0.278 7.3 LOS A 1.8 45.9 0.74 0.76 35.6

14 R2 156 2.0 0.278 7.3 LOS A 1.8 45.9 0.74 0.76 34.5

Approach 234 2.0 0.278 7.8 LOS A 1.8 45.9 0.74 0.76 34.9

West: Cook Rd (EB)

5 L2 323 2.0 0.610 11.0 LOS B 5.2 132.7 0.55 0.59 35.4

2 T1 339 2.0 0.610 5.1 LOS A 5.2 132.7 0.55 0.59 35.3

12 R2 109 2.0 0.610 5.1 LOS A 5.2 132.7 0.55 0.59 34.2

Approach 771 2.0 0.610 7.6 LOS A 5.2 132.7 0.55 0.59 35.2

All Vehicles 1922 3.9 0.610 10.1 LOS B 5.7 150.0 0.73 0.80 34.1

Site Level of Service (LOS) Method: Delay & v/c (HCM 6). Site LOS Method is specified in the Parameter Settings dialog (Site tab).
Roundabout LOS Method: Same as Signalised Intersections.
Vehicle movement LOS values are based on average delay and v/c ratio (degree of saturation) per movement.
LOS F will result if v/c > 1 irrespective of movement delay value (does not apply for approaches and intersection).
Intersection and Approach LOS values are based on average delay for all movements (v/c not used as specified in HCM 6).
Roundabout Capacity Model: SIDRA Standard.
SIDRA Standard Delay Model is used. Control Delay includes Geometric Delay.
Gap-Acceptance Capacity: SIDRA Standard (Akçelik M3D).
HV (%) values are calculated for All Movement Classes of All Heavy Vehicle Model Designation.

SIDRA INTERSECTION 7.0 | Copyright © 2000-2017 Akcelik and Associates Pty Ltd | sidrasolutions.com
Organisation: TRANSPORTATION SOLUTIONS INC | Processed: Friday, December 21, 2018 2:02:42 PM
Project: D:\Dropbox (TSI)\TSI Projects\2018\218023 Jones-John Liner Trail Road Corridor Scoping Study\analysis\Sidra\2036 Trail-Jones-John 
Liner.sip7

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 532 of 810



HCM 2010 TWSC
36: Trail Rd & F&S Grade Rd 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 5 10 5 30 10 35 5 405 20 20 190 5
Future Vol, veh/h 5 10 5 30 10 35 5 405 20 20 190 5
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 100 - - 100 - - 100 - - 100 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 5 11 5 33 11 38 5 440 22 22 207 5
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 740 726 210 723 717 451 212 0 0 462 0 0
          Stage 1 254 254 - 461 461 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 486 472 - 262 256 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 333 351 830 342 355 608 1358 - - 1099 - -
          Stage 1 750 697 - 581 565 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 563 559 - 743 696 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 299 343 830 326 346 608 1358 - - 1099 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 299 343 - 326 346 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 747 683 - 579 563 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 516 557 - 712 682 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.7 14.5 0.1 0.8
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1WBLn2 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1358 - - 299 426 326 520 1099 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.004 - - 0.018 0.038 0.1 0.094 0.02 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.7 - - 17.3 13.8 17.3 12.6 8.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - C B C B A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.3 0.1 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 533 of 810



HCM 2010 TWSC
44: Trail Rd & Jones Rd 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 2

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 16.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 15 85 5 145 65 40 5 150 290 35 65 10
Future Vol, veh/h 15 85 5 145 65 40 5 150 290 35 65 10
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 100 - - 100 - - 100 - - 100 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 16 92 5 158 71 43 5 163 315 38 71 11
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 114 0 0 97 0 0 577 557 95 775 538 93
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 127 127 - 409 409 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 450 430 - 366 129 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1475 - - 1496 - - 428 439 962 315 450 964
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 877 791 - 619 596 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 589 583 - 653 789 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1475 - - 1496 - - 334 388 962 131 398 964
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 334 388 - 131 398 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 867 782 - 612 533 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 452 521 - 344 780 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.1 4.5 25.4 24.2
HCM LOS D C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 334 639 1475 - - 1496 - - 131 432
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.016 0.748 0.011 - - 0.105 - - 0.29 0.189
HCM Control Delay (s) 16 25.5 7.5 - - 7.7 - - 43.4 15.3
HCM Lane LOS C D A - - A - - E C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 6.7 0 - - 0.4 - - 1.1 0.7

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 534 of 810



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary
208: N Township St. (SR 9) & John Liner Rd./McGarigle Rd. 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 185 30 110 65 70 35 80 350 50 15 240 150
Future Volume (veh/h) 185 30 110 65 70 35 80 350 50 15 240 150
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 0.98 0.96 0.97 0.98 1.00 0.98 0.99 0.99
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1845 1845 1900 1743 1743 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 208 34 124 73 79 39 90 393 56 17 270 169
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.89
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 9 9 9
Cap, veh/h 499 108 395 454 371 183 454 781 111 451 495 310
Arrive On Green 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50
Sat Flow, veh/h 1236 338 1234 1181 1158 572 933 1574 224 870 998 625
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 208 0 158 73 0 118 90 0 449 17 0 439
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1236 0 1573 1181 0 1730 933 0 1799 870 0 1623
Q Serve(g_s), s 6.4 0.0 3.3 2.2 0.0 2.2 3.2 0.0 7.3 0.6 0.0 8.1
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.6 0.0 3.3 5.5 0.0 2.2 11.3 0.0 7.3 7.9 0.0 8.1
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.78 1.00 0.33 1.00 0.12 1.00 0.38
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 499 0 503 454 0 554 454 0 893 451 0 806
V/C Ratio(X) 0.42 0.00 0.31 0.16 0.00 0.21 0.20 0.00 0.50 0.04 0.00 0.54
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 1040 0 1191 970 0 1310 1040 0 2023 998 0 1825
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 13.9 0.0 11.2 13.3 0.0 10.8 11.5 0.0 7.4 10.0 0.0 7.6
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.6 0.0 0.4 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln 4.1 0.0 2.6 1.3 0.0 1.9 1.5 0.0 6.5 0.3 0.0 6.6
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 14.5 0.0 11.5 13.4 0.0 11.0 11.7 0.0 7.8 10.0 0.0 8.2
LnGrp LOS B B B B B A B A
Approach Vol, veh/h 366 191 539 456
Approach Delay, s/veh 13.2 11.9 8.5 8.2
Approach LOS B B A A

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 25.6 17.9 25.6 17.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 49.0 33.0 49.0 33.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 13.3 10.6 10.1 7.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 8.3 2.9 8.4 2.9

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 9.9
HCM 2010 LOS A

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 535 of 810



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary
225: N Cascades Hwy (SR 20) & W State St. & Trail Rd. 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 4

HCM 2010 analysis cannot be performed with phasing conflicts.

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 536 of 810



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary
226: Old Hwy 99 & Cook Rd. 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 147 437 70 70 450 99 275 305 150 72 70 125
Future Volume (veh/h) 147 437 70 70 450 99 275 305 150 72 70 125
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1827 1827 1900 1810 1810 1900 1792 1792 1900 1810 1810 1810
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 155 460 74 74 474 104 289 321 158 76 74 132
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 1
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 4 4 4 5 5 5 6 6 6 5 5 5
Cap, veh/h 264 625 100 281 537 118 549 370 182 213 402 342
Arrive On Green 0.07 0.41 0.41 0.04 0.37 0.37 0.15 0.33 0.33 0.05 0.22 0.22
Sat Flow, veh/h 1740 1536 247 1723 1438 316 1707 1135 559 1723 1810 1538
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 155 0 534 74 0 578 289 0 479 76 74 132
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1740 0 1783 1723 0 1754 1707 0 1694 1723 1810 1538
Q Serve(g_s), s 4.7 0.0 22.4 2.3 0.0 27.2 10.9 0.0 23.5 3.0 2.9 6.4
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 4.7 0.0 22.4 2.3 0.0 27.2 10.9 0.0 23.5 3.0 2.9 6.4
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.14 1.00 0.18 1.00 0.33 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 264 0 725 281 0 655 549 0 552 213 402 342
V/C Ratio(X) 0.59 0.00 0.74 0.26 0.00 0.88 0.53 0.00 0.87 0.36 0.18 0.39
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 273 0 788 288 0 715 604 0 710 213 512 436
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 19.7 0.0 22.2 18.2 0.0 25.9 19.7 0.0 28.0 26.1 27.9 29.2
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 3.1 0.0 3.3 0.5 0.0 11.8 0.8 0.0 9.1 1.0 0.2 0.7
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln4.4 0.0 17.2 2.0 0.0 21.7 8.9 0.0 18.1 2.7 2.7 5.1
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 22.8 0.0 25.5 18.7 0.0 37.7 20.5 0.0 37.0 27.1 28.1 29.9
LnGrp LOS C C B D C D C C C
Approach Vol, veh/h 689 652 768 282
Approach Delay, s/veh 24.9 35.5 30.8 28.7
Approach LOS C D C C

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s8.0 32.8 7.6 39.9 17.2 23.6 10.5 37.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s4.0 37.0 4.0 39.0 16.0 25.0 7.0 36.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s5.0 25.5 4.3 24.4 12.9 8.4 6.7 29.2
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 3.3 0.0 6.3 0.3 4.0 0.0 3.8

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 30.1
HCM 2010 LOS C

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 537 of 810



HCM 2010 TWSC
227: I-5 NB Ramps & Cook Rd. 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 75 404 0 0 416 434 20 0 255 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 75 404 0 0 416 434 20 0 255 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - 0 - 50 - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - - -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 4 4 0 0 7 7 7 0 7 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 84 454 0 0 467 488 22 0 287 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 955 0 - - - 0 1333 1577 454
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 622 622 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 711 955 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - - - 6.47 6.5 6.27
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 5.47 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 5.47 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.236 - - - - - 3.563 4 3.363
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 712 - 0 0 - - 166 111 596
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 - - 526 482 -
          Stage 2 - - 0 0 - - 478 339 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 712 - - - - - 140 0 596
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 140 0 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 443 0 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 478 0 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.7 0 17.9
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBL EBT WBT WBR
Capacity (veh/h) 140 596 712 - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.161 0.481 0.118 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 35.6 16.5 10.7 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS E C B A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 2.6 0.4 - - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 538 of 810



HCM 2010 TWSC
228: I-5 SB Ramps & Cook Rd. 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 74.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 250 5 324 107 0 0 0 0 229 0 20
Future Vol, veh/h 0 250 5 324 107 0 0 0 0 229 0 20
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - 0 - 50
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - - - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 5 5 9 9 0 0 0 0 3 0 3
Mvmt Flow 0 269 5 348 115 0 0 0 0 246 0 22
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All - 0 0 274 0 0 1083 1085 115
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 811 811 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 272 274 -
Critical Hdwy - - - 4.19 - - 6.43 6.5 6.23
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 5.43 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 5.43 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - - 2.281 - - 3.527 4 3.327
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 - - 1250 - 0 ~ 239 218 935
          Stage 1 0 - - - - 0 435 396 -
          Stage 2 0 - - - - 0 771 687 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - - 1250 - - ~ 168 0 935
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - ~ 168 0 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 435 0 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 542 0 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 6.8 267.1
HCM LOS F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBT EBR WBL WBT SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) - - 1250 - 168 935
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.279 - 1.466 0.023
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 9 0 289.7 8.9
HCM Lane LOS - - A A F A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 1.1 - 15.7 0.1

Notes
~: Volume exceeds capacity       $: Delay exceeds 300s      +: Computation Not Defined      *: All major volume in platoon

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 539 of 810



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary
303: Trail Rd. & Cook Rd. 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 310 325 105 85 320 25 205 135 110 20 55 150
Future Volume (veh/h) 310 325 105 85 320 25 205 135 110 20 55 150
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 5 2 12 1 6 16
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.98 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1863 1863 1900 1810 1810 1900 1900 1776 1900 1900 1863 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 323 339 109 89 333 26 214 141 115 21 57 156
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 5 5 5 7 7 7 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 477 676 217 398 834 65 298 172 131 80 191 441
Arrive On Green 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.39 0.39 0.39 0.39 0.39 0.39
Sat Flow, veh/h 1018 1343 432 911 1657 129 586 436 331 75 483 1116
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 323 0 448 89 0 359 470 0 0 234 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1018 0 1775 911 0 1787 1353 0 0 1675 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 22.7 0.0 13.2 5.6 0.0 9.8 17.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 32.5 0.0 13.2 18.8 0.0 9.8 25.3 0.0 0.0 7.8 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.24 1.00 0.07 0.46 0.24 0.09 0.67
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 477 0 894 398 0 900 601 0 0 711 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.68 0.00 0.50 0.22 0.00 0.40 0.78 0.00 0.00 0.33 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 534 0 994 449 0 1000 720 0 0 851 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 22.2 0.0 13.0 19.2 0.0 12.1 21.9 0.0 0.0 16.8 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.9 0.0 0.4 0.3 0.0 0.3 4.7 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln 11.0 0.0 10.6 2.6 0.0 8.5 15.4 0.0 0.0 6.5 0.0 0.0
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 25.2 0.0 13.4 19.5 0.0 12.4 26.6 0.0 0.0 17.0 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS C B B B C B
Approach Vol, veh/h 771 448 470 234
Approach Delay, s/veh 18.3 13.8 26.6 17.0
Approach LOS B B C B

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 35.0 43.6 35.0 43.6
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 38.0 44.0 38.0 44.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 27.3 34.5 9.8 20.8
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 3.8 5.1 5.8 8.4

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 19.1
HCM 2010 LOS B

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 540 of 810



HCM 2010 TWSC
304: Reed St. & Jones Rd/John Liner Rd. 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 9

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 0 3 3 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 94 90 94 90 94 94 94 94 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 0 2 0 2 4 4 1 1 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 4 4 4 7 4 6 1 0 0 3 0 0
          Stage 1 1 1 - 3 3 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 3 3 - 4 1 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.1 6.52 6.2 4.12 - - 4.11 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.1 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.1 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.5 4.018 3.3 2.218 - - 2.209 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1017 891 1080 1018 891 1083 1622 - - 1626 - -
          Stage 1 1022 895 - 1025 893 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 1020 893 - 1024 895 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1015 889 1078 1013 889 1078 1622 - - 1622 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 1015 889 - 1013 889 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 1022 895 - 1023 891 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 1018 891 - 1022 895 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0 0
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1622 - - - - 1622 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 0 0 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - - 0 - -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 541 of 810



HCM 2010 TWSC
7095: Patrick St & Jones Rd 12/21/2018

Trail-Jones-John Liner Rd Corridor Improvements 5:00 pm 11/18/2015 2036 with Signals + LT Lanes Synchro 9 Report
TSI Page 10

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.1

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 365 40 85 260 35 130
Future Vol, veh/h 365 40 85 260 35 130
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 150 - 150 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 1 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 397 43 92 283 38 141
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 440 0 886 419
          Stage 1 - - - - 419 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 467 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1120 - 315 634
          Stage 1 - - - - 664 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 631 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1120 - 289 634
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 413 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 664 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 579 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 2.1 12.8
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 413 634 - - 1120 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.092 0.223 - - 0.082 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 14.6 12.3 - - 8.5 -
HCM Lane LOS B B - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 0.8 - - 0.3 -

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 542 of 810



 

 
Left-Turn Storage Guidelines: Two-Lane, Unsignalized (Source: WSDOT Design Manual) 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 543 of 810



Transportation Concurrency Review 

 

 

 

 

January 7, 2020 

 

TO:  Mark Freiberger, PE 
Director of Public Works 
City of Sedro-Woolley 

 
FROM:  Andrew Bratlien, PE 
 

SUBJECT:  Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review 
    
INTRODUCTION 

This memorandum describes the methods, assumptions, and findings of the Sedro-Woolley Citywide 
Transportation Concurrency Review. This includes a review of intersection and segment Levels of Service 
(LOS) in 2019 and for two pipeline (2025) development scenarios as well as mitigation recommendations to 
maintain minimum LOS standards. 

CONCURRENCY MANAGEMENT BACKGROUND 

Concurrency is mandated under the 1990 Growth Management Act (GMA) passed by the Washington State 
legislature to address and mitigate problems associated with growth. The GMA requires that transportation 
improvements or strategies necessary to accommodate development must be made concurrently with land 
development. Concurrency requires transportation improvements to be either (a) in place at the time of 
development or (b) that a financial commitment is in place to complete the improvements within six years 
of development (RCW 36.70A.070(6)(b)). 

Transportation concurrency requires that the transportation impacts of land use development actions do 
not reduce transportation Level of Service (LOS) below the responsible agency’s adopted LOS standards. If it 
is determined during the development review process that the proposed land use action would reduce LOS 
below the adopted standard, the development must be modified to reduce its transportation impact or 
provide corrective transportation improvements. Transportation improvements, which may include project 
funding, must be identified and programmed within a six-year period from development permitting.  
Should any of these requirements fail to be met, the development proposal cannot be granted approval. 

2019 CONDITIONS 

Traffic Counts 
Traffic counts were collected at 45 intersections in and near Sedro-Woolley on non-holiday weekdays in 
April 2015. Updated traffic counts were collected in 2019 at the following five intersections: 

 SR 20 & Township St (October 2019) 
 SR 20 & Fruitdale Rd (October 2019) 
 SR 9 & John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd (April 2019) 
 Fruitdale Rd & McGarigle Rd (April 2019) 
 Fruitdale Rd & Portobello Ave (October 2019) 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 544 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit PTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Mark Freiberger, PE 
Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review 

January 7, 2020 
Page 2 of 8 

 

Intersection turning movement counts were collected from 4:00 – 6:00 PM to capture the PM peak period 
of travel. Counts were then reviewed to identify the PM peak hour of travel, defined as the highest four 
consecutive fifteen-minute volume intervals during the PM peak period. The PM peak hour represents the 
one-hour period when traffic volumes are typically at their peak, and generally corresponds to the period of 
rush hour traffic with commuters returning home from work. The Sedro-Woolley travel demand and 
intersection LOS models reflect conditions during the PM peak hour of travel. 

Travel Demand Model 
The Sedro-Woolley travel demand model was most recently updated in 2015 to reflect PM peak hour traffic 
volumes in April 2015. As part of this analysis, the travel demand model was updated to include significant 
land use changes and transportation network improvements which occurred between April 2015 and 
November 2019.  

A list of recently completed (2015-2019) developments was provided by City staff and input to the travel 
demand model. Recent development growth included a total of 215 new PM peak hour trips internal to the 
City of Sedro-Woolley. Regional (external) travel demand growth was updated based on 2019 PM peak 
hour traffic counts. 

The updated travel demand model was used to estimate traffic volume growth at intersections which were 
most recently counted in April 2015. 

2019 Level of Service 
Level of Service Definition 
Level of service (LOS) is a qualitative description of the operating performance of an element of 
transportation infrastructure such as a roadway or an intersection. LOS is typically expressed as a letter 
score from LOS A, representing free flow conditions with minimal delays, to LOS F, representing breakdown 
flow with high delays. 

Intersection LOS is based on the average delay experienced by a vehicle traveling through an intersection. 
Delay at a signalized intersection can be caused by waiting for the signal or waiting for the queue ahead to 
clear the signal. Delay at roundabouts and stop-controlled intersections is caused by waiting for a gap in 
traffic or waiting for a queue to clear the intersection or roundabout. 

Delay for signalized and stop-controlled intersections was calculated in Synchro 9 software using Highway 
Capacity Manual 2010 (HCM2010) methodology. Roundabout delay was calculated in Sidra Intersection 8 
software using the Sidra capacity model and signalized level of service thresholds, per WSDOT October 
2019 Sidra policy guidelines. 

Delay is defined differently for signalized and all-way stop controlled intersections than for two-way stop 
controlled (i.e. stop control on minor approach) intersections. For signalized and all-way stop controlled 
intersections, level of service thresholds are based upon average control delay for all vehicles (on all 
approach legs) entering the intersection. For minor-approach-only stop controlled intersections, delay is 
reported for the movement with the worst (highest) delay. Table 1 shows the amount of delay used to 
determine LOS for signalized and unsignalized intersections. 

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 545 of 810



Mark Freiberger, PE 
Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review 

January 7, 2020 
Page 3 of 8 

 

Table 1. Level of Service Thresholds 

LOS Signalized and  
Roundabout Delay (sec/veh) 

Unsignalized Delay 
(sec/veh) 

Segment V/C 
Ratio 

A ≤10 ≤10 ≤ 0.60 
B >10 – 20 >10 – 15 > 0.60 – 0.70 
C >20 – 35 >15 – 25 > 0.70 – 0.80 
D >35 – 55 >25 – 35 > 0.80 – 0.90 
E >55 – 80 >35 – 50 > 0.90 – 1.00 
F >80 >50 > 1.00 

 
Segment LOS was evaluated for each of 75 arterial segments, as identified in the Transportation Element. 
Street segment LOS is based on the ratio of traffic volume to street capacity. The Transportation Element 
defines local standards for street capacity based on functional classification, number of lanes, and other 
physical characteristics, as shown in Table 2.  

Table 2. Sedro-Woolley Segment Capacity Standards 

Functional 
Classification 

Base Peak Hr 
Capacity 
(vphpl) 

Has Left-
Turn Lane 

(vph) 

Has Access 
Management 

(vph) 

No Bike 
Lane 
(vph) 

No 
Sidewalk 

(vph) 

On-Street 
Parking 

(vph) 
Principal Arterial 900 +450 +540 -90 -180 -45 
Minor Arterial 800 +400 +480 -40 -80 -40 
Major Collector 600 +300 +360 -30 -60 -30 
Local Access 400 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Level of Service Policy 
The Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan defines minimum LOS standards as LOS D on principal and LOS C 
on all other streets. 

Minimum LOS standards for State facilities are set by the Washington State Department of Transportation 
(WSDOT). SR 20 and SR 9 are both designated by WSDOT as Highways of Statewide Significance (HSS) with 
minimum LOS D through Sedro-Woolley. In order to maintain consistency with WSDOT LOS standards, the 
City of Sedro-Woolley has similarly adopted a minimum LOS D standard for both routes. 

2019 Level of Service Deficiencies 
Existing LOS deficiencies are summarized in Table 3.  

Table 3. 2019 Intersection LOS Deficiencies 

ID Location Control 
Type1 

2019 
LOS (Delay)2 

11 SR 20 & Reed St TWSC F (131) 
17 Cook Rd & Trail Rd TWSC D (31.9) 

1TWSC = minor approach stop control; AWSC = all-way stop control; Signal = signalized; RAB=roundabout 
2For TWSC intersections, delay is reported for the worst (i.e. highest-delay) movement; for all other 
control types, average intersection delay is reported. 

 
The intersection of SR 20 and Reed St operates with high delay on the stop-controlled (Reed St) approaches 
during the PM peak hour due to high volumes along SR 20. Mitigation may include prohibition of left-turn 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 546 of 810



Mark Freiberger, PE 
Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review 

January 7, 2020 
Page 4 of 8 

 

movements from Reed St during the PM peak hour. Mitigation options are described in greater detail later 
in this document. 

The intersection of Cook Rd and Trail Rd currently operates at LOS D, which is below the minimum LOS C 
standard. The intersection will be impacted by the Trail Rd extension, identified as project C3 in the Sedro-
Woolley Transportation Element. 

The intersection of Township St (SR 9) and John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd currently operates at LOS C with 
20.5 seconds of delay on the westbound (McGarigle Rd) approach. Minimum LOS D is satisfied. 

No street segments currently operate below minimum LOS standards. Full intersection and segment LOS 
summaries are provided in Attachment 1. 

2025 PIPELINE CONDITIONS 

Scenario Design 
Pipeline conditions were analyzed for two development scenarios, as shown below. The land use and 
network improvement assumptions for each scenario are described in greater detail in the following 
sections. 

1. 2025 with Approved Development (2025 Baseline): 
1A. Without Jones Rd/John Liner Rd/Trail Rd corridor project 
1B. With Jones/John Liner/Trail Rd corridor project 

2. 2025 with Additional Development (2025 Pending Applications): 
2A. Without Jones Rd/John Liner Rd/Trail Rd corridor project 
2B. With Jones/John Liner/Trail Rd corridor project 

The 2025 Baseline land use scenario included developments which were permitted but not occupied as of 
November 2019. Two network improvement scenarios were evaluated under the 2025 Baseline 
development scenario: without (1A) and with (1B) the Jones/John Liner/Trail Rd corridor projects. 
Transportation network improvement assumptions are described in greater detail later in this document. 

The 2025 Pending Applications land use scenario included developments which have submitted permit 
applications but have not been approved as of November 2019. The 2025 Pending Applications scenarios 
also included development-constructed transportation improvement projects which were identified by City 
staff, as described in the following section. Similar to the 2025 Baseline scenarios, the 2025 Pending 
Applications scenarios included two transportation network improvement scenarios: without (2A) and with 
(2B) the Jones/John Liner/Trail Rd corridor projects. 

Land Development 
2025 Baseline 
A 2025 Baseline travel demand forecast was calculated based on the sum of local (internal) and regional 
(external) growth forecasts. Sedro-Woolley staff developed a list of four “pipeline” developments which 
have permitted but not occupied as of November 2019, representing a total of 115 new PM peak hour trips 
in the City. Pipeline regional travel demand growth was calculated based on SCOG regional travel demand 
forecasts for arterials at the City boundaries.  

2025 Pending Applications 
Sedro-Woolley staff provided a list of five development applications which are pending approval. The 
developments, identified in Table 4, constitute a total of 362 new PM peak hour trips. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 547 of 810



Mark Freiberger, PE 
Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review 

January 7, 2020 
Page 5 of 8 

 

Table 4. Pipeline Developments Pending Approval 
Name Description New PM Trips 

Dukes Hill Subdivision 201 single-family units 179 
McGarigle Subdivision 85 age-restricted single-family units 70 
Gateway Golf Course Subdivision 99 single-family detached units;  

16 townhome units 76 

F&S Grade Rd Subdivision 31 single-family detached units 31 
Debbie Dr Subdivision 6 single-family detached units 6 

Total New PM Peak Hour Trips 362 
 
Two of the developments identified in Table 4 include construction of new roadways which are identified in 
the Sedro-Woolley Transportation Element. Dukes Hill Subdivision will construct project C18, an extension 
of Portobello Ave from its existing terminus west to Township St (SR 9). F&S Grade Rd Subdivision will 
construct project C9B, an extension of Garden of Eden Rd from Jones Rd to intersect F&S Grade Rd to the 
south. Transportation improvement project assumptions are described in greater detail in the following 
section. 

Transportation Improvement Projects 
Sedro-Woolley staff provided a list of 14 capacity-related transportation improvement projects which are 
planned for construction by 2026. Per Sedro-Woolley segment LOS policy, capacity-related projects include 
nonmotorized improvements on arterial routes. Table 5 summarizes transportation improvement projects 
which were assumed for each scenario of this analysis. 

Development-driven improvement projects, including the Trail Rd/Garden of Eden Rd extension and the 
Portobello Ave arterial extension, were assumed to be constructed in both 2025 Pending Applications 
scenarios (2A, 2B). 

The six-year transportation improvement project list included four intersection improvements, as identified 
in Table 5, which were evaluated and modeled as necessary to mitigate intersection LOS deficiencies. The 
necessity of these intersection improvement projects is described in the following section. 

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 548 of 810



Mark Freiberger, PE 
Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review 

January 7, 2020 
Page 6 of 8 

 

Table 5. 2020-2026 Transportation Capacity Improvement Projects by Scenario 

ID Project Name From/To Description Expected  
Cn Year 

2025 Baseline Transportation Capacity Improvement Projects (All Scenarios)  
S16 SR 20 & Township St (SR 9) Intersection Imp. Signal & channelization impr. 2021 

S14C SR 20/Cascade Trail West 
Extension Phase 2A 

Holtcamp Rd 
to Hodgin Rd Shared use path 2022 

C1C John Liner Rd Bike/Ped Imp. Reed St to SR 9 Shared use path 2023 
Jones/John Liner/Trail Rd Corridor Projects (Scenarios 1B, 2B)   

C19 Patrick St Arterial Extension Michael St  
to Jones St 

New major collector 
w/sidewalks 2021 

C1B Jones/John Liner RR Crossing Sapp Rd 
to Reed St 

New RR undercrossing and 
new major collector street 2022 

C1D John Liner Rd Arterial Imp. Reed St to 
Township St 

Reconstruct to major 
collector section 2024 

C9A Trail Rd Arterial Extension Cook Rd to 
F&S Grade Rd New major collector 2025 

C1A Jones Rd Arterial Imp. F&S Grade Rd 
to Sapp Rd 

Reconstruct to major 
collector including sidewalk 2026 

2025 Development-Driven Transportation Capacity Improvement Projects (Scenarios 2A, 2B)  

C9B Trail Rd – Garden of Eden Rd 
Extension 

F&S Grade Rd 
to Jones Rd New major collector TBD 

C18 Portobello Ave Arterial 
Extension 

Township St to 
Cascadia Dr New major collector TBD 

Intersection Capacity Improvement Projects (Applied as Necessary)  

S2 SR 20 & Reed St Intersection Imp. Restrict minor approaches to 
right-in/right-out only 2021 

S17 Township St (SR 9) & John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd 
Intersection Imp. New signal or roundabout 2023 

S18 SR 9 & State St Intersection Imp. Add dedicated right-turn lane 
on west leg 2024 

C3 Cook Rd & Trail Rd Intersection Imp. Intersection improvements 2025 
 
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 549 of 810



Mark Freiberger, PE 
Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review 

January 7, 2020 
Page 7 of 8 

 

2025 Level of Service 
Intersection and segment LOS were analyzed for the 2025 Baseline and 2025 Pending Applications 
scenarios. Intersection LOS deficiencies are summarized in Table 6.  

Table 6. Pipeline (2025) Intersection Level of Service Deficiencies 

ID Location Control  
Type1 

2025 Baseline 
LOS (Delay)2 

2025 Pending  
LOS (Delay)2 

11 SR 20 & Reed St     
 w/o Jones/John Liner Rd Crossing TWSC  F (154) F (204) 
 w/ Jones/John Liner Rd Crossing TWSC  F (54.8) F (58.5) 

w/ crossing + right-in/right-out (Project S2) RIRO  C (17.9) C (17.8) 
17 Cook Rd & Trail Rd     

 w/o Trail Rd Extension / TWSC TWSC E (35.3) E (39.5) 
 w/ Trail Rd Extension / TWSC TWSC F (493) F (>999) 

w/ Trail Rd Ext. / roundabout (Project C3) RAB A (7.9) B (9.6) 
29 Township St (SR 9) & John Liner/McGarigle Rd   

w/o Jones/John Liner Rd Crossing TWSC C (22.6) D (28.5) 
w/ crossing & two-way stop control TWSC F (50.2) F (181) 

w/ crossing & roundabout (Project S17) RAB A (7.5) A (7.8) 
w/ crossing & signal control (Project S17) Signal A (9.3) B (10.7) 

1TWSC = minor approach stop control; AWSC = all-way stop control; Signal = signalized; RAB=roundabout 
2For TWSC intersections, delay is reported for the worst (i.e. highest-delay) movement; for all other control types, 
average intersection delay is reported. 

 
The intersection of SR 20 and Reed St will continue to operate at LOS F with high minor-approach delay 
during the PM peak hour. The traffic redistribution associated with the Jones/John Liner Rd undercrossing 
will reduce delay but will not mitigate the LOS deficiency. Prohibiting left-turns from Reed St onto SR 20 
during the PM peak hour will allow the intersection to satisfy minimum LOS standards. This is consistent 
with improvement project S2 identified in Transportation Element.  

The intersection of Cook Rd and Trail Rd will degrade to LOS E in the 2025 Baseline Without-Trail Rd 
scenario. The 2025 Pending Applications scenario will result in slightly higher delay but no reduction in LOS. 
After the construction of the Trail Rd extension, the intersection will operate at LOS F with very high delay 
on the north and south approaches. Mitigation may include a single-lane roundabout, which is consistent 
with improvement project C3 identified in the Transportation Element. 

The intersection of Township St (SR 9) and John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd will operate at LOS C in the 2025 
Baseline Without Trail Rd scenario. The addition of pending applications will increase delay, resulting in LOS 
D, but will not trigger an LOS deficiency. The construction of the Jones/John Liner Rd undercrossing will 
result in LOS F, with very high delays on the John Liner Rd approach. Mitigation may include a single-lane 
roundabout or signal, which is consistent with project S17 identified in the Transportation Element. 

The intersection of SR 9 and State St is identified for improvement in the Transportation Element, but the 
improvement will not be necessary in the six-year concurrency horizon. The intersection operates at LOS D 
in all 2025 analysis scenarios and satisfies the minimum LOS D standard for SR 9. 

No segment LOS deficiencies will occur by 2025. 2025 Baseline intersection and segment LOS results are 
summarized in Attachment 2. 2025 Pending Applications LOS results are summarized in Attachment 3. Full 
intersection LOS reports may be provided upon request. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 550 of 810



Mark Freiberger, PE 
Citywide Transportation Concurrency Review 

January 7, 2020 
Page 8 of 8 

 

FINDINGS 

 Pending development will generate 362 new PM peak hour trips. 
 Trips associated with pending development will increase delay at several intersections but will not 

cause any new LOS deficiencies. 
 Township St (SR 9) and John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd intersection: 

o The intersection of Township St (SR 9) and John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd currently satisfies 
minimum LOS D standard but will reach LOS F by 2025, assuming the construction of the 
Jones/John Liner Rd corridor projects. 

 Cook Rd and Trail Rd intersection: 
o Currently operates at LOS D, below the minimum LOS C standard. 
o Will degrade to LOS E by 2025, assuming no extension of Trail Rd 
o Will degrade to LOS F including very high minor-approach delays with the planned Trail Rd 

extension. 
 SR 20 and Reed St intersection: 

o Currently operates at LOS F. 
o Will continue to operate at LOS F with high minor-approach delay during PM peak hour. 

 All Comprehensive Plan street segments will satisfy minimum LOS standards through 2025. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

 Township St (SR 9) and John Liner Rd/McGarigle Rd intersection: A single-lane roundabout or signal 
is recommended concurrent with the Jones Rd/John Liner Rd undercrossing to maintain minimum 
LOS  

 Cook Rd and Trail Rd intersection: A single-lane roundabout or traffic signal is recommended to 
mitigate the existing LOS deficiency. 

 SR 20 and Reed St intersection: Prohibit left turn movements from Reed St during PM peak hour. 

 

 

Attachment 1. 2019 LOS Results 

Attachment 2. 2025 LOS Results 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 551 of 810



 
 

2019 Intersection LOS Results 

ID Location 
Control 
Type1 

2019 
LOS (Delay)2 Deficient? 

1 SR 20 & Collins Rd Signal B (11.3)  
2 SR 20 & Rhodes Rd Signal B (10.8)  
3 SR 20 & Trail Rd Signal C (26.7)  
4 SR 20 & SR 9 (west) Signal B (14.4)  
5 SR 20 & Ferry St Signal B (15.8)  
6 SR 20 & Cook Rd RAB A (9.5)  
7 SR 20 & F&S Grade Rd TWSC C (16.3)  
8 SR 20 & Patrick St RAB A (4.4)  
9 SR 20 & Metcalf St TWSC D (25.1)  

10 SR 20 & Murdock St TWSC D (26.1)  
11 SR 20 & Reed St TWSC D (31.3)  
12 SR 20 & Central Ave TWSC C (23.2)  
13 SR 20 & Ball St TWSC C (21.4)  
14 SR 20 & Township St (SR 9) Signal D (48.8)  
15 SR 20 & Fruitdale Rd Signal B (10.8)  
16 SR 20 & Helmick Rd TWSC B (10.4)  
17 Cook Rd & Trail Rd TWSC D (31.9) Yes 
18 Cook Rd & Ferry St RAB  A (6.8)  
19 SR 9 & State St Signal D (40.9)  
20 State St & Metcalf St AWSC B (14.1)  
21 State St & Reed St TWSC B (13.2)  
22 State St & Township St AWSC B (13)  
23 State St & Railroad St AWSC A (8.1)  
24 Hoehn Rd & Fruitdale Rd TWSC A (9.3)  
26 Ferry St & Metcalf St AWSC B (12.2)  
27 Ferry St & Reed St TWSC B (11.8)  
28 Ferry St & Township St TWSC C (16.4)  
29 Township St (SR 9) & John Liner Rd TWSC C (20.5)  
30 SR 9 & Kalloch Rd TWSC B (11.2)  
31 Jameson St & 3rd St AWSC A (8.7)  
32 Jameson St & Township St TWSC B (12.7)  
33 John Liner Rd & Reed St TWSC B (10.7)  
34 McGarigle Rd & Carter St TWSC A (8.8)  
36 Fruitdale Rd & McGarigle Rd TWSC B (10)  
37 Fruitdale Rd & Portobello Ave TWSC B (10.6)  
41 Fruitdale Rd & Kalloch Rd TWSC A (8.6)  
42 Minkler Rd & Fruitdale Rd TWSC B (11.1)  
43 SR 9 & Jameson St RAB  A (6.1)  

1TWSC = minor approach stop control; AWSC = all-way stop control; Signal = signalized; RAB = roundabout 
2For TWSC intersections, delay is reported for the worst (i.e. highest-delay) movement; for all other control types, average 
intersection delay is reported. 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 552 of 810



 
 

2019 Segment LOS Results 

ID Name Limits Functional 
Classification 

2019 
V/C 

2019 
LOS 

2001 SR 20 Collins Rd to Rhodes Rd Principal Art. 0.82 D 
2002 SR 20 Rhodes Rd to W State St Principal Art. 0.80 D 
2003 SR 20 State St  to SR 9 Principal Art. 0.48 A 
2004 SR 20 SR 9 to W Ferry St Principal Art. 0.59 A 
2005 SR 20 W Ferry St to Cook Rd Principal Art. 0.45 A 
2006 SR 20 Cook Rd to F&S Grade Rd Principal Art. 0.76 C 
2007 SR 20 F&S Grade Rd to Patrick St Principal Art. 0.79 C 
2008 SR 20 Patrick St to Metcalf St Principal Art. 0.75 C 
2009 SR 20 Metcalf St to Reed St Principal Art. 0.80 D 
2010 SR 20 Reed St to Township St Principal Art. 0.73 C 
3001 SR 20 Township St to Fruitdale Minor Art. 0.57 A 
3002 SR 20 Fruitdale Rd to Helmick Rd Minor Art. 0.39 A 
3003 SR 9 City Limit to W Nelson St Minor Art. 0.76 C 
3004 [reserved]   0.00 - 
3005 SR 9 W Nelson St to W State St Minor Art. 0.58 A 
3006 SR 9 W State St to SR 20 Minor Art. 0.25 A 
3007 [reserved]   0.00 - 
3008 [reserved]   0.00 - 
3009 [reserved]   0.00 - 
3010 Cook Rd City Limit to Trail Rd Minor Art. 0.59 A 
3011 Cook Rd Trail Rd to Ferry St Minor Art. 0.55 A 
3012 Cook Rd  Ferry St to SR 20 Minor Art. 0.42 A 
3013 F&S Grade Rd City Limit to Murrow St Minor Art. 0.09 A 
3014 F&S Grade Rd Murrow St to SR 20 Minor Art. 0.10 A 
3015 [reserved]   0.00 - 
3016 [reserved]   0.00 - 
3017 Ferry St SR 20 to Metcalf St Minor Art. 0.42 A 
3018 Ferry St Metcalf St to Reed St Minor Art. 0.28 A 
3019 Ferry St Reed St to Township St Minor Art. 0.20 A 
3020 State St SR 20 to SR 9 Minor Art. 0.48 A 
3021 State St SR 9 to Metcalf St Minor Art. 0.58 A 
3022 State St Metcalf St to 3rd St Minor Art. 0.46 A 
3023 State St 3rd St to Reed St Minor Art. 0.45 A 
3024 State St Reed St to Township St Minor Art. 0.45 A 
3025 [reserved]   0.00 - 
3026 Township St State St to Ferry St Minor Art. 0.32 A 
3027 Township St Ferry St to Wicker Rd Minor Art. 0.38 A 
3028 Township St Wicker Rd to SR 20 Minor Art. 0.35 A 
3029 Township St (SR 9) SR 20 to McGarigle Rd Minor Art. 0.51 A 
3030 Township St (SR 9) McGarigle Rd to Sapp Rd Minor Art. 0.45 A 
3031 Township St (SR 9) Sapp Rd to Bassett Rd Minor Art. 0.38 A 
3032 Township St (SR 9) Bassett Rd to Kalloch Minor Art. 0.31 A 
3033 [reserved]   0.00 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 553 of 810



 
 

ID Name Limits Functional 
Classification 

2019 
V/C 

2019 
LOS 

3034 [reserved]   0.00 - 
4001 3rd St Sterling St to Jameson St Major Coll. 0.19 A 
4002 3rd St Jameson St to State St Major Coll. 0.00 - 
4003 Batey Rd W Nelson St to Jameson St Major Coll. 0.09 A 
4004 Fruitdale Rd River Rd to Hoehn Rd Major Coll. 0.04 A 
4005 Fruitdale Rd Hoehn Rd to Minkler Rd Major Coll. 0.05 A 
4006 Fruitdale Rd Minkler Rd to Wicker Rd Major Coll. 0.14 A 
4007 Fruitdale Rd Wicker Rd to SR 20 Major Coll. 0.13 A 
4008 Fruitdale Rd SR 20 to McGarigle Rd Major Coll. 0.18 A 
4009 Fruitdale Rd McGarigle to Thompson Dr Major Coll. 0.20 A 
4010 Fruitdale Rd Thompson Dr to Kalloch Major Coll. 0.01 A 
4011 Jameson St Batey Rd to 3rd St Major Coll. 0.28 A 
4012 Jameson St 3rd St to 6th St Major Coll. 0.13 A 
4013 Jameson St 6th St to Township St Major Coll. 0.11 A 
4014 Jameson St Township St to Railroad Ave Major Coll. 0.07 A 
4015 John Liner Rd Reed St to Township St Major Coll. 0.06 A 
4016 [reserved]   0.00 - 
4017 McGarigle Rd Township St to Fruitdale Major Coll. 0.17 A 
4018 Metcalf St State St  to Ferry St Major Coll. 0.24 A 
4019 Metcalf St Ferry St to SR 20 Major Coll. 0.22 A 
4020 Minkler Rd State St  to Fruitdale Rd Major Coll. 0.13 A 
4021 Nelson St SR 9 to Batey Rd Major Coll. 0.28 A 
4022 Railroad Ave Jameson St to State St Major Coll. 0.20 A 
4023 Reed St State St  to Ferry St Major Coll. 0.02 A 
4024 Reed St Ferry St to SR 20 Major Coll. 0.02 A 
4025 Reed St SR 20 to John Liner Rd Major Coll. 0.20 A 
4026 Reed St John Liner Rd to Sapp Rd Major Coll. 0.18 A 
4027 Rhodes Rd SR 20 to SR 9 Major Coll. 0.05 A 
4028 [reserved]   0.00 - 
4029 Sapp Rd Reed St to Township Rd Major Coll. 0.09 A 
4030 State St Township to Railroad Ave Major Coll. 0.19 A 
4031 Sterling St 3rd St to 6th St Major Coll. 0.09 A 
4032 Sterling St 6th St to Township St Major Coll. 0.02 A 
4033 Township St River Rd to Sterling St Major Coll. 0.21 A 
4034 Township St Sterling St to Jameson St Major Coll. 0.23 A 
4035 Township St Jameson St to State St Major Coll. 0.25 A 
4036 Trail Road SR 20 to Cook Rd Major Coll. 0.27 A 
4037 Wicker Rd Township St to Fruitdale Major Coll. 0.30 A 
4038 [reserved]   0.00 - 
5001 Jones Rd F&S Grade Rd to Garden of Eden Local 0.24 A 
5002 Jones Rd Garden of Eden to Sapp Rd Local 0.05 A 
5003 Garden of Eden Rd F&S Grade Rd to Jones Rd Local 0.19 A 
5004 Garden of Eden Rd Jones Rd to Kiens Ln (Pvt) Local 0.31 A 
5005 [reserved]  Local 0.00 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 554 of 810



 
 

ID Name Limits Functional 
Classification 

2019 
V/C 

2019 
LOS 

5006 [reserved]   0.00 - 
5007 Bassett Rd Eikleberry Ct (Pvt) to SR 9 Local 0.03 A 
5008 [reserved]   0.00 - 
5009 [reserved]   0.00 - 
5010 [reserved]   0.00 - 
5011 [reserved]   0.00 - 

 

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 555 of 810



 
 

2025 Intersection LOS Results 

ID Location Control  
Type1 

2025 LOS (Delay)2 Deficient? 
Baseline Alternative Baseline Alternative 

1 SR 20 & Collins Rd Signal B (13.7) B (13.6)   
2 SR 20 & Rhodes Rd Signal B (11.1) B (10.7)   
3 SR 20 & Trail Rd Signal C (25.1) C (23.8)   
4 SR 20 & SR 9 (west) Signal B (16.7) B (16.8)   
5 SR 20 & Ferry St Signal B (15.6) B (16.1)   
6 SR 20 & Cook Rd RAB B (11.8) B (11.4)   
7 SR 20 & F&S Grade Rd TWSC C (16) C (15.7)   
8 SR 20 & Patrick St RAB A (6.5) A (6.5)   
9 SR 20 & Metcalf St TWSC D (25.7) D (25.1)   

10 SR 20 & Murdock St TWSC C (23) C (23)   
11 SR 20 & Reed St TWSC C (24.8) D (25.3)   
12 SR 20 & Central Ave TWSC C (22.8) C (22.6)   
13 SR 20 & Ball St TWSC C (21.2) C (21)   
14 SR 20 & Township St (SR 9) Signal B (19.9) C (21)   
15 SR 20 & Fruitdale Rd Signal B (11) B (11.6)   
16 SR 20 & Helmick Rd TWSC B (10.6) B (10.6)   
17 Cook Rd & Trail Rd TWSC F (492.8) F (999) Yes Yes 
18 Cook Rd & Ferry St RAB A (5.7) A (5.6)   
19 SR 9 & State St Signal D (44.5) D (43.6)   
20 State St & Metcalf St AWSC B (12.1) B (12)   
21 State St & Reed St TWSC B (11.9) B (11.9)   
22 State St & Township St AWSC B (11) B (11.4)   
23 State St & Railroad St AWSC A (8.1) A (8.1)   
24 Hoehn Rd & Fruitdale Rd TWSC A (9.4) A (9.4)   
26 Ferry St & Metcalf St AWSC B (10.9) B (10.6)   
27 Ferry St & Reed St TWSC B (11.4) B (11.2)   
28 Ferry St & Township St TWSC B (12.7) B (12.7)   
29 Township St & John Liner Rd TWSC F (50.2) F (178.7) Yes Yes 
30 SR 9 & Kalloch Rd TWSC B (12.1) B (12.3)   
31 Jameson St & 3rd St AWSC A (8.2) A (8.2)   
32 Jameson St & Township St TWSC B (11.6) B (11.7)   
33 John Liner Rd & Reed St TWSC C (18.1) C (21.8)   
34 McGarigle Rd & Carter St TWSC A (8.9) A (9.8)   
36 Fruitdale Rd & McGarigle Rd TWSC B (10.3) B (10.9)   
37 Fruitdale Rd & Portobello Ave TWSC B (13.9) B (14.7)   
41 Fruitdale Rd & Kalloch Rd TWSC A (8.8) A (8.8)   
42 Minkler Rd & Fruitdale Rd TWSC B (11.3) B (11.2)   
43 SR 9 & Jameson St RAB A (6.7) A (5.4)   
44 F&S Grade Rd & Trail Rd TWSC A (9.8) C (15.2)   
45 Jones Rd & Garden of Eden Rd TWSC B (10.1) C (16.4)   
46 Jones Rd & Patrick St TWSC B (11.6) B (13.3)   
1TWSC = minor approach stop control; AWSC = all-way stop control; Signal = signalized; RAB = roundabout 
2For TWSC intersections, delay is reported for the worst (i.e. highest-delay) movement; for all other control types, average 
intersection delay is reported. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 556 of 810



 
 

2025 Segment LOS Results 

ID Name Limits Functional 
Classification 

2025 V/C 2025 LOS 
Base Alt. Base Alt. 

2001 SR 20 Collins Rd to Rhodes Rd Principal Art. 0.72 0.72 C C 
2002 SR 20 Rhodes Rd to W State St Principal Art. 0.80 0.80 D D 
2003 SR 20 State St  to SR 9 Principal Art. 0.48 0.48 A A 
2004 SR 20 SR 9 to W Ferry St Principal Art. 0.59 0.59 A A 
2005 SR 20 W Ferry St to Cook Rd Principal Art. 0.45 0.45 A A 
2006 SR 20 Cook Rd to F&S Grade Rd Principal Art. 0.76 0.76 C C 
2007 SR 20 F&S Grade Rd to Patrick St Principal Art. 0.79 0.79 C C 
2008 SR 20 Patrick St to Metcalf St Principal Art. 0.75 0.75 C C 
2009 SR 20 Metcalf St to Reed St Principal Art. 0.80 0.80 D D 
2010 SR 20 Reed St to Township St Principal Art. 0.73 0.73 C C 
3001 SR 20 Township St to Fruitdale Minor Art. 0.57 0.57 A A 
3002 SR 20 Fruitdale Rd to Helmick Rd Minor Art. 0.39 0.39 A A 
3003 SR 9 City Limit to W Nelson St Minor Art. 0.76 0.76 C C 
3004 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
3005 SR 9 W Nelson St to W State St Minor Art. 0.58 0.58 A A 
3006 SR 9 W State St to SR 20 Minor Art. 0.25 0.25 A A 
3007 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
3008 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
3009 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
3010 Cook Rd City Limit to Trail Rd Minor Art. 0.59 0.59 A A 
3011 Cook Rd Trail Rd to Ferry St Minor Art. 0.55 0.55 A A 
3012 Cook Rd  Ferry St to SR 20 Minor Art. 0.42 0.42 A A 
3013 F&S Grade Rd City Limit to Murrow St Minor Art. 0.09 0.09 A A 
3014 F&S Grade Rd Murrow St to SR 20 Minor Art. 0.10 0.10 A A 
3015 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
3016 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
3017 Ferry St SR 20 to Metcalf St Minor Art. 0.42 0.42 A A 
3018 Ferry St Metcalf St to Reed St Minor Art. 0.28 0.28 A A 
3019 Ferry St Reed St to Township St Minor Art. 0.20 0.20 A A 
3020 State St SR 20 to SR 9 Minor Art. 0.48 0.48 A A 
3021 State St SR 9 to Metcalf St Minor Art. 0.58 0.58 A A 
3022 State St Metcalf St to 3rd St Minor Art. 0.46 0.46 A A 
3023 State St 3rd St to Reed St Minor Art. 0.45 0.45 A A 
3024 State St Reed St to Township St Minor Art. 0.45 0.45 A A 
3025 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
3026 Township St State St to Ferry St Minor Art. 0.32 0.32 A A 
3027 Township St Ferry St to Wicker Rd Minor Art. 0.38 0.38 A A 
3028 Township St Wicker Rd to SR 20 Minor Art. 0.35 0.35 A A 
3029 Township St (SR 9) SR 20 to McGarigle Rd Minor Art. 0.51 0.51 A A 
3030 Township St (SR 9) McGarigle Rd to Sapp Rd Minor Art. 0.45 0.45 A A 
3031 Township St (SR 9) Sapp Rd to Bassett Rd Minor Art. 0.43 0.50 A A 
3032 Township St (SR 9) Bassett Rd to Kalloch Minor Art. 0.31 0.31 A A 
3033 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 557 of 810



 
 

ID Name Limits Functional 
Classification 

2025 V/C 2025 LOS 
Base Alt. Base Alt. 

3034 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
4001 3rd St Sterling St to Jameson St Major Coll. 0.19 0.19 A A 
4002 3rd St Jameson St to State St Major Coll. 0.11 0.11 A A 
4003 Batey Rd W Nelson St to Jameson St Major Coll. 0.08 0.07 A A 
4004 Fruitdale Rd River Rd to Hoehn Rd Major Coll. 0.04 0.04 A A 
4005 Fruitdale Rd Hoehn Rd to Minkler Rd Major Coll. 0.05 0.05 A A 
4006 Fruitdale Rd Minkler Rd to Wicker Rd Major Coll. 0.14 0.14 A A 
4007 Fruitdale Rd Wicker Rd to SR 20 Major Coll. 0.13 0.13 A A 
4008 Fruitdale Rd SR 20 to McGarigle Rd Major Coll. 0.18 0.18 A A 
4009 Fruitdale Rd McGarigle to Thompson Dr Major Coll. 0.20 0.20 A A 
4010 Fruitdale Rd Thompson Dr to Kalloch Major Coll. 0.01 0.01 A A 
4011 Jameson St Batey Rd to 3rd St Major Coll. 0.28 0.28 A A 
4012 Jameson St 3rd St to 6th St Major Coll. 0.13 0.13 A A 
4013 Jameson St 6th St to Township St Major Coll. 0.11 0.11 A A 

4014 
Jameson St Township St to Railroad 

Ave 
Major Coll. 0.07 0.07 A A 

4015 John Liner Rd Reed St to Township St Major Coll. 0.06 0.06 A A 
4016 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
4017 McGarigle Rd Township St to Fruitdale Major Coll. 0.17 0.17 A A 
4018 Metcalf St State St  to Ferry St Major Coll. 0.24 0.24 A A 
4019 Metcalf St Ferry St to SR 20 Major Coll. 0.22 0.22 A A 
4020 Minkler Rd State St  to Fruitdale Rd Major Coll. 0.13 0.13 A A 
4021 Nelson St SR 9 to Batey Rd Major Coll. 0.28 0.28 A A 
4022 Railroad Ave Jameson St to State St Major Coll. 0.20 0.20 A A 
4023 Reed St State St  to Ferry St Major Coll. 0.02 0.02 A A 
4024 Reed St Ferry St to SR 20 Major Coll. 0.02 0.02 A A 
4025 Reed St SR 20 to John Liner Rd Major Coll. 0.20 0.20 A A 
4026 Reed St John Liner Rd to Sapp Rd Major Coll. 0.18 0.18 A A 
4027 Rhodes Rd SR 20 to SR 9 Major Coll. 0.05 0.05 A A 
4028 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
4029 Sapp Rd Reed St to Township Rd Major Coll. 0.07 0.07 A A 
4030 State St Township to Railroad Ave Major Coll. 0.19 0.19 A A 
4031 Sterling St 3rd St to 6th St Major Coll. 0.09 0.09 A A 
4032 Sterling St 6th St to Township St Major Coll. 0.02 0.02 A A 
4033 Township St River Rd to Sterling St Major Coll. 0.21 0.21 A A 
4034 Township St Sterling St to Jameson St Major Coll. 0.23 0.23 A A 
4035 Township St Jameson St to State St Major Coll. 0.25 0.25 A A 
4036 Trail Road SR 20 to Cook Rd Major Coll. 0.27 0.27 A A 
4037 Wicker Rd Township St to Fruitdale Major Coll. 0.35 0.33 A A 
4038 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 

5001 Jones Rd F&S Grade Rd to  
Garden of Eden Rd Local 0.24 0.10 A A 

5002 Jones Rd Garden of Eden to Sapp Rd Local 0.25 0.38 A A 
5003 Garden of Eden Rd F&S Grade Rd to Jones Rd Local 0.48 0.14 A A 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 558 of 810



 
 

ID Name Limits Functional 
Classification 

2025 V/C 2025 LOS 
Base Alt. Base Alt. 

5004 Garden of Eden Rd Jones Rd to Kiens Ln (Pvt) Local 0.24 0.26 A A 
5005 [reserved]  Local 0.00 0.00 - - 
5006 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
5007 Bassett Rd Eikleberry Ct (Pvt) to SR 9 Local 0.03 0.03 A A 
5008 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
5009 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
5010 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 
5011 [reserved]   0.00 0.00 - - 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 559 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 560 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit QTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 561 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 562 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 563 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 564 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 565 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 566 of 810



 

      Project Narrative   
BYK Construction       Written Statements    
702 Metcalf Suite A 
Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284  
Office and Fax: (360) 755-3101 
 
 

Brickyard Park 
 

We are Proposing a 55+ age restricted development utilizing the PRD Provision 
in the Code and was submitted concurrently with the Planned Residential Development 
Checklist Application. The Project is located in the R-7 Zone and is 12.7 acres. The 
allowed density is 88 units.This Project consists of 52 single Family Lots and 33 Fee 
Simple Townhome Lots for a total of 85 units, which meets the density requirement.  

 
The single family lots vary in size from 4,673 sf to 14,090 sf. The townhome lots 

vary in size from 3,675 sf – 5,122 sf. The average lot size in the project including the 
townhome lots is 4,869.08 sf which exceeds the minimum requirement of 4,800 sf. The 
ratio of Single Family lots to Townhome lots is 61.18% which exceeds the minimum 
60% requirement. There are 33 lots under 4800 sf which meets the 50% requirement. 
The Table Shown below illustrates these requirements. 

 
Setbacks for the Project under the PRD Code Provisions are proposed as follows. 

Setbacks for the lots are shown on the plat map. All setbacks are Minimum. 
Typical Setbacks are as follows: 
Front with Garage               25' 
Front non Garage               10' 
Side (1 story and 2 story)     5' 
Rear                                    10' 
 
Setback Exceptions from the Typical Setbacks:  
Lots 1-4, 25-30 and 48-51 will have 20' front setbacks with garage and 10' front 
setbacks non garage. These setbacks will be from the Easement lines as shown on plat 
map. 
 
Lots 62-85 will have a zero (0') rear setback that abuts the Tract 900 Lot as shown on 
plat map. 
 
Lots 1-3, 6-8, 13-14, 15-16, 22-23, 35-38, 42-44, 49-51, 53-54, 59-60, 75-77, and 78-81 
will have zero (0') side setbacks as shown on the plat map. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 567 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit RTo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



Lots 18,19,62,70,71 and 85 are corner lots and shall have two front setbacks. The Front 
setbacks for each of these will be the Typical Setbacks above. 
 

The Property doesn’t have any present wetlands according to the Wetland 
Report that was prepared on the site. 

 
The Project features a 55,532 sf Usable Open Space Park with the intention of 

building clubhouse and creating a community park for the residents that will be used 
day in and day out. This will meet the 10% usable open space requirement of 55,321 
sf. We are proposing a 6' wide sidewalk loop on the outside of the park area creating a 
great pedestrian flow. we believe the inside loop will be utilized daily for exercise, 
walking the dog and just strolling through the park, or to meet some friends for some 
cards at the clubhouse. We believe that the design is conducive to a great community 
amenity that will actually be used by the Homeowners. The HOA will maintain the front 
street landscaping on all homes as well as the rear yards of the interior lots backed up 
to the park. the park and clubhouse will also be owned and maintained by the HOA so 
all visible points from the ROW or the Park will be in pristine condition. We believe it is 
Sedro Woolley's time to build a great 55+ Active Community for people to retire in. 

 
This project will not be utilizing any bonus density. 
 
This Project will include two phases of construction. Phase 1 will be lots 1-19,48-

70 for a total of 42 Lots. Phase 2 will consist of lots 20-47,71-85 for a total of 43 lots. 
Phase 1 will start development first when Phase 1 is recorded and we are comfortable 
enough to start Phase 2 development we would start Phase 2. Phase 2 would be 
anticipated to start development within 1-6 years of Phase 1 with a hopeful goal of 12-
18 months after Phase 1 records final plat.  

 
Upon completion of all development, including both phases and until the last 

home is sold, the Developer will relinquish control of the HOA and the HOA will own and 
maintain the Tract 900. Inside Tract 900 there will be an optional clubhouse. The road 
will be dedicated to the City of Sedro-Woolley at time of recording final plat for each 
phase. 

 
The HOA will have CC&R’s. The HOA will own and maintain the drainage facility 

that will be located underneath the Park. There will be an Operation and Maintenance 
Manual that will be recorded on each subdivided property. The HOA will not be able to 
remove or amend this Operation and Maintenance Manual without the approval of the 
City of Sedro-Woolley. The HOA will own and maintain the front landscaping of each 
home as well as the rear and side yards of lots 62-85. The HOA will maintain the Park 
and planter strips between the sidewalk and curb. The HOA will own and maintain the 
clubhouse (if built) and pay all utilities for the clubhouse and all water bills, and 
maintenance for irrigation for the Park and for the planter strips. The developer is 
unsure at this point if the HOA will maintain all exteriors of the homes as well as the 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 568 of 810



rear and side yards of lots 1-61. There will also be restrictions regarding RV’s, Sheds, 
inoperable parked cars, ect… 

 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 569 of 810



 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 570 of 810



LOT 1

LOT 2

LOT 3

LOT 6

LOT 7

LOT 8

LOT 9

LOT 10

LOT 11

LOT 12

LOT 13

LOT 14

LOT 15

LOT 16

LOT 17

LOT 18

LOT 19

LOT 20

LOT 21

LOT 22

LOT 23

LOT 24

LOT 25

LOT 26

LOT 27 LOT 28 LOT 29 LOT 30 LOT 31
LOT 32

LOT 33 LOT 34 LOT 35 LOT 36 LOT 37 LOT 38 LOT 39 LOT 40 LOT 41 LOT 42
LOT 43 LOT 44 LOT 45 LOT 46

LOT 47

LOT 48 LOT 49 LOT 50 LOT 51

LOT 52

LOT 53

LOT 54

LOT 55

LOT 56

LOT 57

LOT 58

LOT 59

LOT 60

LOT 5 LOT 4

LOT 61

LOT 62

LOT 63

LOT 64

LOT 65

LOT 66

LOT 67

LOT 68

LOT 69

LOT 70

LOT 71

LOT 72 LOT 73 LOT 74

LOT 75

LOT 83 LOT 84 LOT 85LOT 76 LOT 77 LOT 78 LOT 79 LOT 80 LOT 81 LOT 82

M

C

G

A

R

I

G

L

E

 

R

D

.

L-1

.

KEY MAP

1" = 100'-0" (CHECK SCALE BAR FOR ACCURACY)

Brickyard Park

SHEET LIST

L-1 COVERSHEET, KEY MAP, AND NOTES

L-2 PLANTING PLAN AND PLANTING DETAILS

L-3 PLANTING PLAN

L-4   PLANTING PLAN

L-5  PARK LAYOUT, PARK PERIMETER PLANTING

AND FENCE DETAIL

GENERAL NOTES

1. ALL WORK SHALL BE PERFORMED BY PERSONS FAMILIAR WITH THIS KIND  OF WORK AND UNDER THE SUPERVISION

OF A QUALIFIED FOREMAN.

2. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SIZES AND QUALITY TO CONFORM TO AMERICAN ASSOC. OF NURSERYMEN, AMERICAN

STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK, 2002.

3. PLANT LOCATIONS ON THE PLANS ARE DIAGRAMMATIC AND MAY BE SUBJECT TO ADJUSTMENT IN THE FIELD BY THE

LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR.

4. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE OF NURSERY STOCK AND SHALL BE OF THE   TYPE, SIZE AND CONDITION SPECIFIED.

THE PLANT MATERIAL SHALL EXHIBIT NORMAL HABITS OF GROWTH FOR THE SPECIES, SHALL HAVE BUDS INTACT AND

SHALL BE FREE OF DISEASE, INSECTS, SCARS, BRUISES, BREAKS, SEED AND  WEED ROOTS.

5. SEE NOTES THIS SHEET FOR TOPSOIL DEPTH AND SPECIFICATION.

6. FINE BARK MULCH IS TO BE INSTALLED AT ALL NEW PLANTING AREAS WITH A MINIMUM OF 3 INCHES.

7. ALL NON IRRIGATED LANDSCAPE AREAS SHALL HAVE PLANTING BACKFILL AMENDED WITH A TRANSPLANT

AMENDMENT (SUPERTHRIVE OR EQUAL) AND WETTING AGENT (TERAWET OR EQUAL) APPLIED AT MANUFACTURES

RECOMMENDED RATE.

8. LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY LOCATION OF ALL SITE UTILITIES PRIOR  TO LANDSCAPE IMPLEMENTATION.

PLANT LOCATIONS MAY BE ADJUSTED TO AVOID CONFLICT.

9. LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE NECESSARY PRECAUTIONS TO PROTECT  EXISTING SITE IMPROVEMENTS,

PAVING, WALLS, AND UNDERGROUND UTILITIES.   DAMAGE SHALL BE REPAIRED TO THE OWNER'S SATISFACTION AND

AT NO ADDITIONAL COST.

10. PLANT COUNT IS FOR THE CONTRACTOR'S CONVENIENCE; IF THERE IS A DISCREPANCY, THE PLAN SHALL GOVERN.

ACTUAL PLANT QUANTITIES TO BE  DETERMINED BY REQUIRED PLANT SPACING.

11. ALL AREAS TO BE PLANTED WITH GROUNDCOVER ARE INDICATED ON THE PLAN WITH A HATCH PATTERN.  SEE PLANT

LIST FOR PLANT TYPE, SIZE, AND SPACING.

12. SUBSTITUTION OF PLANT VARIETIES DUE TO LACK OF AVAILABILITY SUBJECT TO  APPROVAL BY THE LANDSCAPE

ARCHITECT AND THE CITY OF MOUNT VERNON.

13. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE ASSUMED TO BE PARALLEL OR PERPENDICULAR UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

14. ALL SOIL GRADES TO BE A MINIMUM SIX INCHES BELOW ADJACENT FINISH FLOOR ELEVATIONS UNLESS NOTED

OTHERWISE  ALL GRADES ADJACENT TO A BUILDING SHALL HAVE A MAXIMUM SLOPE OF 5% 3' FROM FOUNDATION.

15. ALL GRADES, DIMENSIONS AND EXISTING CONDITIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION.  ANY DISCREPANCIES SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

16. AN AUTOMATED IRRIGATION SYSTEM WILL BE PROVIDED ON ALL COMMON AREAS.  SYSTEM TO BE BIDDER DESIGNED.

17. BASEMAP PROVIDED BY SOUND DEVELOPMENT, MOUNT VERNON, WA.

SOIL NOTES 

-

1. FINAL SOIL ORGANIC CONTENT

1.1. MINIMUM 10%

2. CONTRACTOR MAY STOCKPILE SITE TOPSOIL FOR POSSIBLE RE-USE IN LANDSCAPE BEDS.  STOCKPILED TOPSOIL TO

BE TESTED BY SOILS LABORATORY FOR 'NURSERY' USE.  ALL RECOMMENDATIONS ARE TO BE FOLLOWED.  REPORT

AND USE OF STOCKPILED SOIL TO BE APPROVED BY OWNER.

3. SITE TOPSOIL THAT IS TO BE USED IN PLANTER BED AREAS MUST BE TREATED TO INSURE THAT IT IS WEED FREE.

CONTRACTOR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL HORSETAIL AND ANY OTHER WEED PLANTS OR WEED

SEEDS THAT MAY BE PRESENT IN SITE TOPSOIL.  CONTRACTOR TO SUBMIT PLAN FOR INSURING TOPSOIL IS WEED

FREE AND PLAN TO BE APPROVED BY THE OWNER.

4. SITE TOPSOIL TO BE SCREENED TO REMOVE ALL GRASS CLODS AND DEBRIS LARGER THAN ONE INCH.

5. EXISTING SITE TOPSOIL TO BE AMENDED WITH COMPOST AT A THE MINIMUM PRE-APPROVED RATE OF 3:1.  THREE

UNITS OF SITE TOPSOIL TO ONE UNIT OF COMPOST.  IF SOIL TEST REQUIRES MORE COMPOST THAN THE 3:1  RATIO,

THAT THE SOIL TEST RECOMMENDATION IS TO BE FOLLOWED.

6. IN LIEU OF AMENDING SITE TOPSOIL CONTRACTORS MAY CHOOSE TO USE IMPORTED 2-WAY TOPSOIL.  2-WAY SOIL

TO BE COMPLIANT WITH DOE BMP 5.13.

7. AMENDED TOPSOIL DEPTHS

7.1. PLANTER BEDS TO HAVE A MINIMUM OF 6 INCHES OF TOPSOIL.  3 INCHES OF AMENDED SOIL IS TO BE

INCOPRPORATED INTO PLANTER AREAS AND THEN AN ADDITIONAL 3 INCHES OF AMENDED SOIL IS TO BE

PLACED FOR A TOTAL AMENDED DEPTH OF 6 INCHES .

7.2. LAWNS AREAS TO HAVE A MINIMUM OF FOUR INCHES OF TOPSOIL.  TOPSOIL TO BE ROTOTILLED INTO EXISTING

SUBGRADE.

7.3. STREET TREE PLANTER STRIPS TO HAVE A MINIMUM OF 12 INCHES OF TOPSOIL FOR A LENGTH OF 6 FEET

IMMEDIATELY UNDER THE CENTER OF THE TREE.  3 INCHES OF AMENDED TOPSOIL IS TO BE INCOPRPORATED

INTO PLANTER STRIPS AND THEN AN ADDITIONAL 9 INCHES OF AMENDED SOIL IS TO BE PLACED FOR A TOTAL

DEPTH OF 12 INCHES

7.3. STREET TREE PLANTER STRIPS, BEYOND THE 6 FOOT LONG PLANTING PIT, IS TO HAVE A MINIMUM OF 6 INCHES

OF TOPSOIL.  3 INCHES OF AMENDED TOPSOIL IS TO BE INCORPORATED INTO PLANTER STRIPS AND THEN AN

ADDITIONAL 3 INCHES OF AMENDED SOIL IS TO BE PLACED FOR A TOTAL DEPTH OF 6 INCHES

8. IMPORTED TOPSOIL DEPTHS

8.1. SAME AS ABOVE

9. SEE PLANS FOR LOCATIONS WHERE ADDITIONAL TOPSOIL DEPTHS ARE REQUIRED.

LANDSCAPE PLAN

MAINTENANCE NOTES 

-

1. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCE ARE STREET TREES TO BE TOPPED OR

PRUNED WITHOUT PERMISSION OF THE CITY ARBORIST.

2. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCE ARE SHRUBS TO BE SHEARED OR SHAPED

WITHOUT EXPLICIT PERMISSION FROM THE OWNER.  SHRUBS ARE

DESIGNED TO FILL AND GROW IN TO A PERMANENT MATURE SIZE.

3. GROUNDCOVER THAT GROWS 'OUT' OF BEDS AND INTO ADJACENT

WALKS OR ROADS ARE TO BE CUT-BACK AS NEEDED.

4. PERENNIAL AND GRASSES WHICH ARE DECIDUOUS MAY BE CUT BACK AT

OWNERS DISCRETION, ONCE PER YEAR, DURING THE MONTHS OF

FEBRUARY, MARCH OR APRIL.

5. LAWN TO BE FERTILIZED ONCE PER YEAR MIN PER PRODUCT

INSTRUCTIONS.

6. WEEDS TO BE REMOVED IN A TIMELY MANNER BY MECHANICAL OR

CHEMICAL MEANS, IN COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LOCAL AND STATE

GUIDELINES AND REQUIREMENTS.

7. BARK MULCH IN PLANTER BEDS TO BE TOPPED OFF WITH 1" LIFT MIN,

ONCE PER YEAR IN THE SPRING.

COVERSHEET, KEY MAP

AND NOTES

1934

1934 site

2.17.2020

N/A

PD

PD

PD

REVISIONDATE

BYK

REV.BY
NO.

CHECKED:

DRAWN:

DESIGNED:

:

:

VERTICAL

HORIZONTAL

SCALES:

SHEET:

JOB NO.:

DRAWING:

ISSUE DATE:

Designeccos LLC

eccosDesign

Landscape Architecture and Planning
Mount Vernon, WA 98273
p. 360.419.7400
f. 800.508.2017
www.eccosdesign.com

NORTH

Brickyard Park

Sedro-Woolley, WA 

prepared for: prepared by:

contact: Tim Woodmansee

Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284

702A Metcalf St

one inch

A Planned Residential Development

PATRIK DYLAN

CERTIFICATE NO. 793

STATE OF

WASHINGTON

REGISTERED

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

L-2 L-3

NOTE THAT ALL INTERSECTIONS TO

HAVE ONE 6" AND TWO 4" SCHED 80

PVC SLEEVES FOR IRRIGATION

L-4

Landscape Statistics

S.F.

GROSS ACREAGE
551,793

Landscape Area Required (10%) 55,176

Landscape Area Provided 60,368
>11%

Park (not including clubhouse)
51,769

Buffer on McGarigle
4,135

Boulevard Plater and Tree Strips
4,468

STREET FRONTAGE 3" caliper approved

tree every 30' o.c.

required

provided

per code.

Trees shown in legend that are

not 3" are used in other

locations within the project

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 571 of 810

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
64

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit STo Hearing Examiner Staff Report



LOT 19

LOT 20

LOT 21

LOT 22

LOT 23

LOT 24

LOT 25

LOT 26

LOT 27 LOT 28 LOT 29 LOT 30 LOT 31
LOT 32

LOT 33 LOT 34 LOT 35 LOT 36 LOT 37 LOT 38

LOT 71

LOT 72 LOT 73 LOT 74

LOT 75

M

C

G

A

R

I

G

L

E

 

R

D

.

PAR PAR

PRU TH2

MAG KOB

SEE PARK LAYOUT PLAN

ON SHEET L-5

PLANTING PIT TO BE 36"

DEEP MINIMUM IN BULB

OUT AREAS

ACCENT LANDSCAPING

· BETWEEN SIDEWALK

AND FENCE.

· 7 FEET WI\DE

AME AU2

PIN CO5

MATCHLINE - SEE SHEET L-4

M
A

T
C

H
L

I
N

E
 
-
 
S

E
E

 
S

H
E

E
T

 
L

-
3

M
A

T
C

H
L

I
N

E
 
-
 
S

E
E

 
S

H
E

E
T

 
L

-
2

SOD LOC

SOD LOC

PIE CAV

HEB AUT

MIS LIT

SYM MAG

HEU B20

COR VAR

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
x

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

1/L-5 - 6 FOOT SCREENING FENCE

(INSTALLED WITH PLAT)

INTEGRAL SIDEWALK

WITH STREETSCAPE

BACK OF WALK

6
'

5
'

DETACHED

SIDEWALK

4
'

LANDSCAPE

STRIP

TREES CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE

ACE CI2 Acer circinatum Vine Maple 5 gal.

ACE BL2 Acer japonicum `Bloodgood` Bloodgood Amur Maple 2" Cal.

AME AU2 Amelanchier canadensis `Autumn Brilliance` Autumn Brilliance Serviceberry 3" Cal.

BET RIV Betula nigra River Birch 2" Cal.

CHA ARR Chamaecyparis nootkatensis `Green Arrow` Green Arrow Nootka Cypress 8` Ht.

COR ED2 Cornus nuttalii x florida `Eddie`s White Wonder` Eddie`s White Wonder Dogwood 3" Cal.

FAG PUR Fagus sylvatica `Purpurea Pendula` Weeping Purple Beech 2" Cal.

FRA JUN Fraxinus americana `Junginger` TM Autumn Purple White Ash 3" Cal.

LIQ FAS Liquidambar styraciflua `Fastigiata` Sweetgum `Fastigiata` 2" Cal.

MAG KOB Magnolia kobus Kobus Magnolia 3" Cal.

PAR PAR Parrotia persica Persian Parrotia 3" Cal.

PIN CO5 Pinus contorta contorta Shore Pine 8` Ht.

PRU TH2 Prunus cerasifera `Thundercloud` Thundercloud Plum 3" Cal.

ULM N21 Ulmus americana `New Horizon` New Horizon American Elm 2" Cal.

SHRUBS CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE

COR VAR Cornus stolonifera `Elegantissima` Variegated Redtwig Dogwood 2 gal.

FOR FIE Forsythia x intermedia `Fiesta` Fiesta Forsythia 2 gal.

HEB AUT Hebe x `Autumn Glory` Autumn Glory Hebe 2 gal.

HYD WAV Hydrangea macrophylla `Blue Wave` Blue Wave Lacecap Hydrangea 2 gal.

MAH REP Mahonia repens Creeping Mahonia 2 gal.

NAN MOO Nandina domestica `Moon Bay` TM Heavenly Bamboo 2 gal.

PIE CAV Pieris japonica `Cavatine` Lily of the Valley Bush 2 gal.

PRU OTT Prunus laurocerasus `Otto Luyken` Luykens Laurel 2 gal.

RHO EJN Rhododendron x `P.J.M.` PJM Rhododendron 2 gal.

SYM MAG Symphoricarpos albus `Magic Berry` Compact Snowberry 2 gal.

VIB DAV Viburnum davidii David Viburnum 2 gal.

PERENNIALS CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE

HEM YH2 Hemerocallis x Hybrid Daylily 1 gal.

HEU B20 Heuchera x `Black Beauty` Coral Bells 1 gal.

MIS LIT Miscanthus sinensis `Little Kitten` Little Kitten Eulalia Grass 1 gal.

POL MUN Polystichum munitum Western Sword Fern 1 gal.

GROUND COVERS CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING

AJU RCC Ajuga reptans `Black Scallop` Black Scallop Carpet Bugle 4" 36" o.c.

GAU SH2 Gaultheria shallon Salal 6" 36" o.c.

MAH RE2 Mahonia repens Creeping Mahonia 6" 36" o.c.

L-2

.

STREET TREE PLANTING PLAN

1" = 30'-0" (CHECK SCALE BAR FOR ACCURACY)

1934

1934 site

2.17.2020

N/A

PD

PD

PD

REVISIONDATE

BYK

REV.BY
NO.

CHECKED:

DRAWN:

DESIGNED:

:

:

VERTICAL

HORIZONTAL

SCALES:

SHEET:

JOB NO.:

DRAWING:

ISSUE DATE:

Designeccos LLC

eccosDesign

Landscape Architecture and Planning
Mount Vernon, WA 98273
p. 360.419.7400
f. 800.508.2017
www.eccosdesign.com

NORTH

Brickyard Park

Sedro-Woolley, WA 

prepared for: prepared by:

contact: Tim Woodmansee

Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284

702A Metcalf St

one inch

A Planned Residential Development

PATRIK DYLAN

CERTIFICATE NO. 793

STATE OF

WASHINGTON

REGISTERED

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

PLANTING LEGEND  (THIS LIST IS FOR ENTIRE DRAWING SET)

STREET TREE

PLANTING PLAN

0' 30' 60' 90' 120'

1" = 30'

TYPICAL PLANTING DETAILS

NO SCALE

1

L-2

2" DEPTH BARK MULCH

8 FOOT, 2" ROUND 

GUYING APPARATUS:

HEAVY DUTY POLY CHAIN LOCK

4" WATERING BASIN

SURROUNDING TREE

PLANTING BACKFILL MIX

SCARIFY PLANTING 

SET ROOTBALL ON MOUND

OF COMPACTED PLANTING

BACKFILL MIX

EXISTING SUBGRADE

FINISH GRADE

1.5 - 2 TIMES ROOT

BALL DIAMETER

PIT WALLS

2 PER TREE

4 TIMES ROOT BALL DIAMETER

PLANT TREE 1/2" HIGHER THAN

DEPTH GROWN AT NURSERY.

FERTILIZE ALL TREES WITH

APPROVED STARTER FERTILIZER

APPLIED AT MANUFACTURER'S

SUGGESTED RATES

TREE STAKES TO BE VERTICAL,

PARALLEL, EVEN-TOPPED,

UNSCARRED AND DRIVEN INTO

UNDISTURBED SUBGRADE

12"MIN.

MULCH

LODGEPOLE PINE STAKES,

COMPLETELY REMOVE ALL

BURLAP, GROWBAG, STRING

AND FOREIGN MATERIALS FROM

THE ROOT BALL.

2" DEPTH BARK MULCH

4" WATERING BASIN

SURROUNDING PLANT

FINISH GRADE

SCARIFY ROOTBALL OF          

CONTAINER-GROWN PLANTS.

FERTILIZE ALL PLANTS WITH

APPROVED STARTER FERTILIZER

APPLIED AT MANUFACTURER'S

SUGGESTED RATES

PLANT SHRUB 1/2" HIGHER

THAN DEPTH GROWN AT

NURSERY.

SCARIFY PLANTING PIT WALLS

PLANTING BACKFILL

SET ROOTBALL ON MOUND OF

COMPACTED PLANTING BACKFILL MIX

EXISTING SUBGRADE

       2 TIMES

ROOTBALL DIA.

PRIOR TO BACKFILLING

COMPLETELY REMOVE ALL

BURLAP, GROWBAG, STRING

AND FOREIGN MATERIALS

FROM THE ROOT BALL.

TOPSOIL DEPTH AND

TYPE AS SPECIFIED

GROUNDCOVER PLANT.

SEE PLANT LIST

BARK MULCH

EXISTING

SUBGRADE

GROUNDCOVER PLANT

SPACING AS INDICATED

ON PLANT LIST (TYPICAL)

EQUAL

DISTANCE

E

Q

U

A

L

D

I

S

T

A

N

C

E

D

I

S

T

A

N

C

E

E

Q

U

A

L

60°

EDGE OF PLANTER

SECTION

PLAN

CUTBACK, PULL OUT AND DISTURB ALL

CIRCLING ROOTS FROM ANY CONTAINER

GROWN PLANTS

1/2
DISTANCE

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 572 of 810

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66



LOT 38 LOT 39 LOT 40 LOT 41 LOT 42
LOT 43

LOT 44 LOT 45 LOT 46

LOT 47

LOT 48 LOT 49 LOT 50 LOT 51

LOT 52

LOT 53

LOT 54

LOT 55

LOT 56

LOT 57

LOT 75

LOT 83 LOT 84 LOT 85
LOT 76 LOT 77 LOT 78 LOT 79 LOT 80 LOT 81 LOT 82

PAR PAR

COR ED2

SEE PARK LAYOUT PLAN

ON SHEET L-5

SOD LOC

PLANTING PIT TO BE 36"

DEEP MINUMUM IN BULB

OUT AREAS

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
-
 
S

E
E

 
S

H
E

E
T

 
L
-
2

MATCHLINE - SEE SHEET L-4

PLANTING PIT TO BE 36"

DEEP MINIMUM IN BULB

OUT AREAS

EXISTING - 6 FOOT SCREENING

FENCE

1/L-5  - 6 FOOT SCREENING FENCE

(INSTALLED WITH HOMES)

xxxxxxxxxxx
x

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

INTEGRAL SIDEWALK

WITH STREETSCAPE

BACK OF WALK

5
'

4
'

DETACHED

SIDEWALK

LANDSCAPE

STRIP

6
'

TREES CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE QTY

ACE CI2 Acer circinatum Vine Maple 5 gal. 1

ACE BL2 Acer japonicum `Bloodgood` Bloodgood Amur Maple 2" Cal. 4

AME AU2 Amelanchier canadensis `Autumn Brilliance` Autumn Brilliance Serviceberry 3" Cal. 18

BET RIV Betula nigra River Birch 2" Cal. 3

CHA ARR Chamaecyparis nootkatensis `Green Arrow` Green Arrow Nootka Cypress 8` Ht. 9

COR ED2 Cornus nuttalii x florida `Eddie`s White Wonder` Eddie`s White Wonder Dogwood 3" Cal. 18

FAG PUR Fagus sylvatica `Purpurea Pendula` Weeping Purple Beech 2" Cal. 1

FRA JUN Fraxinus americana `Junginger` TM Autumn Purple White Ash 3" Cal. 8

LIQ FAS Liquidambar styraciflua `Fastigiata` Sweetgum `Fastigiata` 2" Cal. 10

MAG KOB Magnolia kobus Kobus Magnolia 3" Cal. 33

PAR PAR Parrotia persica Persian Parrotia 3" Cal. 29

PIN CO5 Pinus contorta contorta Shore Pine 8` Ht. 9

PRU TH2 Prunus cerasifera `Thundercloud` Thundercloud Plum 3" Cal. 7

ULM N21 Ulmus americana `New Horizon` New Horizon American Elm 2" Cal. 1

SHRUBS CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE QTY

COR VAR Cornus stolonifera `Elegantissima` Variegated Redtwig Dogwood 2 gal. 9

FOR FIE Forsythia x intermedia `Fiesta` Fiesta Forsythia 2 gal. 13

HEB AUT Hebe x `Autumn Glory` Autumn Glory Hebe 2 gal. 38

HYD WAV Hydrangea macrophylla `Blue Wave` Blue Wave Lacecap Hydrangea 2 gal. 4

MAH REP Mahonia repens Creeping Mahonia 2 gal. 34

NAN MOO Nandina domestica `Moon Bay` TM Heavenly Bamboo 2 gal. 6

PIE CAV Pieris japonica `Cavatine` Lily of the Valley Bush 2 gal. 34

PRU OTT Prunus laurocerasus `Otto Luyken` Luykens Laurel 2 gal. 11

RHO EJN Rhododendron x `P.J.M.` PJM Rhododendron 2 gal. 5

SYM MAG Symphoricarpos albus `Magic Berry` Compact Snowberry 2 gal. 44

VIB DAV Viburnum davidii David Viburnum 2 gal. 3

PERENNIALS CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE QTY

HEM YH2 Hemerocallis x Hybrid Daylily 1 gal. 35

HEU B20 Heuchera x `Black Beauty` Coral Bells 1 gal. 57

MIS LIT Miscanthus sinensis `Little Kitten` Little Kitten Eulalia Grass 1 gal. 27

POL MUN Polystichum munitum Western Sword Fern 1 gal. 8

GROUND COVERS CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY

AJU RCC Ajuga reptans `Black Scallop` Black Scallop Carpet Bugle 4" 36" o.c. 78

GAU SH2 Gaultheria shallon Salal 6" 36" o.c. 173

MAH RE2 Mahonia repens Creeping Mahonia 6" 36" o.c. 140

L-3

.

STREET TREE PLANTING PLAN

1" = 30'-0" (CHECK SCALE BAR FOR ACCURACY)

1934

1934 site

2.17.2020

N/A

PD

PD

PD

REVISIONDATE

BYK

REV.BY
NO.

CHECKED:

DRAWN:

DESIGNED:

:

:

VERTICAL

HORIZONTAL

SCALES:

SHEET:

JOB NO.:

DRAWING:

ISSUE DATE:

Designeccos LLC

eccosDesign

Landscape Architecture and Planning
Mount Vernon, WA 98273
p. 360.419.7400
f. 800.508.2017
www.eccosdesign.com

NORTH

Brickyard Park

Sedro-Woolley, WA 

prepared for: prepared by:

contact: Tim Woodmansee

Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284

702A Metcalf St

one inch

A Planned Residential Development

PATRIK DYLAN

CERTIFICATE NO. 793

STATE OF

WASHINGTON

REGISTERED

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

PLANTING LEGEND  (THIS LIST IS FOR ENTIRE DRAWING SET)

STREET TREE

PLANTING PLAN

0' 30' 60' 90' 120'

1" = 30'

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 573 of 810

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
64



LOT 1

LOT 2

LOT 3

LOT 6

LOT 7

LOT 8

LOT 9

LOT 10

LOT 11

LOT 12

LOT 13

LOT 14

LOT 15

LOT 16

LOT 17

LOT 18

LOT 58

LOT 59

LOT 60

LOT 5
LOT 4

LOT 61

LOT 62

LOT 63

LOT 64

LOT 65

LOT 66

LOT 67

LOT 68

LOT 69

LOT 70

MAG KOB

COR ED2

AME AU2

FRA JUN

PRU TH2

PLANTING PIT TO BE 36"

DEEP MINIMUM IN BULB

OUT AREAS

ACCENT LANDSCAPING

· BETWEEN SIDEWALK

AND FENCE.

· 7 FEET WI\DE

PIN CO5

MATCHLINE - SEE SHEET L-3

1/L-5 - 6 FOOT SCREENING FENCE

(INSTALLED WITH PLAT)

SOD LOC

MIS LIT

HEB AUT

SYM MAG

LIQ FAS

1/L-5  - 6 FOOT SCREENING FENCE

(INSTALLED WITH HOMES)

INTEGRAL SIDEWALK

WITH STREETSCAPE

BACK OF WALK

6

'

5

'

4

'

DETACHED

SIDEWALK

LANDSCAPE

STRIP

TREES CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE QTY

ACE CI2 Acer circinatum Vine Maple 5 gal. 1

ACE BL2 Acer japonicum `Bloodgood` Bloodgood Amur Maple 2" Cal. 4

AME AU2 Amelanchier canadensis `Autumn Brilliance` Autumn Brilliance Serviceberry 3" Cal. 18

BET RIV Betula nigra River Birch 2" Cal. 3

CHA ARR Chamaecyparis nootkatensis `Green Arrow` Green Arrow Nootka Cypress 8` Ht. 9

COR ED2 Cornus nuttalii x florida `Eddie`s White Wonder` Eddie`s White Wonder Dogwood 3" Cal. 18

FAG PUR Fagus sylvatica `Purpurea Pendula` Weeping Purple Beech 2" Cal. 1

FRA JUN Fraxinus americana `Junginger` TM Autumn Purple White Ash 3" Cal. 8

LIQ FAS Liquidambar styraciflua `Fastigiata` Sweetgum `Fastigiata` 2" Cal. 10

MAG KOB Magnolia kobus Kobus Magnolia 3" Cal. 33

PAR PAR Parrotia persica Persian Parrotia 3" Cal. 29

PIN CO5 Pinus contorta contorta Shore Pine 8` Ht. 9

PRU TH2 Prunus cerasifera `Thundercloud` Thundercloud Plum 3" Cal. 7

ULM N21 Ulmus americana `New Horizon` New Horizon American Elm 2" Cal. 1

SHRUBS CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE QTY

COR VAR Cornus stolonifera `Elegantissima` Variegated Redtwig Dogwood 2 gal. 9

FOR FIE Forsythia x intermedia `Fiesta` Fiesta Forsythia 2 gal. 13

HEB AUT Hebe x `Autumn Glory` Autumn Glory Hebe 2 gal. 38

HYD WAV Hydrangea macrophylla `Blue Wave` Blue Wave Lacecap Hydrangea 2 gal. 4

MAH REP Mahonia repens Creeping Mahonia 2 gal. 34

NAN MOO Nandina domestica `Moon Bay` TM Heavenly Bamboo 2 gal. 6

PIE CAV Pieris japonica `Cavatine` Lily of the Valley Bush 2 gal. 34

PRU OTT Prunus laurocerasus `Otto Luyken` Luykens Laurel 2 gal. 11

RHO EJN Rhododendron x `P.J.M.` PJM Rhododendron 2 gal. 5

SYM MAG Symphoricarpos albus `Magic Berry` Compact Snowberry 2 gal. 44

VIB DAV Viburnum davidii David Viburnum 2 gal. 3

PERENNIALS CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE QTY

HEM YH2 Hemerocallis x Hybrid Daylily 1 gal. 35

HEU B20 Heuchera x `Black Beauty` Coral Bells 1 gal. 57

MIS LIT Miscanthus sinensis `Little Kitten` Little Kitten Eulalia Grass 1 gal. 27

POL MUN Polystichum munitum Western Sword Fern 1 gal. 8

GROUND COVERS CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY

AJU RCC Ajuga reptans `Black Scallop` Black Scallop Carpet Bugle 4" 36" o.c. 78

GAU SH2 Gaultheria shallon Salal 6" 36" o.c. 173

MAH RE2 Mahonia repens Creeping Mahonia 6" 36" o.c. 140

SOD/SEED CODE BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING QTY

SOD LOC Sod Locally Proven Turf --- 35,445 sf

L-4

.

STREET TREE PLANTING PLAN

1" = 30'-0" (CHECK SCALE BAR FOR ACCURACY)

1934

1934 site

2.17.2020

N/A

PD

PD

PD

REVISIONDATE

BYK

REV.BY
NO.

CHECKED:

DRAWN:

DESIGNED:

:

:

VERTICAL

HORIZONTAL

SCALES:

SHEET:

JOB NO.:

DRAWING:

ISSUE DATE:

Designeccos LLC

eccosDesign

Landscape Architecture and Planning
Mount Vernon, WA 98273
p. 360.419.7400
f. 800.508.2017
www.eccosdesign.com

NORTH

Brickyard Park

Sedro-Woolley, WA 

prepared for: prepared by:

contact: Tim Woodmansee

Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284

702A Metcalf St

one inch

A Planned Residential Development

PATRIK DYLAN

CERTIFICATE NO. 793

STATE OF

WASHINGTON

REGISTERED

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

PLANTING LEGEND  (THIS LIST IS FOR ENTIRE DRAWING SET)

STREET TREE

PLANTING PLAN

0' 30' 60' 90' 120'

1" = 30'

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 574 of 810

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67



LOT 70

LAWN GAME COURT -

CORNHOLE, LADDER BALL, ETC

BENCHES

TWO LAWN BOWLING

COURTS

SOUTH PLAZA

· SEATING

· STAMPED CONCRETE

PAVING AS STAGE FOR

SUMMER CONCERT

OPEN 'GREAT LAWN' AREA

· PICK-UP ACTIVITIES / BOCCE BALL

· SUN LOUNGING

· SEATING FOR CONCERTS

1

4

 MILE LOOP FOR FITNESS

WALKING

ACCENT TREES ON

BERMED LAWN

COVERED PATIO WITH

TABLE AND CHAIR SETS

TWO HORSESHOE

COURTS

CENTRAL WALK AREA WITH

FLEXIBLE SEATING AND

LANDSCAPE ISLANDS

BENCHES

BENCHES ON PAD

PERIMETER ACCENT BED;

SEE TYPICAL PLAN THIS SHEET

8
'

3'

6
'

8
'

3'

6
'

PARK PERIMETER

WALKWAY

PRIVATE ENTRANCE

WALKWAY

PARK PERIMETER

ACCENT LANDSCAPE BED

8'

8'

5
'

5
'

5
'

6'

3
'

7'

ORNAMENTAL LANDSCAPE

PLANTING AREAS AS

BACKDROP

4' SIDEWALK

4
2

'

8'-5"
7'

PARK WALKWAY

PARK ACCENT

LANDSCAPE BED

'GREAT LAWN' AT PARK

PRIVATE SIDE YARD

ACCENT FENCE

PRIVATE WALKWAY;

3 FOOT WIDE TYPICAL

ORNAMENTAL LANDSCAPE

INSTALLED WITH HOME;

8 FOOT WIDE TYPICAL

3'

3'

8
'

BENCHES ON PAD

L-5

PARK ENLARGEMENT PLAN

.

PARK ENLARGMENT PLAN

1" = 20'-0" (CHECK SCALE BAR FOR ACCURACY)

1934

1934 site

2.17.2020

N/A

PD

PD

PD

REVISIONDATE

BYK

REV.BY
NO.

CHECKED:

DRAWN:

DESIGNED:

:

:

VERTICAL

HORIZONTAL

SCALES:

SHEET:

JOB NO.:

DRAWING:

ISSUE DATE:

Designeccos LLC

eccosDesign

Landscape Architecture and Planning
Mount Vernon, WA 98273
p. 360.419.7400
f. 800.508.2017
www.eccosdesign.com

NORTH

Brickyard Park

Sedro-Woolley, WA 

prepared for: prepared by:

contact: Tim Woodmansee

Sedro-Woolley, WA 98284

702A Metcalf St

one inch

A Planned Residential Development

PATRIK DYLAN

CERTIFICATE NO. 793

STATE OF

WASHINGTON

REGISTERED

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

FENCE  - 6 FOOT SCREENING

NO SCALE

1

L-5

4" MIN.

CONCRETE

6" MIN. CRUSHED AND

COMPACTED GRAVEL

CONCRETE FOOTING

1

2" SLOPE

8'-0"

2x4 BOTTOM RAIL SET IN HANGER

1X4 CEDAR FENCE

BOARD

2x4 STRINGER IN

HANGER.

2X6X6 POST CAP

CROWN TO POST FOOTING

FOR POSITIVE WATER FLOW

NOTES:

ALL TREATED WOOD TO BE BROWN IN COLOR.

'GREEN' COLORED WOOD WILL BE REJECTED.

ALL WOOD TO BE STAINED UV RESISTANT OIL

BASED STAIN - COLOR TO BE DARK BROWN;

COLOR TO BE OWNER APPROVED.

P.T. 4X4 POST EMBEDDED

INTO CONCRETE

FOOTING

PLEASE NOTE THE POST

CONDITION WHEN THERE IS A

'STEP' IN THE FENCE

6'

4"

VARIES (1" MIN)

0' 20' 40' 60' 80'

1" = 20'

TYPICAL PLANTING AT PARK PERIMETER

NO SCALE

2

L-5

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 575 of 810

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 576 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Tto Hearing Examiner Staff Report - Plat Map



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 577 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 578 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 579 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 580 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 581 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 582 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 583 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit Uto Hearing Examiner Staff Report- Parking Plan



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 584 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit VTo Hearing Examiner Findings



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 585 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 586 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 587 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 588 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 589 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 590 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 591 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 592 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 593 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 594 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 595 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 596 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 597 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 598 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 599 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 600 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 601 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 602 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 603 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 604 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 605 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 606 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 607 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 608 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 609 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 610 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 611 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 612 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 613 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 614 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 615 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 616 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 617 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 618 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 619 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 620 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 621 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 622 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 623 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 624 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 625 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 626 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 627 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 628 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 629 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 630 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 631 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 632 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 633 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 634 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 635 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 636 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 637 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 638 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 639 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 640 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 641 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 642 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 643 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 644 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 645 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 646 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 647 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 648 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 649 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 650 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 651 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 652 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 653 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 654 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 655 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 656 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 657 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 658 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 659 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 660 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 661 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 662 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 663 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 664 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 665 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 666 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 667 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 668 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 669 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 670 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 671 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 672 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 673 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 674 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 675 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 676 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 677 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 678 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 679 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 680 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 681 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 682 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 683 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 684 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 685 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 686 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 687 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 688 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 689 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 690 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 691 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 692 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 693 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 694 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 695 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 696 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 697 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 698 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 699 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 700 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 701 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 702 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 703 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 704 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 705 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 706 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 707 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 708 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 709 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 710 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 711 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 712 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 713 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 714 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 715 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 716 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 717 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 718 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 719 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 720 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 721 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 722 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 723 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 724 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 725 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 726 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 727 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 728 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 729 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 730 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 731 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 732 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 733 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 734 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 735 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 736 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 737 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 738 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 739 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 740 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 741 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 742 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 743 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 744 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 745 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 746 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 747 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 748 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 749 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 750 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 751 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 752 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 753 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 754 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 755 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 756 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 757 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 758 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 759 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 760 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 761 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 762 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 763 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 764 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 765 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 766 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 767 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 768 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 769 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 770 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 771 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 772 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 773 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 774 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 775 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 776 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 777 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 778 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 779 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 780 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 781 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 782 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 783 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 784 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 785 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 786 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 787 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 788 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 789 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 790 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 791 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 792 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 793 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 794 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 795 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 796 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 797 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 798 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 799 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 800 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 801 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 802 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit WTo Hearing Examiner Findings



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 803 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit XTo Hearing Examiner Findings



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 804 of 810

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit YTo Hearing Examiner Findings



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 805 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 806 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 807 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 808 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 809 of 810



Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 810 of 810


	GoToMeeting Notice
	AGENDA
	Committee Assignments 2020
	a.  Call to Order; b.  Pledge of Allegiance; c.  Roll Call; d.  Approval of Agenda; e.  Consent Agenda;
	  e-1.  Minutes from May 27, 2020 Regular Meeting
	  e-2.  Finance - Claims
	  e-3.  Possible Surplus of Units 109,512,513, and Ranger Canopy (Resolution No. 1052-20) 
	  e-4.  Grant Application: CARES COVID-19 Grant
	g.  Staff Reports
	h.  Councilmember and Mayor's Reports
	j.  Public Comments
	m.  New Business
	  m-1.  Preliminary Plat of Garden Meadows (action requested - Resolution)
	  m-2.  Preliminary Plat of Brickyard Park - A Planned Residential Development (action requested - Resolution) 
	n.  Information Only Items
	  n-1.  Library Project Cost Summary
	  n-2.  Fire Department Monthly Incident Data - May 2020
	o.  Good of the Order
	q.  Adjournment

